

### UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI PALERMO Corso di DOTTORATO DI RICERCA in SCIENZE FISICHE Curriculum in Fisica Statistica e Interdisciplinare – Internazionale Dipartimento di Fisica e Chimica

SSD: Fis02

### GEOMETRY OF DISSIPATIVE PHASE TRANSITIONS

IL DOTTORE
ANGELO CAROLLO

IL COORDINATORE G. MASSIMO PALMA

IL TUTOR BERNARDO SPAGNOLO CO TUTOR ALEXANDER DUBKOV

XXX CICLO 2017

## ABSTRACT

The main objective of this thesis is the developement of geometrical methods for the investigation of critical phenomena. In particular, a novel approach based on the Uhlmann curvature is introduced for the investigation of non-equilibrium steady-state quantum phase transitions (NESS-QPTs). Equilibrium phase transitions fall invariably into two markedly non-overlapping categories: classical phase transitions and quantum phase transitions. NESS-QPTs offer a unique arena where such a distinction fades off. We propose a method to reveal and quantitatively assess the quantum character of such critical phenomena. We apply this tool to a paradigmatic class of lattice fermion systems with local reservoirs, characterised by Gaussian non-equilibrium steady states. The relations between the behaviour of the Uhlmann curvature, the divergence of the correlation length, the character of the criticality and the dissipative gap are demonstrated. We argue that this tool can shade light upon the nature of non equilibrium steady state criticality in particular with regard to the role played by quantum vs classical fluctuations.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My warmest gratitude goes to my tutor Bernardo Spagnolo, I owe him my renewed enthusiasm in quantum statistical physics. His curiosity and devotion to work and science have been a great source of inspiration. I am very greateful to my co-tutor Alexander Dubkov, for his guidance and help. A special thank goes to Davide Valenti, for his invaluable help, for being always there for support and for exchange of ideas.

I am very grateful to G. Massimo Palma, for his continual support, for being such a reliable reference throughout my research career.

During this years, my research greatly benefited by the contributions of many people. A partial list includes Janet Anders, Luigi Amico, Fabio Anzá, Toni Apollaro, Michele Campisi, Jens Eisert, Giuseppe Falci, Claudio Guarcello, Peter Hänggi, Salvatore Lorenzo, Luca Magazzù, Jamir Marino, Sabrina Maniscalco, Elisabetta Paladino, Anatoli Polkovnikov, Thomas Prosen, Salvatore Savasta, Roberto Serra, Roberto Stassi, Roberta Zambrini.

A special thank also to Francesco Ciccarello and Valeria Vetri for being great friends, a constant source of support and inspiration.

I was partly supported by the Ministry of Education and Research of Italian Government. I acknowledge financial contributions provided by P.O.N. project "Shelf-Lfie".

To Stefania, Emilia and Emanuele. Without you, none of this would make any sense.

## CONTENTS

1	Intr	oduction	13		
	1.1	Phase transition in dissipative quantum many body systems	13		
	1.2	Decoherence and quantum bistable systems	15		
	1.3	Dynamics of solitons in long Josephson junctions under noisy environment	16		
2	Geometric Phase in Quantum Mechanics: an Introduction				
	2.1	General definitions	19		
	2.2	Discrete case: distant parallelism and Bargmann's invariant			
	2.3	The continuum case: geometric phase of a curve	24		
		2.3.1 Gauge invariance and parameterisation invariance	26		
	2.4	Geometric phase and Schrödinger evolution	29		
		2.4.1 Berry's phase	29		
		2.4.2 Aharonov and Anandan's geometric phase	33		
	2.5	Metric on the Hilbert Space: the Fubini-Study metric	35		
		2.5.1 Fubini-Study distance as a statistical distance	37		
		2.5.2 Pancharatnam's connection and geodesics	38		
3	The Uhlmann Geometric Phase and Bures Metric				
	3.1	Definition of Mixed Geometric Phase via State Purification	41		
		3.1.1 Purification	42		
		3.1.2 Parallel Transport of Density Matrices and Uhlmann Geometric Phase	43		
	3.2	Fidelity and Bures Metric	46		
		3.2.1 The Bures Metric	48		
	3.3	Uhlmann Connection and Uhlmann Curvature	51		
	3.4	Multi-parameter quantum state estimation	53		
		3.4.1 Formulation of the problem	54		
		3.4.2 Multi-parameter Incompatibility: a Measure of Quantumness	56		
4	Geometry of Quantum Phase Transitions				
	4.1	Continuous Phase Transition and Universality	60		
	4.2	Quantum vs Classical Phase Transitions	62		
	4.3	Quantum Phase Transitions	62		

### CONTENTS

Li	List of Publications 137								
	Refe	erences.		126					
B	Spee	ctral Pr	operties of Quadratic Liuvillians	123					
A	Fern A.1	nionic ( Symm	Gaussian States etric Logarithmic derivative for Fermionic Gaussian States	<b>119</b> 120					
		y <b>u</b>							
6	Summary and Outlook 114								
		5.6.3	Boundary driven XY-model	109					
		5.6.2	Rotated XY-model with Local Dissipation	109					
		5.6.1	Vanishing dissipative gap without criticality	108					
	5.6	Applic	cations	108					
		5.5.1	Mean Uhlmann Curvature and Criticality in Translationally Invariant Models	104					
	5.5	Transla	ationally Invariant Models	102					
		5.4.2	Super-Extensivity of the (Generalised) Ouantum Geometric Tensor	100					
	5.4	5.4.1	Mean Uhlmann Curvature and Bures Metric of Gaussian Fermionic States	97					
	54	Geome	etric Properties of the Steady States	96					
		532	Liouvillian Spectrum	95 95					
	5.5		Diagonalisation of the Lindbled Equation	90					
	5.2 5.2	Gaussi	an Fermionic States	89					
	5.1	Non-E	Quilibrium Phase Transitions	86					
5	Diss	ipative	non-equilibrium phase transitions	85					
		1.5.5		05					
		4.5.2	Thermal States and Classical Phase Transitions	83					
		152	VV Model and Information Geometry	80 81					
		4.5.1	Quantum Phase Transition and Super-Extensitivity of the Quantum Geometric	00					
	4.5	Quantu	um Phase Transition and Information Geometry	78					
		4.4.5	Dicke model and Geometric Phases	72					
		4.4.4	General Considerations	71					
		4.4.3	Geometric Phases and XY Criticalities	68					
		4.4.2	The XY Model and Its Criticalities	66					
		4.4.1	A Simple Two-Level System	65					
	4.4	Geome	etric Phase and Criticality	64					

# LIST OF FIGURES

2.1	An ideal interferometric experiment to measure Pancharatnam's phase. A system pre- pared in a state $\psi_1$ is fed into a Mach-Zender interferometer. In one of the two arms the state is transformed back into $\psi_1$ via two intermediate states $\psi_2$ and $\psi_3$ , by means of transformations that satisfy the distant parallelism between each pair of states. When the two beams interfere the fringe pattern is shifted by an amount proportional to the Pancharatnam phase.	23
2.2	Additive property of the Bargmann invariant. The triangle represents a 3-vertex Bargmann invariant. Each vertex is a state in space $\mathcal{B}$ and the lines represent the Pancharatnam phases associated with the pairs of states that they connect. The quadrangle represents a four-vertex Bargmann invariant. It can be obtained as the composition of two suitable three vertex invariant.	24
2.3	Examples of subdivision of the curve $\psi(s)$ . An open curve is approximated by a polygonal. A Bargmann phase can be associated with the polygon formed by the arc $\psi_1$ - $\psi_5$ and this polygonal. A geometric invariant associated with the open curve can be obtained as the limit of this Bargmann invariant when the number of points in the subdivision tends to infinity.	25
4.1	The geometric phase is proportional to the solid angle spanned by the Hamiltonian with respect of its degeneracy point.	66
4.2	The regions of criticality of the $H$ Hamiltonian are presented as a function of the param- eters $h$ and $\delta$ , and the corresponding ones for the Hamiltonian $H(\varphi)$ where $\varphi$ param- eterises a rotation around the $h$ axis. Possible paths for the geometrical evolutions are depicted, spanned by varying the parameter $\varphi$	68
4.3	The geometric phase corresponding to the ground state (a) and the relative one between the ground and excited state (c) as a function of the path parameters $h$ and $\delta$ . Each point of the surface corresponds to the geometrical phase for a path that is spanned by varying $\varphi$ from 0 to $\pi$ for certain $h$ and $\delta$ . The values of the geometric phase corresponding to the loops $C_1, C_2$ and $C_3$ in Figure 4.2 are also indicated	69

### LIST OF FIGURES

4.4	The conical intersection between the two lowest energy levels of the Hamiltonian as a function of the parameters. A contractible loop (i.e. a loop that can be continuously deformed to a point of the domain) produces a zero geometric phase. A non-trivial geometric phase is obtained for non-contractible loops
4.5	Numerical results for the scaled Berry phase as a function of the parameter $\alpha$ , for $D = 10$ and for different values of $n$ , in comparison with the result for $n \to \infty$ . Berry's phase increases with the coupling, and, in the thermodynamic limit, its derivative becomes discontinuous at the critical value $\alpha = \alpha_c := 1$ . The inset shows the derivative of the Berry phase with respect to $\alpha$
4.6	A qualitative illustration of the paths followed by the parameters of the Hamiltonian due to the application of $U(\phi)$ . The paraboloid corresponds to the value $\alpha = L^2/2D = 1$ , for which the Hamiltonian shows a critical behavior. If the parameters follow a path, e.g. $C_1$ , encircling the paraboloid, then the system acquires a non-trivial Berry phase, which tends to $\pi$ for $\alpha \gg 1$ . As seen from figure 4.5, path $C_2$ gives rise to a zero Berry phase (in the thermodynamical limit)
47	(in the meriodynamical mint)
т. /	ease of comparison, the continuous plot shows the analytic expression of Eq. (4.46) 77
5.1	Model of a 1D fermionic chain on a ring showing a closing dissipative gap that does not imply a diverging correlation length. This is the model discussed in section 5.6.1 which is an extension of a model introduced in [1]. The inverse correlation length, the dissipative gap and the MUC are shown, respectively, from the left to the right panel. The model is critical only for $\lambda = -1$ , while the gap closes for both $\lambda = \pm 1$ . As expected, the discontinuity of MUC captures the criticality, and it is otherwise insensitive to a
	vanishing dissipative gap
5.2	The mean Uhlmann curvature per number of sites $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$ for the rotated XY model with local reservoirs. The dependence of $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_{h\theta}$ (left) and of $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_{\delta\theta}$ (right) on the parameters $\delta \in h$ . The mean Uhlmann curvature shows a singular behaviour in the critical regions of the model. $\mathcal{U}_{h\theta}$ is discontinuous in the XY critical points $ h  = 1$ , and $\mathcal{U}_{\delta\theta}$ is discontinuous in the
	$XX$ type criticalities $\delta = 0, h < 1.$
5.3	Phase diagram of the boundary driven XY model. $h < h_c :=  1 - \delta^2 $ the chain exhibits long-range magnetic correlations (LRMC). For $h > h_c$ and along the lines $h = 0$ and $\delta = 0$ the model shows short-range magnetic correlations (SRMC). The qualitative features of the phase diagram do not depend on the values of the environmental parameters $\kappa_L^{\pm}$ and $\kappa_R^{\pm}$
5.4	The largest eigenvalue of the Bures metric $  g  _{\infty}$ for the boudary driven XY model, for $n = 300$ . The qualitative behaviour of the metric maps the phase diagram quite faithfully. It is evident a larger value of $  g  _{\infty}$ close to the phase transition $h = h_c :=  1 - \delta^2 $ between LRMC and short range phases. $\kappa_L^+ = 0.3$ , $\kappa_L^- = 0.5$ , $\kappa_R^+ = 0.1$ , $\kappa_R^- = 0.5$ . The qualitative features remains unchanged for different values of $u^{\pm}$ .
	qualitative reatures remains unchanged for different values of $\kappa_{L,R}^2$ .

### LIST OF FIGURES

# 1

## INTRODUCTION

During these years of research I had the chance of investigating several issues within a relatively ample and heterogeneous set of research topics. There are three main research lines that I have been pursuing and that I will briefly sketch in this introduction. However, for a matter of homogeneity, brevity and personal taste, I decided to deliberately focus the subject of this thesis only on the first of these research lines.

### **1.1** Phase transition in dissipative quantum many body systems

A substantial part of my research has been focussed on the study and characterisation of quantum phase transitions (QPT) in out-of-equilibrium quantum systems. The methods employed borrow tools from fundamental quantum physics, typical of coherent quantum dynamics, i.e. the topological and geometric phases [2, 3]. The use of geometric and topological features for the study of QPT has been quite a successful approach, applied so far only in the context of equilibrium QPT [4–9].

Quantum critical points are characterised by scale invariance and hence by long ranged order. As such, systems showing this feature are intriguing examples of quantum state of matter and subjects of important topical investigation in physics [10]. A challenging new paradigm has recently been put forward by the discovery of novel types of criticalities under non-equilibrium conditions, in reservoir-driven condensed matter systems [11–14]. A complete picture about the critical features of such systems, such as long-range order, existence order parameters, topological order, character of the fluctuation, is still lacking. Moreover, this field has been greatly pushed forward by theoretical and experimental investigations that have shown that engineered reservoirs can be tailored to a level of accuracy comparable to that achieved by coherent quantum control, harnessing quantum state manipulation [15], computation [16], and simulation [17] with a totally new set of tools.

A natural question arises as to whether methods, successfully applied in the equilibrium context, are applicable to the non-equilibrium settings. Quantum phase transitions in nonequilibrium steady states (NESSs) are the results of complex many-body dissipative evolutions, and the steady state of an open system differs markedly from the ground state of a many body Hamiltonian or even from thermal states. The canonical treatment of decoherence as a perturbing effect on ground states is inapplicable to the

driving of a system into a NESS [18]. It is therefore important to develop new techniques, as well as new ways of adapting known concepts to such a novel paradigm. Geometric concepts, such as geometric phase and geometric information may provide interesting new avenues to explore the latter.

The use of geometric properties to investigate QPT can be heuristically understood as follows. QPTs are the result of macroscopic changes in the many-body system resulting from small variations of parameters. Such abrupt response to minimal parameter changes occurs in the neighbourhood of degeneracy points of the ground state manifold. Such singularities determine the non-analytic thermodynamical properties of critical many-body systems. A point of degeneracy, on the other hand, affects non-trivially the *geometry* of the system Hilbert space. A curvature of the parameter manifold can be witnessed by closed path evolution of the system, thereby providing a tool to detect, both theoretically and experimentally, a criticality.

In the context of NESS-QPTs, the evolution is driven by a Liouvillean superoperator  $\mathcal{L}(\lambda)$ , which is parameterized by a set of (control) variables  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$ . These parameters determine, independently of the chosen initial state, the corresponding (unique) NESS  $\rho(\lambda)$ . Depending on  $\lambda$ , the NESS can display a variety of different properties potentially exhibiting NESS-QPTs. In analogy to equilibrium QPTs, also in NESS-QPTs, dramatic structural changes occurring in  $\rho(\lambda)$  due to a criticality may be reflected in the statistical properties of the state and hence in the geometry of its manifold. A cyclic evolution of the NESS along the manifold can witness a singularity in the curvature and experience a geometric phase shift.

NESS-QPTs are inherently different from QPTs at zero temperature. In spite of some superficial similarity, their understanding requires the development of conceptually and mathematically different techniques. NESS is the zero eigenvalue *density matrix* of the non-Hermitian Liouvillean superoperator  $\mathcal{L}$ , as opposed to pure eigenstate of a Hamiltonian. This requires, on the one hand, to exploit the more sophisticated mixed states differential geometry and, on the other hand, this implies that the whole wealth of powerful results due to the Hermiticity is not available in the dissipative case. Therefore, analysing NESS-QPTs in the general case is a quite daunting task. However, the physically relevant special case of a *quadratic* Liouvillean can be tackled. Specific models belonging to this class indeed display rich nonequilibrium features and NESS-QPTs, which have been characterized by studying long-range correlations and the Liouvillean spectral gap  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$  [11, 19]. The latter provides the analog of the gap in the Hamiltonian spectrum, and it is called *dissipative gap*. Such a gap dynamically isolates the submanifold of steady states from the rest of the projective Hilbert space, thereby providing a counterpart of the Hamiltonian gap protection via a quantum Zeno effect [20–22].

In the context of mixed quantum states, it is necessary to exploit unorthodox concepts of geometric phases (GP), and many possible definition of the mixed state GP have been put forward. Which definition is best suited in this context depends largely on the type of information that one wants to extract from it. Among all possible choices, the Uhlmann GP [23] stands out for its deep-rooted relation to information geometry and metrology [24,25], whose tools have been profitably employed in the investigation of QPT and NESS-QPT [26–29]. Uhlmann holonomy and GP have been applied to the characterisation of both topological and symmetry breaking equilibrium QPT [30–37]. Many proposals to measure the Uhlmann GP have been put forward [38–40], and demonstrated experimentally [41].

Motivated by this, I have introduced the mean Uhlmann curvature (MUC) and I have investigated its

role in the characterisation of dissipative NESS-QPT. The MUC, defined as the Uhlmann GP per unit area of a density matrix evolving along an infinitesimal loop, has also a fundamental interpretation in multiparameter quantum metrology: it marks the incompatibility between independent parameters arising from the quantum nature of the underlying physical system [42]. In this sense, the MUC is a measure of "quantumness" in the *multi-parameter* estimation problem, and its singular behaviour responds only to quantum fluctuations occurring across a phase transition. Indeed, equilibrium phase transitions fall invariably into two markedly non-overlapping categories: classical phase transitions and quantum phase transitions. NESS-QPTs offer a unique arena where such a distinction fades off. The meann Uhlmann phase provide a method to reveal and quantitatively assess the quantum character of such critical phenomena.

I have considered explicit examples [43] of quadratic fermion models with translational symmetry, coupled to a Markovian bath, whose interaction is assumed linear in the Fermionic operator. Under such conditions, the NESS is Gaussian [11] and is fully described by the *correlation matrix*. Within this class of models, different types of QPTs may occur. Criticality, in the sense of diverging correlation length, has been found to be related to a non-analytic behaviour of the Uhlmann curvature. Going beyond the specific models analysed, it is possible to analytically prove the connection between the existence of criticality and the singular behaviour of the Uhlmann curvature. The relations between the behaviour of the Uhlmann curvature, the divergence of the correlation length, the character of the criticality and the dissipative gap are demonstrated. We argue that this tool can shade light upon the nature of non equilibrium steady state criticality in particular with regard to the role played by quantum vs classical fluctuations. [43]

Apart from the academic interest, this procedure may have certain experimental relevance. Owing to its non-local character, the Uhlmann GP may provide information on the criticality without the need to drive the system accross the critical region. The latter is hard to physically implement as it is accompanied by multiple degeneracies that can take the system away from its steady state. Hence, it provides a way to probe criticalities in a physically appealing way. Moreover, such non-local character might also be useful to probe critical phenomena such as topological phase transitions, which are undetectable by local order parameters. The latter constitutes an exciting field of current research [44–46].

### **1.2** Decoherence and quantum bistable systems

A second line of research focusses on the study of the bistable dynamics of a quantum particle coupled to an environment. The main objective is the investigation of the quantum dynamics of a multilevel bistable system coupled to a bosonic heat bath beyond the perturbative regime. In this regime the effect of different spectral densities of the bath plays a considerable role. It is particularly relevant to consider the transition from sub-Ohmic to super-Ohmic dissipation. The approach of this type of investigations is based mainly on the real-time path integral technique of the Feynman-Vernon influence functional. Using this approach one finds that, in the crossover dynamical regime characterised by damped intrawell oscillations and incoherent tunnelling, the short time behaviour and the time scales of the relaxation starting from a non-equilibrium initial condition depend nontrivially on the spectral properties of the heat bath.

Real quantum systems are always in contact with noisy environments causing dissipation and decoherence. An ubiquitous model that describes dissipation by phononic or photonic environments is the celebrated Caldeira-Leggett model [47] in which the open system is linearly coupled to a reservoir of quantum harmonic oscillators. In the thermodynamical limit, the reservoir is a bosonic heat bath and is described by the spectral density function  $J(\omega)$ , generally assumed in the form  $\omega^s$  with a highfrequency cut-off. The special case s = 1 gives the so-called Ohmic dissipation. In this case the quantum Langevin equation for the position operator of the particle has a memoryless damping kernel (frequency independent friction) and, in the classical limit  $\hbar \to 0$ , the heat bath reduces to a classical white noise source [48].

The usual approach to the tunneling dynamics in the presence of dissipation entails the use of a twolevel system (TLS) approximation, which greatly simplifies its description. Within this approximation the Hilbert space of the particle is truncated to that spanned by the first two energy eigenstates, resulting in the so called *spin-boson model*.

The scope of this research is to consider the dynamics of a dissipative bistable system, beyond the TLS approximation, in a temperature regime in which the presence of the second energy doublet cannot be neglected [49, 50]. To this end, a nonperturbative generalized master equation with approximated kernels can be derived within the Feynman-Vernon influence functional approach [51–53]. By means of the latter, it is possible to investigate a regime of dissipation which is beyond the perturbative Born-Markov approximation. A detailed study of the reduced dynamics has been performed in domains where the exponent s is in the crossover from the sub-Ohmic (s < 1) to the super-Ohmic (s > 1) regimes. It is also possible to explore the effects of varying cutoff frequency  $\omega_c$ , which have also been subject of investigations. This investigations provide insight into the comparative role of the high-frequency and low-frequency modes on the open dynamics.

# **1.3** Dynamics of solitons in long Josephson junctions under noisy environment

Another line of research concerns the studies of the generation of solitons in current-biased long Josephson junctions. In particular, the focus of investigation has been on the properties of the solitons in relation to the superconducting lifetime and the voltage drop across the device.

In this investigations, the dynamics of the junction is modelled with a sine-Gordon equation driven by oscillating fields and subject to an external non-Gaussian noise. A wide range of  $\alpha$ -stable Lévy distributions can be considered as a noise source, with varying stability index  $\alpha$  and asymmetry parameter  $\beta$ . In junctions longer than a critical length, the mean switching time (MST) from the superconductive to the resistive state assumes a value independent of the device length. This value is directly related to the mean density of solitons which move into or from the washboard potential minimum corresponding to the initial superconductive state. In particular one is able to observe: (i) a connection between the total mean soliton density and the mean potential difference across the junction; (ii) an inverse behaviour of the mean voltage in comparison with the MST, with varying the junction length; (iii) evidence of non-monotonic behaviours, such as stochastic resonant activation and noise-enhanced stability, of the MST versus the driving frequency and noise intensity for different values of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ; (iv) finally, these non-monotonic behaviours are found to be related to the mean density of the solitons formed along the junction [54–56].

### CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

2

# GEOMETRIC PHASE IN QUANTUM MECHANICS: AN INTRODUCTION

Traditionally, the concept of geometric phase is presented starting from Berry's definition and is then generalised to the non-adiabatic and non-cyclic cases. Here I want to change perspective a little and stress the relation between the formal description of quantum mechanics and the geometric phase. For this reason, I shall introduce it as an abstract property of curves in Hilbert space, thereby presenting it as a general feature of the motion of quantum systems.

In this chapter I shall explore the idea of the geometric phase and some of its property in a rather general context without referring to a specific quantum system. I shall introduce this concept by using a fundamental property of a discrete set of quantum states, namely the Bargmann invariant [57], and then extend it to a general framework to develop a definition of geometric phase for the most general evolution of a quantum pure state.

### 2.1 General definitions

The first important thing in a such general scenario is to clarify what is meant by "geometrical" phase in the evolution of a physical state. By "geometrical" I mean a *physically observable feature of a quantum system that depends only on the path described during its evolution*. The idea of a quantity that is associated only with the"path" of the quantum motion suggests that it must be independent of the time rate of the traversal of such a path and independent of the phase of the wave function. To make this statement more precise, we first of all need to clarify what is meant by the trajectory of quantum state, and in which space this trajectory is traced.

To this end, let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert space suitable for the description of some quantum system. It can be of finite or infinite dimension. We denote the vector of this space as  $\psi$ ,  $\psi'$ ,  $\phi$ ,  $\phi'$ .., the inner product as  $\langle \psi | \phi \rangle$  and norm as  $||\psi|| := \sqrt{\langle \psi | \psi \rangle}$ . Generally, we are interested in a particular subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$ , defined by the collection of all normalised states:

$$\mathcal{B} := \{ \psi \in \mathcal{H} | \, ||\psi|| = 1 \}.$$

This is a linear vector space and, like  $\mathcal{H}$ , it has the important property of being invariant under the action of the U(1) group, i.e. under phase transformations:

$$\psi \to \psi' = e^{i\alpha}\psi, \quad \text{with } \alpha \text{ real.}$$
 (2.1)

This action leads to a corresponding equivalence relation: two vectors (in  $\mathcal{H}$  or  $\mathcal{B}$ ) are equivalent if one goes into the other via U(1) action. We can pass to the corresponding space of equivalence classes  $\mathcal{P}$ , which amounts to dividing  $\mathcal{B}$  with respect to the U(1) action. Formally this set, called the *projective Hilbert space* of  $\mathcal{H}$ , is denoted by:

$$\mathcal{P} := \mathcal{B}/U(1)$$

and its elements are represented by the equivalence classes  $\{e^{i\alpha}\psi \mid 0 \le \alpha \le 2\pi\}$  for each given  $\psi \in \mathcal{B}$ . The elements of  $\mathcal{P}$  are called *rays* of the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , and from a physical point of view, they determine the so called *pure* quantum states of the given physical system. Each element of this space  $\mathcal{P}$  represents, therefore, a state up to unessential normalisation conditions and overall phase factors.

If  $\mathcal{H}$  is the Hilbert space that describes a n+1-level quantum system it has complex dimension n+1, i.e.  $\mathcal{H} \simeq \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  (the space of n+1-tuple of complex numbers  $(z_1, z_2, ..., z_{n+1})$ ), then the formal structure of the projective space is  $\mathcal{P} \simeq \mathbb{C}P^n$ , i.e. the space whose elements are the complex lines in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  (i.e. the locus of points given by  $(z_1, z_2, ..., z_{n+1})$ ,  $\forall z_i \in \mathbb{C}$ ). In real domain  $\mathcal{P}$  is a 2n-dimensional manifolds, and  $\mathcal{B}$  is a 2n + 1-dimensional manifolds. In case of a 2-dimensional Hilbert space  $\mathcal{P}$  is the (surface of the) sphere  $S^2$  embedded in the 3-dimensional space, often called pseudo-Bloch sphere.

There is a natural way to define a map connecting  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathcal{P}$ , called the *projective map*:

$$\Pi: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{P}$$

that relates any element of  $\mathcal{B}$  to the corresponding equivalence class in  $\mathcal{P}$ . Formally the space  $\mathcal{P}$  is isomorphic to the space of non-degenerate projection operators P defined by  $\{P : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \mid P^2 = P, TrP = 1\}$ . In fact, in Dirac notation, given an element  $\psi \in \mathcal{B}$ , the corresponding element  $\Pi(\psi)$  of  $\mathcal{P}$  is in one-to-one correspondence with the operator  $|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$ , which is the operator acting on  $\mathcal{H}$  that projects onto the one dimensional subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$  to which  $\psi$  belongs. In this sense I will refer to  $|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$  as an element of  $\mathcal{P}$  so that the projective map can be expressed simply as follows:

$$\Pi: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{P}, \quad \psi \to |\psi\rangle \langle \psi|,$$

Thus, a quantum (pure) state at a given instant of time is represented by a point in  $\mathcal{P}$  and its evolution is given by a curve C in  $\mathcal{B}$ , which projects to a path  $\mathcal{C} := \Pi(C)$ . The description of the motion of a quantum state is then uniquely defined by a curve in the projective Hilbert space.

Now I can formulate more precisely what is meant by a geometric property of the evolution: *any quantity that depends only on the curve* C *traversed by the system in the projective Hilbert space*. In this definition the curve C must not be seen as a mere collection of points in the projective Hilbert space, but is to be considered together with its parameterisation, although two curves will be considered equivalent if they differ only in the rate of traversal. "Geometric", therefore, means an expression that does not depend on the phase of the wave function and that is independent of details of the time evolution.

### 2.2 Discrete case: distant parallelism and Bargmann's invariant

In this section I will describe a very fundamental example of a geometric phase observable in a quantum system. To this end I first introduce the concept of *distant parallelism*.

Originally discovered by Pancharatnam [58] in the context of a classical beam of polarised light, the concept of *distant parallelism* is a simple criterion that allows one to compare the relative phase between two non-parallel states of polarisation. If two beams of light have the same polarisation, in any interference experiment, they behave like scalar fields and their amplitudes are simply described by two complex numbers. It is a trivial task, therefore, to define the relative phase as the difference of the complex argument of these two numbers [59]. When two beams have different polarisations the simplest possible description is to represent the amplitude of each beam with a two-dimensional complex vector, say  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  [59]. Therefore, it is not obvious how to uniquely associate a phase with this pair of vectors. The natural way to define a relative phase between two different states of polarisation is by means of an interference experiment. The important contribution of Pancharatnam was to recognise that a natural convention to measure the phase difference between two interfering beams is to choose a reference condition where the intensity has its maximum. For example, superimposing two beams of different polarisations  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  the intensity is proportional to:

$$\left(\langle\psi_1| + e^{i\chi}\langle\psi_2|\right)(|\psi_1\rangle + e^{-i\chi}|\psi_2\rangle) \propto 1 + \left|\langle\psi_1|\psi_2\rangle\right|\cos\left(\chi + \arg\left\langle\psi_1|\psi_2\right\rangle\right)$$

where Dirac's notation has been used to indicate the scalar product of the two complex vectors. The interference fringes are shifted by an amount corresponding to:

$$\varphi = \arg \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle. \tag{2.2}$$

Following Pancharatnam's prescription of measuring the phase from a reference with the maximum superposition, the expression (2.2) represents the phase difference for the two non-orthogonal states  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$ . Two states are, therefore, considered *in phase* only if  $\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle$  is a real and positive number. This is called the condition of *distant parallelism* or *Pancharatnam's connection*. Obviously this condition is well defined as long as the states  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  are not orthogonal states.

Although defined in the context of a classical beam of light, the idea of distant parallelism can be easily translated into a quantum mechanical language, and used to introduce a consistent definition of relative phase between any two (non-orthogonal) quantum mechanical states. Therefore, if  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$ are two states of a quantum system the expression (2.2) defines their relative phase. Obviously,  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  can be the state of any quantum system, and the Hilbert space where they lie can be of finite or infinite dimension. The only condition for this phase to be defined is that the two states must be non-orthogonal.

Another important contribution of Pancharatnam was to point out that the condition of distant parallelism is *not transitive*: if  $\psi_1$  is in phase with  $\psi_2$  and  $\psi_2$  is in phase with  $\psi_3$ , the relative phase between  $\psi_1$ and  $\psi_3$  is not necessarily zero. In fact, let  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  be any non-orthogonal states of  $\mathcal{B}$ . We can always choose a state  $\psi'_2$  in the same *ray* of  $\psi_2$  so that  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  are in phase, simply by acting with a U(1)operator on  $\psi_2$ . Consider now a third state  $\psi_3$ . We can repeat the same reasoning to define a state  $\psi'_3$  in phase with  $\psi'_2$ . Then, a natural question arises at this point. What is the phase relation between state  $\psi_1$ and  $\psi'_3$ ? Notice that there is no freedom left in the choice of the relative phase between these two states. It turns out that this relative phase cannot be "reduced" to zero by any phase transformation on the three states. In this sense it is an *irreducible* quantity that depends only on the ray space  $\mathcal{P}$ . This behaviour, in fact, is related to the geometric structure of the projective Hilbert space. The non-transitivity of the distant parallelism originates from the existence of a complex invariant under a phase transformation U(1), namely the Bargmann invariant [57, 60, 61].

Suppose that a single  $\psi \in \mathcal{B}$  is given. It appears immediately clear that there is no nontrivial invariant that can be formed out of  $\psi$  under the action of the group U(1). Even with two distinct vectors  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$ , there does not exist a complex invariant which can be expressed as a function of them. By providing two independent U(1) transformations acting as follows:

$$\psi_1' = e^{i\alpha_1}\psi_1, \qquad \psi_2' = e^{i\alpha_2}\psi_2$$

the only nontrivial invariant under the action of  $U(1) \times U(1)$  group that can be formed out of these two vector states is the modulus of the scalar product

$$|\langle \psi_1' | \psi_2' \rangle| = |\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle|. \tag{2.3}$$

A more interesting quantity can be formulated using more then two vectors. In the case of three distinct states, apart from expressions like (2.3) involving pair of vector states, a quantity invariant under  $U(1) \times U(1) \times U(1)$  transformation can be defined:

$$\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle \langle \psi_2 | \psi_3 \rangle \langle \psi_3 | \psi_1 \rangle.$$
 (2.4)

This expression, called Bargmann's invariant [57, 60], is at the origin of the inherent non-transitivity of the phase relation (2.2) between three independent states.

To see this, let's consider the following experimental setup. Suppose that in an interference experiment, a polarised beam in state  $\psi_1$  is fed into a Mach-Zender interferometer (see figure 2.1), and, in one of the two arms the state is transformed back into  $\psi_1$ , via two intermediate states  $\psi_2$  and  $\psi_3$  in such a way that each transformation respects the Pancharatnam condition of distant parallelism. The interference fringes are, then, shifted by an amount corresponding to:

$$\arg \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle \langle \psi_2 | \psi_3 \rangle \langle \psi_3 | \psi_1 \rangle \tag{2.5}$$

which is the phase corresponding to the invariant (2.4), and is called *Pancharatnam's phase*. Its independence of  $U(1) \times U(1) \times U(1)$  transformations ensures that the phase (2.5) can be regarded as a quantity intrinsically related to the projective Hilbert space  $\mathcal{P}$ . In fact, given three elements  $|\psi_1\rangle\langle\psi_1|$ ,  $|\psi_2\rangle\langle\psi_2|$  and  $|\psi_3\rangle\langle\psi_3|$  of  $\mathcal{P}$ , any corresponding point  $\tilde{\psi}_1$ ,  $\tilde{\psi}_2$  and  $\tilde{\psi}_3$  in  $\mathcal{B}$  can be chosen to calculate expression (2.5) and the result does not depend on this choice. This phase is an irreducible amount determined only by the structure of the projective Hilbert space.

It is obvious how to construct analogous expressions involving a chain of four or more independent vector states, invariant under more general symmetry transformations, such as  $U(1)^{\times 4}$  or even  $U(1)^{\times n}$ . Generalising the expression (2.4) we obtain:

$$\Delta^{(n)}(\psi_1,\psi_2,\ldots,\psi_n) := \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle \langle \psi_2 | \psi_3 \rangle \ldots \langle \psi_{n-1} | \psi_n \rangle.$$
(2.6)



Figure 2.1: An ideal interferometric experiment to measure Pancharatnam's phase. A system prepared in a state  $\psi_1$  is fed into a Mach-Zender interferometer. In one of the two arms the state is transformed back into  $\psi_1$  via two intermediate states  $\psi_2$  and  $\psi_3$ , by means of transformations that satisfy the distant parallelism between each pair of states. When the two beams interfere the fringe pattern is shifted by an amount proportional to the Pancharatnam phase.

that is evidently an invariant under a  $U(1)^{\times n}$  phase transformation, and is called an n-order (or n-vertex) Bargmann's invariant. The novel feature of these invariants is that they are complex, whereas (2.3) is limited to real non-negative values. It is, indeed, the complex phase of these invariants

$$\arg \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle \langle \psi_2 | \psi_3 \rangle \dots \langle \psi_{n-1} | \psi_n \rangle := -\chi_n \tag{2.7}$$

which is related to the geometric structure of the space  $\mathcal{P}$ . The quantity  $\chi_n$ , which corresponds to the opposite of complex argument of  $\Delta^{(N)}$ , is called *Pancharatnam phase*.

An interesting characteristic of Bargmann's invariants that is worth stressing is their additive property. Consider the three vector invariant (2.4) by:

$$\Delta(\psi_1, \psi_2, \psi_3) = \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle \langle \psi_2 | \psi_3 \rangle \langle \psi_3 | \psi_1 \rangle$$

and its four vector generalisation

$$\Delta^{(4)}(\psi_1,\psi_2,\psi_3,\psi_4) = \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle \langle \psi_2 | \psi_3 \rangle \langle \psi_3 | \psi_4 \rangle \langle \psi_4 | \psi_1 \rangle$$

represented in figure 2.2 by a triangle and a quadrangle, respectively; a relation between these two quantities can be established. Inserting the real positive quantity  $\langle \psi_3 | \psi_1 \rangle \langle \psi_1 | \psi_3 \rangle$  into  $\Delta^{(4)}(\psi_1, \psi_2, \psi_3, \psi_4)$  doesn't change the value of its phase. Therefore, this leads to:

$$\arg \Delta^{(4)}(\psi_1, \psi_2, \psi_3, \psi_4) = \arg \Delta(\psi_1, \psi_2, \psi_3) + \arg \Delta(\psi_1, \psi_3, \psi_4).$$

Thus, the four-vertex phase invariant is the sum of two suitable three-vertex phase invariants. This clearly can be easily generalised to calculate the Pancharatnam phase associated with any n-vertex Bargmann's invariant as a sum of phases associated with elementary triangles  $\Delta$ . A n-vertex invariant  $\Delta^{(n)}(\psi_1, \psi_2, \ldots, \psi_n)$  can, in fact, be represented as a polygon with n vertices, and through a triangulation process it can be expressed as a composition of (n-2) triangles, each corresponding to a three-vertex invariant  $\Delta$ . Thus we have,



**Figure 2.2:** Additive property of the Bargmann invariant. The triangle represents a 3-vertex Bargmann invariant. Each vertex is a state in space  $\mathcal{B}$  and the lines represent the Pancharatnam phases associated with the pairs of states that they connect. The quadrangle represents a four-vertex Bargmann invariant. It can be obtained as the composition of two suitable three vertex invariant.

$$\arg \Delta^{(n)}(\psi_1, \psi_2, \dots, \psi_n) := \arg \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle \langle \psi_2 | \psi_3 \rangle \dots \langle \psi_n | \psi_1 \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \arg \Delta(\psi_1, \psi_{i-1}, \psi_i). \quad (2.8)$$

This additive property suggests that Pancharatnam's phase must behave like a sort of area, defined in a suitable way. It can be shown that the representation of Bargmann's invariants by means of polygons, like the ones in figure 2.2, has a mathematically well defined meaning. We will show in section 2.5.2 that it is possible to define a metric in the space  $\mathcal{P}$  so that the "arcs" connecting the vertices of these polygons are nothing but geodesics in this metric space. In the same way, the Pancharatnam phase can be related to the area enclosed inside these polygons. That this is generally true will become clear in section 2.5.2.

### 2.3 The continuum case: geometric phase of a curve

In section 2.2 we have introduced the phase invariant associated with a finite chain of states. This has been defined as the complex phase of Bargmann's invariant associated with the chain. It now seems natural to generalise the previous consideration to the case of a continuum chain of states, and define the analogue of Pancharatnam's phase.

Consider a one parameter smooth curve C in  $\mathcal{B}$  consisting of a smooth concatenation of vector  $\psi(s)$ :

$$C = \{\psi(s) \in \mathcal{B} | s \in [s_a, s_b] \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset \mathcal{B},$$

leaving open the condition of whether this C is a closed curve or an open one. It is possible to show that there exists a functional  $\phi_g$  associated with this curve, obtainable as a limit to the continuum of the Pancharatnam phase (2.7), and that it maintains the same invariant properties as (2.7). Given this (open or closed) curve C, by splitting the interval  $[s_a, s_b]$  into N pieces we obtain a subdivision, namely

$$s_a = s_1 < s_2 < s_3 \dots s_{N-1} < s_N = s_b,$$

where

$$\psi_1 = \psi(s_1), \psi_2 = \psi(s_2), \dots, \psi_N = \psi(s_N)$$



**Figure 2.3:** Examples of subdivision of the curve  $\psi(s)$ . An open curve is approximated by a polygonal. A Bargmann phase can be associated with the polygon formed by the arc  $\psi_1$ - $\psi_5$  and this polygonal. A geometric invariant associated with the open curve can be obtained as the limit of this Bargmann invariant when the number of points in the subdivision tends to infinity.

are the corresponding points in C. The phase invariant associated with the chain of points is:

$$\arg \Delta^{(N)}(\psi_1, \psi_2, \dots, \psi_N) = \arg \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle \langle \psi_2 | \psi_3 \rangle \dots \langle \psi_N | \psi_1 \rangle.$$
(2.9)

This can be represented as a polygonal with N-1 segments that approximates the curve C plus an "arc" connecting initial and final point of C.

We want to show that the limit

$$\phi_g(\mathcal{C}) = -\lim_{N \to \infty} \arg \Delta^{(N)}(\psi_1, \psi_2, \dots, \psi_N).$$
(2.10)

exists and that it can be expressed in a simple form in terms of the curve C in  $\mathcal{B}$ . First of all, by exploiting the additive property of Pancharatnam's phase, initial and final elements of the curve C can be separated

$$-\arg \Delta^{(N)}(\psi_1, \psi_2, \dots, \psi_N) =$$
$$= \arg \langle \psi(s_a) | \psi(s_b) \rangle - \arg \left\{ \prod_{n=1}^{N-1} \langle \psi_n | \psi_{n+1} \rangle \right\} =$$

where the first term on the right hand side clearly does not depend on the subdivision chosen. As C is a smooth curve in  $\mathcal{B}$  the limit of the second term can be estimated by means of the Taylor theorem in the interval  $[s_a, s_b]$ 

$$\langle \psi(s_n) | \psi(s_{n+1}) \rangle = 1 + (s_{n+1} - s_n) \langle \psi(s_n) | \dot{\psi}(s_n) \rangle + o(s_{n+1} - s_n)^2 \qquad \forall \ n \in \mathbb{C}$$

where  $o(s_{i+1}-s_i)^2$  denotes an infinitesimal of the same order of  $(s_{i+1}-s_i)^2$  and dots indicate derivations with respect to the parameter s. Notice that the normalisation condition of each vector  $\psi(s) \in \mathcal{B}$  of the curve implies that:

$$\mathbf{Re}\langle\psi(s)|\dot{\psi}(s)\rangle = 0,$$

i.e.,

$$i\langle\psi(s)|\dot{\psi}(s)\rangle = -\mathbf{Im}\langle\psi(s)|\dot{\psi}(s)\rangle \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Thus, it follows that:

$$\arg\left\{\prod_{n=1}^{N-1} \langle \psi_n | \psi_{n+1} \rangle\right\} = \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \arg\left\{\psi_n | \psi_{n+1} \rangle\right\}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \arg\left\{1 + (s_{n+1} - s_n) \langle \psi(s_n) | \dot{\psi}(s_n) \rangle + o(s_{n+1} - s_n)^2\right\}$$
$$= -\sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \left\{(s_{n+1} - s_n)i \langle \psi(s_n) | \dot{\psi}(s_n) \rangle\right\} + \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} o(s_{n+1} - s_n)^2.$$

By using the fact that

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} o(s_{n+1} - s_n)^2 = 0,$$

and from the definition of an integral on a curve:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \left\{ (s_{n+1} - s_n) \langle \psi(s_n) | \dot{\psi}(s_n) \rangle \right\} = \int_{s_a}^{s_b} \langle \psi(s) | \dot{\psi}(s) \rangle ds,$$

we deduce that the limit (2.10) exists and it is equal to:

$$\phi_g = \arg \langle \psi(s_a) | \psi(s_b) \rangle + i \int_{s_a}^{s_b} \langle \psi(s) | \dot{\psi}(s) \rangle ds.$$
(2.11)

At this point, we need to remark on the meaning of this quantity. First of all it is clear that this expression is defined only in the case of non-orthogonal initial and final state  $\psi(s_a)$  and  $\psi(s_b)$ . It is worth stressing the fact that this quantity is only defined modulo  $2\pi$ . This is mainly due to the fact that the expression (2.11) has been derived as the limit of an infinite sequence of real numbers defined modulo  $2\pi$ . For this reason it is correct to regard this quantity as a "phase".

#### 2.3.1 Gauge invariance and parameterisation invariance

The notion of invariance under group transformations  $U(1), U(1) \times U(1), ..., U(1)^{\times n}$  encountered earlier in the discrete case is now generalised to the continuum case. A continuum phase transformation means that we have the freedom to change the curve C so that for each value of the parameter s the point of the new curve has an arbitrary phase relation with the corresponding point of C. A transformation of particular interest is the one in which the phase change is generated by a real smooth function  $\alpha(s)$ , that transforms the curve C into a new curve C' in the following way:

$$C \to C': \quad \psi'(s) = e^{i\alpha(s)}\psi(s), \qquad s \in [s_1, s_2].$$
 (2.12)

We call this operation a *gauge transformation*. Under this phase transformation the integrand inside the formula (2.11) changes in the following way:

$$\langle \psi'(s) | \dot{\psi}'(s) \rangle = \langle \psi(s) | \dot{\psi}(s) \rangle + i \dot{\alpha}(s).$$

It is then clear that the functional obtained in the expression (2.11) is *gauge invariant*, which means that its value does not depend on the choice of the function  $\alpha(s)$ 

$$\phi_g(C') = \arg \langle \psi'(s) | \psi'(s) \rangle + i \int_{s_a}^{s_b} \langle \psi'(s) | \dot{\psi}'(s) \rangle =$$
$$= \arg \langle \psi(s) | \psi(s) \rangle + i \int_{s_a}^{s_b} \langle \psi(s) | \dot{\psi}(s) \rangle ds = \phi_g(C). \quad (2.13)$$

This property has interesting implications in the geometrical meaning of  $\phi_g$ . We recall that the set that describes "physical" pure states is the space that we denoted  $\mathcal{P}$ , i.e. the space of unit *rays*. This is obtained as a quotient of the space  $\mathcal{B}$  under the equivalence relation induced by the action of U(1), or, in a more physical way, it is the space of normalised states defined up to a phase factor. We have also defined a natural projection map from  $\mathcal{B}$  to  $\mathcal{P}$  denoted by  $\Pi$ . Then, by means of the map  $\Pi$  a curve  $C \subset \mathcal{B}$  projects to a curve  $\mathcal{C} \subset \mathcal{P}$  defined as

$$\mathcal{C} := \Pi(C) \,, \tag{2.14}$$

If equation (2.14) holds, then the curve C is also called a *lift* of C. If we now consider the effect on the curve C of the gauge transformation (2.12), we easily see that C is gauge invariant. Indeed, C projects onto the same image as C' does

$$\Pi(C') = \Pi(C) = \mathcal{C}.$$

Then, if we regard C as initially given, the choice of a lift C is equivalent to consider a particular "gauge". The analogy with the electromagnetic gauge theory is straightforward. In fact, as in classical electromagnetism the vector potential **A** represents an object with no direct measurable effect, while the physically measurable features are quantified by the electromagnetic field itself; here C is a pure mathematical object and the actual physically observable quantity is C. This gauge invariance of the curve C means that the functional (2.11) is essentially a function of the curve C in the space  $\mathcal{P}$ . Another important feature of this functional is its parameterisation invariance. The concept of *parameterisation invariance* is related to the way in which the curve is traversed with the variation of the parameter s, in other terms, if the parameter is interpreted as the evolution time, different parameterisations would define different rates of motion of the state along the curve. Invariance under the parameter transformation would therefore imply independence with respect to the time evolution of the quantum system. Suppose that we replace the parameter s with another parameter s' which is a smooth monotonic function of s, then the curve C is formally transformed into another curve  $\tilde{C}$ :

$$\tilde{C} = \{\psi'(s') \in \mathcal{B} | s' \in [s'_a, s'_b] \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset \mathcal{B}.$$

These two curves, namely C and  $\tilde{C}$ , possess the same support, i.e. the same locus of point in  $\mathcal{B}$ , but they are different in the rate in which they are traversed by the parameter s and s', respectively. Combining this two properties, namely the *gauge invariance* and the *parameterisation invariance*, we deduce that the functional

$$\phi(\mathcal{C})_g = \arg(\langle \psi(s_a) | \psi(s_b) \rangle) + i \int_{s_a}^{s_b} \langle \psi(t) | \dot{\psi}(t) \rangle dt$$
(2.15)

only depends on the curve C in the space  $\mathcal{P}$ . In this sense the phase  $\phi(C)$  can be called the *phase* associated with the curve C. The parameterisation independence determines the geometric nature of this functional, in the sense that it associated only with the "shape" of the path traversed by the state in the space  $\mathcal{P}$ . Moreover, the fact that the functional is associated only with the curve in the space  $\mathcal{P}$ , and not on its lift C in  $\mathcal{B}$ , means that this functional is an observable effect independent of phase factors, which therefore become unessential.

In spite of the gauge independence of  $\phi(\mathcal{C})$ , each terms appearing in it are actually dependent on the choice of the particular lift C. Then, if we regard the curve  $\mathcal{C}$  as given, we can just choose any lift C, then the expression  $\phi(\mathcal{C})$  can be calculated and will result independent of this choice.

The expression of  $\phi(\mathcal{C})$  can be decomposed in the following way:

$$\phi(\mathcal{C}) = \phi_t(C) - \phi_d(C), \qquad (2.16)$$

$$\phi_t(C) := \arg \langle \psi(s_a) | \psi(s_b) \rangle \to \text{ total phase of } C,$$
(2.17)

$$\phi_d(C) := -i \int_{s_a}^{s_b} \langle \psi(t) | \dot{\psi}(t) \rangle dt \to \text{ dynamical phase of } C.$$
 (2.18)

The name "total phase of C" for the expression  $\phi_t$  emphasises the fact that this phase represents the phase difference between initial and final point of the curve C, according to the notion of distant parallelism introduced by Pancharatnam [58]. This quantity is not independent of the gauge choice, since, as we already pointed out in the previous section, the phase relation introduced by the definition of distant parallelism is not invariant under U(1) transformation, thus, a fortiori, it cannot be a gauge independent quantity. This expression, as can be easily seen, is a nonlocal functional of C, in the sense that it depends only on initial and final point of the curve C. On the hand the "dynamical phase"  $\phi_d$  is a locally additive functional of C, as it depends on an integral of a locally well defined quantity.

These two functional are individually dependent on C; only their difference is a functional of C. Given a curve C in  $\mathcal{P}$ , using the gauge degree of freedom, it is possible to express  $\phi_g$  in different ways, choosing different lifts  $C \in \mathcal{B}$ .

For example, we can choose C so that  $\phi_t$  is set equal to 0. We are then requiring the initial and final state,  $\psi(s_1)$  and  $\psi(s_2)$ , to be "in phase", according to Pancharatnam's criterion of distant parallelism. According to this condition we find

$$\phi_t(C) = 0 \Rightarrow \langle \psi(s_1) | \psi(s_2) \rangle \ge 0 \Rightarrow \psi(s_1) \text{ and } \psi(s_2) \text{ ``in phase''}, \qquad (2.19)$$

$$\phi_g(\mathcal{C}) = -\phi_d(C) \,. \tag{2.20}$$

However, this choice doesn't define uniquely a gauge transformation, as there still exists an infinite amount of freedom in the choice of lifts that determines the same phase relation between  $\phi(s_1)$  and  $\phi(s_2)$ . We can choose any gauge transformation in which the value of  $\alpha(s)$  is the same in  $s_1$  and  $s_2$  and this gauge still fulfils the same phase relation.

On the other hand, there exists a more interesting choice that can easily satisfy a criterion of uniqueness. To this end we observe that the previous condition defines a phase relation that is non-local. By defining a local criterion, i.e. a criterion that relates the phase of each point  $\psi(s)$  along the curve, it is possible to establish a unique gauge choice. We can consider a lift C such that the dynamical phase is zero in any point s of the curve, i.e. a lift for which the integrand of the functional  $\phi_d$  is identically zero. It will shortly be clear that this condition can always be achieved. Such a lift is called *horizontal lift*, and correspondingly we have,

$$\langle \psi(s) | \dot{\psi}(s) \rangle = 0 \ \forall s \Rightarrow \phi_d(C) = 0,$$
 (2.21)

$$\phi_g(\mathcal{C}) = \phi_t(C) \,. \tag{2.22}$$

The existence and uniqueness of such a horizontal curve in  $\mathcal{B}$  can be easily shown as follows. Let C be a given curve in  $\mathcal{B}$ , and let's then ask under which conditions the gauge transformed curve C' is horizontal. From the expression (2.21) it follows that  $\alpha(s)$  must satisfy the equation:

$$\dot{\alpha}(s) = i \langle \psi(s) | \dot{\psi}(s) \rangle,$$

i.e.

$$\alpha(s) = \alpha(s_1) + i \int_{s_1}^s \langle \psi(s') | \dot{\psi}(s') \rangle ds'.$$

If we then specify that  $\psi$  and the gauge transformed  $\psi'$  have the same value in  $s_1$ , then the horizontal lift is completely determined by

$$\alpha(s) = i \int_{s_1}^s \langle \psi(s') | \dot{\psi}(s') \rangle ds'.$$

From this result it follows that, given a curve C in P and given the initial point  $\psi(s_1)$ , there exists a unique horizontal lift of C in B starting out from  $\psi(s_1)$ . Then, in contrast to the condition specified in (2.19), the condition (2.21) determines uniquely the gauge transformation, and there are no degrees of freedom left.

### 2.4 Geometric phase and Schrödinger evolution

### 2.4.1 Berry's phase

Historically, the definition of geometric phase was originally introduced by Berry in a context of closed, adiabatic, Schrödinger evolution. What Berry showed in his seminal paper [2] was that a quantum system subjected to a slowly varying Hamiltonian manifests in its phase a geometric behaviour due to the structure of the Hilbert space. When the Hamiltonian of a system evolves cyclically and slowly enough, any (non-degenerate) eigenstate of the initial Hamiltonian evolves adiabatically following the instantaneous eigenspace. When the Hamiltonian returns to its original value, the system is eventually brought back to the *ray* of its initial state, acquiring a phase that, apart from the usual dynamical phase, is geometrical in nature. This phase is called *Berry's phase*. It is easy to show that the Berry phase originally defined in the context of adiabatic closed evolution can be recovered as a special case of the geometric phase  $\phi_q(C)$  introduced in section 2.3.

Let's summarise the derivation of the Berry phase and show how this geometric property comes naturally from the solution of the Schrödinger equation. Consider a Hamiltonian  $H(\lambda)$  depending on some external parameters  $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n)$ , and suppose that these parameters can be varied arbitrarily inside a space  $\mathcal{M}$  (the parameter space). Assume that for each value of  $\lambda$  the Hamiltonian has a completely discrete spectrum of eigenvalues, given by the equation

$$H(\boldsymbol{\lambda})|n(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rangle = \epsilon_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda})|n(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rangle,$$
 (2.23)

where  $|n(\lambda)\rangle$  and  $\epsilon_n(\lambda)$  are smooth concatenations of eigenstates and eigenvalues, respectively, of  $H(\lambda)$ , as functions of the parameters  $\lambda$ . Suppose that the values of the parameters evolve smoothly along a curve  $\lambda(\tau) \in \mathcal{M}$  ( $\tau \in [a, b]$ ), respecting the prescription of the adiabatic theorem, i.e that the rate at which the parameters evolve is low compared to the time scales of the Bohr frequencies of the system  $(\epsilon_n(\lambda) - \epsilon_m(\lambda))$  (as usual assume  $\hbar = 1$ ). The adiabatic theorem states that, under such a regime, an eigenstate of the system evolves following "rigidly" the transformation of the Hamiltonian: a system initially prepared in an eigenstate with eigenvalue  $\epsilon_n(\lambda(a))$ , remains at any instant t of its evolution in the eigenspace  $\epsilon_n(\lambda(t))$ , i.e. the eigenspace smoothly connected with the initial eigenspace  $\epsilon_n(\lambda(a))$ .

Thus, in the simplest case of non-degenerate eigenvalues, since the eigenspace is one-dimensional, the evolution of any eigenstate is specified by the spectral decomposition (2.23) up to a phase factor. The adiabatic approximation introduces a constraint only on the direction of the vector state at any instant of time, and the eigenvalue equation (2.23) implies no relation between the phases of the eigenstates  $|n(\lambda)\rangle$ at different  $\lambda$ 's. Thus, for the present purpose any (smooth) choice of phases can be made. Then, a state  $|\psi_n\rangle$  initially in the eigenstate  $|n(\lambda(a))\rangle$ , evolves as

$$|\psi(t)_n\rangle \simeq \exp\left\{-i\int_a^t \epsilon_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\tau))d\tau\right\} \exp i\phi_n^B(t)|n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(t))\rangle,\tag{2.24}$$

where the first phase factor is the usual dynamic one, and the second one is an additional phase that is introduced to solve the dynamics of the system.

The novel idea introduced by Berry was to recognise that this additional phase factor has an *inherent* geometrical meaning. The crucial point is that this phase  $\phi_n^B$  is non-integrable, i.e. it cannot be written as a single valued function of  $\lambda$ . Its actual value must be determined as a function of the path followed by the state during its evolution. The most important thing is that this value depends only on the geometry of this path, and not on the rate at which it is traversed. Or, in a more formal way, it is independent of the parameterisation of the path.

Under the assumption of the adiabatic approximation, this phase can be determined by requiring that  $|\psi(t)_n\rangle$  satisfies the solution of the Schrödinger equation. A direct substitution of the expression (2.24) into

$$H(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(t))|\psi(t)_{n}\rangle = i\frac{d}{dt}|\psi(t)_{n}\rangle$$
(2.25)

leads to

$$\frac{d\phi_n^B(t)}{dt} = i\langle n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(t)) | \frac{d}{dt} | n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(t)) \rangle.$$
(2.26)

Therefore  $\phi_n^B(t)$  can be represented by a path integral in the parameter space  $\mathcal{M}$ ,

$$\phi_n^B(t) = i \int_a^b \langle n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(t)) | \frac{d}{dt} | n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(t)) \rangle dt = \int_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}(a)}^{\boldsymbol{\lambda}(b)} \boldsymbol{A}^B, \qquad (2.27)$$

where  $A^B := \sum_{\mu} A^B_{\mu} d\lambda_{\mu}$  is called *Berry connection* (one-form), a differential form, whose elements, with respect to the local coordinates  $\{\lambda_{\mu}\}$ , are defined as

$$A^B_{\mu} = i \langle n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) | \partial_{\mu} | n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \rangle, \qquad (2.28)$$

where  $\partial_{\mu} := \partial/\partial \lambda_{\mu}$ . This phase  $\phi_n^B$  becomes physically relevant and non-trivial only when the parameters are changed along a closed path, such that  $\lambda(a) = \lambda(b)$ . Otherwise, the geometrical phase can be

factored out by choosing a suitable eigenbasis. This non-trivial phase, the Berry phase, is then given by

$$\phi_n^B(C) = \oint_C \boldsymbol{A}^B. \tag{2.29}$$

This is nothing but a line integral of a vector potential, (analogous to the electromagnetical vector potential) around a closed path in the parameter space. As this quantity is not identically zero, it implies that the phase acquired is not integrable in nature. It is not possible to define the phase as a single valued function of the parameter space, because *the phase depends on the previous history* of the state, i.e. on the path that it has followed to arrive to this point. By exploiting the Stokes theorem in the n-dimensional space  $\mathcal{M}$ , this quantity can be written as an integral on the (oriented) surface  $\Sigma(C)$  bounded by the closed curve C

$$\phi_n^B(C) = \int_{\Sigma(C)} \boldsymbol{F}^B, \qquad (2.30)$$

where  $\mathbf{F}^B := d\mathbf{A}^B = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mu\nu} F^B_{\mu\nu} d\lambda_{\mu} \wedge d\lambda_{\nu}$  is the *Berry curvature* (differential two-form), where  $d\lambda_{\mu} \wedge d\lambda_{\nu}$  is the infinitesimal surface element of  $\Sigma(C)$ , spanned by the two independent directions  $\lambda_{\mu}$  and  $\lambda_{\nu}$  of  $\mathcal{M}$ , and  $[F^B_{\mu\nu}]$  is an antisymmetric tensor field (analogous to the electromagnetic tensor field), with components

$$F_{\mu\nu}^{B} := \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} = \langle \partial_{\mu}n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) | \partial_{\nu}n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \rangle - \langle \partial_{\nu}n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) | \partial_{\mu}n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \rangle, \qquad (2.31)$$

or, in a coordinate independent way,

$$\boldsymbol{F}^{B} = \langle dn(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) | \wedge | dn(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \rangle, \qquad (2.32)$$

where  $|dn\rangle := d|n\rangle$ .<sup>1</sup> As already pointed out,  $|n(\lambda)\rangle$  is only one choice out of infinitely many possible concatenation of states that satisfy the eigenvalue equation (2.23). If  $|n(\lambda)\rangle$  is a solution of (2.23),  $e^{i\alpha(\lambda)}|n(\lambda)\rangle$  also satisfies the same eigenvalue problem. The choice of a particular  $|n(\lambda)\rangle$  is, in fact, equivalent to selecting a specific gauge representation, in the sense explained in the last section. From the definition (2.28) it follows that the Berry connection A does depend on the gauge choice; indeed it transforms according to

$$\begin{aligned} |n(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rangle &\to |n'(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rangle = e^{-i\alpha(\boldsymbol{\lambda})}|n(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rangle \\ A^B_{\mu} &\to A^{B'}_{\ \mu} = A^B_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\alpha(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \end{aligned}$$

- 1. df is the differential of f for smooth functions f;
- 2. d(df) = 0, (or in short  $d^2 = 0$ ), for any (smooth) form f;
- 3.  $d(f \wedge g) = df \wedge g + (-1)^k f \wedge dg$ , where f is a k-form.

This leads to generalised Stokes' theorem (or the generalised fundamental theorem of calculus), in the following form; if  $\mathcal{M}$  is a compact smooth orientable n-dimensional manifold with boundary  $\partial \mathcal{M}$ , and  $\omega$  is an (n-1)-form on  $\mathcal{M}$ , then [62]

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}} d\omega = \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} \omega$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Throughout this thesis we will sometimes make use of "d" in the sense of exterior derivative. In differential geometry, the exterior derivative is the generalisation of the concept of differential applied to k-forms. For a scalar f (a differential 0-form), the application of the exterior derivative yields the usual differential of calculus, i.e.  $df = \sum_{\mu} \partial_{\mu} f d\lambda_{\mu}$ . In general, the exterior derivative is the unique mapping from k-forms to (k + 1)-forms, satisfying the following properties:

Notice that such phase transformation reveals a gauge structure of the Berry connection analogous to the one of an electromagnetic vector potential. By following the electromagnetic analogy, we can expect that, although A is gauge dependent, the tensor field  $F^B_{\mu\nu}$  should be invariant under this transformations. It is easily verified that under gauge change

$$F^B_{\mu\nu} \to F^{B'}_{\ \mu\nu} = \partial_\mu A^{B'}_{\ \nu} - \partial_\nu A^{B'}_{\ \nu} = \partial_\nu A_\mu - \partial^2_{\mu\nu} \alpha - \partial_\nu A^B_\mu + \partial^2_{\nu\mu} \alpha = F^B_{\mu\nu}, \tag{2.33}$$

which consequently demonstrates the gauge independence of  $\phi_n^B(C)$  itself. This reinforces the idea that  $\phi_n^B(C)$  is indeed a physical observable effect, independent of *unessential phase choices*. Moreover, the expression of  $\phi_n^B(C)$  as a path integral in the parameter space guarantees that it *does not depend on the rate of traversal* of the circuit C (provided the adiabatic approximation holds). Therefore, the Berry phase, a natural consequence of the Schrödinger evolution and the adiabatic approximation, respects the essential requirements to be a geometric feature: (i) gauge independence, (ii) parameterisation invariance. As we already mentioned, the eigenvalue equation (2.23) implies no relation between the phases of the instantaneous eigenstates  $|n(\lambda)\rangle$  at different  $\lambda$ . It is equation (2.26) which imposes constraints on the phase acquired by the time dependent eigenstates. By subtracting the dynamical phase, this constraints can be rephrased in a compact form. By absorbing the phase factor into the definition of the eigenstates as follows

$$|\tilde{n}(t)\rangle = e^{i\phi^B(t)}|n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(t))\rangle$$
(2.34)

equation (2.26) becomes a condition on the possible eigenstates  $\tilde{n}$  satisfying the time evolution along  $\phi^B(t)$ 

$$\langle \tilde{n}(t) | \frac{d}{dt} | \tilde{n}(t) \rangle = 0.$$
(2.35)

This constraint is the *parallel transport condition*, which literally requires the time derivative of the instantaneous eigenvector to have vanishing component along the direction of the eigenvector itself. The term parallel transport is to be understood in the sense that neighbouring states along the curve are chosen "as parallel as possible". This quantitatively means that (2.35) maximises the scalar product between infinitesimally closed states

$$|\langle \tilde{n}(t)|\tilde{n}(t+dt)\rangle|^2 \simeq 1 - 2|\langle \tilde{n}(t)|\frac{d}{dt}|\tilde{n}(t)\rangle|dt.$$
(2.36)

Solving equation (2.35) amounts to choosing a particular smooth concatenation of eigenstates  $|\tilde{n}(t)\rangle$  with a special property: each state and its neighbouring are *in phase*, i.e.  $\arg \langle \tilde{n}(t) | \tilde{n}(t+dt) \rangle \simeq 0$ . Although, *locally* the states are in phase, a *global phase* accumulates as the path is traversed. If compared, the two endpoints of this chain reveal a relative phase which is the Berry's phase

$$\langle \tilde{n}(T) | \tilde{n}(0) \rangle = e^{i\phi^B(C)}$$

This is the original result of Berry: the state of the system, after a closed adiabatic evolution, returns to a state  $\psi(T)$  that gains an irreducible part in its phase  $\phi_g(C)$ , in addition to the dynamical contribution. This phase, analogously to the definition of phase that we have shown in the previous section, has an inherent geometrical meaning, since it does not depend on either the detail of time evolution or unessential phase transformations.

However, we can regard the solution  $|\psi(t)\rangle$  as a curve  $C(t) \in \mathcal{B}$  traversed by the system during its time evolution. The definition of  $\phi_t$  and  $\phi_d$  introduced in section 2.3, applied to this case, leads to:

$$\phi_t(C) = \arg \langle \psi(0) | \psi(T) \rangle = -\int_a^T \epsilon_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\tau)) d\tau + \phi^B(T)$$
(2.37)

and

$$\phi_d(C) = \int_0^T \langle \psi(\tau) | \dot{\psi}(\tau) \rangle d\tau =$$
  
=  $-i \int_0^T \langle \psi(\tau) | H(\tau) | \psi(\tau) \rangle d\tau = -i \int_a^T \epsilon_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}(\tau)) d\tau$ ,

which implies that

$$\phi_g(\mathcal{C}) = \phi_t(C) - \phi_d(C) = \phi^B(T).$$

This means that Berry's phase can be regarded as a special case of the geometric phase given by equation (2.11).

In the case of an adiabatic and closed evolution, the origin of the two expressions "dynamical phase" and "total phase" used for  $\phi_d$  and  $\phi_t$ , respectively, is now clear. Because of the closed evolution, the relative phase between initial and final state is a well defined concept, and it is natural to regard this as the "total" amount of phase acquired by the system after the evolution. On the other hand, the phase  $\phi_d$  is the only part of the total phase containing "information" about the details of the dynamics, namely, the rate at which the path is traversed. Furthermore, in the adiabatic case  $\phi_d$  assumes the form of a time average of the typical "dynamical" phase factor  $e^{i\epsilon t}$  usually generated by a time independent Hamiltonian.

### 2.4.2 Aharonov and Anandan's geometric phase

In the formulation of the Berry phase, the assumption of a closed evolution of the parameters is essential because it guarantees both the gauge invariance and the parameterisation invariance. However, this result is not necessary related to the adiabatic evolution of a system. The closed path of the parameters, together with the adiabatic condition, ensures a closed evolution of the system in the space  $\mathcal{P}$ . The abstract treatment of the geometric properties of a system, that we have introduced in the previous sections, suggests that the geometric phase can be associated with the motion of the quantum system and not necessarily with the Hamiltonian used to achieve this motion. This is the basic idea that was first considered by Aharonov and Anandan [63]. In fact, a phase associated with the evolution of a quantum system itself and not the Hamiltonian of the system does not need an adiabatically varying Hamiltonian to be defined.

In the Aharonov and Anandan definition of geometric phase it is assumed to have a general unitary cyclic evolution which means that the evolution of the system is governed by a Hamiltonian with the following property:

$$H(0) = H(T).$$

It is also assumed that a solution  $\psi(t)$  of the Schrödinger equation is given, such that

$$\psi(T) = e^{i\chi}\psi(0). \tag{2.38}$$

As a consequence of this, even if the curve C in  $\mathcal{B}$  is in general open, the projection C of this curve is closed. This condition, as Aharonov and Anandan observed, is sufficient to define a geometric phase. In

fact, given the projection C of the evolution in P, it is always possible to define a closed lift C' of the curve C

$$\psi'(T) = \psi'(0). \tag{2.39}$$

by applying a gauge transformation of the following form

$$\psi'(t) = e^{i\alpha(t)}\psi(t)$$
 where  $\alpha(T) - \alpha(0) = -\chi$ . (2.40)

The Aharonov and Anandan geometric phase is then defined as:

$$\phi^{AA} = \int_0^T \langle \psi'(\tau) | \dot{\psi}'(\tau) \rangle d\tau , \qquad (2.41)$$

which is strongly reminiscent of the Berry phase. Indeed, it is the line integral of Berry's connection  $A_{\tau} = \langle \psi'(\tau) | \dot{\psi}'(\tau) \rangle$  along the curve *C*, chosen with the specific gauge condition (2.40). The main difference with the Berry phase is that  $\psi'$  is not required to be an eigenstate of the Hamiltonian, and its motion is not restricted to an adiabatic evolution.

To calculate the value of  $\phi^{AA}$  we are imposing the condition (2.40) on the gauge, but, of course, this condition does not define the lift uniquely, since there is still an infinite amount of freedom in the choice of the gauge. To show that the geometric phase defined by Aharonov and Anandan is gauge independent we need, therefore, to demonstrate that the functional (2.41) is invariant under the following kind of phase transformations

$$\psi'' = e^{i\varphi(t)}\psi'(t)$$
 where  $\varphi(T) = \varphi(0)$ ,

that preserve the condition (2.40). It is easy to verify that

$$\int_0^T \langle \psi''(\tau) | \dot{\psi}''(\tau) \rangle d\tau = \int_0^T \langle \psi'(\tau) | \dot{\psi}'(\tau) \rangle d\tau + \left( \varphi(T) - \varphi(0) \right), \tag{2.42}$$

where the second term in the right hand side is zero. Moreover, as in the adiabatic case, it is clear from its definition, that  $\phi^{AA}$  is not dependent on the parameter  $\tau$ , and is uniquely defined up to  $2\pi n$ , with n integer. Therefore  $e^{i\phi^{AA}}$  is a geometric phase factor that depends only on the property of the curve C. This is the result of Aharonov and Anandan.

Now, applying the definition of total, dynamical and geometric phase, introduced in section 2.3 we find that:

$$\phi_t(C) = \arg\langle\psi(0)|\psi(T)\rangle = \chi \tag{2.43}$$

$$\phi_d(C) = \phi_d(C) = \int_0^T \langle \psi(\tau) | \dot{\psi}(\tau) \rangle d\tau = -i \int_0^T \langle \psi(\tau) | H(\tau) | \psi(\tau) \rangle d\tau$$
(2.44)

$$\phi_g(\mathcal{C}) = \chi - \int_0^T \langle \psi(\tau) | \dot{\psi}(\tau) \rangle d\tau = i \int_0^T \langle \psi'(\tau) | \dot{\psi}'(\tau) \rangle d\tau = \phi^{AA} \,. \tag{2.45}$$

By inserting this expression in equation (2.38), we find that in the non-adiabatic case the expression (2.29) is to be replaced by

$$\psi(T) = \exp\left\{i\phi_g(\mathcal{C}) - i\int_0^T \langle\psi(\tau)|H(\tau)|\psi(\tau)\rangle d\tau\right\}.$$
(2.46)

This restates the result of Aharonov and Anandan, in the form given in section 2.3.

### **2.5** Metric on the Hilbert Space: the Fubini-Study metric

In a given an Hilbert space, there is a natural gauge invariant metric that can be defined in terms of elements of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Given any two  $\psi$  and  $\psi'$  in  $\mathcal{B}$ , the distance  $d_{FS}$  between any two points  $p_1 = \Pi \psi_1 = |\psi_1\rangle \langle \psi_1|$  and  $p_2 = |\psi_2\rangle \langle \psi_2|$  in  $\mathcal{P}$  is defined by

$$d_{FS}(p_1, p_2) = \inf_{\alpha_1, \alpha_2} ||e^{i\alpha_1}\psi_1 - e^{i\alpha_2}\psi_2|| = \sqrt{2 - 2|\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle|},$$
(2.47)

where minimisation is saturated by  $e^{i\alpha_1}\psi_1$  and  $e^{i\alpha_2}\psi_2$  in phase according to Pancharatnam's criterion. Clearly,  $d_{FB}(p_1, p_2) \ge 0$  with equality holding if and only if  $p_1 = p_2$ . Also  $d_{FS}(p_1, p_2) = d_{FS}(p_2, p_1)$ . The triangle inequality, for any  $p_1 = \Pi(\psi_1), p_2 = \Pi(\psi_2)$  and  $p_3 = \Pi(\psi_3)$  in  $\mathcal{P}$ , is implied by the following chain of relations

$$d_{FS}(p_1, p_2) + d_{FS}(p_2, p_3) = ||\psi_1 - \psi_2|| + ||\psi_2 - \psi_3|| \ge ||\psi_1 - \psi_3|| \ge d_{FS}(p_1, p_3),$$

where  $\psi_2$  is in phase with  $\psi_1$ , and  $\psi_3$  with  $\psi_2$ . Hence  $d_{FS}$  is a metric on  $\mathcal{P}$ , called the *Fubini-Study* distance [64,65], which can be expressed as  $d_{FB}(p_1, p_2)^2 = 2(1 - \sqrt{\Pr(p_1, p_2)})$ , where  $\Pr(p_1, p_2) := |\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle|^2$  is the transition probability. We will see that the latter quantifies the probability to get an affirmative answer in testing wether the system is in the state  $p_1$  if it was actually in state  $p_2$ , or viceversa. I.e. it quantifies the statistical distinguishability between pure states. The *Fubini-Study* distance is indeed a geometrical measure of statistical indistinguishability between pure quantum states [66–68]. In terms of  $d_{FS(p_1,p_2)}$ , the projective space, corresponding to the subspace spanned by  $\psi$  and  $\psi'$ , is described by a 2-sphere with unit radius embedded in a 3-dimensional Euclidian space. In such a sphere,  $d_{FS(p_1,p_2)}$  is the straight-line distance separating  $p_1$  and  $p_2$ .

Suppose that  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  are such that  $\Pi(\psi_1)$  and  $\Pi(\psi_2)$  are infinitely close in  $\mathcal{P}$ . Then Eq. (2.47) defines a Riemannian metric on  $\mathcal{P}$  called the *Fubini-Study metric*. To obtains its metric coefficients, consider a curve  $\mathcal{C}$  in  $\mathcal{P}$  parameterised in the interval  $[s_a, s_b]$ , and let  $C := \psi(s)$  be any of its lift in  $\mathcal{B}$ . By Taylor expanding,

$$\langle \psi(s) | \psi(s+ds) \rangle = 1 + \langle \psi | \dot{\psi} \rangle ds + \frac{1}{2} \langle \psi | \ddot{\psi} \rangle ds^2 + \mathcal{O}(ds^3),$$

where  $\dot{\psi} := d\psi/ds$ . Also, differentiating  $\langle \psi(s) | \psi(s) \rangle = 1$  twice yields

$$\langle \psi | \dot{\psi} \rangle + \langle \dot{\psi} | \psi \rangle = 0, \qquad (2.48)$$

$$\langle \psi | \ddot{\psi} \rangle + \langle \ddot{\psi} | \psi \rangle + 2 \langle \dot{\psi} | \dot{\psi} \rangle = 0, \qquad (2.49)$$

hence,

$$\begin{split} dl^2 &:= 2(1 - \sqrt{|\langle \psi(s) | \psi(s+ds) \rangle|^2}) = \\ &= 2 - 2\sqrt{1 + \left(\langle \dot{\psi} | \psi \rangle + \langle \psi | \dot{\psi} \rangle\right)} \, ds + \left(\langle \dot{\psi} | \psi \rangle \langle \psi | \dot{\psi} \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle \ddot{\psi} | \psi \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle \psi | \ddot{\psi} \rangle\right) ds^2 \\ &= \langle \dot{\psi} | (\mathbf{1} - |\psi \rangle \langle \psi |) | \dot{\psi} \rangle ds^2 \\ &= \sum_{\mu\nu} g_{\mu\nu} d\lambda_{\mu} d\lambda_{\nu} \,, \end{split}$$

where  $\{\lambda_{\mu}\} \in \mathcal{M}$  are a set of local parameters labelling  $\mathcal{P}$  in the neighbourhood of  $\Pi(\psi)$ , and

$$g_{\mu\nu} := \mathbf{Re} \ Q_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.50}$$

is a positive-definite real matrix, where

$$Q_{\mu\nu} := \langle \partial_{\mu}\psi | (\mathbf{1} - |\psi\rangle\langle\psi|) | \partial_{\nu}\psi\rangle$$
(2.51)

is a positive semi-definite Hermitian matrix, called the *quantum geometric tensor* [69, 70]. This quantity, by definition, is gauge invariant, and its imaginary part coincides, up to a factor 1/2, to the Berry curvature

$$\mathbf{Im} \ Q_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\langle \partial_{\mu}\psi | \partial_{\nu}\psi \rangle - \langle \partial_{\mu}\psi | \partial_{\nu}\psi \rangle}{2} = \frac{F_{\mu\nu}^{B}}{2}.$$
(2.52)

Notice that, the Fubini-Study metric can also be expressed as  $dl_{FB}^2 = \langle u(s)|u(s)\rangle ds^2$ , where  $|u\rangle = |\dot{\psi}\rangle - \langle \psi|\dot{\psi}\rangle|\psi\rangle$  is the component of the tangent vector  $\dot{\psi}(s)$  orthogonal to  $\psi(s)$ . Alternatively,

$$|u\rangle = \mathcal{D}_s |\psi\rangle := |\dot{\psi}\rangle + iA_s^B |\psi\rangle, \qquad (2.53)$$

where  $\mathcal{D}_s := d/ds + iA_s^B$  is the covariant derivative and  $A_s^B = i\langle \psi | \dot{\psi} \rangle$  is the Berry connection. Using this metric one can derive the geodesics in the space  $\mathcal{P}$ , which amounts to finding the path connecting two states which minimises the following length:

$$D_{FS} := \min \int_{\Pi(\psi(s_a))}^{\Pi(\psi(s_a))} dl_{FS} = \int_{s_a}^{s_b} \sqrt{\langle u(s) | u(s) \rangle} ds.$$
(2.54)

The solution of this variational problem leads to a curve C which is a geodesic in  $\mathcal{B}$ . Notice that (2.54) is both gauge-invariant and re-parameterisation independent, which shows that the variational problem is indeed a minimisation over curves C in  $\mathcal{P}$ . It is on account of this explicit gauge and parameterisation invariance that the projection C of C should itself be regarded as a geodesic in  $\mathcal{P}$ . If a specific lift C of C satisfies the geodesic equation, any other lift C' will do so in its own gauge, and with its own parameterisation.

The Euler-Lagrange equation of the variational problem (2.54) can be cast in the following form [60]

$$\left(\frac{d}{ds} + iA_s^B\right)\frac{u(s)}{||u(s)||} = f(s)\psi(s), \quad \text{with } f(s) \text{ real.}$$
(2.55)

Let's have a look at the specific expression for a geodesic connecting two generic points  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  in  $\mathcal{B}$ . Let  $C := \{\psi(s) | s \in [s_a, s_b]\}$  be any such geodesic, such that  $\psi_1 = \psi(s_a)$  and  $\psi_2 = \psi(s_b)$ , and let  $\psi'(s)$  be its *horizontal* lift, i.e.  $A_s^{B'} = i \langle \psi'(s) | \dot{\psi}'(s) \rangle = 0$ . In the horizontal lift, u(s) reduces to  $\dot{\psi}(s)$ , and the geodesic equation (2.55) turns into

$$\frac{d}{ds}\frac{\psi'(s)}{||\dot{\psi}'(s)||} = f(s)\psi'(s), \quad \text{with} \quad \langle \psi'(s)|\dot{\psi}'(s)\rangle = 0, \quad \text{and} \ f(s) \text{ real.}$$
(2.56)

In picking up the horizontal lift, the gauge freedom in C has been used up. One can as well exploits the parameterisation invariance in order to achieve a constant value of  $||\dot{\psi}'(s)||$ , which yields

$$\frac{d^2}{ds^2}\psi'(s) = f(s)\psi'(s), \quad \text{with} \quad \langle \psi'(s)|\dot{\psi}'(s)\rangle = 0, \quad \langle \dot{\psi}'(s)|\dot{\psi}'(s)\rangle = const, \quad \text{and} \ f(s) \text{ real.}$$
(2.57)
Finally, plugging equation (2.57) into (2.49) leads to  $f(s) = -\langle \dot{\psi}'(s) | \dot{\psi}'(s) \rangle := -\omega^2$ , and the geodesic equation reduces to

$$\frac{d^2}{ds^2}\psi'(s) + \omega^2\psi'(s) = 0.$$
(2.58)

Let's show that the horizontal lift of a geodesic satisfies the condition:

$$\arg \langle \psi_1 | \psi'(s) \rangle = 0 \qquad \forall \ s \in [s_a, s_b], \tag{2.59}$$

which means that any state  $\psi'(s)$  is in "phase" with the initial state  $\psi'(s_a) = \psi(s_a) = \psi_1$ . To this end, let's define the function  $\mu(s) := \text{Im}\langle \psi_1 | \psi'(s) \rangle$ . Obviously  $\mu(0) = 0$ , and from the horizontality condition it follows that  $\dot{\mu}|_0 = 0$ . Then, from the geodesic equation (2.58) it turns out that:

$$\ddot{\mu}(s) + \omega^2 \mu(s) = 0, \qquad (2.60)$$

whose unique solution is given by  $\mu(s) = 0$ . This means that  $\langle \psi_1 | \psi'(s) \rangle$  is a real function along the geodesic. If *C* is the shortest geodesic then  $\langle \psi_1 | \psi'(s) \rangle$  is also positive. In fact,  $\langle \psi_1 | \psi'(s) \rangle$  is a continuous, non-vanishing function of *s* and therefore it remains positive along the geodesic as it is so for  $s = s_a$ . Hence  $\arg \langle \psi_1 | \psi'(s) \rangle$  is identically zero along *C*. Let's define  $\cos \theta := \langle \psi_1 | \psi'_2 \rangle$  with  $0 < \theta < \pi/2$ , for non-orthogonal initial state  $\psi'(s_a) = \psi(s_a) = \psi_1$  and final state  $\psi'(s_b) = \psi'_2$ . The unique solution of the geodesic equation (2.58) is provided by

$$|\psi'(s)\rangle = \cos[(s - s_a)\omega] |\psi_1\rangle + \sin[(s - s_a)\omega] |\psi_\perp\rangle, \qquad (2.61)$$

where  $|\psi_{\perp}\rangle := (|\psi'_{2}\rangle - \cos\theta |\psi_{1}\rangle) / \sin\theta$ , with  $\langle \psi_{1} | \psi_{\perp} \rangle = 0$ , is the state orthogonal to  $\psi_{1}$  in the linear span of  $\psi_{1}$  and  $\psi_{2}$ , and with  $\omega = \theta / (s_{b} - s_{a})$ . More explicitly,

$$|\psi'(s)\rangle = \{\cos[(s-s_a)\omega - \theta] |\psi_1\rangle + \sin[(s-s_a)\omega] |\psi'_2\rangle\} / \sin\theta.$$
(2.62)

These expressions show that the geodesics C are arcs of the greatest circles on the 2-sphere representation of the projective Hilbert space generated by  $\Pi(\psi_1)$  and  $\Pi(\psi_2)$ . The length of this geodesics arc is given by

$$D_{FS} := \int_{\mathcal{C}} dl_{FS} = \int_{s_a}^{s_b} ||\dot{\psi}'|| ds = (s_b - s_a)\omega = \theta = \arccos|\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle|, \qquad (2.63)$$

which is called *Fubini-Study length* or *Fubini-Study angle*, which is itself a distance on the projective Hilbert space

$$D_{FS}(p_1, p_2) = \arccos |\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle| = \arccos \sqrt{\Pr(p_1, p_2)}.$$
(2.64)

## 2.5.1 Fubini-Study distance as a statistical distance

Let's digress onto a specific aspect of the Fubini-Study distance. The Fubini-Study distance provides a measure of statistical (in-)distinguishability between pure quantum states. Assume that one wishes to perform a finite set of experiments to distinguish between two states  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$ . To this extent, one needs some specific set of measurements, or equivalently a set of observables, and then use the results to define a statistical distance between the states. However, it is clear that this distance will depends on the choice of the observable as well as on the states. A solution to this problem would be to single out an exceptional set of measurements which maximises the resulting statistical distance. By definition this will be the distance between the states.

Assume that a chosen observable O has n non-degenerate orthogonal eigenstates  $|k\rangle$  in terms of which we can expand both states. When the state is  $\psi_i$ , according to the standard Born rule, the probability distribution  $P_i := \{p_i(k), k = 1...n\}$  to obtain the k-th outcome in the measurement is  $p_i(k) := |\langle \psi_i | k \rangle|^2$ . Each state  $\psi_i$ , therefore, results in a distinct outcome probability distribution. The point now is to quantify by means of a statistical distance the degree of distinguishability of these probability distributions in an operationally meaningful way. Two popular choices that accomplish this task are the Bhattacharyya distance,

$$D_O^{Bha}(\psi_1, \psi_2) := \arccos(\sum_k \sqrt{p_1(k)p_2(k)}) = \arccos B(P_1, P_2)$$
(2.65)

and the Hellingher distance

$$D_O^H(\psi_1, \psi_2) := \left(\sum_k \left(\sqrt{p_1(k)} - \sqrt{p_2(k)}\right)^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \sqrt{2 - 2B(P_1, P_2)}$$
(2.66)

both monotonous functions of the Bhattacharyya coefficient, which can be computed from the square roots of the probabilities,

$$B(P_1, P_2) := \sum_{k} \sqrt{p_1(k)p_2(k)} = \sum_{k} |\langle \psi_1 | k \rangle || \langle k | \psi_2 \rangle| \le |\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle|.$$
(2.67)

There are several optimal measurements that saturate the inequality above. A solution is found by any observable O having either of the state  $\psi_i$  as one of its eigenstates, in which case the Bhattacharyya distance and the Hellinger distance collapse to the Fubini-Study length  $D_{FB}$  (2.64) and Fubini-Study distance  $d_{FB}$  (2.47), respectively. This establishes the Fubini-Study metric as a measure of the distinguishability of pure quantum states in the sense of statistical distance [66]. More precisely, what the Fubini-Study distance measures is the experimental distinguishability of two quantum states, assuming no limitations on the type of measurements one can perform. In practice, a measurement device available to a laboratory may correspond to a limited subset of observables only, and this device may be subject to various sources of imperfections. In this case, the Fubini-Study geometry may not provide the correct measure of experimental distinguishability, but still it is relevant, as it provides information on what we can know in general, without knowledge of the specific physical system.

#### 2.5.2 Pancharatnam's connection and geodesics

In the previous section, we have introduced a metric, the Fubini-Study metric, which is the natural way of defining distances on the projective Hilbert space. We have provided the explicit expression for the geodesics induced by such metric. In this subsection, we introduce another interesting property of the geodesics, and illustrate their role in the ultimate generalisation of the geometric phase for pure states. The widest generalisation of the geometric phase for the evolution of a pure state under a unitary evolution is due to Simon and Bhandari [71]. They defined, in fact, the geometric phase in a context where the state of the system is allowed to evolve along a general open curve C in  $\mathcal{P}$ . Simon and

Bhandari's definition is a generalisation of both Berry's and Aharonov-Anandan's geometric phase. Their brilliant contribution used Pancharatnam's ideas on distant parallelism and recognised that there is a natural way to close an open path. By employing the fact that any non-orthogonal pair of states can be connected by a geodesic, any open path evolution can be closed by joining its initial and final state with a geodesics. The resulting path is, by definition, closed, and it is amenable to the application of the Aharonov and Anandan definition of geometric phase.

It turns out that the contribution to the geometric phase given by the integration along the geodesic is exactly the Pancharatnam phase between the two end-point states. Therefore, this program leaves us with a clear approach to define geometric phase for open path evolution on the projective Hilbert space  $\mathcal{P}$ .

Let  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  be any state in  $\mathcal{B}$ , and let

$$\xi = \arg \left\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \right\rangle$$

be the phase difference between them, according to the criterion of the distance parallelism. And let  $C := \{\psi(s)|s \in [s_a, s_b]\}$  be any geodesic curve such that  $\psi_1 = \psi(s_a)$  and  $\psi_2 = \psi(s_b)$ . Then it is possible to show that:

$$\xi = \int_{\psi_1}^{\psi_2} \boldsymbol{A}^B, \qquad (2.68)$$

where the integration is performed along the geodesic, and  $A^B = A^B_s ds = i \langle \psi(s) | \dot{\psi}(s) \rangle ds$  is the Berry connection.

*Proof*: Let  $\psi'(s)$  be the *horizontal* lift of the geodesic, i.e.  $A_{s}^{B'} = i \langle \psi'(s) | \dot{\psi}'(s) \rangle = 0$ . This means that:

$$|\psi'(s)\rangle = e^{i\alpha(s)}|\psi(s)\rangle$$
 with  $\alpha(s) = i \int_{s_a}^s \langle \psi(s)|\dot{\psi}(s)\rangle ds.$  (2.69)

We proved in the previous section that  $\arg\langle\psi'(s_a)|\psi'(s)\rangle$  is identically zero along the geodesic. This quantity is related to the Pancharatnam connection through the gauge transformation (2.69), we can, indeed, write:

$$\xi = \arg\langle\psi(s_b)|\psi(s_a)\rangle = \arg\langle\psi'(s_b)|\psi'(s_a)\rangle e^{i(\alpha(s_b) - \alpha(s_a))} = \alpha(s_b) - \alpha(s_a), \quad (2.70)$$

which, from (2.69), gives:

$$\xi = i \int_{s_a}^{s_b} \langle \psi(s) | \dot{\psi}(s) \rangle ds = \int_{\psi_1}^{\psi_2} \boldsymbol{A}_s^B. \quad \blacksquare$$
(2.71)

The demonstration of this geodesic property of Pancharatnam's phase is the starting point to define a geometric phase of open paths. Let C be an open curve in the projective Hilbert space associated with the time evolution of the system, with the assumption that its initial and final states are not orthogonal. Suppose that  $C := \{\psi(t)\}$  is a lift of this curve, with  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  its initial and final point. The composite curve, obtained as the combination of  $\psi(t)$  and the geodesic connecting  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$ , is clearly a closed curve in the space  $\mathcal{B}$ . We can apply Aharonov and Anandan's definition of geometric phase to this closed path, which gives

$$\phi^B(\mathcal{C}) = \oint \mathbf{A}^B = \int_C \mathbf{A}^B + \int_{\psi_2}^{\psi_1} \mathbf{A}^B.$$
 (2.72)

This is the definition of geometric phase of Samuel and Bhandari, which can be applied to the most general evolution of a (pure) quantum system. This quantity clearly is parameterisation independent and gauge invariant, since these properties are guaranteed by the invariance of the Aharonov and Anandan geometric phase of the closed curve C+geodesic. Then it is clear that  $\phi^B(C)$  can be regarded as a geometric feature of the curve C.

From the results (2.71) it is now evident that the definition of geometric phase of Samuel and Bhandari coincides with the expression of the phase  $\phi_q(C)$  introduced in section (2.3). We can, in fact, write:

$$\int_{C} \mathbf{A}^{B} = \int_{C} A_{s}^{B} ds = \int_{s_{a}}^{s_{b}} \langle \psi(s) | \dot{\psi}(s) \rangle = \phi_{d}(C)$$
$$\int_{\psi_{1}}^{\psi_{2}} \mathbf{A}^{B} = \int_{\psi_{1}}^{\psi_{2}} A_{s}^{B} ds = \arg \langle \psi_{1} | \psi_{2} \rangle = \phi_{t}(C) ,$$
$$\phi^{B}(\mathcal{C}) = \phi_{t}(C) - \phi_{d}(C) = \phi_{g}(\mathcal{C}).$$

In section 2.2, a *N*-vertex Bargmann invariant was represented diagrammatically as a polygon, whose sides represent the Pancharatnam connections in the expression of the Bargmann invariant, (see figures 2.2 and 2.3). The equation (2.71) offers a rigourous explanation for the representation of this phase invariant by means of polygons. It is now clear that the lines connecting the vertices of this polygon are the geodesics of the space  $\mathcal{B}$ . As we showed, Pancharatnam's phase between the states associated with each vertex is exactly the line integral of the Berry connection along geodesics. Then the Bargmann phase invariant is simply the line integral along the sides of the polygon. For instance, applying the Stokes theorem to a geodesic triangle we obtain:

$$\arg \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle \langle \psi_2 | \psi_3 \rangle \langle \psi_3 | \psi_1 \rangle = \oint_{\Delta} \mathbf{A}^B = \int_{\Sigma(\Delta)} \mathbf{F}^B$$
(2.73)

where  $\mathcal{F}$  is the (two-form) vector field associated with Berry's connection, the *Berry Curvature*. Then the Bargmann invariant is the integral of Berry's connection on the surface bounded by the closed polygonal. This result then explains the additive property of the Bargmann invariant and its area-like behaviour, as showed in section 2.2. In fact, the Bargmann invariant with N vertex has been represented by an N-vertex polygon. A polygon can be decomposed into two "sub-polygons" with one side in common, (see figure 2.2). The Pancharatnam phase associated with the first one can be written as the sum of the phase of two sub-polygons. Exploiting this additive property, it is now clear that the general definition of geometric phase for pure state can be rephrased as a surface integral of the Berry Curvature  $\mathbf{F}^B$ 

$$\oint_{\Sigma} \mathbf{A}^B = \int_{\Sigma(\Delta)} \mathbf{F}^B \tag{2.74}$$

on the surface represented by the closed path formed by the open evolution and the geodesics connecting its endpoints.

It is now clear that this behaviour is due to geometric structure of the projective Hilbert space  $\mathcal{P}$ , which is characterised by a natural metric, the Fubini-Study metric, and the Bargmann's invariant is nothing but a manifestation of the gauge structure associated with this metric.

3

# THE UHLMANN GEOMETRIC PHASE AND THE BURES METRIC

In chapter 2, the geometric phase has been presented as an abstract definition related to the geometrical property of path in the projective Hilbert space. The starting point for this definition was the observation that even in the simplest case of a three linearly independent state it is possible to define, and observe a manifestation of the geometric structure of the Hilbert space. Generalising this idea we introduced a geometric phase that can be associated with any trajectory of a quantum (pure) state. This definition of geometric phase, originally due to Samuel and Bhandari, is not only an abstract property of the motion of a quantum system, but it can actually be observed in a physical process. In fact, this geometrical phase factor appears in the state of a quantum system as a consequence of its time evolution, and can be measured via an interference experiment. It is hard to think a more general kind of definition than that introduced by Samuel and Bhandari. It includes consistently the definition of geometric phase observable in non-adiabatic as well as non-cyclic evolutions and even in non-unitary evolutions determined by sequence of measurements.

However, all these scenarios take into account only motions of pure states, whereas a more realistic description of a physical systems has to deal with natural statistical uncertainties. It is still an open problem the formulation of a physically well motivated definition of a geometric phase in the most general setting, where a mixed state of a system can undergoes a general quantum evolution. Non-unitary evolutions due to interaction with an environment, transformation of a system under generalised measurements, are examples of physical process were the concept of geometric phase is still far from having a physically motivated definition.

This chapter is devoted to the description of one of most significant definitions of geometric phase in such a scenario, namely the Uhlmann geometric phase.

## 3.1 Definition of Mixed Geometric Phase via State Purification

The first definition of geometric phase for mixed state has been proposed by Uhlmann [23, 72]. In his formulation a mixed state is allowed to perform any kind of physically admissible evolution. Therefore,

it is truly general and applicable to the most general setting. However, admittedly, this definition relies on a rather abstract approach which somehow obscures its physical interpretation. Still, many proposals to measure it have been already put forward [38–40], and demonstrated experimentally [41]. The formulation of Uhlmann geometric phase relies on the concept of "purification". According to this concept, any mixed state  $\rho$  can be regarded as the "reduced density matrix" of a pure state lying in an enlarged Hilbert space. Essentially, one looks for larger, possibly fictitious, quantum systems from which the original mixed states are seen as reductions of pure states. For density operators there is a standard way to do so by use of the Hilbert Schmidt operators (or by Hilbert Schmidt maps from an auxiliary Hilbert space into the original one).

### 3.1.1 Purification

Let's start with reviewing some basic idea of the purification procedure. Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a complex Hilbert space of finite dimension n with the usual scalar product  $\langle ... \rangle$  and let  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  be the algebra of linear operators acting on  $\mathcal{H}$ . We remind that formally a general (*mixed* or *pure*) state is defined as positive linear trace class operator  $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  such that  $\operatorname{Tr}\rho = 1$ . In this formalism, a *pure state* (or *rank one density operator*) is any state  $\omega \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  for which also  $\omega^2 = \omega$  holds. Using the standard notation used in chapter 2, a pure state  $\omega$  is denoted with  $|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|, |\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$  being the only eigenstate of  $\omega$  with eigenvalue 1.

A purification of a mixed state  $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  is a a lift to pure state  $|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|$  in a larger space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}')$ embedding  $\rho \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ . To achieve purification, it is sufficient to consider an auxiliary Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{aux}$ , at least of the same dimension n, and then consider the tensor product space:

$$\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{aux}, \qquad n = dim \mathcal{H} \le dim \mathcal{H}_{aux}.$$
 (3.1)

A reduction to  $\mathcal{H}$  means performing the partial trace over the auxiliary space. Now, let  $\mathbb{1}_{aux}$  be the identity operator in  $\mathcal{H}_{aux}$ , then a state  $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{aux}$  is said to *purify*  $\rho$ , if for any operator  $O \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ 

$$\operatorname{Tr}(O\rho) = \langle \psi | O \otimes \mathbf{1}_{aux} | \psi \rangle, \tag{3.2}$$

or equivalently if  $\rho = \text{Tr}_{aux} |\psi\rangle \langle \psi|$ , where  $\text{Tr}_{aux}$  is the partial trace over the auxiliary space  $\mathcal{H}_{aux}$ .<sup>1</sup>

It can be, however, formally more convenient to work with a different notation. Indeed, being of finite dimension,  $\overline{\mathcal{H}} = \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}$  is canonically isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ . This can be made explicit by fixing two arbitrarily chosen orthonormal basis  $\phi_1, \phi_2, ...$  in  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\phi'_1, \phi'_2, ...$  in  $\mathcal{H}_{aux}$ . Given any operator  $w \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ ,

$$|\psi_{\mathbb{W}}\rangle = \sum |\phi_i\rangle \otimes |\phi'_j\rangle \cdot \langle\phi_i|_{\mathbb{W}}|\phi'_j\rangle \qquad \in \bar{\mathcal{H}}$$
(3.4)

The canonical scalar product in  $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$  is equivalent to the Hilbert-Schmidt scalar product  $(w_1, w_2)$  in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ :

$$(\mathbf{w}_1, \mathbf{w}_2) := Tr\left(\mathbf{w}_1 \cdot \mathbf{w}_2^{\dagger}\right) = \sum \langle \phi_i | \mathbf{w}_1 | \phi_j' \rangle \langle \phi_j' | \mathbf{w}_2^{\dagger} | \phi_i \rangle = \langle \psi_{\mathbf{w}_1} | \psi_{\mathbf{w}_2} \rangle, \tag{3.5}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{aux} = \mathcal{H}, \qquad \bar{\mathcal{H}} = \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{aux}.$$
 (3.3)

When not otherwise specified we will consider only standard purifications.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A distinguished way to choose a purification, called *standard purification*, is to require

and the partial trace over the auxiliary space is given by:

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{aux}\left(|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|\right) = \sum_{\dagger} |\phi_i\rangle\langle\phi_k|\cdot\langle\phi_i|w|\phi_j'\rangle\langle\phi_j'|w^{\dagger}|\phi_k\rangle$$
(3.6)

$$= \mathbf{w}^{\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{w}. \tag{3.7}$$

Therefore, given this isomorphism  $w \leftrightarrow \psi_w$ , in the following we will refer as *standard purification* or *amplitude* of a density matrix  $\rho$  either an operator  $w \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ , for which

$$\rho = \mathbf{w}^{\dagger} \cdot \mathbf{w}, \tag{3.8}$$

or its isomorphic counterpart  $\psi_{w} \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}$  defined by 3.4.

A crucial point to stress is that, given a mixed state, the construction of a standard purification is by no means unique. From a formal point of view, it can be easily checked that any  $w' = U \cdot w$ , for a given unitary operator  $U \in U(n)$ , represents a standard purification of the same state  $\rho$ . This is somehow expected, as the purification, from a physical point of view, represents a "complete information" on the global system described by the global Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{aux}$ , whereas  $\rho$  describes only a part of this compound. Therefore,  $\rho$  is expected to contain only that part of the "information" which can be "locally" stored in one of the subsystem  $\mathcal{H}$ . This becomes physically obvious by considering that the transformation U in  $\overline{\mathcal{H}} = \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{aux}$ , looks just like a *local* change of basis in  $\mathcal{H}_{aux}$ , which by no means can affect the state  $\rho$  in  $\mathcal{H}$ .

In the next section, I will often stress the implications of this "*one to many*" *relation* between mixed states and their purifications. Indeed, for what concern the definition of mixed state geometric phase it will become crucial to establish a criterion which diminish such ambiguity, by selecting distinguished set of purifications.

### 3.1.2 Parallel Transport of Density Matrices and Uhlmann Geometric Phase

Given this definition of purification, it would be natural to generalise the concept of geometric phase for a chain of density matrices, by referring to their purifications. Indeed, as purifications are, by definition, pure, we could just straightforwardly apply the Bargmann invariant technique exploited in chapter 2, i.e. calculate the Bargmann invariant of the purified path, and take its complex argument to be the geometric phase of the mixed state path. Unfortunately, this *programme* does not generate an unambiguous value of the geometric phase, on account of the lack of uniqueness in the purification. A solution to this problem, is, therefore, to select among all possible ones a distinguished set of purification. A solution to this problem was proposed by Uhlmann [23, 73–75]. His idea is based on the concept of parallel transport.

Let's start by considering a path of density operator  $\rho(s)$ ,  $s \in [s_a, s_b]$ , and its purified path

$$\rho(s) \to \mathbf{w}(s) \tag{3.9}$$

i.e. such that  $\rho(s) = w^{\dagger}(s) \cdot w(s)$ . By the previous argument, not only (3.9) represents a purification but also every unitarily transformed path

$$\mathbf{w}(s) \to U(s) \cdot \mathbf{w}(s). \tag{3.10}$$

By analogy with the idea of gauge transformation used in chapter 2 for pure states, it is natural to refer to (3.10) as a *gauge transformation* for mixed states, and in general the freedom in the choice of an

amplitude w as gauge freedom. Notice, that the set of possible gauge transformations that could be adopted in the case of the Bargmann invariants were mere multiplications by complex phase factor's  $e^{i\alpha} \in U(1)$ , i.e. a U(1) gauge freedom. This allowed for the description of the Berry phase in terms of an underlying *Abelian* gauge theory, which by analogy could be compared with the usual electromagnetic U(1) gauge field. The much wider choice of a general unitary operator  $U \in U(n)$ , in the present case, calls for the more convoluted U(n) gauge structure. We will show, that the natural setting underlying the definition of the Uhlmann geometric phase is within the theory of *holonomies*, i.e. the non-Abelian generalisation of the geometric phase.

Let  $w_1, w_2, ..., w_m$  be a finite subdivision of curve (3.9), i.e. a path ordered subset of operators (3.9). Notice that this operators have norm  $||w_i||^2 := (w_i, w_i) = 1$ , due to the normalisation condition of  $\rho_i$ . According to the "programme" we just need to calculate the Bargmann invariant [57] as illustrated in chapter 2, for the discrete chain of pure states  $\psi_{w_i}$ 

$$\xi = (\mathbf{w}_1, \mathbf{w}_2)(\mathbf{w}_2, \mathbf{w}_3) \dots (\mathbf{w}_{m-1}, \mathbf{w}_m)(\mathbf{w}_m, \mathbf{w}_1)$$
(3.11)

$$= \langle \psi_{\mathbb{W}_1} | \psi_{\mathbb{W}_2} \rangle \langle \psi_{\mathbb{W}_1} | \psi_{\mathbb{W}_3} \rangle \dots \langle \psi_{\mathbb{W}_{m-1}} | \psi_{\mathbb{W}_m} \rangle \langle \psi_{\mathbb{W}_m} | \psi_{\mathbb{W}_1} \rangle.$$
(3.12)

It is straightforward to check that this "recipe" generalises the idea of Bargmann invariant for pure states. As, when (3.11) is applied to pure states  $\rho_i = |\psi_i\rangle\langle\psi_i|$  in  $\mathcal{H}$ , the Hilbert-Schmidt scalar product  $(w_i, w_{i+1})$  simply turns into the canonical product  $\langle\psi_i|\psi_{i+1}\rangle$  between pure states, and therefore,  $\arg \xi$  reduces to the Pancharatnam phase (2.7).

This is a first check which indicates that this "programme" might provide a reasonable candidate for a mixed geometric phase. In analogy, with the pure state case, we could just consider the complex argument of the functional  $\xi$ , and take the limit from the discrete chain  $w_1 \dots w_n$  to a continuous evolution, and identify this limit with the "mixed state geometric phase" of the path  $\rho(s)$ . However, despite these similarities, the crucial difference with the pure state case is that, while the Pancharatnam phase for pure states is *independent* of the gauge transformation, and therefore "geometrically meaningful", each gauged transformed path (3.10) generally produces a different  $\tilde{\xi} \neq \xi$ . A sensible criterion to diminish this arbitrariness is needed.

Uhlmann introduced a parallel transport criterion, analogous to the parallel transport condition for pure states, which is able to single out a specific set of purified paths and uniquely identifies the geometric phase. In fact, if one tries to purify two density operators,  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$ , simultaneously, say with  $\psi_{w_1}$  and  $\psi_{w_2}$ , the purification ambiguity can be partially lifted by choosing them to be "as near as possible" to each other [73, 76–78]. Given  $|\psi_{w_1}\rangle$ , there is a  $|\psi_{w_2}\rangle$  with maximal overlap

$$|\langle \psi_{\mathbf{w}_1} | \psi_{\mathbf{w}_2} \rangle| \ge |\langle \psi'_{\mathbf{w}_1} | \psi'_{\mathbf{w}_2} \rangle| \tag{3.13}$$

or, equivalently, with minimal Fubini-Study distance  $d_{FS}^2(\psi_{w_1}, \psi_{w_2}) = 2 - 2|\langle \psi_{w_1} | \psi_{w_2} \rangle|$  among all pair of vectors,  $|\psi'_{w_1}\rangle$ ,  $|\psi'_{w_2}\rangle$  simultaneously purifying  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$ . Ulhmann describes this situation by calling the pair  $\psi_{w_1}$  and  $\psi_{w_2}$ , *parallel* as a shorthand for "as parallel as possible" [23]. This criterion, therefore, allows one to distinguish within all purifications  $w_i$  of curve  $\rho(s)$  exceptional ones  $\tilde{w}_i$ , i.e. those for which the overlap between an element of the purified chain  $\tilde{w}_i$  and the neighbouring one  $\tilde{w}_{i+1}$ is maximised. If these conditions are fulfilled for the whole chain, the remaining arbitrariness is in a regauging  $\tilde{w}_i \to e^{i\alpha_i}U \cdot \tilde{w}_i$  of the subdivision, with  $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{R}$  and a unitary operator U independent of the index *i*. This, however, leaves the quantity

$$\tilde{\xi} = (\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_1, \tilde{\mathbf{w}}_2)(\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_2, \tilde{\mathbf{w}}_3)...(\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_{m-1}, \tilde{\mathbf{w}}_m)(\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_m, \tilde{\mathbf{w}}_1)$$
(3.14)

*invariant*. Therefore,  $\tilde{\xi}$  is uniquely defined by the discrete chain of state  $\rho_i = w_i^{\dagger} w_i$  and it is meaningful to regard it as the *mixed state generalisation* of the Bargmann invariant and its complex argument  $\Phi_g = \arg \tilde{\xi}$  as the *mixed geometric phase*.

We can also sharpen the condition of parallel transport (3.13) by making use of the remaining regauging degree of freedom. We can, indeed, require two neighbouring purifications to be in phase, (in the sense of Pancharatnam phase difference), i.e.:

$$(\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_i, \tilde{\mathbf{w}}_{i+1}) = \langle \psi_{\mathbf{w}_i} | \psi_{\mathbf{w}_{i+1}} \rangle \ge 0.$$
(3.15)

For such a parallel purification, the mixed geometric phase becomes:

$$\Phi_g = \arg\left(\tilde{\mathbf{w}}_N, \tilde{\mathbf{w}}_1\right),\tag{3.16}$$

Condition (3.15) is equivalent to requiring that

$$||\psi_{w_1} - \psi_{w_2}|| + ||\psi_{w_2} - \psi_{w_3}|| + \dots + ||\psi_{w_{N-1}} - \psi_{w_N}||, \qquad (3.17)$$

attain its minimum. Going to the limit of finer and finer subdivisions, equation (3.17) converges to the length of the curve of the purification (3.9). Therefore the purification is parallel if and only if it solves the following variational problem,

$$D_B = \int_{\rho(s_a)}^{\rho(s_b)} dl_B := \min \int_{s_a}^{s_b} \sqrt{\langle \dot{\psi}_{\mathbb{W}(s)} | \dot{\psi}_{\mathbb{W}(s)} \rangle} ds , \qquad (3.18)$$

where  $\psi_{w(s)}$  is a purified path of  $\rho(s)$ , and the dots denote derivatives with respect to s. The resulting minimal length  $D_B$  is called *Bures length* or *Bures angle* [76,79]. Therefore a purification  $\psi_{w(s)}$  is called "parallel" or "parallel transported" if, for every gauged purification  $\psi'_{w(s)}$  of  $\rho(s)$ , it holds

$$\sqrt{\langle \dot{\psi}_{\mathbf{w}(s)} | \dot{\psi}_{\mathbf{w}(s)} \rangle} \leq \sqrt{\langle \dot{\psi}'_{\mathbf{w}(s)} | \dot{\psi}'_{\mathbf{w}(s)} \rangle} \quad \forall s.$$
(3.19)

It is plain to derive a condition for parallel purification, which is easier to handle. Suppose that  $\psi_{w(s)}$  is a parallel purification, then  $\psi'_{w(s)} = U(s)\psi_{w(s)}$ , with  $U(s) = \mathbf{1} \otimes U'$  unitary, is another purification of  $\rho(s)$ . Inserting this into (3.19) leads to

$$0 \le \langle \psi_{\mathbb{W}} | B^{\dagger} B | \psi_{\mathbb{W}} \rangle + i \left( \langle \dot{\psi}_{\mathbb{W}} | B | \psi_{\mathbb{W}} \rangle - \langle \psi_{\mathbb{W}} | B | \dot{\psi}_{\mathbb{W}} \rangle \right), \tag{3.20}$$

where B is the Hermitian generator of U, i.e.  $B(s) := i\dot{U}(s)U^{\dagger}(s)$ . This inequality is valid if and only if  $\langle \dot{\psi}_{w}|B|\psi_{w}\rangle = \langle \psi_{w}|B|\dot{\psi}_{w}\rangle$  for all Hermitian operators  $B = \mathbf{1} \otimes B'$ . In the language of the Hilbert-Schmidt space, this condition becomes  $\text{Tr}(\dot{w}w^{\dagger}B' - w\dot{w}^{\dagger}B') = 0$  for all B' Hermitian, which essentially means nothing other than

$$\dot{\mathbf{w}}\mathbf{w}^{\dagger} = \mathbf{w}\dot{\mathbf{w}}^{\dagger}. \tag{3.21}$$

This condition, together with the normalisation of  $\rho(s)$ , implies that  $(w(s), w(s+\delta s)) \approx 1$ , thus guaranteeing that each w(s) and its neighbour  $w(s+\delta s)$  are in phase in the Pancharatnam sense. The *Ulhmann* mixed geometric phase results just in the residual phase difference between initial and final state, i.e.

$$\Phi_g = \arg\left(\mathbf{w}(s_b), \mathbf{w}(s_a)\right),\tag{3.22}$$

with  $s_a$  and  $s_b$  initial and final value of the parameter, respectively.

## **3.2** Fidelity and Bures Metric

According to Uhlmann parallelism, two amplitudes  $w_1$  and  $w_2$  are called parallel if they maximise their Hilbert Schmidt scalar product, among those simultaneously purifying  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$ . A very important byproduct of this maximisation procedure is the so called fidelity [73], defined as

$$\mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2) := \max_{\mathbf{w}_1, \mathbf{w}_2} |(\mathbf{w}_1, \mathbf{w}_2)| = \max_{\psi_{\mathbf{w}_1}, \psi_{\mathbf{w}_2}} |\langle \psi_{\mathbf{w}_1} | \psi_{\mathbf{w}_2} \rangle|.$$
(3.23)

This is a very crucial quantity in quantum information and in quantum estimation theory. It provides an operationally well-defined distance between quantum states, in terms of statistical distinguishability of quantum states. An explicit expression for the above maximal value has been proven by Uhlmann [67,73]

$$\mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2) = \operatorname{Tr}\sqrt{\sqrt{\rho_2}\rho_1\sqrt{\rho_2}},\tag{3.24}$$

which readily shows how the fidelity depends on  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  only. The proof of the above expression relies on the following simple lemma.

**Lemma 1** For any operator B, and any unitary U,  $|Tr(BU)| \leq Tr|B|$ , with equality attained for  $U = V^{\dagger}$ , where B =: |B|V is the polar decomposition of B, with  $|B| := \sqrt{BB^{\dagger}}$ .

The equality follows straightforwardly from the condition stated, whereas the inequality arises from

$$|\mathrm{Tr}BU| = |\mathrm{Tr}(|B|VU)| = |\mathrm{Tr}(|B|^{\frac{1}{2}}|B|^{\frac{1}{2}}VU)| \le \sqrt{\mathrm{Tr}|B|\mathrm{Tr}(U^{\dagger}V^{\dagger}|B|VU)} = \mathrm{Tr}|B|,$$
(3.25)

where the second relation is the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality for the Hilbert-Schmidt scalar product.

To prove equation (3.24), we define  $w_i =: \sqrt{\rho_i}U_i$ , with i = (1, 2) the polar decompositions of two purifications of  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$ . Then, by Lemma 1

$$|\operatorname{Tr}(\mathbf{w}_1^{\dagger}\mathbf{w}_2)| = |\operatorname{Tr}(\sqrt{\rho_1}\sqrt{\rho_2}U_2U_1^{\dagger})| \le \operatorname{Tr}|\sqrt{\rho_1}\sqrt{\rho_2}| = \operatorname{Tr}\sqrt{\sqrt{\rho_1}\rho_2\sqrt{\rho_1}}.$$

The equality is attained for  $U_2 U_1^{\dagger} = V^{\dagger}$ , where  $\sqrt{\rho_1} \sqrt{\rho_2} =: |\sqrt{\rho_1} \sqrt{\rho_2}|V$ .

Two important limiting case of the fidelity are worth mentioning explicitly. The first one is when we deal with pure states,  $\rho_1 = |\psi_1\rangle\langle\psi_1|$  and  $\rho_2 = |\psi_2\rangle\langle\psi_2|$ . In this case, the fidelity reduces to the standard overlap  $\mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2) = |\langle\psi_1|\psi_2\rangle|$ . Slightly more generally, if just one of the two states is pure,  $\rho_1 = |\psi_1\rangle\langle\psi_1|$ , then  $\mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2)^2 = |\langle\psi_1|\rho_2|\psi_1\rangle|$ , which is the probability that the state  $\rho_2$  will score positively if tested on whether it is in the pure state  $\rho_1$ . It serves as a figure of merit in many statistical estimation problems.

The second example is when  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  commute, i.e. when they are simultaneously diagonal,  $\rho_i = \sum_k p_i(k) |k\rangle \langle k|$ . In this case, the fidelity reduces to

$$\mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2) = \sum_k \sqrt{p_1(k)} \sqrt{p_2(k)} = B(P_1, P_2)$$
(3.26)

i.e. the Bhattacharyya coefficient of the classical statistical distributions  $P_i := \{p_i(k), k = 1 \dots n\}$ .

The fidelity also enjoys a number of quite desiderable properties for a measure of statistical distinguishability [67]:

- 1.  $0 \leq \mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2) \leq 1;$
- 2.  $\mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2) = 1$  iff  $\rho_1 = \rho_2$  and  $\mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2) = 0$  iff  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  have orthogonal supports;
- 3. Symmetry,  $\mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2) = \mathcal{F}(\rho_2, \rho_1)$ ;
- 4. Strong concavity,  $\mathcal{F}(\sum_{j} p_{j}\rho_{j}, \sum_{j} q_{j}\rho'_{j}) \geq \sum_{j} \sqrt{p_{j}q_{j}} \mathcal{F}(\rho_{j}, \rho'_{j});$
- 5. Multiplicativity,  $\mathcal{F}(\rho_1 \otimes \rho_2, \rho_3 \otimes \rho_4) = \mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_3) \mathcal{F}(\rho_2, \rho_4);$
- 6. Unitary invariance,  $\mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2) = \mathcal{F}(U\rho_1 U^{\dagger}, U\rho_2 U^{\dagger});$
- 7. Monotonicity,  $\mathcal{F}(\Phi(\rho_1), \Phi(\rho_2)) \leq \mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2)$ , where  $\Phi$  is a trace preserving CP map.

Property (4) also implies concavity, i.e.  $\mathcal{F}(\sum_{j} p_{j}\rho_{j}, \rho') \geq \sum_{j} \sqrt{p_{j}q_{j}} \mathcal{F}(\rho_{j}, \rho')$ . Property 7 is a key entry, it means that the fidelity cannot grow under any type of physical process, i.e. unitary transformations, generalised measurements, stochastic maps and combinations thereof. This is a crucial demand for any bona-fide measure of distinguishability. It is, indeed, physically unacceptable that any stochastic map, including measurements, may contribute in increasing the distinguishability of two states.

To explicitly see in what sense the fidelity is a measure of statistical distinguishability [80] let's follow a similar argument exposed in section 2.5.1. In the case of two pure states  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$ , it has been shown that the overlap  $|\langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle|$  provides a measure of the experimental (in)-distinguishability of two quantum states, assuming no limitations on the type of measurements one can perform. One can show that the same applies to the fidelity in the case of two mixed states  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$ . One assumes a specific measurement process, and defines a statistical measure of distinguishability between the two resulting outcome distributions. This measure clearly depends on the choice of the measurement process as well as on the states. One can then select the optimal measurements strategy that maximises the distinguishability according to some figure of merit, and define the latter the measure of distinguishability between the states.

For simplicity we will assume both states to be full-rank (i.e. invertible) density matrices. We will allow for the most general type of measuring device, i.e. a positive operator valued measurement (POVM) [81]  $\{E_k, k = 1 \dots n\}$ . A given density matrix  $\rho_i$  responds to such a measurement process with a probability distribution  $P_i := \{p(\rho_i, E_k), k = 1 \dots n\}$ , where  $p_i(k) := \text{Tr}(\rho_i E_k)$ . The optimal POVM is the one that produces two distribution  $P_1$  and  $P_2$  which are the most statistically distinguishable. As in the case of pure states, the figure of merit of choice is the Bhattacharyya coefficient

$$B(P_1, P_2) = \sum_k \sqrt{p_1(k)p_2(k)},$$

which has to be minimised over the POVMs. For a generic unitary U, rewriting

$$p_1(k) := \operatorname{Tr}\left((U\sqrt{\rho_1}\sqrt{E_k})(U\sqrt{\rho_1}\sqrt{E_k})^{\dagger}\right),$$

yields the following chain of relations,

$$B(P_1, P_2) = \sum_k \operatorname{Tr} \left( (U\sqrt{\rho_1}\sqrt{E_k})(U\sqrt{\rho_1}\sqrt{E_k})^{\dagger} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{Tr} \left( (\sqrt{\rho_2}\sqrt{E_k})(\sqrt{\rho_2}\sqrt{E_k})^{\dagger} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
  

$$\geq \sum_k |\operatorname{Tr} \left( (U\sqrt{\rho_1}\sqrt{E_k})(\sqrt{\rho_2}\sqrt{E_k})^{\dagger} \right)| = \sum_k |\operatorname{Tr} \left( U\sqrt{\rho_1}E_k\sqrt{\rho_2} \right)|$$
  

$$\geq \left| \operatorname{Tr} \left( \sum_k U\sqrt{\rho_1}E_k\sqrt{\rho_2} \right) \right| = |\operatorname{Tr}(U\sqrt{\rho_1}\sqrt{\rho_2})|,$$

where the second line is due to the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for the Hilbert-Schmidt scalar product, with the equality being attained if condition (a):  $\sqrt{\rho_2}E_k \propto U\sqrt{\rho_1}E_k$  is fullfilled. The remaining relations arise from the linearity of the trace and completeness property of the POVMs, and the second inequality can be saturated only if (b):  $\operatorname{Tr}\left(U\sqrt{\rho_1}E_k\sqrt{\rho_2}\right) \geq 0 \ \forall k$ .

Notice that the above inequalities are fulfilled by any unitary U. Therefore, if it has to be a chance of attaining equality in them, U had better be chosen so as to maximise  $|\text{Tr}(U\sqrt{\rho_1}\sqrt{\rho_2})|$ . From Lemma 1, we know that this is achieved by

$$U = \sqrt{\sqrt{\rho_2}\rho_1\sqrt{\rho_2}\rho_2^{-\frac{1}{2}}\rho_1^{-\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
(3.27)

It can be checked that with this unitary operator both condition (a) and (b) can be satisfied by a set of POVMs  $E_k$ , which are projective measurements onto the eigenbasis of the following Hermitian operator

$$M := \rho_2^{-\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{\sqrt{\rho_2} \rho_1 \sqrt{\rho_2}} \rho_2^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(3.28)

The end result is  $B(P_1, P_2) = \mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2)$ .

This finally establishes the interpretation of the fidelity as a statistical measure of distinguishability. This parallels the discussion we made regarding the Fubini Study metric in section 2.5.1, when the states to be distinguished were pure, i.e.  $\rho_i = |\psi_i\rangle\langle\psi_i|$ . In that case, it was found that the Bhattacharyya coefficient distinguishing the probability distributions for of the optimal measurement apparatus equalled the overlap  $|\langle\psi_1|\psi_2\rangle|$ . These two solutions are consistent. However, while for pure states several optimal measurements are possible, here the observable M providing the optimal distinguishability is uniquely defined. We have derived its expression, and it corresponds to the *geometric mean* of the operators  $\rho_2^{-1}$  and  $\rho_1$ .

### **3.2.1** The Bures Metric

The fidelity provides a natural way of defining a distance on the space of density matrices. The definition (3.23) of the fidelity is based on a suitably optimised overlap between pure states. We could therefore borrow the considerations on the Fubini-Study metric exposed in chapter 2, and apply them verbatim to purifications. Once the optimisation over the purification is carried out, the result is the definition of two Riemannian distances, called *Bures distance* 

$$d_B(\rho_1, \rho_2) := \sqrt{2 - 2\mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2)}; \tag{3.29}$$

and Bures length or Bures angle

$$D_B(\rho_1, \rho_2) := \arccos \mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2). \tag{3.30}$$

These are the clearly generalisations of the Fubini-Study distance  $d_{FS}$  and Fubini-Study length  $D_{FS}$ , respectively, when the states  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  are allowed to be mixed. Like in the case of the Fubini-Study metric, the first distance  $d_B$  measures the length of a straight chord, while  $D_B$  measures the length of a curve within the manifold of density matrices. By construction, they are Riemannian distances, and are consistent with the same Riemannian metric. Moreover, notice that they are both monotonously decreasing functions of the fidelity. This means that  $d_B$  and  $D_B$  can be regarded as distances that measure the statistical distinguishability between two quantum states. This is further confirmed by the monotonicity property 7, which entails that both  $d_B$  and  $D_B$  are non-decreasing under stochastic maps, i.e.under any physically meaningful quantum operations.

With the confidence that we are investigating a relevant definition of distance, let's turn to the Riemannian metric induced by the Bures distance, or equivalently by the Bures length. In the limit of two density matrices infinitesimally apart  $\rho(s)$  and  $\rho(s + ds)$ , both  $d_B$  and  $D_B$  converge to the infinitesimal length

$$dl_B^2 := \min \operatorname{Tr}(\dot{\mathbf{w}}^{\dagger} \dot{\mathbf{w}}) ds^2, \qquad (3.31)$$

in agreement with the expression (3.18), where the minimum is attained by the amplitudes w(s) fulfilling the parallel transport condition (3.21). This is the *Bures metric*. It is easy to check that condition (3.21) is fulfilled by the following ansatz [74, 82, 83]

$$\dot{\mathbf{w}} = G\mathbf{w}, \qquad G^{\dagger} = G.$$
 (3.32)

G can be determined by differentiating  $\rho = ww^{\dagger}$  and inserting (3.32), which yields:

$$\dot{\rho} = G\rho + \rho G. \tag{3.33}$$

The quantity G, which may be called the *parallel transport generator* (PTG) is implicitly defined as the (unique) operator solution of (3.33) with the auxiliary requirement that

$$\langle \psi | G | \psi \rangle = 0$$
, whenever  $\rho | \psi \rangle = 0.$  (3.34)

In terms of G, the Bures metric can be cast in the following forms

$$dl_B^2 := \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbf{w}^{\dagger} G^2 \mathbf{w}) ds^2 = \operatorname{Tr}(G^2 \rho) ds^2 = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(G\dot{\rho}) ds^2 , \qquad (3.35)$$

where  $g_{\mu\nu}$  is the Bures metric tensor. Assume that the  $\rho(\lambda)$  is a collection of density matrices labelled by a set of parameters  $\lambda := \{\lambda_{\mu}\} \in \mathcal{M}$  belonging to a manifold  $\mathcal{M}$ . The component of the Bures metric on the induced manifold are given by

$$dl_B^2 =: \sum_{\mu\nu} g_{\mu\nu} d\lambda_{\mu} d\lambda_{\nu}, \qquad g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}(\{G_{\mu}, G_{\nu}\}\rho), \tag{3.36}$$

where  $\{.,.\}$  is the anti-commutator, and  $G_{\mu}$  is the restriction of G along the coordinate  $\lambda_{\mu}$ , and it is determined by the analog of equation (3.33), i.e.  $\partial_{\mu}\rho = G_{\mu}\rho + \rho G_{\mu}$ . We can also raise G to the rank of an operator-valued differential one-form, defined as  $G := \sum_{\mu} G_{\mu} d\lambda_{\mu}$ , which clearly obeys

$$d\rho = \boldsymbol{G}\rho + \rho\boldsymbol{G}.$$

This expression can be easily solved in the basis of eigenvalues of the density matrix  $\rho = \sum_k p_k |k\rangle \langle k|$ :

$$\langle j | \boldsymbol{G} | k \rangle = \sum_{p_j > 0, p_k > 0} \frac{\langle j | d\rho | k \rangle}{p_j + p_k}$$
(3.37)

where the restriction  $p_j > 0$ ,  $p_k > 0$  on the summation derives from the auxiliary condition (3.34). Casting this expression into Eq. (3.36) leads to the following explicit form for the Bures metric tensor [84, 85],

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{p_j > 0, p_k > 0} \frac{\langle j | \partial_\mu \rho | k \rangle \langle k | \partial_\nu \rho | j \rangle}{p_j + p_k} \,. \tag{3.38}$$

Now, let's cast the expression (3.38) in a from amenable to interesting considerations. Let us first differentiate the density matrix  $\partial_{\mu}\rho = \sum_{k} (\partial_{\mu}p_{k}|k\rangle\langle k| + p_{k}|\partial_{\mu}k\rangle\langle k| + p_{k}|k\rangle\langle\partial_{\mu}k|)$  and consider the matrix element  $(\partial_{\mu}\rho)_{\mu\nu}$ . Notice that  $\langle j|k\rangle = \delta_{j,k} \Rightarrow \langle \partial_{\mu}j|k\rangle = -\langle i|\partial_{\mu}k\rangle$ ; whence  $\langle j|\partial_{\mu}\rho|k\rangle = \delta_{j,k} \partial_{\mu}p_{j} + \langle j|\partial_{\mu}k\rangle(p_{k} - p_{j})$ . Plugging this expression back into (3.38) yields

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{p_k>0} p_k \left(\frac{\partial_\mu p_k}{p_k}\right) \left(\frac{\partial_\mu p_k}{p_k}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{p_j>0\\p_k>0}} \langle j|\partial_\mu k\rangle \langle \partial_\nu k|j\rangle \frac{(p_j - p_k)^2}{p_j + p_k} \,. \tag{3.39}$$

This expression provides an interesting distinction between a classical and a quantum contribution. Indeed, the first term in (3.39) is the so called *Fisher-Rao* metric. This is the metric induced by the Hellinger distance, and the Bhattacharyya distance between the infinitesimally close probability distributions  $\{p_k\}$  and  $\{p_k + dp_k\}$ . While the second term takes into account the generic non-commutativity of  $\rho$  and  $\rho' := \rho + d\rho$ . Thus, one may refer to these two terms as the classical and non-classical contributions to the metric, respectively. When  $[\rho', \rho] = 0$  the problem reduces to an effective classical problem and the Bures metric obviously collapses to the Fisher-Rao metric.

One can draw an interesting connection between the metric (3.38) and a quantity of quantum information known as *quantum Chernoff bound* [86]. This is the generalisation of the classical Chernoff bound used in information theory [87,88]. Consider an experimental procedure aiming at distinguishing two quantum states  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$ , where a large number n of copies are provided, and collective measurement are allowed for. In the limit of very large n, the probability of error in discriminating  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$ decays exponentially as  $P_{err} \sim \exp(-n\xi_{QCB})$ ., where  $\xi_{QCB}$  denotes the quantum Chernoff bound. The Chernoff bound generates a metric over the space of quantum states naturally endowed with an operationally well defined character: The farther apart two states lie according to this distance, the smaller is the asymptotic error rate of a procedure that attempts to tell them apart.

In [86] it has been proved that

$$\exp(-\xi_{QCB}) = \min_{0 \le s \le 1} \operatorname{tr} \left(\rho_1^{s} \rho_2^{1-s}\right) \le \mathcal{F}(\rho_1, \rho_2), \qquad (3.40)$$

which for infinitesimally close states  $\rho_1 = \rho$  and  $\rho_2 = \rho + d\rho$ , yields

$$dl_{QCB}^{2} := 1 - \exp(-\xi_{QCB}) = \sum_{\mu\nu} g_{\mu\nu}^{QCB} d\lambda_{\mu} d\lambda_{\nu} , \qquad (3.41)$$

where

$$g_{\mu\nu}^{QCB} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j,k} \frac{\langle j | \partial_{\mu} \rho | k \rangle \langle k | \partial_{\nu} \rho | j \rangle}{(\sqrt{p_j} + \sqrt{p_k})^2}.$$
(3.42)

This expression shows both distinguishability distances, the quantum Chernoff bound metric and the Bures metric (3.38), share similar structures. They are identical except for the denominators, where  $p_j + p_k$  are replaced by  $(\sqrt{p_j} + \sqrt{p_k})^2$ . The following inequalities  $(\sqrt{p_m} + \sqrt{p_n})^2 \ge p_n + p_m$  and  $2(p_j + p_k) \ge (\sqrt{p_j} + \sqrt{p_k})^2$  imply the equivalence of these two metric tensors, i.e.

$$\frac{g_{\mu\nu}}{2} \le g_{\mu\nu}^{QCB} \le g_{\mu\nu}.\tag{3.43}$$

Therefore one expects the two distinguishability measures to convey equivalent information as far as local properties of the manifold of quantum states are concerned.

## **3.3** Uhlmann Connection and Uhlmann Curvature

In the closed path  $\rho_{\lambda(s)}$ , initial and final amplitudes are related by a unitary transformation, i.e.  $w_{\lambda(s_b)} = w_{\lambda(s_a)}V_{\gamma}$ . If the path of amplitudes  $w_{\lambda(s)}$  fulfills the Uhlmann condition,  $V_{\gamma}$  is a *holonomy*, i.e. the non-Abelian generalisation of Berry phase [23]. The holonomy is expressed as

$$V_{\gamma} = \mathcal{P}e^{i\oint_{\gamma}A},\tag{3.44}$$

where  $\mathcal{P}$  is the path ordering operator and A is the Uhlmann connection one-form. The Uhlmann connection can be derived from the following ansatz [72,74]

$$d\mathbf{w} = i\mathbf{w}\mathbf{A} + \mathbf{G}\mathbf{w}\,,\tag{3.45}$$

which is the generalisation of (3.32) when the parallel transport condition is lifted. By differentiating  $\rho = ww^{\dagger}$  and using the defining property of G (see Eq. (3.33)), it follows that A is Hermitian and it is implicitly defined by the equation

$$\mathbf{A}\mathbf{w}^{\dagger}\mathbf{w} + \mathbf{w}^{\dagger}\mathbf{w}\mathbf{A} = i(d\mathbf{w}^{\dagger}\mathbf{w} - \mathbf{w}^{\dagger}d\mathbf{w}), \qquad (3.46)$$

with the auxiliary constraint that  $\langle \psi' | A | \psi' \rangle = 0$ , for  $w | \psi' \rangle = 0$ . From Eq. (3.45), it can be checked that A obeys the expected transformation rule of non-Abelian gauge potentials,

$$A \to U^{\dagger}(s)AU(s) + iU^{\dagger}(s)dU(s), \quad \text{under} \quad w(s) \to w(s)U(s),$$
(3.47)

and that G is gauge invariant. The analog of the Berry curvature, the Uhlmann curvature two-form, is defined as

$$\boldsymbol{F} := d\boldsymbol{A} + i\boldsymbol{A} \wedge \boldsymbol{A} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} d\lambda_{\mu} \wedge d\lambda_{\nu}.$$
(3.48)

Its components  $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} + i [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}]$  can be understood in terms of the Uhlmann holonomy per unit area associated to an infinitesimal loop in the parameter space. Indeed, for an infinitesimal parallelogram  $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$ , spanned by two independent directions  $\hat{e}_{\mu}\delta_{\mu}$  and  $\hat{e}_{\nu}\delta_{\nu}$  in the manifold, it reads

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \lim_{\delta \to 0} i \frac{1 - V_{\gamma_{\mu,\nu}}}{\delta_{\mu} \delta_{\nu}}, \qquad (3.49)$$

where  $\delta \to 0$  is a shorthand of  $(\delta_{\mu}, \delta_{\nu}) \to (0, 0)$ . While the Abelian Berry's curvature  $F^B$  is a gauge invariant (as one expect from the electromagnetic field analogy), the Uhlmann curvature F is only *gauge covariant*, i.e. it transform as:

$$\mathbf{F} \to U^{\dagger}(s)\mathbf{F}U(s), \text{ under } \mathbf{w}(s) \to \mathbf{w}(s)U(s).$$
 (3.50)

This is a direct consequence of the of gauge covariance of any non-Abelian holonomy [62, 89],

$$V_{\gamma} = \mathcal{P}e^{i\oint_{\gamma} A} \to U_t^{\dagger} \mathcal{P}e^{i\oint_{\gamma} A} U_t.$$
(3.51)

The standard approach to the definition of bona-fide observables associated to non-Abelian gauge fields is to resort to the Wilson loop  $W_{\gamma} := \text{Tr}V_{\gamma}$ , i.e. the trace of the holonomy operator associated to an arbitrary loop. Thanks to the cyclic property of the trace, the Wilson loop is evidently gauge invariant. It would then be tempting to define a local gauge invariant quantity, analogue of Uhlmann curvature, by considering the Wilson loop per unit area of an infinetimal loop in the parameter space. This would lead to the trace of curvature, which, however, in the case of the Uhlmann holonomy is always trivial Tr F = 0.

Alternatively, one may consider another gauge invariant quantity, the Uhlmann geometric phase (3.22), which in terms of the Uhlmann holonomy reads,

$$\varphi^{U}[\gamma] := \arg \operatorname{Tr}\left[\mathbf{w}_{\lambda(0)}^{\dagger}\mathbf{w}_{\lambda(T)}\right] = \arg \operatorname{Tr}\left[\mathbf{w}_{\lambda(0)}^{\dagger}\mathbf{w}_{\lambda(o)}V_{\gamma}\right].$$
(3.52)

and evaluate the phase per unit area on an infinitesimal closed loop, which reads

$$\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu} := \lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\varphi^U[\gamma_{\mu\nu}]}{\delta_{\mu}\delta_{\nu}} = \operatorname{Tr} \Big[ \mathbf{w}_{\lambda(0)}^{\dagger} \mathbf{w}_{\lambda(0)} F_{\mu\nu} \Big].$$

This is by definition a gauge invariant. I will call it *mean Uhlmann curvature* (MUC), on account of the expression

$$\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu} = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho F_{\mu\nu}) = \langle F_{\mu\nu} \rangle \tag{3.53}$$

that  $\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu}$  takes in the special gauge  $w_0 = \sqrt{\rho(0)}$ .

By taking the external derivative of the expression (3.45) and by using the property  $d^2 = 0$ , it can be shown that

$$0 = d^{2} \mathbf{w} = i \mathbf{w} d\mathbf{A} + i d \mathbf{w} \wedge \mathbf{A} + d\mathbf{G} \mathbf{w} - \mathbf{G} \wedge d \mathbf{w}$$
  
=  $i \mathbf{w} d\mathbf{A} + i (i \mathbf{w} \mathbf{A} + \mathbf{G} \mathbf{w}) \wedge \mathbf{A} + d\mathbf{G} \mathbf{w} - \mathbf{G} \wedge (i \mathbf{w} \mathbf{A} + \mathbf{G} \mathbf{w})$   
=  $i \mathbf{w} (d\mathbf{A} + i \mathbf{A} \wedge \mathbf{A}) + (d\mathbf{G} - \mathbf{G} \wedge \mathbf{G}) \mathbf{w}$ 

which leads to [75]

$$\mathbb{W} \boldsymbol{F} = i \left( d\boldsymbol{G} - \boldsymbol{G} \wedge \boldsymbol{G} 
ight) \mathbb{W},$$
  
 $\boldsymbol{F} \mathbb{W}^{\dagger} = -i \mathbb{W}^{\dagger} \left( d\boldsymbol{G} + \boldsymbol{G} \wedge \boldsymbol{G} 
ight).$ 

Multiplying the above expressions by  $w^{\dagger}$  and w, respectively, and taking the trace yields

$$\mathcal{U} = \mathrm{Tr}(\mathbf{w} F \mathbf{w}^{\dagger}) = -i \mathrm{Tr}(\rho G \wedge G), \qquad (3.54)$$

where  $\mathcal{U} := 1/2 \sum_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu} d\lambda_{\mu} \wedge d\lambda_{\nu}$  is a real-valued two-form whose components are

$$\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu} = -i\mathrm{Tr}(\rho[G_{\mu}, G_{\nu}]). \tag{3.55}$$

Notice the striking similarity with the expression (3.36) with which the mean Uhlmann curvature shares the same origin and mathematical structure. Similarly to (3.38), it is easy to derive an expression for the MUC in the eigenbasis of the density matrix by making use of the expression (3.37), i.e.

$$\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu} = -i \sum_{\substack{p_j > 0 \\ p_k > 0}} (p_j - p_k) \frac{\langle j | \partial_\mu \rho | k \rangle \langle k | \partial_\nu \rho | j \rangle}{(p_j + p_k)^2} \,. \tag{3.56}$$

From the common mathematical structure of the Bures metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$  in (3.36) and the mean Uhlmann curvature (3.55), it is quite tempting to define the following positive (semi)-definite Hermitian tensor

$$Q_{\mu\nu} := \text{Tr}(\rho G_{\mu}G_{\nu}) = g_{\mu\nu} + \frac{i}{2}\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.57)

This is clearly a mixed state generalisation of the quantum geometric tensor (2.51) defined in section 2.5. In the following, I will indistinctly refer to both Eq. (2.51) and to its mixed state generalisation Eq. (3.57) as quantum geometric tensor.

## 3.4 Multi-parameter quantum state estimation

This section aims at providing a different physical perfective to the quantities introduces in the previous sections. It turns out that objects such as the Bures metric and the mean Uhlmann curvature are intimately related to a pivotal quantity in quantum parameter estimation problems, namely the quantum Fisher information.

The quantum Fisher information matrix  $J(\lambda)$  defines a figure of merit of the estimation precision of parameters labelling a quantum state, known as the quantum Cramér-Rao (CR) bound [90–92]. Given a set of locally unbiased estimators  $\{\hat{\lambda}\}$  of the parameters  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$ , the covariance matrix  $\text{Cov}_{\lambda}[\hat{\lambda}]_{\mu\nu} = \langle (\hat{\lambda}_{\mu} - \lambda_{\mu})(\hat{\lambda}_{\nu} - \lambda_{\nu}) \rangle$  is lower bounded (in a matrix sense) as follows

$$\operatorname{Cov}_{\lambda}[\hat{\lambda}] \ge J(\lambda)^{-1}.$$
 (3.58)

It turns out that such a matrix is mathematically equivalent, except for pathological case [85] to the Bures metric tensor g, or precisely

$$J_{\mu\nu}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = 4g_{\mu\nu}.\tag{3.59}$$

For single parameter estimation, the quantum Cramér-Rao bound (3.58) can always be saturated by a suitable optimal POVM. However, in a multi-parameter scenario this is not always the case, the above inequality cannot always be attained. This is due to the non-commutativity of measurements associated to independent parameters. It turns out that, within a relatively general setting, known as *quantum local asymptotyc normality* [93–96], the multi-parameter quantum Cramér-Rao bound (3.58) is attainable iff [42]

$$\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu} = 0 \qquad \forall \lambda_{\mu}, \lambda_{\nu} . \tag{3.60}$$

In this sense,  $U_{\mu\nu}$  marks the *incompatibility* between  $\lambda_{\mu}$  and  $\lambda_{\nu}$ , and such incompatibility arises from the inherent quantum nature of the underlying physical system.

In particular, I will show in the following that [43] for a *two-parameter model*, the discrepancy between the *attainable* multi-parameter bound and the Cramér-Rao bound can be estimated by the ratio

$$2|\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu}|/\mathrm{Det}J.\tag{3.61}$$

Moreover, the MUC is upper bounded by

$$|\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu}| \le \sqrt{\mathrm{Det}J/2}.\tag{3.62}$$

When saturated, bound (3.62) marks the *condition of maximal incompatibility*. When this condition is met, the quantum indeterminacy in the estimation problem reaches the order of  $\text{Det}(J)^{-1/2}$ , which is the same of the Cramér-Rao bound (3.58). In other words, this implies that the indeterminacy determined by the quantum nature of the underlying physical system would arise at an order of magnitude which cannot be neglected.

This is particularly relevant, considering that the scope of optimal schemes is minimising the parameter estimation error. This can only be done by designing strategies which strive for the higher possible rate of growth of J(n) with the number n of available resources. When the condition (3.58) of maximal incompatibility holds, it implies that the quantum indeterminacy in the parameter estimation problem remains relevant even in the asymptotic limit  $n \to \infty$ .

### **3.4.1** Formulation of the problem

It is often the case that a physical variable of interest is not directly accessible, either for experimental limitations or due to fundamental principles. When this happens one could resort to an indirect approach, inferring the value of the variable after measurements on a given probe. This is essentially a parameter estimation problem whose solution may be found using methods from classical estimation theory [97] or, when quantum systems are involved, from its quantum counterpart [90].

The solution of a parameter estimation problem amounts to find an estimator, *i.e* a mapping  $\hat{\lambda} = \hat{\lambda}(x_1, x_2, ...)$  from the set  $\chi$  of measurement outcomes into the space of parameters  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$ . Optimal estimators in classical estimation theory are those saturating the Cramer-Rao inequality,

$$\operatorname{Cov}_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}[\hat{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}] \ge J^c(\boldsymbol{\lambda})^{-1}$$
 (3.63)

which poses a lower bound on the mean square error  $\text{Cov}_{\lambda}[\hat{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}]_{\mu\nu} = E_{\lambda}[(\hat{\lambda} - \lambda)_{j}(\hat{\lambda} - \lambda)_{k}]$  in terms of the Fisher information

$$J_{\mu\nu}^{c}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \int_{\chi} d\hat{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}(x) \, p(\hat{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}|\lambda) \partial_{\mu} \log p(\hat{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}|\lambda) \partial_{\nu} \log p(\hat{\boldsymbol{\lambda}}|\lambda) \,.$$
(3.64)

For unbiased estimators, the mean square error is equal to the covariance matrix  $\text{Cov}_{\lambda}[\hat{\lambda}]_{\mu\nu} = E_{\lambda}[\hat{\lambda}_{j}\hat{\lambda}_{k}] - E_{\lambda}[\hat{\lambda}_{j}]E_{\lambda}[\hat{\lambda}_{k}]$ . The expression (3.63) should be understood as a matrix inequality. In general, one writes

$$\operatorname{tr}(W\operatorname{Cov}_{\lambda}[\hat{\lambda}]) \geq \operatorname{tr}(WJ^{c}(\lambda)^{-1}),$$

where W is a given positive definite cost matrix, which allows the uncertainty cost of different parameters to be weighed unevenly.

In the classical estimation problem, both in the single parameter case, and in the multi.parameter one, the bound is saturable in the limit of an infinite number of repetitions of an experiment using the maximum likelihood estimator [98]. However, an interesting difference between of multi-parameter the single parameter metrology arises due to correlation between parameters. Indeed, it may well happen that the resulting Fisher information matrix is non-diagonal. This means that the estimators for the parameters will not be independent. In a separate scheme in which all parameters except the  $\lambda_{\mu}$  are perfectly known, the single parameter CR bound implies that the uncertainty of estimating  $\lambda_{\mu}$  is lower bounded by  $\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\lambda}) \geq 1/J_{\mu\mu}^c$ . On the other hand, in the simultaneous scenario in which all parameters are estimated at the same time, one finds  $\operatorname{Var}(\hat{\lambda}) \geq (J^c(\lambda)^{-1})_{\mu\mu}$ . From basic algebra of positivedefinite matrices, we have that  $(J^c(\lambda)^{-1})_{\mu\mu} \geq 1/J^c(\lambda)_{\mu\mu}$ , with equality holding only in the case when all off-diagonal elements vanish. Since asymptotically the CR bound is saturable, it implies that the equivalence between the simultaneous and separate scheme in the limit of a large number of experiment repetitions can only hold if F is a diagonal matrix, and hence there are no statistical correlations between the estimators [99].

Clearly, for any real positive definite matrix one can perform an orthogonal rotation to a new basis in which the matrix is diagonal. This simply means that there are always linear combinations of the parameters for which the diagonality conditions hold. This choice should be, however, contrasted with the physical opportunity of performing such rotation, as the choice of the parameters we are interested in may arise as a result of physical considerations and in this sense determine a preference in a specific basis.

While the fundamental objects in classical Fisher information are parameter dependent probability distribution of the data, the fundamental objects involved in the quantum estimation problem are the density matrices  $\rho(\lambda)$  labelled by  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$ . In the quantum scenario we therefore face an additional challenge of determining the optimal measurement for extracting most of the information on the parameters of interest from the quantum states. In the single parameter case the situation is relatively simple. Maximization of the classical Fisher information over all quantum measurements yields the quantity referred to as the quantum Fisher information (QFI). The key object involved in the calculation of the QFI is the so called *symmetric logarithmic derivative* (SLD), which is implicitly defined as the Hermitian operator satisfying the equation

$$\partial_{\mu}\rho(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \rho(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) L_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) + L_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rho(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \right\} .$$
(3.65)

The above equation, apart from a factor 1/2 is identical to the defining equation (3.33) of the parallel transport generator  $G_{\mu}$ . However, a relatively benign difference between  $G_{\mu}$  and  $L_{\mu}$  arises from the auxiliary condition (3.34). This may cause a sizeable discrepancy between their behaviours in some pathological cases. This cases may occur around point in state the manifold where  $\rho(\lambda)$  undergoes a change of rank [85].

The QFI can be calculated using the formula:

$$J_{\mu\mu}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \rho(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \{ L_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}), L_{\mu}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \} .$$
(3.66)

One can always choose the projective measurement in the eigenbasis of the SLD which yields FI equal to the QFI. Hence, the QFI determines the ultimate achievable precision of estimating the parameter on

density matrices  $\rho(\lambda)$  in the asymptotic limit of an infinite number of experiment repetitions. In a multiparameter scenario, a direct generalization of single parameter CR bound leads to the multiparameter QFI CR bound [90–92], that reads

$$\operatorname{tr}(W\operatorname{Cov}(\hat{\lambda})) \ge \operatorname{tr}(WJ^{-1}), \tag{3.67}$$

where

$$J_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}\rho\{L_{\mu}, L_{\nu}\}, \qquad (3.68)$$

is the quantum Fisher information matrix (QFIM), W is the cost matrix.

#### 3.4.2 Multi-parameter Incompatibility: a Measure of Quantumness

Unlike the single parameter case, in the multi-parameter scenario the QFI CR bound cannot always be saturated. Intuitively, this is due to the incompatibility of the optimal measurements for different parameters. A sufficient condition for the saturation is indeed  $[L_{\mu}, L_{\nu}] = 0$ , which is however not a necessary condition. Within the comprehensive framework of quantum local asymptotic normality (QLAN) [93–96], a necessary and sufficient condition for the saturation of the multi-parameter CRB is given by  $\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu} = 0$  for all  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  [42].

Here, we show explicitly that  $\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu}$  provides a figure of merit for the discrepancy between an attainable multi-parameter bound and the single parameter CRB quantified by  $J^{-1}$ . We will confine ourself to the broad framework of QLAN, in which the *attainable* multi-parameter bound is given by the so called Holevo Cramer-Rao bound (HCRB) [90–92]. For a *N*-parameter model, the HCRB can be expressed as [93]

$$tr(GCov(\hat{\lambda})) \ge C_H(G), \tag{3.69}$$

where

$$C_H(G) := \min_{\{X_\mu\}} \{ \operatorname{tr}(G\operatorname{Re}Z) + ||(G\operatorname{Im}Z)||_1 \}.$$
(3.70)

The  $N \times N$  Hermitian matrix is defined as  $Z_{\mu\nu} := \text{Tr}(\rho X_{\mu}X_{\nu})$ , where  $\{X_{\mu}\}$  is an array of N Hermitian operators on  $\mathcal{H}$  satisfying the unbiasedness conditions  $\text{Tr}(\rho X_{\mu}) = 0 \ \forall \mu$  and  $\text{Tr}(X_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\rho) = \frac{1}{2}\text{Tr}\rho\{X_{\mu}, L_{\nu}\} = \delta_{\mu\nu} \ \forall \mu, \nu$ , and  $||B||_1$  denotes the sum of all singular values of B. If one chooses for  $\{X_{\mu}\}$  the array of operators  $\tilde{X}_{\mu} := \sum_{\nu} [J^{-1}]_{\mu\nu} L_{\nu}$ , it yields

$$Z = \tilde{Z} := J^{-1}IJ^{-1} = J^{-1} - i2J^{-1}\mathcal{U}J^{-1}, \qquad (3.71)$$

where  $I_{\mu\nu} := \text{Tr}\rho L_{\mu}L_{\nu}$  is the quantum Fisher tensor, and  $\mathcal{U}$ , with a little abuse of formalism, is the matrix of elements  $\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{4}\text{Tr}\rho[L_{\mu}, L_{\nu}]$ . If one indicates by  $\mathcal{D}(G) := C_H(G) - \text{tr}GJ^{-1}$  the discrepancy  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  between the attainable multi-parameter HCRB and the CRB is bounded as follows

$$0 \le \mathcal{D}(G) \le 2||GJ^{-1}\mathcal{U}J^{-1}||_1, \tag{3.72}$$

where the first inequality is saturated iff  $\mathcal{U} = 0$  [42].

For the special case of a two-parameter model, in the eigenbasis of J, with eigenvalues  $j_1$  and  $j_2$ , it holds

$$J^{-1}\mathcal{U}J^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} j_1^{-1} & 0\\ 0 & j_2^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{U}_{12}\\ -\mathcal{U}_{12} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} j_1^{-1} & 0\\ 0 & j_2^{-1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{\mathcal{U}_{12}}{\text{Det}J}\\ -\frac{\mathcal{U}_{12}}{\text{Det}J} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.73)

It follows that

$$2||GJ^{-1}\mathcal{U}J^{-1}||_1 = 2\sqrt{\operatorname{Det}G} \ \frac{\sqrt{\operatorname{Det}2\mathcal{U}}}{\operatorname{Det}J}.$$
(3.74)

Hence, in this case  $\sqrt{\text{Det }2\mathcal{U}}/\text{Det }J$  provides a figure of merit which measures the *amount of incompatibility* between two independent parameters in a quantum two-parameter model.

For self-adjoint operators  $B_1, \ldots, B_N$ , the Schrodinger-Robertson's uncertainty principle is the inequality [100]

$$\operatorname{Det}\left[\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{Tr}\rho\{B_{\mu},B_{\nu}\}\right]_{\mu,\nu=1}^{N} \ge \operatorname{Det}\left[-\frac{i}{2}\operatorname{Tr}\rho[B_{\mu},B_{\nu}]\right]_{\mu,\nu=1}^{N},\qquad(3.75)$$

which applied to the SLD  $L_{\mu}$ 's, yields

$$\operatorname{Det} J \ge \operatorname{Det} 2\mathcal{U}.$$
 (3.76)

For N = 2, when the inequality (3.76) is saturated, it implies that

$$\mathcal{D}(G) \simeq 2\sqrt{\operatorname{Det}GJ^{-1}},\tag{3.77}$$

which means that the discrepancy  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  reaches the same order of magnitude of tr $(GJ^{-1})$ , i.e. the CRB itself. This limit marks the *condition of maximal incompatibility* for the two-parameter estimation problem, arising from the quantum nature of the underlying system.

Another interesting inequality relates the eigenvalues of J (and hence of g) with those of  $\mathcal{U}$ . The QGT<sup>2</sup>

$$Q_{\mu\nu} := \text{Tr}\rho G_{\mu}G_{\nu} = \frac{1}{4}\text{Tr}\rho L_{\mu}L_{\nu} = \frac{1}{4}J_{\mu\nu} + \frac{i}{2}\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu}$$
(3.78)

is a positive (semi)-definite Hermitian matrix. Hence, by definition  $J \ge -2i\mathcal{U}$ , in a matrix sense. It follows that [101]

$$j_i \ge 2|u_i|,\tag{3.79}$$

where  $j_i(g_i)$  and  $u_i$  are the i-th eigenvalues of J(g) and  $\mathcal{U}$ , respectively, ordered according to  $j_1 \leq j_2 \leq \cdots \leq j_N$  and  $u_1 \leq u_2 \leq \cdots \leq u_N$ . In particular, for i=1, one gets

$$||J||_{\infty} \ge 2||i\mathcal{U}||_{\infty}.\tag{3.80}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>I am deliberately assuming  $L_{\mu} = 2G_{\mu}$ , thus neglecting possible discrepancy arising due to variations in the rank of  $\rho$  [85].

CHAPTER 3: THE UHLMANN GEOMETRIC PHASE AND BURES METRIC

4

# GEOMETRY OF QUANTUM PHASE TRANSITIONS

Several systems manifest phase transitions as the temperature or other parameter is modified. Examples range from our mundane experience of ice melting or the loss of ferromagnetism in iron to the far more elaborated superfluid Mott-insulator phase transition in optical lattices [102]. The studies of phase transitions at finite temperature has seen a extraordinary upswing in the last few decades [103–107], partly due to the formidable success of Landau-Ginzburg theories, spontaneous symmetry breaking and the renormalization group [108–111] in spelling out the nature of a wide variety of finite temperature phase transitions.

In this chapter, I will focus on the subset of phase transitions known as quantum phase transitions (QPTs) [10, 112–116] and I will summarise some of the developments brought in the field by the unorthodox approaches of geometric phase and geometric information. QPTs are phase transitions which occur at zero temperature, and are induced by quantum fluctuations. They are typically characterised by non-analytical behaviour of the ground state energy density of a quantum many-body Hamiltonian at the quantum critical point, for a given set of parameters labelling the Hamiltonian. I will consider only continuous QPTs, i.e. phase transitions associated to an order parameter that vanishes continuously at criticality, as opposed to first order QPT, characterised instead by abrupt changes in the order parameter. According to the standard classification, first order phase transitions are usually signalled by a finite discontinuity in the first derivative of the ground state energy density, whereas, continuous QPTs are identified by continuous first derivatives but discontinuous second derivatives of the ground state energy density.

I will mostly focus the discussion on quantum phase transitions in transverse field models, (namely, Ising and XY models in a transverse magnetic field) which are paradigmatic examples exhibiting zero temperature continuous QPTs. This will also pave the ground to the discussions in the last chapter of this thesis, where I will consider non-equilibrium versions of similar models. The one-dimensional version of the transverse Ising model emerged for the first time in the resolution of the two-dimensional nearest-neighbor ferromagnetic classical Ising model. The row-to-row transfer matrix of the two-dimensional classical model converges to the transverse Ising chain in a suitable limit [117], and its exact solution

soon followed [118]. This correspondence represents the prototypical example of a quantum-to-classical mapping. The model was employed, shortly after, to reproduce the ferroelectric transitions in Potassium Dihydrogen Phosphate (KDP) [119]. More than fifty years since their appearance, it is astounding how useful the transferse field models continue to be, in understanding QPTs, non-equilibrium dynamics of quantum critical systems, and their connections to quantum information, and geometric information.

## 4.1 Continuous Phase Transition and Universality

Since many of the salient features of continuous phase transitions are common to classical and quantum phase transitions, let's take a brief detour into the topic of phase transitions driven by thermal fluctuations, and review some of the basic notions that will recur in the discussion on QPTs.

Assume that, at a given temperature  $T = T_c$ , a classical system with translation invariance symmetry in d-spatial dimensions has a critical point (CP). Any such critical point is characterised by several critical exponents, which identify most of the remarkable features of the system behaviour around the CP [111, 120]. Let  $O(\mathbf{r})$ , with  $\mathbf{r} \in \mathbb{T}^d$ , denote an order parameter, i.e. a variable whose thermal expectation value  $\langle O(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = 0$  for  $T \geq T_c$  and  $\langle O(\mathbf{r}) \rangle \neq 0$  for  $T < T_c$ . If  $T < T_c$ , the two-point correlation function of the order parameter falls off exponentially at large distances, i.e.  $\langle O(\mathbf{r}_1)O(\mathbf{r}_2)\rangle \sim \exp(-|\mathbf{r}_1-\mathbf{r}_2|/\xi)$ , where  $\xi$  is the so called *correlation length*, which is a function of T. As the phase transition is approached by varying some parameter, several remarkable phenomena occur. One of most notable is the divergence of  $\xi$ as T approaches  $T_c$  from above, namely, as  $T \to T_c^+$ , usually as a power law which is characterised by the critical exponent,  $\nu$ , of correlation length, i.e.  $\xi \sim (T - T_c)^{\nu}$ . At criticality, i.e. at  $T = T_c$ , the divergence of the correlation length indicates that the two point correlation function decays only algebraically with the distance, namely  $\langle O(\mathbf{r}_1)O(\mathbf{r}_2)\rangle \sim |\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_2|^{-d-2+\eta}$ , where  $\eta$  is another critical exponent. Apart from the above long-ranged spacial correlation, similar scaling can be observed in the temporal behaviours at criticality. They are characterised by the dynamical critical exponent, z, which defines the scaling law of the system response-time  $\tau_c = \omega_c^{-1}$  to external perturbations, which diverges like  $\tau \sim \xi^z$  as  $T \to T_c^+$ , a phenomenon-known as *critical slowing down*. Correlation length  $\xi$  and response-time  $\tau_c$  set the only characteristic length scale and characteristic time scale close to the phase transition. Infinite correlation length and time at criticality entails fluctuations on all length scales and timescales, and the system is said to be scale-invariant. A direct consequence is that every observable depends on the external parameters via power laws. The corresponding exponents are the critical exponents.

Apart from  $z, \nu$  and  $\eta$ , other critical exponents are:  $\beta$ , which characterises the vanishing of the order parameter as the critical temperature is approached from below, i.e.  $\langle O(\mathbf{r}) \rangle \sim (T_c - T)^{\beta}$  as  $T \to T_c^-$ ;  $\alpha$  which defines the divergence of the singular part of the specific heat  $C \sim (T - T_c)^{-\alpha}$  as  $T \to T_c^+$ . By denoting h the conjugate field to the order parameter, i.e. the field which couples to the  $O(\mathbf{r})$  in the Hamiltonian of the system, one defines the zero-field susceptibility  $\chi_c := d\langle O(\mathbf{r}) \rangle / dh|_{h=0}$ , whose critical exponent is  $\gamma$ . The latter characterises the divergence  $\chi_c \sim (T - T_c)^{-\gamma}$  as  $T \to T_c^+$ . Exactly at  $T = T_c$ , the order parameter scales with h as  $O(\mathbf{r}) \sim |h|^{\frac{1}{\delta}}$  as  $h \to 0$ . The critical exponents, whose values characterise the type of criticality, are not independent of each other, many of them are related to one another through a set of scaling laws or exponent relations.

Moreover, it turns out that the complete set of critical exponents not only are mutually dependent,

but they are the same across a whole class of phase transitions, called *universal class*. Indeed, one of the most astounding and far-reaching hallmark of continuous phase transitions is the notion of universality. Its most direct implication is that critical exponents are only determined by the symmetry of the order parameter, the dimensionality of the system and the nature of the fixed point, regardless of microscopic details of the Hamiltonian. The divergence of the correlation length and characteristic time are responsible for such universal behaviour. Close to criticality, every physical quantity is averaged over all lengths that are smaller than the physically relevant scale set by the correlation length. This suggests that the universal critical behaviour can be satisfactorily described by an effective theory that keeps only the asymptotic long-wavelength degrees of freedom of the original Hamiltonian. On the other hand, specific properties which depends on the microscopic details of the model, like e.g. the critical temperature, are not accessible through this coarse graining procedure, and are called non-universal properties. The paradigm of universality shifts the focus of the investigation from the specific model reproducing a peculiar critical phenomenon-occurring in nature to the study of an entire class of seemingly unrelated problems which are governed by the same universal features. Beyond its undoubted theoretical interest, this universality classification has an obvious practical advantage: relevant informations regarding a specific Hamiltonian model may be gleaned by exploring a simpler instance of the same universality class.

The above consideration on finite temperature phase transitions can be illustrated by turning to a specific example, the classical Ising model with ferromagnetic next-neighbour interaction, described by the Hamiltonian

$$H = -J \sum_{\langle \boldsymbol{rr'} \rangle} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{r}}^{z} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{r'}}^{z} - h \sum_{\boldsymbol{r}} \sigma_{\boldsymbol{r}}^{z}$$
(4.1)

where,  $\sum_{< rr'>}$  denotes summation over next-neighbouring sites of a *d*-dimensional hyper-toric lattice, and  $\sigma_r^z$  is a Pauli z matrix encoding a classical spin variable (assuming values  $\pm 1$ ) which lies on the r-th site of the lattice and which couples to a magnetic field of intensity h. For a vanishing magnetic field, the model shows a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  symmetry which may be spontaneously broken in a ferromagnetic phase with nonzero spontaneous magnetisation  $m = 1/N \langle \sum_{\mathbf{r}} \sigma_{\mathbf{r}}^z \rangle_{h \to 0}$ . The system undergoes a phase transition as the critical temperature  $T_c$  is crossed from below, from the ferromagnetic phase ( $T \leq T_c$ ) to a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  symmetric paramagnetic phase, with m = 0 ( $T > T_c$ ). In the special cases of  $d \le 2$ , this model can be exactly solved with the transfer matrix method. For d = 1, no spontaneous magnetisation are exhibited at any finite temperature T > 0; whereas, at T = 0 the system shows long-range correlation, with a correlation length  $\xi$  which diverges exponentially as  $T \to T_c = 0$ . For  $d \ge 2$ , the classical Ising model exhibits positive critical temperatures  $T_c > 0$ . One can appreciate in this example an instance of a general feature of classical critical models, i.e. the existence of a lower critical dimension, in this case  $d_c^l = 1$ , which denotes the highest integer dimension for which a model displays a vanishing critical temperature. In the d = 2 case, the model can be mapped to a one-dimensional transverse quantum Ising chain, which can be solved exactly, and provides a means of calculating all critical exponents. For example, the correlation length exponent is  $\nu = 1$ , while the exponent associated to the spontaneous magnetisation  $m = |T - T_c|^{\beta}$ is  $\beta = 1/8$ .

## 4.2 Quantum vs Classical Phase Transitions

Let us turn briefly to a fundamental question: to what extent a quantum mechanical formulation of a model is necessary in order to understand its critical phenomena, and to what extent will classical physics suffice? Are there distinctive features of a quantum critical phenomenon-which cannot be understood in terms of a classical statistical model?

Within classical statistical mechanics, the statistical properties of a model are described in terms of its (canonical) partition function  $Z := \text{Tr}[e^{-\beta H}]$ , with  $\beta := 1/k_BT$  and H = K + U, which factorises into one term depending on the kinetic energy K only and another that depends only on the potential energy U, i.e.  $Z := \text{Tr}[e^{-\beta K}]\text{Tr}[e^{-\beta U}]$ . As a result, the static properties of the system can be studied independently of the dynamical ones. Moreover, the kinetic energy, which is generically expressed as  $K := \sum_j p_j^2/(2m)$  in terms of the generalised momenta  $p_i$ , contributes to the partition function Z with a Gaussian factor  $e^{-\beta K}$ , which is analytic. Hence, any singular behaviour of Z which results in a phase transition can only arise from the potential energy factor. In particular, the dynamical exponent z is independent from all of the other critical exponents, and the static critical behaviour can be studied by means of an effective functional of a time-independent order parameter. By contrast, in quantum systems the situation differs quite fundamentally, as in general  $[K, U] \neq 0$ . One then sees that the statics and the dynamics of quantum systems are intrinsically coupled and need to be treated together and simultaneously. As a consequence, the dynamical exponent z becomes an integral part of the set of exponents of a given universality class.

A way of telling whether quantum mechanics is important in the description of a critical phenomenonis comparing the thermal fluctuations of the order parameter and its quantum fluctuations, which are set by the smallest energy scale of the relevant quantum degrees of freedom. A rule of thumb is contrasting the two most significant energy scales, namely  $\hbar\omega_c$ , the energy of long-distance order parameter fluctuations, and the thermal energy,  $k_BT$ . In practise, one says that the order parameter fluctuations changes its character from quantum to classical when  $\hbar\omega_c$  falls below  $k_BT$ . However, for any thermal phase transition, the typical energy scale vanishes as  $\hbar\omega_c \sim \xi^z \sim |T - T_c|^{z\nu}$ . Therefore quantum mechanics becomes necessarily unimportant, and the critical behaviour at the transition is dominated by classical fluctuations. This explains the name "classical transition" for transitions occurring at finite temperature.

## **4.3 Quantum Phase Transitions**

The situation is different for transitions occurring at T = 0 driven by a set of non-thermal control parameters  $\lambda = {\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_N}$ , like pressure or magnetic field. In this case the fluctuations in the order parameter are dominated by quantum mechanics, which therefore justifies calling this type of criticality "quantum" phase transitions [10].

Quantum phase transitions are therefore criticality arising for T = 0, where the system lies in its Hamiltonian ground state. The ground state is generally *uniquely* determined by the values of the parameters  $\lambda$  of its Hamiltonian  $H(\lambda)$ , unless something "singular" happens in the spectrum of the many-body system for some critical values  $\lambda_c$ . Such a non-analiticity may be due to a simple level crossing in the many-body ground state. This possibility can only arise when a  $\lambda$  couples to a conserved quantity of the full Hamiltonian, i.e.  $H(\lambda) = H_0 + \lambda H_1$ , with  $[H_0, H_1] = 0$ . This means that, while the eigenvalues will change as a function of the Hamiltonian parameters, the eigenstates will be independent of  $\lambda$ . Hence, a level-crossing may well occur, creating a point of non-analyticity of the ground state energy, however, it will not determine critical singularities in the correlations, and it gives rise to a first-order quantum phase transition. This is a type of transition that also finite-size systems can exhibit.

A totally different story is what happens for continuous phase transitions, which are characterised by higher-order singularities in the energy density. This occurs when a system ground state energy, whose finite-size spectrum displays an avoided level crossing, reaches a infinitely sharp transition in the thermodynamic limit. This involves infinitely many eigenstates of many-body system, and the thermodynamic limit is needed for such a singularity to arise. In this case, it is the non-commutivity of the Hamiltonian terms that are responsible for the quantum fluctuations which drive the systems across the quantum phase transition. One might think that phase transitions occurring at zero temperature are not physically relevant to the actual world. However, one can show that many finite temperature features of a system can be gleaned through the properties of its quantum critical point.

From the above considerations, the point of singularity in the ground state energy density is associated with an energy scale  $\Delta$  which vanishes as  $\lambda$  approaches a critical value  $\lambda_c$ . This energy scale is generally identified by the energy difference between the ground state and the first excited state, i.e. the *energy gap*, and its dependence on the system parameter is generally algebraic in the proximity of the criticality i.e.

$$\Delta \sim J |\lambda - \lambda_c|^{\nu z}. \tag{4.2}$$

Here J is an energy scale associated to the microscopic details of system couplings, and z and  $\nu$  are critical exponents characteristic of the critical point  $\lambda_c$ , which are defined as follows. Similarly to continuous thermal phase transitions, a QPT may be characterised by an order parameter  $O(\mathbf{r}, t)$ , which is an observable whose expectation value vanishes continuously, as a function  $\lambda$ , across the critical point  $\lambda_c$ , going from one phase (the *ordered phase*) to the other (the *disordered phase*). One can define a length scale  $\xi$  which typically characterises the exponential decay of the equal-time two-point correlation function of the ground state,

$$G(\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{r}') := \langle O(\boldsymbol{r},t)O(\boldsymbol{r}',t)\rangle - \langle O(\boldsymbol{r},t)\rangle\langle O(\boldsymbol{r}',t)\rangle \sim \frac{e^{-|\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{r}'|/\xi}}{|\boldsymbol{r}-\boldsymbol{r}'|^{d-2+\eta}}.$$
(4.3)

Here,  $\eta$  is another critical exponent, characterising the power-law decay of correlations  $G(\mathbf{r}) \sim |\mathbf{r}|^{-d-2+\eta}$ at exactly  $\lambda = \lambda_c$ . In quantum continuous phase one invariably observes the algebraic divergence of the correlation length approaching the critical point

$$\xi \sim |\lambda - \lambda_c|^{-\nu}.\tag{4.4}$$

Similarly, one can define a time scale  $\tau_c$  for the decay of equal-space correlations at quantum phase transitions

$$\tau_c \sim \Delta^{-1} \propto \xi^z \propto |\lambda - \lambda_c|^{-\nu z}.$$
(4.5)

## 4.4 Geometric Phase and Criticality

A characteristic that all non-trivial geometric evolutions have in common is the presence of non-analytic points in the energy spectrum. At these points, the state of the system is not well defined owing to their degenerate nature. One could say that the generation of a geometric phase (GP) is a witness of such singular points. Indeed, the presence of degeneracy at some point is accompanied by curvature in its immediate neighbourhood and a state that evolved along a closed path is able to detect it. These points or regions are of great interest to condensed matter or molecular physicists as they determine, to a large degree, the behaviour of complex quantum systems. The geometric phases are already used in molecular physics to probe the presence of degeneracy in the electronic spectrum of complex molecules. Initial considerations by Herzberg & Longuet-Higgins [121] revealed a sign reversal when a real Hamiltonian is continuously transported around a degenerate point. Its generalization to the complex case was derived by Stone [122] and an optimisation of the real Hamiltonian case was performed by Johansson & Sjöqvist [123, 124].

Geometric phases have been associated with a variety of condensed matter and solid-state phenomena. They are at the core of the characterisation of topological phase transitions [46, 125, 126], and have been employed in the description and detection of QPT, both theoretically [4–7, 127, 128] and experimentally [9]. However, their connection to quantum phase transitions has been put forward only recently by Carollo and Pachos [4, 5]. It was further elaborated by Zhu [6], where the critical exponents were evaluated from the scaling behaviour of geometric phases, and by Hamma [7], who showed that geometric phases can be used as a topological test to reveal quantum phase transitions. The use of GP in QPT can be heuristically understood as follows. As we have seen, quantum phase transitions are associated by dramatic structural changes of the system state, resulting from small variations of control parameters. These critical changes are accompanied by the presence of degeneracies in the ground state energy density of the many-body system. The degeneracy are at the origin of the non-analiticity of the ground state wave-function, which characterises the long-range quantum correlations at criticality [4–7, 127–129].

In this section we explore the ability of geometric phase and related quantities to reveal quantum critical phenomena in many-body quantum systems. The use of geometric phases provides a new conceptual framework to understand quantum phase transitions, and at the same time suggests novel viable approaches to experimentally probe criticalities. This maybe done through the evolution of the quantum many-body system in the neighbourhood of a critical point, in a way that does not take the system directly through a quantum phase transition. The latter is hard to physically implement as it is accompanied by multiple degeneracies that can take the system away from its ground state.

Moreover, the geometric phase approach is not based on the identification of an order parameter - and therefore does not require a knowledge of symmetry breaking patterns - or more in general on the analysis of any distinguished observable, e.g., Hamiltonian, but it is a purely geometrical characterisation.

This geometric phase approach has been applied in quite a few explicit models [4, 127–129]. However, for the sake of simplicity I will discuss two of them which stand out for their richness and at the same time for their simplicity, i.e. the paradigmatic one dimensional XY model in transfer magnetic field [4, 5] and the Dicke model [127], whose geometric phase properties will be briefly discussed in the next few sections. The XY model is analytically solvable and it offers enough control parameters to support geometric evolutions. Moreover, its rich criticality structure includes the XX critical model and the Ising critical model. By explicit calculations one can observe that an excitation of the model gains a non-trivial geometric phase if and only if it circulates a region of criticality, a feature which expresses the topological origin property of the geometric phase. The generation of this phase can be traced down to the presence of a conical intersection of the energy levels located at the XX criticality in an equivalent way used in molecular systems. The scaling of the geometric phase can be used to obtain the critical exponents that completely characterize the critical behavior. It is not hard to generalise these results to the case of an arbitrary spin system, which shed light into the understanding of more general systems, where analytic solutions might not be available.

## 4.4.1 A Simple Two-Level System

Before going into the details of the geometric phase for a many-body system, it pays to have a brief detour to the simplest, yet significant example of geometric phase, i.e. the one arising in a two-level system. As we already mentioned is section 2.4.1, the natural context in which the geometric phase is introduced is in the adiabatic evolution of the eigenstate of a Hamiltonian. Within this framework consider a  $2 \times 2$  Hamiltonian  $H(\lambda)$ , where  $\lambda$  is a set of parameters. It can always be expressed (up to an irrelevant identity matrix) as

$$H(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \mathbf{n}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma} = |\mathbf{n}| g(\theta, \varphi) \sigma^z g^{\dagger}(\theta, \varphi), \qquad (4.6)$$

where  $\tan \theta := \sqrt{n_x^2 + n_y^2}/n_z$  and  $\tan \varphi := n_y/n_x$ . Here

$$g = e^{-i\sigma^z \varphi/2} e^{-i\sigma^y \theta/2} \tag{4.7}$$

is a SU(2) is transformation which rotates the operator  $\mathbf{n} \cdot \vec{\sigma}$  to the z-direction, and the vector,  $\boldsymbol{\sigma} := (\sigma^x, \sigma^y, \sigma^z)$ , of Pauli's operators is given by

$$\sigma^{x} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{y} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma^{z} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.8}$$

Using this parameterisation one can represent the Hamiltonian as a tridimensional vector on a sphere, centred in the point of degeneracy of the Hamiltonian ( $|\mathbf{n}| = 0$ ), (see Fig 4.1).

For  $\theta = \varphi = 0$  we have that g = 1 and the two eigenstates of the system are given by  $|+\rangle = (1,0)^T$  and  $|-\rangle = (0,1)^T$  with corresponding eigenvalues  $E_{\pm} = \pm |\mathbf{n}|/2$ . Let us consider the evolution resulting when a closed path *C* is spanned adiabatically on the sphere. Following the general previous consideration it is easy to show that the only non-zero component of the Berry connection,  $\mathbf{A}^B$ , is given by

$$A_{\varphi}^{B} = \pm \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \cos \theta \right)$$

that leads to the Berry phase

$$\phi^B(C) = \oint_C \mathbf{A}^B \cdot dr = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Sigma(\theta,\varphi)} \sin \theta \, d\theta d\varphi = \frac{\Omega}{2}.$$
(4.9)



**Figure 4.1:** The geometric phase is proportional to the solid angle spanned by the Hamiltonian with respect of its degeneracy point.

Here  $\Omega = \iint_{\Sigma} sin\theta d\theta d\varphi$  is the solid angle enclosed by the loop, as seen from the degeneracy point. In this expression the geometric origin of the Berry phase is evident. Its value depends only on the path followed by the parameters and not on the detail of the evolution, and indeed it depends only on the way in which these parameters are changed in relation with the degeneracy point of the Hamiltonian.

A particularly interesting case is the one in which the Hamiltonian can be casted in a real form, corresponding in this case to  $\theta = \pi/2$ . In this case the phase (4.9) becomes  $\pi$  reproducing the sign change of the eigenstate, as this is circulated around a point of degeneracy ( $|\mathbf{n}| = 0$ ), in agreement with the Longuet-Higgins theorem.

## 4.4.2 The XY Model and Its Criticalities

The first model that I will employ to illustrate the connection between geometric phases and critical systems is the spin-1/2 chain with XY interactions. This is a one-dimensional model where the spins interact with their nearest neighbours via the Hamiltonian

$$H = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( \frac{1+\delta}{2} \sigma_j^x \sigma_{j+1}^x + \frac{1-\delta}{2} \sigma_j^y \sigma_{j+1}^y + \frac{h}{2} \sigma_j^z \right),$$

where n is the number of spins,  $\sigma_j^{\mu}$  are the Pauli matrices at site j,  $\delta$  is the x-y anisotropy parameter and h is the strength of the magnetic field. This model was first solved explicitly by Lieb, Schultz and Mattis [117] and by Katsura [118]. Since the XY model is exactly solvable and still presents a rich structure it offers a benchmark to test the properties of geometric phases in the proximity of criticalities.

In particular, we are interested in a generalization of Hamiltonian (4.63) obtained by applying to each spin a rotation of  $\varphi$  around the z-direction

$$H(\varphi) = g(\varphi)Hg^{\dagger}(\varphi) \quad \text{with} \quad g(\varphi) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} e^{i\sigma_{j}^{z}\varphi},$$
(4.10)

in the same way as we did in the case of a single spin-1/2. The family of Hamiltonians that is parameterised by  $\varphi$  is clearly isospectral and, therefore, the critical behavior is independent of  $\varphi$ . This is reflected in the symmetric structure of the regions of criticality shown in Figure 4.2. In addition, due to its bilinear form of the interaction terms we have that  $H(\varphi)$  is  $\pi$ -periodic in  $\varphi$ . The Hamiltonian  $H(\varphi)$ can be diagonalized by a standard procedure [4], which can be summarised in the following three steps:

• the Jordan-Wigner transformation, which converts spin operators into fermionic operators via the relations,

$$c_l := (\prod_{m < l} \sigma_m^z) (\sigma_l^x + i\sigma_l^y) / 2, \quad \{c_j, c_l^{\dagger}\} = \delta_{jl}, \quad \{c_j, c_l\} = 0;$$
(4.11)

• a Fourier transform,

$$d_k = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_l c_l e^{-i2\pi lk/n} \text{, with } k = -0, \dots, n-1,$$
(4.12)

with,  $\{d_k, d_{k'}^{\dagger}\} = \delta_{kk'}, \{d_k, d_{k'}\} = 0;$ 

• a Bogoliubov transformation, which defines the fermionic operators,

$$b_k = d_k \cos \frac{\theta_k}{2} - i d^{\dagger}_{-k} e^{i\phi} \sin \frac{\theta_k}{2}, \qquad (4.13)$$

where the angle  $\theta_k$  is defined as  $\theta_k := \arccos(\eta_k / \varepsilon_k)$  with  $\eta_k := \cos \frac{2\pi k}{n} - h$  and

$$\varepsilon_k := \sqrt{\eta_k^2 + \delta^2 \sin^2 \frac{2\pi k}{n}},\tag{4.14}$$

is the energy of the single eigenmode  $d_k$  of pseudo-momentum k, called *energy dispersion relation*. These procedures diagonalise the Hamiltonian to a form

$$H(\varphi) = \sum_{k=0}^{M} \varepsilon_k b_k^{\dagger} b_k.$$
(4.15)

where either M = n/2 - 1 if n is even or M = (n-1)/2 if n is odd. The ground state  $|\Psi_0\rangle$  of  $H(\varphi)$  is the vacuum of the fermionic modes,  $b_k$ , given by

$$|\Psi_0\rangle := \bigotimes_k \left(\cos\frac{\theta_k}{2}|0\rangle_k|0\rangle_{-k} - ie^{i\varphi}\sin\frac{\theta_k}{2}|1\rangle_k|1\rangle_{-k}\right),\tag{4.16}$$

where  $|0\rangle_k$  and  $|1\rangle_k$  are the vacuum and single excitation of the k-th mode,  $d_k$ , respectively. The energy gap is clearly given by the minimum of the energy dispersion relation  $\varepsilon_k$ . From (4.16) one can interpret the ground state as the direct product of n spins, each one oriented along the direction  $(\varphi, \theta_k)$ . The critical points in the XY model are determined by the conditions under which ground and first excited states become degenerate, which in this case amounts to a vanishing energy dispersion relation  $\varepsilon_k$ . This is the only condition in which singularities may arise. There are two distinct regions of the space diagram that are critical. When  $\delta = 0$ , we have  $\varepsilon_k = 0$  for  $-1 \le h \le 1$ , which is a first-order phase transition with an actual energy crossing and critical exponents z = 2 and  $\nu = 1/2$ . The other critical region is given by  $h = \pm 1$  where one finds  $\varepsilon_k = 0$  for all  $\delta$ . These are continuous phase transitions, with



**Figure 4.2:** The regions of criticality of the *H* Hamiltonian are presented as a function of the parameters *h* and  $\delta$ , and the corresponding ones for the Hamiltonian  $H(\varphi)$  where  $\varphi$  parameterises a rotation around the *h* axis. Possible paths for the geometrical evolutions are depicted, spanned by varying the parameter  $\varphi$ .

finite-size ground-state spectrum having avoiding-crossing. When  $\delta = 1$  and  $h = \pm 1$ , we obtain the Ising critical model with critical exponents z = 1 and  $\nu = 1$ . Finally, let us consider the criticality behaviour of the rotated  $H(\varphi)$ . Clearly, the energy dispersion relation  $\varepsilon_k$  does not depend on the angle  $\varphi$ , as this parameter is related to an isospectral transformation. Hence, the criticality region for the rotated Hamiltonian is obtained just by a rotation around the *h* axis. This is illustrated in Figure 4.2, where the Ising-type criticality corresponds now to two planes at h = 1 and h = -1 and the XX criticality is along the *h* axis for |h| < 1.

## 4.4.3 Geometric Phases and XY Criticalities

Figure 2 depicts the critical points of the XY model. Now, we are interested in obtaining looping trajectories in the parameter space described by the Hamiltonian variables h,  $\delta$  and  $\varphi$ . The aim is to determine the geometric evolutions corresponding to these paths and relate them to regions of criticality. An especially interesting family of closed paths is the one in which loops circulates around the h axis, as the parameter  $\varphi$  varies from zero to  $\pi$ . Indeed, these paths may enclose the XX criticality [10], depending on whether -1 < h < 1. It is possible to evaluate the corresponding geometric phases of the ground and the first excited states as a function of h and  $\delta$ .

Using the standard formula it is easy to show that the Berry phase of the ground state  $|g\rangle$  is given by

$$\phi_g = -i \int_0^{2\pi} \langle g | \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi} | g \rangle = \sum_{k>0} \pi (1 - \cos \theta_k).$$
(4.17)

This result can be understood by considering the form of  $|g\rangle$ , which is a tensor product of states, each lying in the two dimensional Hilbert space spanned by  $|0\rangle_k |0\rangle_{-k}$  and  $|1\rangle_k |1\rangle_{-k}$ . For each value of k(> 0), the state in each of these two-dimensional Hilbert spaces can be represented as a Bloch vector with



Figure 4.3: The geometric phase corresponding to the ground state (a) and the relative one between the ground and excited state (c) as a function of the path parameters h and  $\delta$ . Each point of the surface corresponds to the geometrical phase for a path that is spanned by varying  $\varphi$  from 0 to  $\pi$  for certain h and  $\delta$ . The values of the geometric phase corresponding to the loops  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  in Figure 4.2 are also indicated.

coordinates  $(\varphi, \theta_k)$ . A change in the parameter  $\varphi$  determines a rotation of each Bloch vector about the *z* direction. A closed circle will, therefore, produce an overall phase given by the sum of the individual phases as given in (4.17) and illustrated in Figure 4.3(a).

Of particular interest is the relative geometric phase between the first excited and ground states given by the difference of the Berry phases acquired by these two states. The first excited state is given by

$$|e_{k_0}\rangle = |1\rangle_{k_0}|0\rangle_{-k_0} \bigotimes_{k\neq k_0} \left(\cos\frac{\theta_k}{2}|0\rangle_k|0\rangle_{-k} - ie^{i\varphi}\sin\frac{\theta_k}{2}|1\rangle_k|1\rangle_{-k}\right), \tag{4.18}$$

with  $k_0$  corresponding to the minimum value of the energy dispersion function  $\varepsilon_k$ . The behavior of this state is similar to a direct product of only n-1 spins oriented along  $(\varphi, \theta_k)$  where the state of the spin corresponding to momentum  $k_0$  does not contribute any more to the geometric phase. Thus the relative geometric phase between the ground and the excited state becomes

$$\phi_{eq} := \phi_e - \phi_q = -\pi (1 - \cos \theta_{k_0}). \tag{4.19}$$

In the thermodynamical limit (  $N \rightarrow \infty$  ),  $\phi_{eg}$  takes the form

$$\phi_{eg} = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } |h| > 1 - \delta^2 \\ -\pi + \frac{\pi h \delta}{\sqrt{(1 - \delta^2)(1 - \delta^2 - h^2)}}, & \text{for } |h| < 1 - \delta^2 \end{cases}$$
(4.20)

where the condition  $|h| > 1 - \delta^2$  constrains the excited state to be completely oriented along the z direction resulting in a zero geometric phase. As can be seen from Figure 4.3(b), the most interesting behavior of  $\varphi_{eg}$  is obtained in the case of  $\delta$  small compared to h. In this case  $\phi_{eg}$  behaves as a step function, giving either  $\pi$  or 0 phase, depending on whether |h| < 1 or |h| > 1, respectively. This behaviour is precisely determined by the topological property of the corresponding loop, i.e. whether



**Figure 4.4:** The conical intersection between the two lowest energy levels of the Hamiltonian as a function of the parameters. A contractible loop (i.e. a loop that can be continuously deformed to a point of the domain) produces a zero geometric phase. A non-trivial geometric phase is obtained for non-contractible loops.

a critical point is encircled or not. This property can therefore be used to witness the presence of a criticality. More precisely, in the  $|h| < 1 - \delta^2$  case, one can identify the first contribution with a purely topological term, while the second is an additional geometric contribution [89]. In other words, this first part gives rise to phase whose character depends only on whether the loops can be adiabatically shrunk to a point, i.e. on whether it is contractible. This is a purely topological character of the trajectory traced by the  $(\varphi, \theta_k)$  coordinates. In particular if *n* circulations are performed then the topological phase is  $n\pi$ , where *n* is the winding number. The second term is geometric in nature and it can be made arbitrarily small by tuning appropriately the couplings *h* or  $\delta$ . This idea is illustrated in figure 4.4, where the energy surface of ground and first excited state is depicted. The point of degeneracy is the intersection of the two surfaces. This is the point where the energy density is not analytical. Consider the case of a family of loops converging to a point. In the trivial case in which the limiting point does not coincide to a degeneracy, the corresponding Berry phase converge to zero. If instead, the degeneracy point is included, the Berry phase tends to a finite value [7].

To better understand the properties of the relative geometric phase, we focus on the region of parameters with  $\delta \ll 1$ . In this case, it can be shown [4] that the Hamiltonian, when restricted to its lowest energy modes, can be casted in a *real* form and, for |h| < 1, its eigenvalues present a *conical intersection* centered at  $\delta = 0$ . It is well known that, when a closed path is taken within the real domain of a Hamiltonian, a topological phase shift  $\pi$  occurs only when a conical intersection is enclosed. In the present case, the conical intersection corresponds to a point of degeneracy where the XX criticality occurs and it is revealed by the topological term in the relative geometric phase  $\phi_{eg}$ . It is worth noticing that the presence of a conical intersection indicates that the energy gap scales linearly with respect to the coupling  $\gamma$  when approaching the degeneracy point. This implies that the critical exponents of the energy, z, and of the correlation length,  $\nu$ , satisfy the relation  $z\nu = 1$  which is indeed the case for the XX criticality [10]. In the following we will see that geometric phases are sufficient to determine the exact values of the critical exponents and thus provide a complete characterization of the criticality behavior.

### 4.4.4 General Considerations

One can show that the vacuum expectation value of a Hermitian operator, O, can be written in terms of a geometric phase. The only requirements posed on O are that it should not commute with the Hamiltonian and it should be able to transform the ground state in a cyclic fashion. This is a rather general result that can be used to study the critical models.

To show that let us extend the initial Hamiltonian,  $H_0$ , of the model in the following way

$$H = H_0 + \lambda O \,. \tag{4.21}$$

Turning to the interaction picture with respect to the O term we obtain

$$H_{\text{int}(\lambda)} = U(\lambda t) H_0 U^{\dagger}(\lambda t) , \qquad (4.22)$$

where  $U(\lambda t) = \exp(-i\lambda O t)$ . From the cyclicity requirement, there exists time T such that the unitary rotation  $U(\lambda T)$  takes the ground state  $|\psi\rangle$  to itself, i.e.  $U(\lambda T)|\psi\rangle = |\psi\rangle$  producing eventually the desired cyclic evolution. The Berry phase that results from this evolution is given by (2.29), and thus, one obtains

$$\varphi^{B} = -i \oint \langle \psi | U^{\dagger}(\lambda t) dU(\lambda t) | \psi \rangle = 2\pi i \langle \psi | O | \psi \rangle .$$
(4.23)

From this expression, we see that the geometric phase is a simple function of the vacuum expectation value of the operator that generates the circular paths. This expression can be easily inverted to finally give the expectation value of O as a function of the geometric phase (4.23).

One can easily verify this relation for the simple case of a spin-1/2 particle in a magnetic field. When the direction of the magnetic field is changed adiabatically and isospectrally then the state of the spin is guided in a cyclic path around the z-direction. The generated phase is given by  $\varphi_B = i2\pi \cos \theta$ , where  $\theta$  is the fixed direction of the magnetic field with respect to the z direction. On the other hand, one can easily evaluate that the expectation value of the operator  $(1 - \sigma^z)/2$  that generates the cyclic evolution is given by  $\langle \psi | (1 - \sigma^z)/2 | \psi \rangle = (1 - \cos \theta)/2$ , which verifies relation (4.23), as for example  $\lambda T = 2\pi$ .

This connection has far reaching consequences. It is expected that intrinsic properties of the state will be reflected in the properties of the geometric phases. The latter, as they result from a physical evolution, can be obtained and measured in a conceptually straightforward way. To illustrate this we shall focus on critical phenomena in spin systems. Indeed, the presence of critical points can be detected by the behaviour of specific geometric evolutions and the corresponding critical exponents can be extracted. This comes as no surprise as one can choose geometric phases that correspond to the correlations of the system (expectation values of, e.g.  $\sigma_1^z \sigma_L^z$ ) from where the correlation length and the critical behaviour can be obtained. Let us apply this idea to the XY model, where the rotations are generated by the operator  $O := \sum_i \sigma_i^z$ . One can easily see that the resulting geometric phase is proportional to the total magnetization

$$M_z = \langle \psi | \sum_j \sigma_j^z | \psi \rangle. \tag{4.24}$$

It is well known [10] that the magnetization  $M_z$  can serve as an order parameter from which one can derive all the critical properties of the XY model just by considering its scaling behaviour. Indeed, Zhu [6] has considered the scaling of the ground-state geometric phase of the XY model from where he evaluated the Ising critical exponents. As it has been shown here, this is a general property that can be applied to any critical system.

### 4.4.5 Dicke model and Geometric Phases

In this section, I illustrate yet another model in which the properties of a quantum phase transition can be observed and investigated through the geometric phase. I will discuss the thermodynamic and finite size scaling properties of the geometric phase in the adiabatic Dicke model (DM) [127], describing the super-radiant phase transition for an *n*-qubit register coupled to a slow oscillator mode. One can show that, in the thermodynamic limit, the Berry phase has a topological feature similar to the one highlighted in the previous sections for the case of the XY model. A non-zero geometric phase is obtained only if a path in parameter space is followed that encircles the critical point. Furthermore, in this context one can show that precursors of this critical behaviour for a system with finite size exists and the scaling law of the Berry phase can be obtained in the leading order in the 1/n expansion.

Let's consider a system which consists of n two-level systems (a qubit register or an ensamble of indistinguishable atoms) coupled to a single oscillator (bosonic) mode. The Hamiltonian is given by (in unit such that  $\hbar = c = 1$ )

$$H = \omega a^{\dagger} a + \Delta S_x + \frac{\lambda}{\sqrt{n}} (a^{\dagger} + a) S_z$$
(4.25)

where  $\Delta$  is the transition frequency of the qubit,  $\omega$  is the frequency of the oscillator and  $\lambda$  is the coupling strength. The qubit operators are expressed in terms of total spin components  $S_k = \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_j^k$ , where the  $\sigma_j^k$  is (k = x, y, z) are the Pauli matrices used to describe the *j*-th qubit. A  $\pi/2$  rotation around the *y* axis shows that *H* is canonically equivalent to the standard formulation of the Dicke Hamiltonian [130], including counter-rotating terms.

After the first derivation due to Hepp and Lieb [131, 132], the thermodynamic properties of the DM have been studied by many authors [133–139]. In the thermodynamic limit  $(n \to \infty)$ , the system exhibits a second-order phase transition at the critical point  $\lambda_c = \sqrt{\Delta \omega/2}$ , where the ground state changes from a normal to a super-radiant phase in which both the field occupation and the spin magnetization acquire macroscopic values. The continued interest in DM stems from the fact that it displays a rich dynamics where many non-classical effects have been predicted [140–145], and from its broad range of applications [146]. Investigations of the ground state entanglement of the Dicke model have been also performed [147–149], pointing out a scaling behavior around the critical point.

In this section I will outline the topological character of the geometric phase of the Dicke model in the adiabatic regime ( $\Delta \gg \omega$ ), and illustrate the scaling law of the geometric phase close to the critical point for a system with finite size.
In order to generate a Berry phase one can change the Hamiltonian by means of the unitary transformation:

$$U(\varphi) = \exp\left(-i\frac{\varphi}{2}S_x\right),\tag{4.26}$$

where  $\varphi$  is a slowly varying parameter, moving from 0 to  $2\pi$ . The transformed Hamiltonian can be written as

$$H(\phi) = U^{\dagger}(\varphi)HU(\varphi) = \frac{\omega}{2} \left[ p^2 + q^2 + \boldsymbol{Q} \cdot \mathbf{S} \right], \qquad (4.27)$$

where  $Q = \left(D, \frac{Lq}{\sqrt{n}} \sin \varphi, \frac{Lq}{\sqrt{n}} \cos \varphi\right)$  is an effective vector field. Here,  $D = 2\Delta/\omega$  and  $L = 2\sqrt{2}\lambda/\omega$  are dimensionless parameters and the Hamiltonian of the free oscillator field is expressed in terms of canonical variables  $q = (a^{\dagger} + a)/\sqrt{2}$  and  $p = i(a^{\dagger} - a)/\sqrt{2}$  that obey the quantization condition [q, p] = i.

In the adiabatic limit [150, 151], where one assumes a *slow* oscillator and work in the regime  $D \gg 1$ , the Born-Oppenheimer approximation can be employed to write the ground state of  $H(\phi)$  as:

$$\Psi_{tot}\rangle = \int dq \,\psi(q)|q\rangle \otimes |\chi(q,\phi)\rangle \,. \tag{4.28}$$

Here,  $|\chi(q,\phi)\rangle$  is the state of the "fast component"; namely, the lowest eigenstate of the "adiabatic" equation for the qubit part, displaying a parametric dependence on the slow oscillator variable q,

$$\boldsymbol{Q} \cdot \mathbf{S} |\chi(q,\phi)\rangle = E_l(q) |\chi(q,\phi)\rangle \,. \tag{4.29}$$

As the qubits are indistinguishable, it is easy to prove that the ground state can be expressed as a direct product of n identical factors,

$$|\chi(q,\phi)\rangle = |\chi(q,\phi)\rangle_1 \otimes |\chi(q,\phi)\rangle_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes |\chi(q,\phi)\rangle_n \,. \tag{4.30}$$

Each component can be written as

$$|\chi(q,\phi)\rangle_j = \sin\frac{\theta}{2}|\uparrow\rangle_j - \cos\frac{\theta}{2}e^{i\zeta}|\downarrow\rangle_j, \qquad (4.31)$$

where  $|\uparrow\rangle_j$  and  $|\downarrow\rangle_j$  are the eigenstates of  $\sigma_j^z$  with eigenvalues  $\pm 1$ , and where

$$\cos\theta := \frac{Lq\cos\varphi}{\sqrt{nE(q)}},\tag{4.32}$$

$$\zeta := \arctan \frac{Lq \sin \varphi}{\sqrt{nD}} \,. \tag{4.33}$$

Here, E(q) is related to the energy eigenvalue of Eq. (4.29) as

$$E_l(q) = -nE(q) = -n\sqrt{D^2 + \frac{L^2q^2}{n}}.$$
(4.34)

In the Born-Oppenheimer approach, this energy eigenvalue constitutes an effective adiabatic potential felt by the oscillator together with the original square term

$$V_l(q) = \frac{\omega}{2} \left[ q^2 - nE(q) \right].$$
 (4.35)

Introducing the dimensionless parameter  $\alpha = L^2/2D$ , one can show that for  $\alpha \leq 1$ , the potential  $V_l(q)$  can be viewed as a broadened harmonic well with minimum at q = 0 and  $V_l(0) = -n\Delta$ . For  $\alpha > 1$ , on the other hand, the coupling with the qubit splits the oscillator potential producing a symmetric double well with minima at  $\pm q_m = \pm \frac{\sqrt{nD}}{L}\sqrt{\alpha^2 - 1}$  with  $V_l(q_m) = -\frac{n\Delta}{2}(\alpha + \frac{1}{\alpha})$ .

As the last step in the Born-Oppenheimer procedure, we need to evaluate the ground state wave function for the oscillator,  $\psi_0(q)$ , that has to be inserted in Eq. (4.28) to obtain the ground state of the composite system. This wave function is the normalized solution of the one-dimensional time independent Schrödinger equation

$$H_{ad}\psi_0(q) = \left(-\frac{\omega}{2}\frac{d^2}{dq^2} + V_l(q)\right)\psi_0(q) = \varepsilon_0\psi_0(q), \qquad (4.36)$$

where  $\varepsilon_0$  is the lowest eigenvalues of the adiabatic Hamiltonian defined by the first equality. Once this procedure is carried out for every value of the rotation angle  $\phi$ , the Berry phase of the ground state is obtained as

$$\phi^B = i \int_c d\varphi \langle \Psi_{tot} | \frac{d}{d\varphi} | \Psi_{tot} \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dq \psi_0^2(q) \int_0^{2\pi} d\varphi A^B(q,\varphi) , \qquad (4.37)$$

where we introduced a q-parametrised Berry connection, given by

$$A^B(q,\varphi) := i \langle \chi_l(q,\varphi) | \frac{d}{d\varphi} | \chi_l(q,\varphi) \rangle = -n \frac{d\zeta}{d\varphi} \cos^2 \frac{\theta}{2} = -\frac{nD}{2E(q)} \frac{\frac{Lq}{\sqrt{n}} \cos \varphi}{E(q) - \frac{Lq}{\sqrt{n}} \cos \varphi}$$

Substituting this expression into Eq.(4.37), one finds

$$\phi^B = n\pi \left( 1 + \frac{\langle S_x \rangle}{n} \right) \,, \tag{4.38}$$

where the average magnetisation per spin is

$$\frac{\langle S_x \rangle}{n} = -\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi_0^2(q) \frac{D}{E(q)} dq \,. \tag{4.39}$$

Notice that Eq. (4.38) holds in general, its validity relying on the form of the rotation operator  $U(\varphi)$  of Eq. (4.26) and not being restricted to the adiabatic regime. In the thermodynamic limit, one can show that

$$\frac{\langle S_x \rangle}{n} = \begin{cases} -1 & (\alpha \le 1) \\ -\frac{1}{\alpha} & (\alpha > 1), \end{cases}$$
(4.40)

and thus, for  $n \to \infty$ , the BP is given by [151]

$$\frac{\phi^B}{n}\Big|_{n\to\infty} = \begin{cases} 0 & (\alpha \le 1)\\ \pi(1-\frac{1}{\alpha}) & (\alpha > 1) \end{cases},$$
(4.41)

It is worth stressing once again, that for the thermodynamic limit this result holds independently of the adiabatic approximation, whose use is needed here to obtain the finite-size behaviour. Numerical results for the scaled Berry phase are plotted in Fig.(4.5) as a function of the parameter  $\alpha$ , for D = 10 and for different values of n, in comparison with the result for the thermodynamic limit. One can see that the Berry phase increases as the coupling strength growths and, in the thermodynamic limit, its



**Figure 4.5:** Numerical results for the scaled Berry phase as a function of the parameter  $\alpha$ , for D = 10 and for different values of n, in comparison with the result for  $n \to \infty$ . Berry's phase increases with the coupling, and, in the thermodynamic limit, its derivative becomes discontinuous at the critical value  $\alpha = \alpha_c := 1$ . The inset shows the derivative of the Berry phase with respect to  $\alpha$ .



**Figure 4.6:** A qualitative illustration of the paths followed by the parameters of the Hamiltonian due to the application of  $U(\phi)$ . The paraboloid corresponds to the value  $\alpha = L^2/2D = 1$ , for which the Hamiltonian shows a critical behavior. If the parameters follow a path, e.g.  $C_1$ , encircling the paraboloid, then the system acquires a non-trivial Berry phase, which tends to  $\pi$  for  $\alpha \gg 1$ . As seen from figure 4.5, path  $C_2$  gives rise to a zero Berry phase (in the thermodynamical limit).

derivative becomes discontinuous at the critical value  $\alpha = \alpha_c := 1$ . This results agree with the expected behaviour of the geometric phase across the critical point. Notice that, in the thermodynamic limit, a non-trivial Berry phase is only obtained when a region of criticality is encircled, as for the path  $C_1$  in Fig. 4.6. Indeed, in the enlarged parameter space generated by the application of the unitary operator  $U(\phi)$  of Eq. (4.26), the critical point corresponds to the paraboloid  $\alpha = \frac{L^2}{2D} = 1$ . As the radius of the path is determined by  $\alpha$ , one can see that, in the limit  $n \to \infty$ , the Berry phase is zero in the normal phase ( $\alpha \le 1$ ) and is non-zero in the super-radiant phase, i.e. if the path encloses the critical region. This behaviour is indeed reminiscent of the topological features displayed by the geometric phase of the XY model described in the previous sections.

It is worth considering also the finite-scaling behaviour of Berry phase at the critical point. In order to obtain an analytic estimation of Berry phase as a function of n, one can expand the adiabatic potential in Eq.(4.36) in powers of  $\frac{1}{nD}$  and by using the expressions of the perturbation coefficients  $c_k$ , one obtains an anharmonic oscillator potential

$$U_l(q) = \frac{2}{\omega} V_l(q) \simeq -nD + (1-\alpha)q^2 + \frac{\alpha^2}{2nD}q^4.$$
 (4.42)

The eigenvalue problem defined by this potential can be solved with the help of Symanzik scaling [151, 152]. This is done by rewriting Eq.(4.36) into the equivalent form

$$\left[-\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + \mu x^2 + x^4\right]\psi_0(x;\mu) = e_0(\mu)\psi_0(x;\mu)$$
(4.43)

where the scaled position is  $x := q \left(\frac{\alpha^2}{2nD}\right)^{1/6}$ , while  $\mu := \left(\frac{2nD}{\alpha^2}\right)^{2/3} (\alpha_c - \alpha)$ . Finally, the energies in Eq.(4.36) and (4.43) obey the scaling relation

$$\frac{2}{\omega}\varepsilon_0(\alpha, nD) = -nD + \left(\frac{\alpha^2}{2nD}\right)^{1/3} e_0(\mu).$$
(4.44)

Since  $\mu \to 0$  at the critical point, we can consider the  $x^2$  term to be a perturbation and employ the Rayleigh-Schrödinger perturbation theory. This yields the expansion  $e_0(\mu) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_k \mu^k$ , where the coefficients  $c_k$  can be obtained after solving the equation for a purely quartic oscillator. It is easy to get  $c_0 = e_0(0) \simeq 1.06036$  and  $c_1 = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} q^2 \phi_0^2(q; 0) dq = e'_0(0) \simeq 0.36203$ .

It can be shown that the coefficients of this expansion completely determine the average value of every physical observable at the critical point [151]. In particular, a similar expansion applied to  $\langle S_x \rangle$ , allows one to write [127]

$$\frac{\langle S_x \rangle}{n} \simeq -1 + \frac{2c_1}{(2nD)^{2/3}} - \frac{2c_0}{(2nD)^{4/3}}.$$
(4.45)

Thus, one obtains the leading orders in the finite size scaling of the Berry phase as

$$\frac{\phi^B}{n} \approx \pi \left[ \frac{2c_1}{(2nD)^{2/3}} - \frac{2c_0}{(2nD)^{4/3}} \right].$$
(4.46)

This expression shows how the scaled geometric phase goes to zero as n increases and how the singular thermodynamic behaviour is approached at  $\alpha = \alpha_c = 1$ . The leading critical behaviour of the Berry phase,  $\phi^B/n \sim n^{-2/3}$  is confirmed in Fig. (4.7) by comparison with the numerical evaluation of the



**Figure 4.7:** Scaling of the Berry phase as a function of n at the critical point  $\alpha = 1$ , for D = 10. For ease of comparison, the continuous plot shows the analytic expression of Eq. (4.46).

geometric phase obtained from Eqs. (4.38)-(4.39). In fact, including also the second order correction, scaling as  $n^{-4/3}$ , reproduces the numerical results even for small values of n.

Besides the scaling relation at the critical point  $\alpha = 1$ , one can also obtain the leading 1/n correction to the thermodynamic limit of  $\frac{\phi^B}{n}$  for small and large values of  $\alpha$  (i.e., for path of very small and very large radii) [127]. Since the oscillator localises around q = 0 for  $\alpha \ll 1$ , while its wave function is split in two components peaked around  $\pm q_m$  for  $\alpha \gg 1$ , one gets [127]

$$\frac{\phi^B}{n} - \frac{\phi^B}{n}\Big|_{n \to \infty} \approx \begin{cases} \frac{\pi \alpha}{2nD} & (\alpha \ll 1) \\ -\frac{\pi}{nD\alpha^2} & (\alpha \gg 1) \end{cases},$$
(4.47)

Thus, far from the critical point (that is, well inside the normal and super-radiant phase), the Berry phase per qubit reaches its thermodynamic limit as  $n^{-1}$ . Therefore, the topological behaviour of  $\phi^B$  can be inferred even for a relatively small number of qubits. To summarise, this example shows that the behaviour of the geometric phase in correspondence of the critical region for the Dicke model, confirms the general connection between geometric phase and quantum critical phase transition. Indeed, geometric phase and QPT share the common feature of both appearing in presence of a singularity in the energy density of the system. This heuristic argument motivates - once again - the need to explore the use of Berry phase as a tool to signal and investigate critical features of certain models. However, strictly speaking, singularities in the energy density of many body systems only appear in the thermodynamic limit. It is therefore interesting to notice that in a *finite scale* regime, such a connection between Berry phase and QPT can still be drawn, owing to the geometric phase sensitivity to the increase of the parametric manifold curvature, as the thermodynamic limit is approached. Studying the Berry phase in this regime has clearly theoretical interest and obvious experimental motivations. In the case of the Dicke model, it is found that the geometric phase start to show, already at finite sizes, the topological character which is typically manifested at the thermodynamic limit. Moreover, studying the scaling of the Berry phase as a function of the system size, one can identify its critical exponent.

### 4.5 Quantum Phase Transition and Information Geometry

For the sake of completeness, and to clearly pave the ground to the last part of this thesis, I will introduce another approach to the study of quantum phase transitions, i.e. the so called *fidelity approach* [26, 153– 155], which has been successfully employed in classical [156–158] and quantum phase transitions [8, 26, 153, 159–161], both in symmetry-breaking [8, 26, 27, 153, 160–162] as well as in topological phase transitions [163]. As a distance measure, the fidelity describes how close two given quantum states are. Therefore, it is natural to expect that the fidelity can be used to characterise the drastic changes occurring to quantum many body states going through a QPTs, regardless of what type of order parameters, if any, characterises the type of phase transition. In the fidelity approach, quantum phase transitions are identified by studying the behaviour of the overlap between two ground states corresponding to two slightly different set of parameters; at QPTs a drop of the fidelity with scaling behaviour is observed and quantitative information about critical exponents can be extracted [8]. As for the geometric phase approach, the fidelity approach neither is based on the knowledge of an order parameter, nor it requires a notions of symmetry breaking. It is indeed an approach purely based on the distinguishability of pure states, as well as density matrices, and it does not even require the knowledge of the Hamiltonian itself. In a sense, it is a purely kinetic approach, as opposed to the traditional methods which rely on the information derived from the dynamics of the many-body systems.

Let us consider a smooth family  $H(\lambda)$  of Hamiltonians labelled by a set of parameters in a manifold  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$ , in the Hilbert-space  $\mathcal{H}$  of the system. If  $|\Psi_0(\lambda)\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$  denotes the (unique for simplicity) ground-state of  $H(\lambda)$ , one defines a one-to-one mapping  $\Psi_0: \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{H}/\lambda \to |\Psi_0(\lambda)\rangle$  associating to each set of parameters the ground-state of the corresponding Hamiltonian. This map can be seen also as a map between a point in  $\mathcal{M}$  and an element of projective space  $\mathcal{PH}$ . As already pointed out in chapter 1, the projective Hilbert space is equipped with a metric, the Fubini-Study distance

$$d_{FS}(\psi, \psi') := \arccos |\langle \psi, \psi' \rangle|, \qquad (4.48)$$

which quantifies the maximum amount of statistical distinguishability between the pure states  $|\psi\rangle$  and  $|\psi'\rangle$ . It provides the statistical distance between the probability distributions of the outcomes associated to  $|\psi\rangle$  and  $|\phi\rangle$ , optimised over all possible measurement strategies. Moreover, as we have already seen, this result easily extends to mixed states, by replacing the Fubini-Study distance with its natural density matrix generalisation, the Bures-distance.

These non-trivial notions allow one to identify the projective Hilbert space geometry with a geometry in the information space, the larger the distance between  $|\psi\rangle$  and  $|\psi'\rangle$  the more statistically distinguishable two states are. The remarkable consequences of this simple observation is that *the distance encodes information on any of the infinitely many possible order parameters characterising the phase transition*. At the critical point, a small difference between the parameters labelling the Hamiltonian results in a greatly enhanced distinguishability of the corresponding ground states. This is quantitatively revealed by the state overlap and in turn by the behaviour of the metric.

Let  $\psi$  and  $\psi + d\psi$  be two two infinitesimally closed states in the parameter manifold. In section 2.5, it has been shown that their elementary distance in the parameter space can be expressed as:

$$d_{FB}^2(\psi,\psi+d\psi) = dl^2 = \sum_{\mu\nu} g_{\mu\nu} d\lambda_{\mu} d\lambda_{nu}$$
(4.49)

where metric tensor  $g_{\mu\nu} = \mathbf{R}\mathbf{e}Q_{\mu\nu}$  is the real part of the *quantum geometric tensor*  $Q_{\mu\nu}$  introduced in section 2.5, i.e.

$$Q_{\mu\nu} = \langle \partial_{\mu}\psi | \partial_{\nu}\psi \rangle - \langle \partial_{\mu}\psi | \psi \rangle \langle \psi | \partial_{\nu}\psi \rangle .$$
(4.50)

As explicitly pointed out in section 2.5, the imaginary part of the quantum geometric tensor is  $\text{Im }Q_{\mu\nu} = \frac{F_{\mu\nu}}{2}$ , where  $F_{\mu\nu}$  is nothing but the Berry curvature 2-form. This provides a unifying framework for the understanding of the fidelity and geometric phase approaches to the quantum phase transitions.

A perturbative expansion provides a simple heuristic explanation as to why one observes a singular behaviour of the quantum geometric tensor at QPTs. By using the first order perturbative expansion

$$|\Psi_0(\boldsymbol{\lambda} + \delta\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rangle \sim |\Psi_0(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rangle + \sum_{n \neq 0} (E_0(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - E_n())^{-1} |\Psi_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rangle \langle \Psi_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda})|\delta H|\Psi_0(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rangle,$$
(4.51)

where  $\delta H := H(\lambda + \delta \lambda) - H(\lambda)$ , one obtains for the entries of the quantum geometric tensor (4.50) the following expression

$$Q_{\mu\nu}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{\langle \Psi_0(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) | \partial_{\mu} H | \Psi_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \rangle \langle \Psi_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) | \partial_{\nu} H | \Psi_0(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) \rangle}{[E_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) - E_0(\boldsymbol{\lambda})]^2} .$$
(4.52)

Continuous QPTs occur when, for some specific values of the parameters, the energy gap

$$\Delta_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_c) := E_n(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_c) - E_0(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_c) \ge 0$$
(4.53)

vanishes in the thermodynamic limit. This amounts to a vanishing denominator in Eq. (4.52) that may break down the analyticity of the metric tensor entries. This heuristic argument has been first put forward in [26] specifically for the Riemannian tensor  $g_{\mu\nu}$  and for the Berry Curvature  $F_{\mu\nu}$  in [7]. An argument based on more firm grounds can be also be formulated in terms of scaling properties of the quantum geometric tensor [8].

To get further insight about the physical origin of these singularities we notice that the metric tensor (4.50) can be cast in an interesting covariance matrix form [69]. Generically, changing the Hamiltonian from  $H(\lambda)$  to  $H(\lambda + \delta \lambda)$  within the same phase no level-crossings occur. In this case, the unitary operator  $U(\lambda, \delta \lambda) := \sum_{n} |\Psi_n(\lambda + \delta \lambda) \langle \Psi_n(\lambda)|$  can adiabatically map the eigenspace at the point  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$  onto those at  $\lambda + \delta \lambda$ . In terms of the corresponding Hermitian generators  $X_{\mu} := i(\partial_{\mu}U)U^{\dagger}$  the Fubini Study metric tensor (4.50) takes the form

$$g_{\mu\nu} = (1/2) \langle \{ \bar{X}_{\mu}, \, \bar{X}_{\nu} \} \rangle,$$
 (4.54)

where  $\bar{X}_{\mu} := X_{\mu} - \langle X_{\mu} \rangle$ , i.e.  $g_{\mu\nu}$  can be identified with the (symmetric) covariance matrix of the observables  $X_{\mu}$ . The differential line element  $dl^2$  can be expressed as the variance of the operatorvalued differential one form  $\boldsymbol{X} := i(dU)U^{\dagger} = \sum_{\mu} X_{\mu}d\lambda_{\mu}$ , i.e.,  $dl^2 = \langle \bar{X}^2 \rangle$ . The operator  $\boldsymbol{X}$  is the generator of the mapping between sets of eigenbases corresponding to infinitesimally closed points  $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$ and  $\boldsymbol{\lambda} + d\boldsymbol{\lambda}$ . The smaller the difference between these eigenbases for a given parameter variation, the smaller the variance of  $\boldsymbol{X}$ . At QPT one expects to have the maximal possible difference between  $|\Psi_0(\lambda)\rangle$ and  $|\Psi_0(\lambda + \delta\lambda)\rangle$ , i.e., many "unperturbed" eigenstates  $|\Psi_n(\lambda)\rangle$  are needed to build up the "new" GS; accordingly the variance of  $\boldsymbol{X}$  can get very large, possibly divergent. In this sense,  $\boldsymbol{X}$  acquires the significance of an *order parameter*, and  $dl^2$  can be interpreted as its susceptibility.

# 4.5.1 Quantum Phase Transition and Super-Extensitivity of the Quantum Geometric Tensor

In this section I will derive a bound useful to establish a connection between the quantum geometric tensor Q and QPTs. Let's consider a system of size  $L^d$  (with dimensionality d). Since  $Q(\lambda)$  is an Hermitean non-negative matrix one has

$$|Q_{\mu\nu}| \le \|Q\|_{\infty} = \boldsymbol{u}^{\dagger} \cdot Q \cdot \boldsymbol{u}, \tag{4.55}$$

where  $||B||_{\infty}$  stands for the largest singular value of a matrix B, and  $\boldsymbol{u} = \{u_{\mu}\}_{\mu=1}^{\dim \mathcal{M}}$ , with  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\dagger} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} = 1$  is the normalised eigenvector of Q which the largest eigenvalue. One can define the corresponding combination of parameters  $\bar{\lambda} := \sum_{\mu} u_{\mu} \lambda_{\mu}$ , which, loosely speaking is the direction on the parameter manifold encoding the maximal "responsiveness" of the geometry. Let's denote  $\bar{\partial} := \partial/\partial \bar{\lambda}$ , then

$$\bar{\partial}H = \sum_{\mu} (\partial_{\mu}H)u_{\mu}, \qquad (4.56)$$

then from Eq. (4.52) and the above inequality (5.71),

$$|Q_{\mu\nu}| \leq \sum_{n>0} \Delta_n^{-2} |\langle \Psi_0 | \bar{\partial} H | \Psi_n \rangle|^2 \leq \Delta_1^{-2} \sum_{n>0} |\langle \Psi_0 | \bar{\partial} H | \Psi_n \rangle|^2$$
  
$$= \Delta_1^{-2} (\langle \bar{\partial} H \bar{\partial} H^{\dagger} \rangle - |\langle \bar{\partial} H \rangle|^2), \qquad (4.57)$$

where the angular brackets denote the average over  $|\Psi_0(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rangle$ . Now, a crucial assumption is that the operator  $\bar{\partial}H$  is *local* i.e.,  $\bar{\partial}H = \sum_j \bar{\partial}V_j$  where  $V_j$  are operators with local support around the site *j*. Then the last term in Eq. (4.57) reads

$$\sum_{i,j} (\langle \bar{\partial} V_i \bar{\partial} V_j^{\dagger} \rangle - \langle \bar{\partial} V_i \rangle \langle \bar{\partial} V_j^{\dagger} \rangle), \qquad (4.58)$$

If the ground state is *translationally invariant*, this last quantity can be written as  $L^d \sum_r K(r) := L^d K$ , where

$$K(r) := \langle \bar{\partial} V_i \bar{\partial} V_{i+r}^{\dagger} \rangle - \langle \bar{\partial} V_i \rangle \langle \bar{\partial} V_{i+r}^{\dagger} \rangle$$
(4.59)

is independent of *i*. For gapped systems i.e.,  $\Delta_1(\infty) := \lim_{L\to\infty} \Delta_1(L) > 0$  the correlation function G(r) is rapidly decaying [164] and therefore K is finite and independent of the system size. Using (4.57) it follows that for these non-critical systems  $|Q_{\mu\nu}|$  cannot grow, as a function of L, more than extensively. Indeed one has that

$$\lim_{L \to \infty} |Q_{\mu\nu}|/L^d \le K \Delta_1^{-2}(\infty) < \infty.$$
(4.60)

Conversely if

$$\lim_{L \to \infty} |Q_{\mu\nu}|/L^d = \infty \tag{4.61}$$

i.e., $|Q_{\mu\nu}|$  grows super-extensively, then either  $\Delta_1(L) \to 0$  or K cannot be finite. In both cases the system has to be gapless. Summarizing: a super-extensive behavior of any of the components of Q for systems with local interaction implies a vanishing gap in the thermodynamic limit [8].

This behaviour has been observed in a variety of systems [26, 153–155], and amounts to a critical fidelity drop at the QPTs. The extensive behaviour of the fidelity drop within a normal phase is strongly reminiscent of a well known physical phenomenon, the Anderson *orthogonality catastro*phe [165]. Namely, as the dimension of the system increases, the fidelity, i.e. the overlap, between two infinitesimally neighbouring ground states  $\Psi_0(\lambda)$  and  $\Psi_0(\lambda + d\lambda)$  approaches zero, no matter how small the difference in parameters  $\lambda$  is, so that two ground states are mutually orthogonal in thermodynamical limit.

This is a well known feature of systems in many-body physics having infinitely many degrees of freedom [165]. The fact that two physical states corresponding to two arbitrarily close sets of parameters (two arbitrarily similar physical situations) must become orthogonal to each other in the thermodynamical limit, is not a distinctive feature of a critical point. It is indeed a behaviour which is present across the whole phase diagram, hence also between two states belonging to the same phase. Hence, in itself, this characteristic has little to do with QPT. Despite its emphatic expression, the "orthogonality catastrophe" is much less a dramatic and unusual peculiarity as its name would suggest. From a quantum information perspective, it is easier to appreciate how typical such a behaviour must be, given the infinite dimensionality of the Hilbert-space that many-body states explore.

What is indeed qualitatively different in QPT is the rate at which the fidelity vanishes in the thermodynamical limit. It is only the presence of a dramatic, large scale change in the ground state properties of the system which may allow for a *super-extensive increase* of the metric, and the consequent rate of reduction of the state overlap. Loosely speaking, a criticality results in an orthogonality catastrophe that is expressed on a qualitatively greater scale. The intuition behind this change of scale may be gleaned as follows. A local perturbation to a many-body Hamiltonian far from a critical point may only result in *local* modifications to the state of the system, i.e. modifications which are within a region of the size of the correlation length  $\xi$ . Such local changes contribute to the reduction of the fidelity with infinitesimal amounts, that when accrued are enough to provide an increase in the total metric with a rate of up to  $L^d$  in the system size L. A higher rate is only possible when a local perturbation generates *non-local* changes on the system states, i.e. when the correlation length  $\xi$  diverges and the response of the system to a local perturbation brings in contributions from degrees of freedom at every scale.

In the following section, I will briefly illustrate the above considerations by using the simple, yet physically relevant many body Hamiltonian: the XY spin-chain model.

#### 4.5.2 XY Model and Information Geometry

To illustrate explicitly how divergencies of  $g_{\mu\nu}$  may arise [26], let's go back to the XY model already discussed in section 4.4.2, which for the sake of convenience I will rewrite here

$$H = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( \frac{1+\delta}{2} \sigma_{j}^{x} \sigma_{j+1}^{x} + \frac{1-\delta}{2} \sigma_{j}^{y} \sigma_{j+1}^{y} + \frac{h}{2} \sigma_{j}^{z} \right),$$
(4.62)

where n is the number of spins,  $\sigma_j^{\mu}$  are the Pauli matrices at site j,  $\delta$  is the x-y anisotropy parameter and h is the strength of the magnetic field. We already pointed out that the XY model may be converted through the Jordan-Wigner transformation (4.11) into the quasi-Free fermion model,

$$H = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ (c_j^{\dagger} c_{j+1} + \delta c_j^{\dagger} c_{j+1}^{\dagger} + H.c.) + h(2c_j^{\dagger} c_j - 1) \right].$$
(4.63)

Ground state, and in general thermal states of quasi-free fermion models fall within the general class of Gaussian fermion states. We will introduce in the last chapter a general framework which allows for the derivation of the main geometric properties of such models. I will not give the details of the derivation at this stage, and I will only state the main result, which in this specific case can be derived directly. For the sake of completeness, I will consider the rotated model  $H(\varphi)$  in (4.10). Indeed from (4.50) and the form of the ground state (4.16), one gets

$$Q_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} + \frac{i}{2} F_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (4.64)$$

where

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k} \left( \partial_{\mu} \theta_{k} \partial_{\nu} \theta_{k} + \sin^{2} \theta_{k} \partial_{\mu} \varphi \partial_{\nu} \varphi \right) , \qquad (4.65)$$

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \left( \partial_{\mu} \theta_{k} \partial_{\nu} \varphi - \partial_{\nu} \theta_{k} \partial_{\mu} \varphi \right) \sin \theta_{k} , \qquad (4.66)$$

with the angle  $\theta_k$  being defined as  $\theta_k := \arccos(\eta_k / \varepsilon_k)$ ,  $\eta_k := \cos q_k - h$ ,  $\varepsilon_k := \sqrt{\eta_k^2 + \delta^2 \sin^2 q_k}$ , and  $q_k = 2\pi k/n$ .

One finds that the only non-vanishing derivatives are  $(\partial_h \theta_k) = \delta \sin q_k / \varepsilon_k^2$ ,  $(\partial_\delta \theta_k) = \sin q_k (\cos q_k - h) / \Lambda_{\nu}^2$ , and obviously  $\partial_{\varphi} \varphi = 1$ .

In the thermodynamic limit,  $g_{\mu\nu}$  can be calculated analytically by replacing the discrete variable  $q_k$  with a continuous variable q and substitute the sum with an integral, i.e.,  $\sum_{k=1}^{M} \rightarrow [n/(2\pi)] \int_{0}^{\pi} dq$ . At critical points, this cannot be generally done, due to singular behaviour of terms involved in the sums. The resulting integrals leads to analytical expressions which differ in the two regions |h| < 1 and |h| > 1 [26,27].

$$g_{\varphi\varphi} = \frac{n}{8} \begin{cases} \frac{|\delta|}{|\delta|+1}, & |h| < 1\\ \frac{\delta^2}{1-\delta^2} \left(\frac{|h|}{\sqrt{h^2-1+\delta^2}} - 1\right), & |h| > 1 \end{cases}$$

$$g_{hh} = \frac{n}{16} \begin{cases} \frac{1}{|\delta|(1-h^2)}, & |h| < 1\\ \frac{|h|\delta^2}{(h^2-1)(h^2-1+\delta^2)^{3/2}}, & |h| > 1 \end{cases}$$

$$g_{\delta\delta} = \frac{n}{16} \begin{cases} \frac{1}{(\delta|(1+|\delta|)^2}, & |h| < 1\\ \left(\frac{2}{(1-\delta^2)^2} \left[\frac{|h|}{\sqrt{h^2-1+\delta^2}} - 1\right] - \frac{|h|\delta^2}{(1-\delta^2)(h^2-1+\delta^2)^{3/2}}\right), & |h| > 1 \end{cases}$$

$$g_{h\delta} = \frac{n}{16} \begin{cases} 0, & |h| < 1\\ \frac{-|h|\delta}{h(h^2-1+\delta^2)^{3/2}}, & |h| > 1 \end{cases}$$
(4.67)

The metric as a whole shows a non-analytical behaviour across both the critical regions |h| = 1and  $\delta = 0$ . To visualise more clearly such singular behaviour, it is convenient to compute the scalar curvature, which provides a global property of the metric in each point of the phase diagram. The scalar curvature R, which is the trace of the Ricci curvature tensor [62], yields the following expressions:

$$R = -\frac{8}{n} \frac{1}{|\delta|} \qquad |h| < 1 \tag{4.68}$$

$$R = \frac{8}{n} \left[ 4 + \frac{5h}{\sqrt{h^2 + \delta^2 - 1}} - 2\frac{\left(h^2 + h\sqrt{h^2 + \delta^2 - 1} - 1\right)}{\delta^2} \right] \qquad |h| > 1.$$
(4.69)

Note that the curvature diverges on the segment  $|h| \le 1, \delta = 0$  and it is discontinuous on the lines  $h = \pm 1$ . Indeed,  $\lim_{|h| \to 1^+} R = 8/n(4 + 3h/|\delta|)$ ,  $\lim_{|h| \to 1^-} R = -8/n1/|\delta|$ .

#### **4.5.3** Thermal States and Classical Phase Transitions.

In this section, I would like to give a glance of the extension of the geometric information approach to finite temperature. This approach is indeed directly linked to the approach developed in classical phase transitions [157, 166]. The natural generalisation of the geometric information approach to finite temperature is done by replacing the Fubini-Study metric with its mixed state generalisation, the Bures metric. In temperature driven phase transitions, the density matrices  $\rho_{\beta_1}$  and  $\rho_{\beta_2}$  at different temperatures  $\beta_i = (\kappa_B T_i)^{-1}$  generally commute<sup>1</sup>, and the Uhlmann fidelity  $\mathcal{F}(\rho_{\beta_1}, \rho_{\beta_2}) := \text{Tr}[\rho_{\beta_2}^{1/2}\rho_{\beta_1}\rho_{\beta_2}^{1/2}]^{1/2}$  reduces to the Bhattacharyya coefficient  $\mathcal{F}(\rho_0, \rho_1) = \sum_k \sqrt{p_k^1 p_k^2}$ , where the  $p_k^i$  are the eigenvalues of  $\rho_{\beta_i}$ . Correspondingly, when two states differing just by two infinitesimally closed temperatures  $\beta_1 = \beta$  and  $\beta_2 = \beta + d\beta$  are considered, the Bures metric collapses to the Fisher-Rao metric,

$$dl_B = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{p_k > 0} \frac{(\partial_\beta p_k)^2}{p_k} d\beta^2 = \frac{1}{4} \left[ \langle H^2 \rangle - \langle H \rangle^2 \right] d\beta^2 \,. \tag{4.70}$$

In particular, when  $\rho_{\beta} = Z^{-1}(\beta) \exp(-\beta H) = Z^{-1}(\beta) \sum_{k} e^{-\beta E_{k}} |k\rangle \langle k|$ , with  $Z(\beta) := \operatorname{Tr} \exp(-\beta H)$ , where  $E_{k}$  and  $|k\rangle$  are the eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the Hamiltonian, one easily sees that

$$\partial_{\beta} p_k = \partial_{\beta} \left( \frac{e^{-\beta E_k}}{Z} \right) = -p_k \Big[ E_k - \left( \sum_j E_j p_j \right) \Big] = p_k \left[ \langle H \rangle_{\beta} - E_k \right], \tag{4.71}$$

therefore (4.70) can be written as [26, 154, 157, 166],

$$dl_B = \frac{1}{4} \sum_k p_k \left[ \langle H \rangle_\beta - E_k \right]^2 d\beta^2 = \frac{1}{4} \left[ \langle H^2 \rangle_\beta - \langle H \rangle_\beta^2 \right] d\beta^2 = \frac{d\beta^2}{4} T^2 c_V(\beta) \,. \tag{4.72}$$

This is quite a remarkable relation which provides a connection between a geometric information measure of distinguishability and a macroscopic thermodynamical quantity  $c_V$ .

More importantly, it also provides a direct connection with classical critical phenomena. Thermal phase transition are signalled by non-analytical behaviour of the specific heat, which may be picked up as singularity of the Bures/Fisher Rao metric. This simple fact shows that information geometry at large provides a comprehensive framework under which both quantum and classical critical phenomena can be readily investigated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Here one considers Hamiltonians which do not explicitly depend on temperature. For example, effective mean field Hamiltonians with temperature dependent parameters may result in non-commuting density matrices  $[\rho_{\beta_1}, \rho_{\beta_2}] \neq 0$ . The BCS Hamiltonians are one such case [37]

## CHAPTER 4: GEOMETRY OF QUANTUM PHASE TRANSITIONS

5

# DISSIPATIVE NON-EQUILIBRIUM PHASE TRANSITIONS

A challenging new paradigm has recently been put forward by the discovery of novel types of quantum phase transitions (QPTs) [10] occurring in non-equilibrium steady states (NESSes) [11–14, 167–175]. A comprehensive picture and characterisation of dissipative NESS-QPT is lacking, partly due to their nature lying in a blurred domain, where features typical of zero temperature QPT coexists with unexpected properties, some of which reminiscent of thermal phase transitions.

A natural approach to the investigation of such a novel scenario would be to adapt tools used in the equilibrium settings. In this section, I will illustrate a proposal to use of the geometric phase (geometric phase) [2, 89], and in particular its mixed state generalisation, the Uhlmann geometric phase [23], to investigate NESS-QPT. Geometric phases, and related geometrical tools, such as the Bures metrics [68, 73, 76], have been successfully applied in the analysis of many equilibrium phase transitions [8, 26, 153, 160, 161]. The Bures metrics have been employed in thermal phase transition [156–158], and QPT, both in symmetry-breaking [8, 26, 27, 153, 160–162] as well as in topological phase transitions [163].

Geometric phases are at the core of the characterisation of topological phase transitions [46,125,126], and have been employed in the description and detection of QPT, both theoretically [4–7, 127, 128] and experimentally [9]. The use of geometric phase in QPT can be heuristically understood as follows: QPT are determined by dramatic structural changes of the system state, resulting from small variations of control parameters. When approaching a criticality, two infinitesimally close states on the parameter manifold, become increasingly statistically distinguishable, i.e. their geometric-statistical distance grows. Abrupt changes in the distance are accompanied by singularities of the state space curvature, which in turn determine geometric phase instabilities on states traversing loops in the neighbourhood of the criticality [4–7, 127, 128].

Due to their mixed state nature, the NESSes require the use of a definition of geometric phase in the density operators domain. Among all possible approaches [23, 176–182], the Uhlmann geometric phase [23] stands out for its deep-rooted relation to information geometry and metrology [24, 25], whose tools have been profitably employed in the investigation of QPT and NESS-QPT [26–29]. Uhlmann holonomy and geometric phase have been applied to the characterisation of both topological and sym-

metry breaking equilibrium QPT [30–37]. Many proposals to measure the Uhlmann geometric phase have been put forward [38–40], and demonstrated experimentally [41].

Motivated by this, I will illustrate the role of the mean Uhlmann curvature (MUC) in the characterisation of dissipative NESS-QPT. The MUC, defined as the Uhlmann geometric phase per unit area of a density matrix evolving along an infinitesimal loop, has also a fundamental interpretation in multiparameter quantum metrology: it marks the incompatibility between independent parameters arising from the quantum nature of the underlying physical system [42]. In this sense, the MUC is a measure of "quantumness" in the *multi-parameter* estimation problem, and its singular behaviour responds only to quantum fluctuations occurring across a phase transition.

I will apply these ideas to the physically relevant setting of Fermionic quadratic dissipative Lioviullian models, some of which show rich NESS features. [11, 12, 28, 29, 183, 184].

## 5.1 Non-Equilibrium Phase Transitions

In contrast to equilibrium critical phenomena, less is known in case of non-equilibrium phase transitions. Here, a generalised treatment is not known, lacking an analog to the equilibrium free energy. Thus the rich and often surprising variety of non-equilibrium phase transitions observed in physical [185–190], chemical, biological [191–196], as well as socioeconomic systems [197–199], has to be studied for each system individually.

The paradigm of universality, legitimised by its astounding success in equilibrium phase transitions, does not find an equivalently comprehensive framework within non-equilibrium phenomena. This results in a large variety of universality classes without general tools for their characterisation [200, 201]. For instance, algebraically decaying correlation functions are not peculiar of critical phenomena [202]. Also the specral gap of the Liouvillian, an open system generalisation of the Hamiltonian gap, may vanish in the thermodynamic limit in the whole phase diagram, with critical points resulting only in a faster convergence [11, 203].

The specific domain of quantum many-body physics in recent years have witnessed a growing interest in non-equilibrium phenomena. The reason can be credited to at least two main causes. On the one hand, the unprecedented level of accuracy reached in nowadays experimental techniques provides many mature platforms for the investigation and manipulation of many-body interacting systems. Here, several set of tools available has enabled the development of Liouvillian engineering, which in addition to coherent Hamiltonian dynamics also includes controlled dissipation in many-body quantum systems. Examples of suitable experimental platforms for the implementation and simulation of such an open many-body framework range from ultra-cold atoms in optical lattices [12, 204], to ion traps [17, 205], to cavity microarrays [175, 206–211] and Rydberg atoms [212, 213]. On the other hand, the study of nonequilibrium quantum phenomena can arguably be related to important open challenges in many-body physics, ranging from high temperature super-conductivity to quantum computation in condensed matter setups.

There are two major framework within which non-equilibrium quantum many-body-physics are generally investigated. One of the most popular approach [214] considers a large, ideally infinite, system which is initially kept in an equilibrium state. A perturbation may then be applied to the system either via a sudden quench of the system Hamiltonian, or by a periodic application of an external field, or still by the coupling to a suitably structured reservoir. The resultant system time evolution is then observed, and the outset - or the lack thereof - of stationary or metastable long-time behaviour provides several quantitative and qualitative information on the non-equilibrium properties of the many-body system.

Another, more direct approach, which I will consider here, consists instead in coupling a finite or infinite system to several external reservoirs which may be described *effectively* in terms of a master equation [215, 216]. Under suitable conditions, the open system dynamics reaches a (possibly unique) *non-equilibrium steady state*. The dynamical and static properties of the NESSes to which the system eventually relaxes are the central object of this second course of investigations.

There are several techniques involving many levels of assumptions and approximations in deriving the effective system's dynamics of open systems interacting with a reservoir [215, 216]. The standard approach, mostly used in quantum optical settings, results in a local-in-time Markovian linear differential equations for the system's density matrix, the so-called quantum Liouville equation. The most general Markovian form of such equations is sometimes referred to as the Redfield equation. A more mathematically appealing form which manifestly preserves the complete positivity of the density matrix, and can be derived from the Redfield model with the additional *secular* approximation, is the so called Lindblad equation [217].

In this setting, non-equilibrium criticalities are identified as dramatic structural changes of the Liouvillian steady state due to small modification of tuneable external parameter of the system. The analogy with equilibrium phase transition is straightforward. For zero temperature, QPT are understood through the properties of the (unique) ground state of the Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}(\lambda)$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$  governing the dynamics of the system,

$$\frac{d\rho}{dt} = -i[\mathcal{H}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}), \rho].$$
(5.1)

Phase diagram and criticality are determined by the low-lying spectrum of excitations of the systems Hamiltonian. It is the singular properties of the ground state as a function of the Hamiltonian parameters  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$  which are associated to the macroscopic observable effects typical of criticality. These manifest themselves through divergence of correlation length and generally occur if the gap of the Hamiltonian closes.

Similarly, in a dynamics governed by a Liouvillian master equation

$$\frac{d\rho}{dt} = \mathcal{L}(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rho\,,\tag{5.2}$$

which generally depends on a set of external parameters  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$ , the family of (possibly unique) NESSes  $\rho_s(\lambda)$  are themself labelled by the same parameters. Observable macroscopical behaviour in the physical properties of a many-body quantum system are associated to non-analytical dependences of  $\rho(\lambda)$  in the manifold  $\mathcal{M}$ .

From a mathematical point of view, the Liouvillian  $\mathcal{L}(\lambda)$  is a linear *non-Hermitean* super-operator acting on the space of density matrices, and a NESS is defined as its "eigen-density-matrix" with *zero eigenvalue*,

$$\mathcal{L}(\boldsymbol{\lambda})\rho_s(\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = 0.$$
(5.3)

The spectral resolution of the Liouvillian operator  $\mathcal{L}_{\lambda}$  provides information on the uniqueness of the stable state and on the asymptotic decay rates which governs the system's relaxation towards the NESS(es).

The smallest of such rates, denoted by  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$  is the so called *Liouvillian spectral gap* and determines the dominant time scale  $\tau_c \sim \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}^{-1}$  of the dissipative dynamics. This quantity is the closest open system analogue to the Hamiltonian gap. Pretty much in the spirit of QPTs, NESS criticality are accompanied by the vanishing of  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ , a phenomenon known as *critical slow down*. Although generally accepted as an indication of dissipative phase transitions at large [1, 12, 14, 16, 19, 218], a vanishing dissipative gap is not a distinguishing feature of NESS criticality, and it may be observed across phases characterised by short range correlations [11, 29, 43, 202, 203].

I will consider systems whose interaction with an environment leads to a time evolution governed by a Lindblad master equation [216],

$$\frac{d\rho}{dt} = \mathcal{L}\rho = -i[\mathcal{H},\rho] + \sum_{\alpha} (2\Lambda_{\alpha}\rho\Lambda_{\alpha}^{\dagger} - \{\Lambda_{\alpha}^{\dagger}\Lambda_{\alpha},\rho\}),$$
(5.4)

where  $\rho$  is the density matrix of the system,  $\mathcal{H}$  is its Hamiltonian, and the Lindblad operators (or jump operators)  $\Lambda_{\alpha}$  determine the interaction between the system and the bath. The dissipative dynamics is completely determined by the jump operators  $\Lambda_{\alpha}$ , whose physical origin are prone to different interpretations: From a microscopic point of view they can be regarded as the effective action of a full Hamiltonian dynamics of system and bath, where the degrees of freedom of the reservoir have been traced out. Here, three major approximations are needed: System and environment are initially in an uncorrelated state, system and bath interacts weakly (Born approximation), and the equilibration time of environment is short compared to other time scales (Markov approximation). A second more versatile interpretation originates from the concept of digital simulators [210, 212, 219–223], where a set of arbitrary (local) Lindblad operators  $\Lambda_{\alpha}$  can be explicitly implemented in terms of local, tailored interactions [212]. From a mathematical point of view, Eq. (5.4) is the most general form of time evolution described by a quantum dynamical semigroup, i.e., a family of completely positive trace-preserving maps  $\mathcal{E}_t$ , which is strongly continuous and satisfies  $\mathcal{E}_{t_1}\mathcal{E}_{t_2} = \mathcal{E}_{t_1+t_2}$  [215,217].

Despite the above mentioned analogies, however, non-equilibrium QPTs are of a different nature of the standard QPTs at zero temperature, and their investigation requires a substantial change of approach, both conceptually and methodologically. From a conceptual level, stationary states are the result of coherent dynamics dominated by incoherent dissipative processes. The response to a small perturbation is primarily described by relaxation mechanisms rather then the result of adiabatic modifications of the (ground) state. From a technical point of view, the *non-Hermitean* nature of the Liouvillean superoperator  $\mathcal{L}$ , as opposed to pure eigenvectors of a Hermitian Hamiltonian operator H, calls for the development of alternative strategies, as the usual spectral theorem and perturbation theory simply do not apply. This is quite a daunting task to tackle in its full generality.

However, by confining oneself to the physically relevant case of quadratic Liouvillean models of Fermions and spin lattices one is able to state results with a significant level of generality [19, 183, 218]. This parallels the central role that quasi-free models play in the standard theory of quantum phase transition. Specific models belonging to this class indeed display rich non-equilibrium features, non-trivial topological properties and NESS-QPTs [1, 11, 12, 19].

## 5.2 Gaussian Fermionic States

Let's make a brief detour to introduce the formalism of Gaussian Fermionic states (GFS). Let's consider systems of n Fermionic particles described by creation and annihilation operators  $c_j^{\dagger}$  and  $c_j$ . These operators obey the canonical anti-commutation relations,

$$\{c_j, c_k\} = 0 \qquad \{c_j, c_k^{\dagger}\} = \delta_{jk}.$$
 (5.5)

A convenient formulation for quadratic models is in terms of the Hermitian Majorana operators, defined as

$$w_{2j-1} := c_j + c_j^{\dagger}, \qquad w_{2j} := i(c_j - c_j^{\dagger}),$$
(5.6)

which, as generators of a Clifford algebra, satisfy the following anti-commutation relations

$$\{w_j, w_k\} = 2\delta_{jk} \,. \tag{5.7}$$

I will consider Hamiltonians quadratic in the Fermionic operators

$$\mathcal{H} := \sum_{jk=1}^{2n} H_{jk} w_j w_k = \boldsymbol{w}^T H \boldsymbol{w}, \qquad H = H^{\dagger} = -H^T, \qquad (5.8)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{w} := (w_1 \dots w_{2n})^T$  is an array of Majorana operators and H is a  $2n \times 2n$  Hermitian antisymmetric matrix. Quadratic Hamiltonian models describe quasi-free Fermions and are known to be exactly solvable. Their ground states and thermal states are Gaussian Fermionic states. Indeed, Gaussian Fermionic states are defined as states that can be expressed as

$$\rho = \frac{e^{-\frac{i}{4}\boldsymbol{w}^T \boldsymbol{\Omega} \boldsymbol{w}}}{Z}, \qquad Z := \operatorname{Tr}[e^{-\frac{i}{4}\boldsymbol{w}^T \boldsymbol{\Omega} \boldsymbol{w}}]$$
(5.9)

where  $\Omega$  is a  $2n \times 2n$  real antisymmetric matrix. The thermal state of the quadratic model is obtained by the simple identification  $\Omega = -4i\beta H$ . Obviously, the converse is always true, a Gaussian state is the thermal state of a suitable quadratic Hamiltonian, which is sometime referred to as parent Hamiltonian [1]. Gaussian states are completely specified by the two-point correlation function

$$\Gamma_{jk} := 1/2 \operatorname{Tr}(\rho[w_j, w_k]), \qquad \Gamma = \Gamma^{\dagger} = -\Gamma^T, \qquad (5.10)$$

where the matrix  $\Gamma := {\{\Gamma_{jk}\}_{1}^{2n} \text{ is a } 2n \times 2n \text{ imaginary antisymmetric matrix. All higher-order correlation functions of a Gaussian state can be obtained from <math>\Gamma$  by Wicks theorem [224].

One can show that  $\Gamma$  and  $\Omega$  can be simultaneously cast in a canonical form by an orthogonal matrix Q,  $Q^T = Q^{-1}$ ,

$$\Gamma = Q \bigoplus_{k=1}^{n} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i\gamma_k \\ -i\gamma_k & 0 \end{pmatrix} Q^T, \quad \Omega = Q \bigoplus_{k=1}^{n} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Omega_k \\ -\Omega_k & 0 \end{pmatrix} Q^T$$
(5.11)

where  $\pm \gamma_k$  are the eigenvalues of  $\Gamma$  and  $\pm i\Omega_k$  are the eigenvalues of  $\Omega$ . Indeed, the two matrices are related as,

$$\Gamma = \tanh\left(i\frac{\Omega}{2}\right) \ . \tag{5.12}$$

and their eigenvalues can be expressed as  $\gamma_k = \tanh(\Omega_k/2)$ , which implies  $\operatorname{that}|\gamma_k| \leq 1$ . Moreover let

$$\boldsymbol{z} = (z_1, \dots, z_{2n})^T := Q \boldsymbol{w}$$
(5.13)

be the Majorana Fermions in the eigenmode representation. With respect to these Fermions the Gaussian state can be expressed as,

$$\rho = \prod_{k} \frac{1 - i\gamma_k \, z_{2k-1} z_{2k}}{2} \,. \tag{5.14}$$

Hence, a Gaussian Fermionic state can be factorised into a tensor product  $\rho = \bigotimes_k \rho_k$  of density matrices of the eigen-modes  $\rho_k := \frac{1-i\gamma_k z_{2k-1} z_{2k}}{2}$ . Notice that for  $\gamma_k = \pm 1$ , one has  $\Omega_k = \pm \infty$ , making the definition (5.9) of Gaussian state not well defined, unlike Eq. (5.14), showing that the latter offers a regular parameterisation even in those extremal points. Notice that  $|\gamma_k| = 1$  corresponds to a Fermionic mode  $\tilde{c}_k = 1/2(z_{2k-1} + z_{2k})$  being in a pure state, as it is clear from the following explicit expression for the purity of the states  $\rho_k$ ,

$$Tr[\rho_k^2] = \frac{1 + \gamma_k^2}{2} .$$
 (5.15)

Which imply, the following basis-independent expression of the purity

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho^2] = \prod_k \frac{1 + \gamma_k^2}{2} = \sqrt{\operatorname{det}\left(\frac{1\!\!\!1 + \Gamma^2}{2}\right)} \,.$$
(5.16)

## **5.3** Dissipative Markovian Quadratic Models

I will discuss dissipative Fermionic models, described by a Lindblad master equation

$$\frac{d\rho}{dt} = \mathcal{L}\rho = -i[\mathcal{H},\rho] + \sum_{\alpha} (2\Lambda_{\alpha}\rho\Lambda_{\alpha}^{\dagger} - \{\Lambda_{\alpha}^{\dagger}\Lambda_{\alpha},\rho\}),$$
(5.17)

whose global dynamics is quadratic in Fermion operators. This means that the Hamiltonian considered will be of the type (5.8), and the set of jump operators  $\Lambda_{\alpha}$  will be linear in the Fermion operators, i.e.

$$\Lambda_{\alpha} = \boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha}^{T} \boldsymbol{w}, \text{ with } \boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha} := (l_{1}^{\alpha}, \dots, l_{2n}^{\alpha})^{T}, \qquad (5.18)$$

where  $l_{\alpha}$  denotes a set of 2n-dimensional complex vectors. We assume that H and  $l_{\alpha}$ 's depend on a set of parameters  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$  which defines the underlying dissipative model. Due to the quadratic dependence on the Fermionic operators, the Liouvillian can be diagonalised exactly and its stable state is Gaussian. This has been proven in full generality in ref. [28,225–227] using a formalism called "third quantisation". This essentially consists in the development of an operator algebra acting on the space of density matrices which mimics the algebraic properties of the Fermionic operators acting on the ordinary Fock space. In the following, I will review the way in which the stable state  $\rho_s$  is obtained within this formalism, which will provide the natural parameterisation necessary for the subsequent developments. The Liouvillean [226] can be written as a quadratic form in terms of the following set of 2n creation and annihilation super-operators

$$\hat{a}_{j}^{\dagger} \cdot := -\frac{i}{2} W\left\{w_{j}, \cdot\right\}, \qquad \qquad \hat{a}_{j} \cdot := -\frac{i}{2} W\left[w_{j}, \cdot\right], \qquad (5.19)$$

where [.,.] and  $\{.,.\}$  are the usual commutator and anti-commutator, respectively and

$$W := i^n \prod_{j=1}^{2n} w_j$$
 (5.20)

is an Hermitian operator satisfying the following properties

$$W = W^{\dagger}, \quad W^2 = \mathbf{1}, \quad \{W, w_k\} = 0 \quad \forall k.$$
 (5.21)

From the above properties one can prove that the super-operators defined in Eq. (5.19) satisfy the canonical anti-commutation relations,

$$\{\hat{a}_j, \hat{a}_k\} = 0, \qquad \{\hat{a}_j^{\dagger}, \hat{a}_k\} = \delta_{jk}, \qquad (5.22)$$

and thus they reproduce the algebra of ordinary Fermionic operators. Notice, however, that the space on which  $\hat{a}_k$  and  $\hat{a}_k^{\dagger}$  act is the Hilbert-Schmidt space of linear operator  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ , to which the set of density matrices  $\rho$  belongs.

Let's denote by  $\mathcal{R}$  the  $4^n$ -dimensional subspace of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  spanned by  $\prod_j w_j^{s_j}$ ,  $(s_j \in \{0, 1\})$ . One can regard this subspace as a linear Hilbert space whose elements, denoted by  $|s\rangle$  are normalised with respect to the Hilbert-Schmidt inner product, i.e.  $(s|s) \equiv \text{Tr}[s^{\dagger}s] = 1$  for  $|s\rangle \in \mathcal{R}$ . Notice that the vacuum of the Fermionic super-operators, i.e. the state  $|0\rangle$  such that  $\hat{a}_k|0\rangle = 0$ , corresponds to the completely mixed state  $|0\rangle \propto 1$ . Moreover, one can verify that the superoperator  $a_k^{\dagger}$  is the Hermitian conjugate of  $a_k$  in  $\mathcal{R}$ .

Using the above formalism, a lengthy but straightforward calculation shows that the Lindbladian equation Eq. (5.17) can be explicitly expressed in the following bilinear form in terms of  $\hat{a}_k$  and  $\hat{a}_k^{\dagger}$ ,

$$\mathcal{L} = -\sum_{jk} \left( X_{jk} \, \hat{a}_j^{\dagger} \hat{a}_k + Y_{ij} \, \hat{a}_j^{\dagger} \hat{a}_k^{\dagger} / 2 \right) \tag{5.23}$$

where

$$X := 4[iH + \mathbf{Re}(M)], \qquad X = X^*$$
(5.24)

$$Y := -i8\mathbf{Im}(M) , \qquad Y = Y^{\dagger} = -Y^{T}$$
(5.25)

and

$$M_{jk} := \left(\sum_{\alpha} \boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha} \otimes \boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha}^{\dagger}\right)_{jk} = \sum_{\alpha} l_{j}^{\alpha} (l_{k}^{\alpha})^{*}, \qquad M = M^{\dagger} \ge 0, \qquad (5.26)$$

is a positive semidefinite matrix called *bath matrix*.

Under certain condition derived in [226], the dissipative dynamics admits a unique non-equilibrium steady state solution  $\rho_s$  such that  $\mathcal{L}\rho_s = 0$ , and such a state is Gaussian. The two point correlation function of the NESS is obtained from the solution of the following (continuous) Lyapunov equation:

$$X\Gamma + \Gamma X^T = Y . (5.27)$$

As shown in the next section the correlation matrix  $\Gamma$  plays also a central role in the diagonalisation of the Liouvillean.

Notice that the real matrix X does not have to be diagonalisable. However, for convenience one can safely assume that this is the case. Indeed, in the explicit models that I will consider in the next sections, this assumption is always satisfied. Nevertheless, the generality of the consideration that will follow will not be affected if this condition is lifted, as it will be argued in the appendix B.

Let  $\boldsymbol{a} := (\hat{a}_1, \dots, \hat{a}_{2n})^T$  be the array of Fermionic annihilation super-operators, and let U be the invertible matrix that diagonalises X, i.e.

$$X = U D_X U^{-1} \qquad D_X := \operatorname{diag}(\{x_k\}_{k=1}^{2n}), \tag{5.28}$$

where  $x_k \in \mathbb{C}$  are the eigenvalues of X. One can show that the following non-unitary Bogoliubov transformation [228],

$$\begin{cases} \boldsymbol{b} = U^{-1}(\boldsymbol{a} - \Gamma \, \boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger}), \\ \boldsymbol{b}^{\times} = U^{T} \boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger}, \end{cases}$$
(5.29)

(where  $m{b}:=(\hat{b}_1,\ldots,\hat{b}_{2n})^T$  ) brings  $\mathcal L$  to the diagonal form

$$\mathcal{L} = -\sum_{k} x_k \, \hat{b}_k^{\times} \hat{b}_k \,. \tag{5.30}$$

Notice, that due to the non-unitarity of the Bogoliubov transformation, the operators  $\hat{b}_j$  and  $\hat{b}_j^{\times}$  satisfies the canonical anti-commutation relations, however  $\hat{b}_j^{\times} \neq \hat{b}_j^{\dagger}$ . Preatty much in the spirit of the standard Bogoliubov transformation, the (unnormalized) steady state  $\rho_s$  is the vacuum of the annihilation super-operators **b**, i.e.  $\hat{b}_j | \rho_s \rangle = 0$ ,  $\forall j = 1, ..., 2n$ . From the operator form of the Bogoliubov transformation [228], one finds

$$\rho_s = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} \cdot \boldsymbol{\Gamma} \boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger}} (\mathbf{1}) \,. \tag{5.31}$$

where, as noted earlier, the identity operator is the vacuum of a. Due to the explicit form of the superoperators (5.19), in the next section I will show that the above state is a Gaussian Fermionic state and that its two point correlation functions  $\text{Tr}\rho_s[w_i, w_j]$  are given by  $\Gamma_{ij}$ , i.e. by the solution of the continuous Lyapunov equation (5.27).

According to [226], the condition of uniqueness of the steady state is

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{L}} := 2 \min_{j} \operatorname{Re}(x_j) > 0, \tag{5.32}$$

where the  $x_j$ 's are the eigenvalue of X, and  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$  is the Liouvillian spectral gap. When this condition is met, any other state will eventually decay into the NESS in a time scale  $\tau \sim 1/\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ . In the thermodynamical limit  $n \to \infty$  a vanishing gap  $\Delta(n) \to 0$  may be accompained, though not-necessarily, by non-differentiable properties of the NESS [11,203]. For this reason, the scaling of  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}(n)$  has been used as an indication of NESS criticality [19,202,203,229,230]. NESS-QPT has been investigated through the scaling of the Bures metrics [8,162], whose super-extensivity has been connected to a vanishing  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$  [28]. Along the same line, it is also possible to demonstrate that a similar relation exists between the scaling properties of the dissipative gap and the mean Uhlmann curvature [43]. Essentially, I will try to develop in the context of NESS-QPT an argument similar to the one established in section 4.5.1, for the zero temperature quantum phase transition. There the relation (4.60) defines a relation necessary relation between the scaling of the quantum geometric tensor and a vanishing Hamiltonian gap. Here I will provide a relation connecting the scaling properties of the (generalised) quantum geometric tensor and the dissipative gap  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ .

#### 5.3.1 Diagonalisation of the Lindblad Equation

Following the notation introduced in section 5.3, the Liouvillean (5.17) can be re-expressed as

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} & \boldsymbol{a} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} X & Y \\ 0 & -X^{T} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{a} \\ \boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} X .$$
 (5.33)

Consider the following invertible transformation

$$T := \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1} & \Gamma \\ 0 & \mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad T^{-1} := \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1} & -\Gamma \\ 0 & \mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (5.34)$$

If  $\Gamma$  is the matrix solution of (5.27), then

$$\begin{pmatrix} X & Y \\ 0 & -X^T \end{pmatrix} = \hat{T}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} X & Y - X\Gamma - \Gamma X^T \\ 0 & -X^T \end{pmatrix} \hat{T} = \hat{T}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} X & 0 \\ 0 & -X^{\hat{T}} \end{pmatrix} \hat{T}.$$
 (5.35)

Therefore, one straightforwardly sees that the matrix (5.35) is diagonalised by the following transformation

$$\hat{S} := \begin{pmatrix} U^{-1} & 0\\ 0 & U^T \end{pmatrix} \hat{T} = \begin{pmatrix} U^{-1} & U^{-1} \Gamma\\ 0 & U^T \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.36)

One can show that  $\hat{S}$  is a non-unitary Bogoliubov transformation [228], which amounts to verify that  $\hat{S}$  fulfils the following condition (see Eq.(2.6) of [228])

$$\hat{S} \Sigma \hat{S}^T = \Sigma$$
 where  $\Sigma := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbf{1} \\ \mathbf{1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ . (5.37)

This transformation leads to the definition of a new set of creation and annihilation super-operators as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{b} \\ \boldsymbol{b}^{\times} \end{pmatrix} = \hat{S} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{a} \\ \boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (5.38)

Since S is a non-unitary Bogoliubov transformation the operators  $\hat{b}_j$  and  $\hat{b}_j^{\times}$  satisfy the canonical antisymmetric relations, but  $\hat{b}_j^{\times} \neq \hat{b}_j^{\dagger}$ . Moreover, by employing the relation  $\begin{pmatrix} a^{\dagger} & a \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a \\ a^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}^T \Sigma^x$ , together with the property (5.37), one finds that

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{b}^{\times} & \mathbf{b} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} D_X & 0\\ 0 & -D_X \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{b}\\ \mathbf{b}^{\times} \end{pmatrix} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} X , \qquad (5.39)$$

i.e.,

$$\mathcal{L} = -\sum_{j} x_j \, \hat{b}_j^{\times} \, \hat{b}_j \, . \tag{5.40}$$

To the canonical transformation (5.38), there corresponds an operator acting on the Fock space which thanks to Eq. (2.16) of [228], can be written into the form

$$\hat{b}_j = \mathcal{S} \,\hat{a}_j \,\mathcal{S}^{-1} \,, \qquad \qquad \hat{b}_j^{\times} = \mathcal{S} \,\hat{a}_j^{\dagger} \,\mathcal{S}^{-1} \,, \qquad (5.41)$$

where

$$S =: \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} \Gamma \, \boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} + \boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} \left(U - 1\right) \boldsymbol{a}\right): , \qquad (5.42)$$

and :  $\exp(\cdot)$  : denotes the normal ordering of the exponential.

By exploiting the above operator, one is then able to explicitly express the vacuum of the Bogoliubov operators  $\boldsymbol{b}$ , i.e. the stationary state  $\rho_s$  of the Liouvillian, in terms of the original super-operators  $\boldsymbol{a}$ . Recall that the vacuum of  $\boldsymbol{a}$ , i.e. the element  $|\mathbf{0}\rangle \in \mathcal{R}$  such that  $\hat{a}_i|\mathbf{0}\rangle = 0$ ,  $\forall j = 1, ... 2n$ , is the completely mixed state. It also fulfils the property  $(\mathbf{0}|\mathcal{L}=0.$ 

The vacuum of the Bogoliubov operators  $\boldsymbol{b}$  can be readily obtained from the operator  $\mathcal{S}$ :  $|\rho\rangle_s = \mathcal{S}|\mathbf{0}\rangle$ . Indeed, as  $\hat{a}_j|\mathbf{0}\rangle = 0$ , one has  $\hat{b}_j|\rho_s\rangle = \mathcal{S}\hat{a}_j\mathcal{S}^{-1}\mathcal{S}|\mathbf{0}\rangle = 0$ . Hence,

$$|\rho_s\rangle = \mathcal{S}|\mathbf{0}\rangle = e^{-\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger} \Gamma \boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger}}|\mathbf{0}\rangle .$$
(5.43)

The state (5.43) is exactly (5.14), as will be shown in the following. Thanks to the transformation Q defined in (5.11), one can write  $\Gamma$  in a canonical form with respect to the set of Fermion eigen-modes z. By using the definition (5.43), one gets

$$\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger}\Gamma\,\boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger}\rho = \frac{1}{8}\left(\boldsymbol{w}\cdot\Gamma\boldsymbol{w}\rho + 2\boldsymbol{w}\cdot\Gamma\rho\boldsymbol{w} + \rho\boldsymbol{w}\cdot\Gamma\boldsymbol{w}\right) = \sum_{k}\mathcal{G}_{k}(\rho)\,,\qquad(5.44)$$

where

$$\mathcal{G}_k(\rho) := \frac{i}{4} \gamma_k \left[ z_{2k-1} z_{2k} \rho + z_{2k-1} \rho z_{2k} - z_{2k} \rho z_{2k-1} + \rho z_{2k-1} z_{2k} \right].$$
(5.45)

One can verify the following two properties,

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{G}_k(1) = i \, \gamma_k \, z_{2k-1} z_{2k} \,, \\ \mathcal{G}_k(z_{2k-1} z_{2k}) = 0 \,, \end{cases}$$
(5.46)

which streighforwardly leads to

$$\rho_s \propto e^{-\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger}\Gamma\boldsymbol{a}^{\dagger}}|0) \propto \prod_k e^{-\mathcal{G}_k} 1 = \prod_k \left(1 - i\,\gamma_k\,z_{2k-1}z_{2k}\right)\,,\tag{5.47}$$

thus recovering equation (5.14).

#### 5.3.2 Liouvillian Spectrum

The conditions for the existence and uniqueness of (5.47) have been derived in [226]. We now review those conditions and express them in terms of the spectral gap  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ .

The correlation matrix matrix  $\Gamma \in M_{2n}(\mathbb{C})$  is the matrix solution of Eq. (5.27). This equation acquires a familiar linear matrix representation, when expressed through the so called the (non-canonical) "vectorising" isomorphism

vec: 
$$M_{2n}(\mathbb{C}) \to (\mathbb{C}^{2n})^{\otimes 2} / |i\rangle \langle j| \to |i\rangle \otimes |j\rangle,$$
 (5.48)

which vectorises a matrix. This is also a Hilbert-space isomorphism, namely

$$\langle \operatorname{vec}(A), \operatorname{vec}(B) \rangle = (A, B) := \operatorname{tr}(A^{\dagger}B).$$
 (5.49)

One can directly check that

$$\operatorname{vec}(ABC) = \left(A \otimes C^{T}\right) \operatorname{vec}(B).$$
(5.50)

Applying the vectorising isomorphisim to both sides of continuous Lyapunov Eq. (5.27) one then gets

$$\hat{X}$$
**vec** $(\Gamma) =$  **vec** $(Y), \qquad \hat{X} := (X \otimes \mathbf{1} + \mathbf{1} \otimes X)$  (5.51)

where  $\hat{X} \in \text{End}(\mathbb{C}^{2n})^{\otimes 2} \cong M_{4n^2}(\mathbb{C})$ . There are three distinct operators involved in the above formalism, and correspondingly there are three different definitions of spectral gaps, which are described in the following.

- The map X: C<sup>2n</sup> → C<sup>2n</sup>, a 2n × 2n real diagonalizable matrix. Its spectrum is {x<sub>j</sub>}<sup>2n</sup><sub>j=1</sub> ⊂ C and (because of reality) is invariant under complex conjugation. From the non-negativity of the bath matrix M one can prove that **Re** x<sub>j</sub> ≥ 0, ∀j. (see appendix B).
- 2. The map  $\hat{X} = X \otimes \mathbf{1} + \mathbf{1} \otimes X \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{C}^{2n})^{\otimes 2} \cong M_{4n^2}(\mathbb{C})$ , a  $4n^2 \times 4n^2$  matrix. Since X is assumed diagonalisable, also  $\hat{X}$  will be so, and its spectrum is  $\{x_i + x_j\}_{i,j=1}^{2n} \subset \mathbb{C}$ . The minimum of its modulus is clearly given by  $\Delta_{\hat{X}} := \min_{i,j} |x_i + x_j|$ . Importantly, diagonalisability of  $\hat{X}$  straightforwardly implies

$$\Delta_{\hat{X}}^{-1} = \|\hat{X}^{-1}\|_{\infty} \,. \tag{5.52}$$

Moreover, for the uniqueness of the steady state we must have  $\hat{X}$  invertible i.e.,  $\Delta_{\hat{X}} > 0$ .

3. The Liouvillean L: End((C<sup>2</sup>)<sup>⊗n</sup>) → End((C<sup>2</sup>)<sup>⊗n</sup>), a 2<sup>2n</sup> × 2<sup>2n</sup> matrix. As it can be seen from Eq. (5.40), its spectrum can be defined through the array occupation numbers n := (n<sub>1</sub>,..., n<sub>2n</sub>)<sup>T</sup>, where n<sub>k</sub> = 0, 1 are the eigenvalues of Bogoliubov number operators b<sup>×</sup><sub>k</sub>b<sub>k</sub>. Its spectrum is given by

$$\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{L}) = \{-x_{\boldsymbol{n}} := \boldsymbol{n}^T \cdot \boldsymbol{x} \in \mathbb{C}\}$$
 where  $\boldsymbol{x} := (x_1, \dots, x_{2n})^T$ , with  $x_k \in \operatorname{Sp}(X)$ . (5.53)

Notice that  $0 \in \text{Sp}(\mathcal{L})$  i.e.,  $\mathcal{L}$  is always non-invertible and that the steady state(e.g., the Gaussian state n = 0) are in the kernel of  $\mathcal{L}$ . If this latter is one-dimensional (unique steady state) the gap of  $\mathcal{L}$  can be defined as  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}} := \min_{n \neq 0} |x_n|$ .

Notice that, on account of the stability of the physical system one is expected to have  $\operatorname{Re} x_j \geq 0, \forall j$ . Indeed, this is the quantum equivalent of the classical Lyapunov stability condition, where the time-scale for convergence  $\rho(t) \to \rho(\infty)$  is dictated by  $\tilde{\Delta}^{-1}$ , with  $\tilde{\Delta} = \min_{\mathbf{n}\neq\mathbf{0}} \operatorname{Re} x_{\mathbf{n}}$ .

It is not hard to show, that the three distinct definitions of spectral gaps just described effectively collapse into each other.

**Proposition 1.** If  $\Delta = \min_j 2\mathbf{Re}(x_j) > 0$  then

$$\Delta = \Delta_{\mathcal{L}} = \Delta_{\hat{X}} . \tag{5.54}$$

*Proof.*  $|x_{\mathbf{n}}| = |\mathbf{n}^T \cdot \mathbf{x}| \ge |\mathbf{Re}(\mathbf{n}^T \cdot \mathbf{x})|$ . The first bound can be saturated by choosing the  $n_j$ 's in such a way that only a set P of complex conjugated pairs  $x_p^{\pm}$  of eigenvalues are present. In this case  $|\mathbf{Re}(\mathbf{n}^T \cdot \mathbf{x})| = 2 \sum_{p \in P} \mathbf{Re} x_p$ , where we used the assumption  $(\forall p) \mathbf{Re} x_p \ge 0$ . Using again positivity of all the terms, this sum can be made as small as possible by choosing |P| = 1 and minimising over  $p = 1, \ldots, n$ . This shows that  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}} = \min_{\mathbf{n}} |x_{\mathbf{n}}| = 2 \min_{\mathbf{k}} \mathbf{Re} x_p \}_{p=1}^{n}$ . By a similar argument one shows that  $\Delta_{\hat{X}} = \min_{\mathbf{k}} ||x_i + x_j||^{2n}_{i,j=1}$  is given by the same expression i.e.  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}} = \Delta_{\hat{X}}$ . Finally  $\Delta = 2 \min_{\mathbf{n}} \mathbf{Re} x_{\mathbf{n}} \equiv 2\tilde{\Delta} = 2 \min_{p} \mathbf{Re} x_p = \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ .

## 5.4 Geometric Properties of the Steady States

We would like to transfer to the framework of NESS-QPT the insight that we have learnt from the geometric information approach and the geometric phase methods that so far has been applied to the equilibrium case. The idea would be to explore the properties of the metrics and the properties of the geometric phases pretty much in the spirit of the equilibrium phase transition. The natural candidate for the definition of a metric is clearly the Bures metric, as the intuition built from QPT in open system would suggest [159, 162, 231, 232]. This has been done in the reference [28].

A completely different story applies to the geometric phase, as a natural candidate in the mixed state domain does not exists. In the context of mixed quantum states, it is necessary to exploit unorthodox concepts of geometric phases and many possible definitions of the mixed state geometric phase have been put forward [23, 176–182]. Which definition is best suited in this context depends largely on the type of information that one wants to pursue. In this context the Uhlmann GP [23] stands out for its deep rooted relations with the fidelity approach and for its relations with quantum estimation theory.

Motivated by this, I will concentrate on the mean Uhmann curvature, which has been already introduced in section 3.3. Rather than exploring the geometric phase itself, which provides insight on the global properties of the mixed state manifold, I choose to consider the Uhlmann curvature as it conveys information on the local geometric structure of the parametric manifold. This choice is ideally suited to the study of non-equilibrium phase transition which are related to local differential properties of the state space.

The mathematical properties of the MUC makes it an ideal candidate both at the conceptual and at the technical level. From a physical point of view the mean Uhlmann curvature is gauge invariant, thus ensuring that its behaviour is physically relevant and cannot emerge as an artefact of the gauge choice. Moreover, technically the MUC is much easier to handle than the full Uhlmann curvature, due to its scalar nature as opposed to the non-Abelian structure of the curvature.

I will derive a general formula which unifies, within the same framework, Bures metrics and mean Uhlmann curvature over the set of Gaussian Fermionic states. This will be needed in order to discuss in the following sections how the scaling of the metric and the curvature provides information on the closing of  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$  and the divergences of the two-point correlations. Finally one can see this in action, by applying such a theoretical framework to exactly solvable models. This analysis will demonstrate that NESS phase diagram can be accurately mapped by studying the scaling behaviour and the singularities of the metric tensor g and of the  $\mathcal{U}$ : critical lines can be identified and the different phases distinguished.

Moreover, with joint information of both g and  $\mathcal{U}$  and from insight derived from quantum estimation theory, a concept of "quantum-ness" of the NESS-QPT will be introduced. The aim of this is to glean an insight into the character of the fluctuations driving the non-equilibrium phase transitions.

The calculation of both Uhlmann curvature and Bures metrics in large Hilbert spaces is quite a daunting task. Standard approaches [68] are computationally not viable in many-body setups where the quest for effective methods to evaluate both metrics and curvature is the subject of active research [233]. I will show that in the physically relevant class of Gaussian Fermionic states this can be accomplished in a surprisingly efficient way.

#### 5.4.1 Mean Uhlmann Curvature and Bures Metric of Gaussian Fermionic States

Before discussing the geometric properties of Gaussian Fermionic states, let's recall some basic properties of the correlation function. For GFS, all odd-order correlation functions are zero, and all even-order correlations, higher than two, can be obtained from  $\Gamma$  by Wicks theorem [224], i.e.

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\rho \omega_{k_1} \omega_{k_2} \dots \omega_{k_{2p}}) = \operatorname{Pf}(\Gamma_{k_1 k_2 \dots k_{2p}}), \qquad 1 \le k_1 < \dots < k_{2p} \le 2n$$
(5.55)

and  $\Gamma_{k_1k_2...k_{2p}}$  is the corresponding  $2p \times 2p$  submatrix of  $\Gamma$ . Pf $(\Gamma_{k_1k_2...k_{2p}})^2 = \det(\Gamma_{k_1k_2...k_{2p}})$  is the Pfaffian. An especially useful case is the four-point correlation function

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\rho\omega_{j}\omega_{k}\omega_{l}\omega_{m}) = a_{jk}a_{lm} - a_{jl}a_{km} + a_{jm}a_{kl}, \qquad (5.56)$$

where  $a_{jk} := \Gamma_{jk} + \delta_{jk}$ .

To derive a convenient expression for the Uhlmann curvature and the Bures metric for Gaussian Fermionic states, first let's recall their expression in terms of the parallel transport generator (3.33):

where  $Q_{\mu\nu}$  is the (generalised) quantum geometric tensor (3.57).

The starting point is to derive the generator G in terms of the two point correlation matrix  $\Gamma$ . Due to the quadratic dependence of (5.14) in  $\omega$ , and following the arguments of [234, 235], it can be shown that G is a quadratic polynomial in the Majorana Fermions

$$\boldsymbol{G} =: \frac{1}{4}\boldsymbol{\omega}^T \cdot \boldsymbol{K}\boldsymbol{\omega} + \boldsymbol{\zeta}^T \boldsymbol{\omega} + \boldsymbol{\eta}, \qquad (5.58)$$

where  $\mathbf{K} = \sum_{\mu} K_{\mu} d\lambda_{\mu}$ , and  $K_{\mu} := \{K_{\mu}^{jk}\}_{jk=1}^{2n}$  are a set of  $2n \times 2n$  Hermitian anti-symmetric matrices,  $\boldsymbol{\zeta} = \boldsymbol{\zeta}_{\mu} d\lambda_{\mu}$ , with  $\boldsymbol{\zeta}_{\mu}$  a 2n real vector, and  $\boldsymbol{\eta} = \eta_{\mu} d\lambda_{\mu}$  a real valued one-form. Note that any odd-order correlation function for a Gaussian Fermionic state vanishes identically, then

$$\langle \omega_k \rangle = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho \omega_k) = 0 \qquad \forall k = 1 \dots 2n.$$
 (5.59)

By differentiating the above equation, one readily shows that the linear term in (5.58) is identically zero

$$0 = \operatorname{Tr}(\omega_k d\rho) = \operatorname{Tr}(\omega_k \{ \boldsymbol{G}, \rho \}) = \operatorname{Tr}(\rho \{ \boldsymbol{\zeta}^T \boldsymbol{\omega}, \omega_k \}) = \zeta^k,$$

where  $\zeta^k$  is the *k*-th component of  $\zeta$ , and in the third equality one takes into account that the third order correlations vanish. The quantity  $\eta$  can be determined from the trace preserving condition, i.e.

$$d\operatorname{Tr} \rho = \operatorname{Tr}(d\rho) = 2\operatorname{Tr}(\rho G) = 0, \qquad (5.60)$$

which, after plugging in Eq. (5.58), leads to

$$\boldsymbol{\eta} = -\frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr}(\rho \boldsymbol{\omega}^T \boldsymbol{K} \boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{K} \Gamma).$$
 (5.61)

In order to determine K, let's take differential of  $\Gamma_{jk} = 1/2 \text{Tr}(\rho[\omega_j, \omega_k])$ , then

$$d\Gamma_{jk} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(d\rho[\omega_j, \omega_k]) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(\{\rho, \boldsymbol{G}\}[\omega_j, \omega_k])$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{8} \operatorname{Tr}(\{\rho, \boldsymbol{\omega}^T \boldsymbol{K} \boldsymbol{\omega}\}[\omega_j, \omega_k]) + \boldsymbol{\eta} \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(\rho[\omega_j, \omega_k])$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{8} \sum_{lm} K^{lm} \operatorname{Tr}(\{\rho, [\omega_l, \omega_m]\}[\omega_j, \omega_k]) + \boldsymbol{\eta} \Gamma_{jk}$$
  
$$= (\Gamma \boldsymbol{K} \Gamma - \boldsymbol{K})_{jk} + \left[\boldsymbol{\eta} - \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr}(\boldsymbol{K} \Gamma)\right] \Gamma_{jk}, \qquad (5.62)$$

where the last equality is obtained with the help of Eq. (5.56) and using the antisymmetry of  $\Gamma$  and K under the exchange of j and k. Finally, according to Eq. (5.61), the last term vanishes and we obtain the following (discrete time) Lyapunov equation

$$d\Gamma = \Gamma K \Gamma - K. \tag{5.63}$$

The above equation can be formally solved by

$$\boldsymbol{K} = (\mathrm{Ad}_{\Gamma} - \mathbf{1})^{-1} (d\Gamma), \tag{5.64}$$

where  $\operatorname{Ad}_{\Gamma}(X) := \Gamma X \Gamma^{\dagger}$  is the adjoint action. In the eigenbasis of  $\Gamma$ , (i.e.  $\Gamma |j\rangle = \gamma_j |j\rangle$ ) it reads

$$\langle j|\mathbf{K}|k\rangle = (\mathbf{K})_{jk} = \frac{(d\Gamma)_{jk}}{\gamma_j \gamma_k - 1} = -\frac{d\Omega_k}{2}\delta_{jk} + \tanh\frac{\Omega_j - \Omega_k}{2}\langle j|dk\rangle,$$
(5.65)

where, in the second equality, we made use of the relation  $\gamma_k = \tanh(\Omega_k/2)$ , which yields the following diagonal  $(d\Gamma)_{jj} = (1 - \gamma_j^2) d\Omega_j$  and off-diagonal terms  $(d\Gamma)_{jk} = (\gamma_k - \gamma_j) \langle j | dk \rangle$ . This expression is well defined everywhere except for  $\gamma_j = \gamma_k = \pm 1$ , where the Gaussian state  $\rho$  becomes singular (i.e. it is not full rank). In this condition, the expression (5.65) for the generator G may become singular.

Nevertheless, the boundness of the function  $|\tanh \frac{\Omega_j - \Omega_k}{2}| \le 1$  in (5.65) shows that such a singularity is relatively benign. Thanks to this, we can show that the condition  $\gamma_j = \gamma_k = \pm 1$  produces, at most, removable singularities in the QGT (cf. [85]). This allows the quantum geometric tensor to be extended by continuity from the set of full-rank density matrices to the submanifolds with  $\gamma_j = \gamma_k = \pm 1$ .

Knowing the expression for the parallel transport generator G, we can calculate the QGT by plugging  $G_{\mu} = \frac{1}{4} [\omega^T K_{\mu} \omega - \text{Tr}(K_{\mu} \cdot \Gamma)]$  into  $Q_{\mu\nu} := \text{Tr}(\rho G_{\mu} G_{\nu})$ . Making use of (5.56) and exploiting the antisymmetry of both  $\Gamma$  and K under the exchange of Majorana Fermion indices leads to [43]

$$Q_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{8} \operatorname{Tr}[(\mathbf{1} - \Gamma) K_{\mu} (\mathbf{1} + \Gamma) K_{\nu}]$$

$$= \frac{1}{8} \sum_{jk} (1 - \gamma_j) (1 + \gamma_k) K_{\mu}^{jk} K_{\nu}^{kj}$$

$$= \frac{1}{8} \sum_{jk} \frac{(1 - \gamma_j) (1 + \gamma_k)}{(1 - \gamma_j \gamma_k)^2} (\partial_{\mu} \Gamma)_{jk} (\partial_{\nu} \Gamma)_{kj},$$
(5.66)

where the last equality is obtained by plugging in Eq. (5.65). Let's have a closer look at the QGT in the limit of  $(\gamma_j, \gamma_k) \rightarrow \pm (1, 1)$ . The boundness of  $K_{jk}$ , and the multiplicative factors  $(1 \pm \gamma_j)$  in (5.66) causes each term with  $|\gamma_j| \rightarrow 1$  to vanish. This means that the QGT has a well defined value in the above limit, and we can safely extend by continuity the QGT to the sub-manifolds  $(\gamma_j, \gamma_k) = \pm (1, 1)$ .

The explicit expression of  $Q_{\mu\nu}$  produces the following results for the Bures metrics

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \mathbf{Re}(Q_{\mu\nu}) = \frac{1}{8} \operatorname{Tr}(K_{\mu}K_{\nu} - \Gamma K_{\mu}\Gamma K_{\nu})$$

$$= -\frac{1}{8} \operatorname{Tr}(\partial_{\mu}\Gamma K_{\nu})$$

$$= \frac{1}{8} \sum_{jk} \frac{(\partial_{\mu}\Gamma)_{jk}(\partial_{\nu}\Gamma)_{kj}}{1 - \gamma_{j}\gamma_{k}},$$
(5.67)

which in a parameter independent way reads

$$dl^{2} = \sum_{\mu\nu} g_{\mu\nu} d\lambda_{\mu} d\lambda_{\nu} = \frac{1}{8} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ d\Gamma \frac{1}{1 - \operatorname{Ad}_{\Gamma}} (d\Gamma) \right] \,.$$
(5.68)

Eq. (5.68) has been obtained by substituting the formal solution (5.64) of K in the second equality of Eq. (5.67), and where  $d\Gamma := \sum_{\partial_{\mu}\Gamma d\lambda}$ . The above expression was derived by a different procedure by Banchi et al. [28]. For the MUC the explicit expression is

$$\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu} = 2\mathbf{Im}(Q_{\mu\nu}) = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{Tr}(\Gamma[K_{\mu}, K_{\nu}])$$

$$= \frac{i}{4} \sum_{jk} \frac{\gamma_k - \gamma_j}{(1 - \gamma_j \gamma_k)^2} (\partial_{\mu} \Gamma)_{jk} (\partial_{\nu} \Gamma)_{kj}.$$
(5.69)

Also the above expression can be cast in a parameter-independent way. Exploiting Eq. (5.64) leads to

$$\mathcal{U} = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{Tr}(\Gamma \mathbf{K} \wedge \mathbf{K})$$

$$= \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{Tr}\left[\Gamma \frac{1}{\mathbf{1} - \operatorname{Ad}_{\Gamma}} (d\Gamma) \wedge \frac{1}{\mathbf{1} - \operatorname{Ad}_{\Gamma}} (d\Gamma)\right].$$
(5.70)

The above equation (5.67) reproduces known results for the thermal states [162] and for pure states [231, 232]. On the other hand, no previous account of a close form expression of the Uhlmann curvature were known in literature for the case of Fermionic Gaussian states, they being in the equilibrium or out of equilibrium condition. As expected, formula (5.69) reduces to the correct expression in the case of pure states, provided that the appropriate matrix  $\Gamma$  is considered [4–7].

#### 5.4.2 Super-Extensivity of the (Generalised) Quantum Geometric Tensor

The above results apply to the general class of Gaussian Fermionic states. In this section, I will derive some results which are specific to the quadratic Liouvillian models considered. The aim of this section is to connect the kinematic properties embodied by the quantum geometric tensor to the dynamical features of the underlying physical model. More specifically I will derive a bound similar to the one obtained in section 4.5.1, which relates the super-extensivity of the generalised quantum geometric tensor and the dissipative gap.

As in the case of (2.51) also  $Q(\lambda)$  defined in (3.57) is a Hermitean non-negative matrix. Thus one has

$$|Q_{\mu\nu}| \le ||Q||_{\infty} = \boldsymbol{u}^{\dagger} \cdot Q \cdot \boldsymbol{u}, \qquad (5.71)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{u} = \{u_{\mu}\}_{\mu=1}^{\dim \mathcal{M}}$ , with  $\boldsymbol{u}^{\dagger} \cdot \boldsymbol{u} = 1$  is the normalised eigenvector of Q with the largest eigenvalue. One can define the corresponding combination of parameters  $\bar{\lambda} := \sum_{\mu=1}^{\dim \mathcal{M}} u_{\mu} \lambda_{\mu}$ , and the corresponding directional derivative  $\bar{\partial} := \partial/\partial \bar{\lambda}$ , then

$$\bar{\partial}\Gamma = \sum_{\mu} (\partial_{\mu}\Gamma) u_{\mu}, \qquad (5.72)$$

and from Eq. (4.52) and the above inequality (5.71)

$$\|Q\|_{\infty} = \frac{1}{8} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ (\mathbf{1} - \Gamma) \frac{1}{\mathbf{1} - \operatorname{Ad}_{\Gamma}} (\bar{\partial} \Gamma) (\mathbf{1} + \Gamma) \frac{1}{\mathbf{1} - \operatorname{Ad}_{\Gamma}} (\bar{\partial} \Gamma) \right].$$
(5.73)

Let's express Eq. (5.73) in a form amenable to further manipulations, by employing the vectorization isomorphism. Notice that, under such isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Ad}_{\Gamma}(A) := \Gamma A \Gamma^{\dagger} \stackrel{\operatorname{vec}}{\longrightarrow} \left( \Gamma \otimes \Gamma^{T} \right) \operatorname{vec}(A) = - \left( \Gamma \otimes \Gamma \right) \operatorname{vec}(A) \,,$$

and Eq. (5.73) becomes

$$\|Q\|_{\infty} = \frac{1}{8} \operatorname{vec}(\bar{\partial}\Gamma)^{\dagger} \cdot \left(\frac{(\mathbf{1} + \Gamma) \otimes (\mathbf{1} + \Gamma)}{\mathbf{1} + \Gamma \otimes \Gamma}\right) \cdot \operatorname{vec}(\bar{\partial}\Gamma)$$
  
$$\leq P_{\Gamma} \|\operatorname{vec}(\bar{\partial}\Gamma)\|^{2}$$
  
$$\leq 2nP_{\Gamma} \|\bar{\partial}\Gamma\|_{\infty}^{2}, \qquad (5.74)$$

where

$$P_{\Gamma} := \frac{1}{8} \left\| \frac{(\mathbf{1} + \Gamma) \otimes (\mathbf{1} + \Gamma)}{\mathbf{1} + \Gamma \otimes \Gamma} \right\|.$$
(5.75)

In the first inequality of (5.74), I used the definition of operator norm, while in the second I have employed the fact that  $\|\mathbf{vec}(A)\| = \|A\|_2$  and  $\|A\|_2 \le \sqrt{2n} \|A\|_{\infty}$ .

The bound (5.74) still is not specific to dissipative quadratic Liouvillean. In order to relate Eq. (5.74) with the dynamical properties of the Liouvillean (5.40) one could differentiate Eq. (5.51)

$$\operatorname{vec}(\partial_{\mu}\Gamma) = \hat{X}^{-1}\operatorname{vec}(\partial_{\mu}Y) - \hat{X}^{-1}\partial_{\mu}\hat{X}\operatorname{vec}(\Gamma) .$$
(5.76)

Through the above equation, one realises that  $\partial_{\mu}\Gamma$  is the solution of a continuous Lyapunov equation, similar to (5.27), which provides a convenient way to calculate it numerically once  $\Gamma$ , X, Y and  $\partial_{\mu}X$  are known, i.e.

$$X (\partial_{\mu} \Gamma) + (\partial_{\mu} \Gamma) X^{T} = \partial_{\mu} Y - (\partial_{\mu} X) \Gamma - \Gamma (\partial_{\mu} X^{T}) .$$
(5.77)

Taking norms in equation (5.76) leads to <sup>1</sup>

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_{\mu} \mathbf{vec}(\Gamma)\| &\leq \|\hat{X}^{-1}\|_{\infty} (\|\partial_{\mu} \mathbf{vec}(Y)\| + \|\partial_{\mu} \hat{X}\|_{\infty} \|\mathbf{vec}(\Gamma)\|) \\ &= \|\hat{X}^{-1}\|_{\infty} (\|\partial_{\mu} Y\|_{2} + \|\partial_{\mu} \hat{X}\|_{\infty} \|\Gamma\|_{2}) \\ &\leq \sqrt{2n} \|\hat{X}^{-1}\|_{\infty} (\|\partial_{\mu} Y\|_{\infty} + \|\partial_{\mu} \hat{X}\|_{\infty} \|\Gamma\|_{\infty}) \\ &\leq \sqrt{2n} \|\hat{X}^{-1}\|_{\infty} (\|\partial_{\mu} Y\|_{\infty} + \|\partial_{\mu} \hat{X}\|_{\infty}) , \end{aligned}$$
(5.78)

where, relations  $\|\mathbf{vec}(A)\| = \|A\|_2$ ,  $\|A\|_2 \le \sqrt{2n} \|A\|_\infty$  and  $\|\Gamma\|_\infty \le 1$  have been employed; the latter following from Eq. (5.12).

Essentially, the upper bound for  $\partial_{\mu}\Gamma$  obtained above only depends on the system parameters and their differentials, i.e., X, dX and Y, dY and finally one derives the following bound

$$\|\partial_{\mu} \mathbf{vec}(\Gamma)\|^{2} \leq 2n \|\hat{X}^{-1}\|_{\infty}^{2} (\|\partial_{\mu}Y\|_{\infty} + 2\|\partial_{\mu}X\|_{\infty})^{2},$$
(5.79)

where the relation  $\|\partial_{\mu} \hat{X}\|_{\infty} = \|\partial_{\mu} X \otimes \mathbf{1} + \mathbf{1} \otimes \partial_{\mu} X\|_{\infty} \le 2\|\partial_{\mu} X\|_{\infty}$  has been used.

Now, I finally wrap all the latest results around: by plugging Eq. (5.79) in (5.73), and by employing relation (5.52), and Proposition 1 of section 5.3.2 one eventually obtains the following upper bound which relates the behaviour of  $\Delta(n)$  and  $|Q_{\mu\nu}|$ , i.e.

$$\frac{|Q_{\mu\nu}|}{n} \le 2\frac{P_{\Gamma}}{\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}^2} \left( \|dY\|_{\infty} + 2\|dX\|_{\infty} \right)^2 \,. \tag{5.80}$$

The latter is the relation that was anticipated earlier: it is the dissipative analogue of the inequality for zero-temperature QPT derived in section 4.5.1, where it was shown that super-extensivity of the quantum geometric tensor  $Q_{\mu\nu}$  implies the vanishing of the energy gap [8] and the outset of a phase transition. The above bound connects the *generalised* QGT to the dynamical feature of the dissipative Liouvillian model. It is indeed a relation between the kinematics expressed by the geometry of the NESS and the dynamics, embodied by the dissipative gap. Specifically, this bound shows that, if  $P_{\Gamma} \simeq O(1)$ , a scaling of  $|Q_{\mu\nu}| \propto n^{\alpha+1}$  entails a dissipative gap that vanishes at least as  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}} \propto n^{-\alpha/2}$ , establishing a link between the dynamical properties of the NESS-QPT and the geometric property  $Q_{\mu\nu}$ .

 $<sup>\|</sup>O\|_{\infty} := \sup_{\|v\|=1} \|Ov\|$  = largest singular value of O; Notice that  $\|Ov\| \le \|O\|_{\infty} \|v\|$ .  $\|O\|_2^2 = \operatorname{Tr}(O^{\dagger}O)$  = sum of the squares of the singular values of O.

Needless to say, the above bound on the QGT immediately determines bounds on both the Bures metric and on the mean Uhlmann geometric phase,

$$|g_{\mu\nu}| = |\mathbf{Re}Q_{\mu\nu}| \le |Q_{\mu\nu}|, \qquad (5.81)$$

$$\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu}| = |\mathbf{Im}Q_{\mu\nu}| \le |Q_{\mu\nu}|, \qquad (5.82)$$

whose scaling properties can thus be related to the NESS-QPT.

It is important, however, to stress that  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$  is an entirely different quantity from the Hamiltonian gap, linked to the scaling of  $Q_{\mu\nu}$  for zero-temperature-QPT. A complete understanding of the relation between the Liouvillian gap and the Hamiltonian gap ruling equilibrium QPT is still lacking. Notice, indeed, that in the non-dissipative case Sp(X) is purely imaginary, which, from the perspective of the Liouvillian dynamics, implies an identically vanishing dissipative gap  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}} \equiv 0$ . This contrasts with a naïve attempt of formulating a general equilibrium/non-equilibrium QPT criterion which levels the dissipative gap to the same status of an Hamiltonian gap in standard QPT. Moreover, unlike in equilibrium QPT [164], where super-extensivity is a *sufficient* condition for (T = 0) criticality, in the dissipative case  $|Q_{\mu\nu}| = \mathcal{O}(n^{1+\alpha})$ ,  $(\alpha > 0)$  only implies  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}} = \mathcal{O}(n^{\alpha/2})$ , but it does not necessarily imply criticality. Indeed, in NESS-QPT, a closure of the gap is generally neither implied by criticality nor implies it [11,43].

On the other hand, one can see that in the case of translationally invariant models, where a notion of criticality in the thermodynamical limit is easier to handle [183,218], further progress can be done. There, the problem of relating the geometric properties to the dynamical features of the model can be bypassed, in favour of a direct relation between geometry and the divergence of the correlation length [43].

Note that in the non-diagonalisable case a correction to Eq. (5.52) should be considered, which adds an extra polynomial dependence in (5.54) [28,226]. However, this variation does not affect the qualitative and quantitative consequences of the bound (5.80): super-extensivity of the quantum geometric tensor entails a vanishing Liuvillean gap.

## 5.5 Translationally Invariant Models

Before turning to specific models where the above general considerations can be exemplified, I would like to draw the attention to an important subclass of quadratic Liouvillian Fermionic models, namely those enjoying the translational invariance symmetry. In a translationally invariant system one can employ the whole wealth of powerful tools stemming out of the Fourier transform and work directly in the thermodynamical limit. This enables one to quantitatively define criticality in terms of singularities in the quasi-momentum space, thereby secluding the kinematics of the NESS-QPT from the dynamical properties of the model. The most natural notion of many-body criticality is in terms of diverging correlation length, which in a translationally invariant system is relatively straightforward to handle. This way of defining criticality enables one to bypass the difficulties arising from the ambiguous relation between NESS-QPT and the vanishing dissipative gap.

The object of investigation is the covariance matrix, which in a translationally invariant system can be conveniently studied through its Fourier components. It is the non-analytical behaviour in the Fourier basis which conveys information on the long-wavelength limit, i.e. on the divergence of the correlation length.

Consider an explicit translationally invariant d-dimensional lattice of Fermions located at sites  $r \in \mathbb{Z}_L^d$ , and assume finite (or quasi-finite) range interaction. The system size is  $n = L^d$ , and subsequently, one takes the thermodynamical limit  $L \to \infty$ . One can define the covariance matrix over a discrete quasimomentum space. However the considerations on the long-wavelength limit that will follow truly apply only at the thermodynamical limit: hence divergences of correlation lengths manifest genuine quantum many-body effects.

To emphasise the translational property, let us relabel the Majorana Fermions as

$$\boldsymbol{\omega}_{r} = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_{r,1} \\ \omega_{r,2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{with } \begin{cases} \omega_{r,1} = c_{r} + c_{r}^{\dagger} \\ \omega_{r,2} = i(c_{r} - c_{r}^{\dagger}) \end{cases}$$
(5.83)

where  $\omega_{r,\beta}$ ,  $\beta = 1, 2$  are the two flavours of Majorana Fermions on each site r, and  $c_r$  and  $c_r^{\dagger}$  are the annihilation and creation operator, respectively, of the corresponding ordinary Fermion. Due to translational invariance, the Hamiltonian may be written as

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{r,s} \boldsymbol{\omega}_r^T h(r-s) \boldsymbol{\omega}_s, \tag{5.84}$$

where  $h(r) = h(-r)^{\dagger} = h(r)^{*}$  are  $2 \times 2$  imaginary matrices. Similarly the jump operators can be expressed as

$$\Lambda_{\alpha}(r) = \sum_{s} \boldsymbol{l}_{\alpha}^{T}(s-r)\boldsymbol{\omega}_{s}, \qquad (5.85)$$

where  $l_{\alpha}(r)$  are 2-dimensional complex arrays. Accordingly, the bath matrix are written as

$$[M]_{(r,\beta)(s,\beta')} = [m(r-s)]_{\beta\beta'} \qquad (\beta,\beta'=1,2)$$
(5.86)

where  $m(r) = m^{\dagger}(-r)$  are the 2 × 2 matrices  $m(r) := \sum_{\alpha,s} l_{\alpha}(s-r) \otimes l_{\alpha}^{\dagger}(s)$ .

Since both Hamiltonian and bath matrix are circulant, so it is the correlation matrix of the unique steady state solution

$$[\Gamma]_{(r,\beta)(s,\beta')} = [\gamma(r-s)]_{\beta\beta'} := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left( \rho[\omega_{r,\beta}, \omega_{s,\beta'}] \right), \qquad (\beta, \beta' = 1, 2).$$
(5.87)

The latter can be conveniently expressed in terms of its Fourier component, called the covariance symbol, as

$$\tilde{\gamma}(\phi) := \sum_{r} \gamma(r) e^{-i\phi \cdot r},$$

where  $\phi \in [-\pi, \pi)$ . In terms of the symbol functions, the continuous Lyapunov equation reduces to a set of  $2 \times 2$  matrix equations

$$\tilde{x}(\phi)\tilde{\gamma}(\phi) + \tilde{\gamma}(\phi)\tilde{x}^{T}(-\phi) = \tilde{y}(\phi), \qquad (5.88)$$

where  $\tilde{x}(\phi) = 2[2i\tilde{h}(\phi) + \tilde{m}(\phi) + \tilde{m}^T(-\phi)]$  and  $\tilde{y}(\phi) = -4[\tilde{m}(\phi) - \tilde{m}^T(-\phi)]$  are the symbol functions of X and Y, respectively, and  $\tilde{h}(\phi)$ ,  $\tilde{m}(\phi) = \sum_{\alpha} \tilde{l}_{\alpha} \otimes \tilde{l}_{\alpha}^{\dagger}$  and  $\tilde{l}_{\alpha}(\phi)$  are the Fourier components of h(r), m(r) and  $l_{\alpha}(r)$ , respectively. Notice that  $\tilde{m}(\phi) = \tilde{m}(\phi)^{\dagger} = \sum_{\alpha} \tilde{l}_{\alpha} \otimes \tilde{l}_{\alpha}^{\dagger} \ge 0$  is a positive semidefinite matrix. The spatial correlation between Majorana Fermions are then recovered from the inverse Fourier transform of the symbol function

$$\gamma(r) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} d^d \phi \tilde{\gamma}(\phi) e^{i\phi \cdot r}.$$
(5.89)

Following [183, 218], here I will define criticality by the divergence of correlation length, which is defined as

$$\xi^{-1} := -\lim_{|r| \to \infty} \frac{\ln ||\gamma(r)||}{|r|}.$$
(5.90)

In the thermodynamical limt, the divergence may only arise as a consequence of the non-analytical dependence of  $\gamma(r)$  on the system parameters. Let's confine ourselves to the case of a one-dimensional Fermionic chain. In order to derive informations on the large distance behaviour of the correlations, it is convenient to express the above integral (5.89) in the complex plane, though the analytical continuation  $e^{i\phi} \rightarrow z$ . This results in the following expression for the correlation function

$$\gamma(r) = \sum_{\bar{z} \in S_1} \operatorname{Res}_{\bar{z}}[z^{r-1}\tilde{\gamma}(z)],$$
(5.91)

where  $\operatorname{Res}_{\overline{z}}$  indicates the residues of the poles inside the unit circle  $S_1 := \{z | |z| \le 1\}$ . Since  $\tilde{\gamma}(z)$  is the solution of a finite dimensional matrix equation (5.88), it may only possess simple poles. Thus, the above expression may become singular only when an isolated pole of  $\tilde{\gamma}(z)$  approaches the unit circle from the inside [183,218]. This may happen for some specific critical values  $\lambda = \lambda_0 \in \mathcal{M}$ . As  $\lambda$  approaches  $\lambda_0$  the correlation length  $\xi$  diverges. One can show that the long wave-length behaviour is governed by the closest pole to unit circle  $|\overline{z}_0|$ , and indeed the correlation length is given by

$$\xi = \ln |\bar{z}_0|. \tag{5.92}$$

#### 5.5.1 Mean Uhlmann Curvature and Criticality in Translationally Invariant Models

Let's now turn to the geometric properties of translationally invariant models at criticality. In particular let's consider concentrate of the mean Uhlmann curvature. I will show that the MUC is sensitive to the criticality, but only in the sense of a truly diverging correlation length. Indeed one can show that the Uhlmann curvature is insensitive to the vanishing of the dissipative gap, if the latter, as it may happen, is not accompanied by a diverging correlation length. In this sense, the Uhlmann curvature confirms its role as a witness of the purely kinematic aspects of the criticality, and it is only indirectly affected by the dynamical features of the NESS-QPT.

Thanks to the translational symmetry, one can exploit the formalism of Fourier transform and derive a quite compact expression of the MUC. By applying the convolution theorem on the third expression of equation (5.69), one obtains the following expression for the MUC *per site* 

$$\bar{\mathcal{U}}_{\mu\nu} := \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\mathcal{U}_{\mu\nu}}{n} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\phi \ u_{\mu\nu}(\phi),$$
(5.93)

where

$$u_{\mu\nu}(\phi) := \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{Tr}\{\tilde{\gamma}(\phi)[\kappa_{\mu}(\phi), \kappa_{\nu}(\phi)]\} = \frac{i}{4} \operatorname{Tr}\{\kappa_{\nu}(\phi)[\tilde{\gamma}(\phi), \kappa_{\mu}(\phi)]\},$$
(5.94)

In the above expression,  $\kappa_{\mu}(\phi)$  is the symbol function of  $K_{\mu}$ , and it can be found as the operator solution of the 2 × 2 discrete Lyapunov equation

$$\partial_{\mu}\tilde{\gamma}(\phi) = \tilde{\gamma}(\phi)\kappa_{\mu}(\phi)\tilde{\gamma}(\phi) - \kappa_{\mu}(\phi).$$
(5.95)

In the eigenbasis of  $\tilde{\gamma}(\phi)$ , with eigenvalues  $\tilde{\gamma}_i$ , the explicit solution of (5.95) reads

$$(\kappa_{\mu}(\phi))_{jk} = \frac{(\partial_{\mu}\tilde{\gamma}(\phi))_{jk}}{1 - \tilde{\gamma}_{j}\tilde{\gamma}_{k}}.$$
(5.96)

Notice that the diagonal terms  $(\kappa_{\mu}(\phi))_{jj}$  provide vanishing contributions to eq. (5.94) (they commute with  $\tilde{\gamma}(\phi)$ ). Hence, eq. (5.94) can be cast in the following basis independent form

$$u_{\mu\nu}(\phi) = \begin{cases} \frac{i}{4} \frac{\text{Tr}\{\tilde{\gamma}(\phi)[\partial_{\mu}\tilde{\gamma}(\phi),\partial_{\nu}\tilde{\gamma}(\phi)]\}}{(1-\text{Det}\tilde{\gamma}(\phi))^2} & \text{Det}\tilde{\gamma}(\phi) \neq 1\\ 0 & \text{Det}\tilde{\gamma}(\phi) = 1 \end{cases}$$
(5.97)

Notice that the condition  $\text{Det}\tilde{\gamma}(\phi) = 1$  is equivalent to having two eigenvalues of correlation matrix equal to  $(\gamma_i, \gamma_k) = \pm (1, 1)$ . This corresponds to the situation, already discussed in section 5.4.1, in which two eigen-modes of the Gaussian state are pure. As already mention explicitly with regard to equation (5.66), such extremal values cause no singularity in MUC, but they rather result in a vanishing contribution to the MUC.

In the following, I will demonstrate that a singularity of  $\mathcal{U}$  signals the occurrence of a criticality. Specifically, employing the analytical extension in the complex plane of  $u_{\mu\nu}(\phi)$  leads to

$$\bar{\mathcal{U}}_{\mu\nu} = \sum_{\bar{z}' \in S_1} \operatorname{Res}_{\bar{z}'}[z^{-1}u_{\mu\nu}(z)].$$
(5.98)

Notice that  $u_{\mu\nu}(z)$  has at most isolated poles, due to its rational dependence on z. Assume that as  $\lambda \to \lambda_0 \in \mathcal{M}$ , a pole  $\bar{z}_0$  of  $u_{\mu\nu}(z)$  approaches the unit circle from inside, which is the only condition under which  $\bar{\mathcal{U}}$  is singular in  $\lambda_0$ . One can show that, whenever a pole  $\bar{z}_0$  of  $u_{\mu\nu}(z)$  approaches the unit circle, also a pole  $\bar{z}$  of  $\tilde{\gamma}(z)$  approaches the same value, causing the correlation length to diverge. Therefore the singular behaviour of the Uhlmann phase necessarily represents a sufficient criterion for a NESS-QPT. Notice also that such criticalities are necessarily accompanied by the closure of the dissipative gap, however, the converse is in general not true. Indeed, a singularity in the MUC may only arise as the result of criticality and are otherwise insensitive to a vanishing dissipative gaps.

Let's now prove, that in translationally invariant models a vanishing dissipative gap is a *necessary condition* for criticality.

**Proposition 2.** If there exists a pole  $\bar{z}_0(\lambda)$  of  $\tilde{\gamma}(z)$ , smoothly dependent of system parameters  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$ , such that  $\lim_{\lambda \to \lambda_0} |\bar{z}_0| = 1$ , then  $\Delta := 2 \min_{|z|=1,j} \operatorname{Re} x_j(z) = 0$  for  $\lambda = \lambda_0$ .

*Proof.* Under the vectorising isomorphism,  $A = a_{jk}|j\rangle\langle k| \rightarrow \text{vec}(A) := a_{jk}|j\rangle \otimes |k\rangle$ , the continuous Lyapunov equation (5.88) can be written as

$$\hat{X}(z)\mathbf{vec}(\tilde{\gamma}(z)) = \mathbf{vec}(y(z)), \tag{5.99}$$

where  $\hat{X}(z) := x(z) \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes x(z^{-1})$ . When  $\text{Det}\hat{X}(z) \neq 0$ , the unique solution of the symbol function is found simply as

$$\operatorname{vec}(\gamma(z)) = \frac{\operatorname{vec}(\eta(z))}{d(z)}, \quad \text{where } \operatorname{vec}(\eta) := \operatorname{adj}(\hat{X})\operatorname{vec}(y).$$
(5.100)

Here  $\operatorname{adj}(\hat{X})$  stands for the adjugate matrix of  $\hat{X}$  and  $d(z) := \operatorname{Det}\hat{X}(z)$ . The point in writing the solution in this form, is that by construction, x(z) and y(z) are polynomials in z and  $z^{-1}$  with coefficients smoothly dependent on system parameters. And since determinant and adjugate matrix are always polynomial functions of a matrix coefficients, it results that also  $\eta(z)$  and d(z) will be two polynomials in z and  $z^{-1}$ . Hence,  $\tilde{\gamma}(z)$ 's poles are to be found among the roots  $\bar{z}$  of d(z) = 0. Thus, a *necessary* condition for criticality is that, for  $\lambda \to \lambda_0$ , a given root  $\bar{z}$  approaches the unit circle  $S_1$ . This clearly means that for  $\lambda = \lambda_0$ , there must exists  $\bar{z}_0$  such that  $|\bar{z}_0| = 1$  and  $d(z) = \operatorname{Det}\hat{X}(\bar{z}_0) = 0$ , which implies a vanishing dissipative gap  $\Delta := 2 \min_{|z|=1,j} \operatorname{Re} x_j(z)$ , where  $x_j(z)$ 's are the eigenvalues of  $\tilde{x}(z)$  [226].

On the other hand, the converse of the above proposition is not true: a vanishing dissipative gap is not a sufficient condition for criticality, but only necessary. Indeed, it may well be the case that all those roots  $\bar{z}$  which approach the unit circle as  $\lambda \to \lambda_0$  are removable singularities of (5.100). This would result in a finite correlation length, even when  $\Delta \to 0$ . The fact that this actually happens can be readily checked with the example in section 5.6.1.

We will next show that a singular behaviour of  $\mathcal{U}$  with respect to the parameters is a sufficient condition for criticality. First of all, notice, from the equation (5.97), that  $u(\phi)$  may depend on the dynamics only through  $\tilde{\gamma}$ , hence any closure of the gap which does not affect the analytical properties of  $\tilde{\gamma}$  cannot result in a singular behaviour of  $\mathcal{U}$ (see also Lemma 2 in the following). We will just need to show that a necessary condition for a singular behaviour of  $u(\phi)$  is  $\Delta = 0$ .

Indeed, let's now show that the poles of  $u_{\mu\nu}(z)$  with |z| = 1 are to be found only among the roots of d(z). Assuming  $d(z) \neq 0$ , and plugging the unique solution (5.100) into equation (5.97) leads to

$$u_{\mu\nu}(z) = \frac{N(z)}{D(z)} = \frac{i}{4} \frac{d(z) \text{Tr}\{\eta(z)[\partial_{\mu}\eta(z), \partial_{\nu}\eta(z)]\}}{(d(z)^2 - \text{Det}\eta(z))^2},$$

where the numerator N(z) and denominator D(z) are polynomials in z and  $z^{-1}$  with smooth dependence on  $\lambda$ 's.

We will demonstrate the following: (i) that all roots of d(z) such that |z| = 1 are also roots of D(z), and (ii) that any other roots of D(z), such that |z| = 1, are not poles of  $u_{\mu\nu}(z)$ . For the statement (i), it is just enough to prove the following lemma.

#### **Lemma 1.** If d(z) = 0 with |z| = 1, then $\eta(z) = 0$ .

*Proof.* For |z|=1, let's write explicitly  $z = e^{i\phi}$ . It is not hard to show that from its definition, the matrix  $\tilde{x}(\phi)$  enjoys the following property  $\tilde{x}(\phi)^{\dagger} = \tilde{x}(-\phi)^T$ . Correspondingly, the eigenvalues of  $\hat{X}$  are  $x_j + x_k^*$  with j, k = 1, 2, where  $x_j$  are the eigenvalues of  $\tilde{x}(\phi)$ . Since  $\operatorname{Re} x_j \ge 0$ ,  $\operatorname{Det} \hat{X} = 0$  implies that there must exist an eigenvalue  $x_0$  of  $\tilde{x}(\phi)$  with vanishing real part, hence  $\Delta = 2 \min_j \operatorname{Re} x_j = 2\operatorname{Re} x_0 = 0$ . If  $|0\rangle$  is the eigenstate of  $\tilde{x}(\phi)$  with eigenvalue  $x_0$ , then

$$x_0 + x_0^* = \langle 0 | \tilde{x}(\phi) + \tilde{x}(-\phi)^T | 0 \rangle = 4 \langle 0 | \tilde{m}(\phi) + \tilde{m}(-\phi)^T | 0 \rangle = 0, \qquad (5.101)$$

where in the second equality we used the definition of  $\tilde{x}(\phi) := 2[2i\tilde{h}(\phi) + \tilde{m}(\phi) + \tilde{m}^T(-\phi)]$  and the antisymmetry  $\tilde{h}(\phi) = -\tilde{h}(-\phi)^T$ . From the non-negativity of the  $\tilde{m}(\phi)$  matrices, it follows that  $\langle 0|\tilde{y}(\phi)|0\rangle = -4\langle 0|\tilde{m}(\phi) - \tilde{m}(-\phi)^T|0\rangle = 0.$ 

In lemma 2 of appendix B it is shown that when  $2\mathbf{Re}x_0 = 0$ , the geometric multiplicity of  $x_0$  is equal to its algebraic multiplicity, hence the  $2 \times 2$  matrix  $\tilde{x}(\phi)$  is diagonalisable. Then, let  $|j\rangle$  be the set of eigenstates with eigenvalues  $x_j$ . In the eigenbasis  $|j\rangle \otimes |k\rangle$ , j, k = 0, 1 the adjugate matrix has the following diagonal form,

$$\operatorname{adj}(\hat{X}) = 2 \begin{pmatrix} |x_0 + x_1^*|^2 \operatorname{Re}(x_1) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2(x_0 + x_1^*) \operatorname{Re}(x_1 x_0) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2(x_1 + x_0^*) \operatorname{Re}(x_1 x_0) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & |x_1 + x_0^*|^2 \operatorname{Re}(x_0) \end{pmatrix}$$

and due to  $\operatorname{Re} x_0 = 0$ , all elements, but  $\langle 0, 0 | \operatorname{adj}(\hat{X}) | 0, 0 \rangle$ , vanish. On the other hand, the element  $\operatorname{vec}(\tilde{y})_{00} := \langle 0 | \tilde{y} | 0 \rangle = 0$ , implying  $\operatorname{vec}(\eta) = \operatorname{adj}(\hat{X})\operatorname{vec}(y) = 0$ .

To prove statement (ii), we just need the following proposition.

**Proposition 3.** If  $\bar{z}_0$  is a root of D(z) with  $|\bar{z}_0| = 1$ , and  $d(\bar{z}_0) \neq 0$ , then  $u_{\mu\nu}(z)$  is analytic in  $z_0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\bar{z}_0$  be a root of D(z) with  $|\bar{z}_0| = 1$ , with the assumption that  $d(\bar{z}_0) \neq 0$ . Notice that whenever  $d(z) \neq 0$ ,  $\tilde{\gamma}(z)$  in (5.100) is the unique solution of the Lyapunov equation (5.88). As such, it is analytic in z (and smoothly dependent on  $\lambda$ 's). Since

$$D(z) := (d(z)^2 - \operatorname{Det}\eta(z))^2 = d(z)^4 [1 - \operatorname{Det}\tilde{\gamma}(z)]^2 , \qquad (5.102)$$

we obviously have  $\operatorname{Det} \tilde{\gamma}(\bar{z}_0) = 1$ . Just observe that if  $\gamma(z)$  is an analytic, smoothly dependent on the system parameters  $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}$ ,  $u_{\mu\nu}(z)$  may be singular in  $\bar{z}_0$  only if  $\operatorname{Det} \tilde{\gamma}(\bar{z}_0) = 1$ . Assume then  $\operatorname{Det} \tilde{\gamma}(\bar{z}_0) = 1$ , then either  $\gamma(\bar{z}_0) = \pm 1$ . Without loss of generality, we can write  $\tilde{\gamma}(z) = 1 + T (z - \bar{z}_0)^{2n} + \mathcal{O}(z - \bar{z}_0)^{2n}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $T = T^{\dagger}$  is the first non-vanishing term of the Taylor expansion of  $\tilde{\gamma}(z) - 1$ . The fact that this term must be of even order (2n) is due to the positive semi-definiteness of the  $1 - \tilde{\gamma}(z)$  for  $z \in S_1$ . By expressing the  $2 \times 2$  matrix T in terms of Pauli matrices,  $T = t_0 \mathbf{1} + \mathbf{t} \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}$ , where  $\boldsymbol{\sigma} := (\sigma_x, \sigma_y, \sigma_z)^T$ ,  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathbf{t} \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , the positive semi-definiteness condition above reads:  $t_0 < 0$ and  $||\mathbf{t}|| \leq |t_0|$ . Plugging the Taylor expansion in (5.97) and retaining only the first non-vanishing terms, yields

$$u_{\mu\nu}(z) = -\frac{1}{4} \frac{t \cdot (\partial_{\mu} t \wedge \partial_{\nu} t)}{t_0^2} (z - \bar{z}_0)^{2n} + o(z - \bar{z}_0)^{2n}.$$

We have thus proven that a non-analycity of  $u_{\mu\nu}(z)$  in  $\bar{z}_0 \in S_1$  is necessarily due to a pole  $\bar{z}$  of  $\tilde{\gamma}(z)$  approaching  $\bar{z}_0$ , as  $\lambda \to \lambda_0$ , resulting in a diverging correlation length. Therefore, a singular behaviour of  $\bar{\mathcal{U}}$  in the manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  is a sufficient criterion for criticality.



**Figure 5.1:** Model of a 1D fermionic chain on a ring showing a closing dissipative gap that does not imply a diverging correlation length. This is the model discussed in section 5.6.1 which is an extension of a model introduced in [1]. The inverse correlation length, the dissipative gap and the MUC are shown, respectively, from the left to the right panel. The model is critical only for  $\lambda = -1$ , while the gap closes for both  $\lambda = \pm 1$ . As expected, the discontinuity of MUC captures the criticality, and it is otherwise insensitive to a vanishing dissipative gap.

### 5.6 Applications

#### 5.6.1 Vanishing dissipative gap without criticality

The primary scope of this subsection is not discussing a model which may be relevant per se, rather it serves to illustrate in a simple translationally invariant case the ambiguous relation between criticality and vanishing dissipative gap. As a byproduct, one may also appreciate the sensitivity of the Uhlmann curvature to the criticality and its unresponsiveness to the gap. Specifically, section I will describe an example of a 1D fermionic system in which the closure of the dissipative gap does not necessarily lead to a diverging correlation length. Consider a chain of fermions on a ring geometry, driven uniquely by an engineered reservoir, i.e. with *no Hamiltonian*. The reservoir is described by the following set of jump operators

$$\Lambda(r) = [(1+\lambda)\boldsymbol{l}_0^T\boldsymbol{\omega}_r + \boldsymbol{l}_1^T\boldsymbol{\omega}_{r+1} + \lambda\boldsymbol{l}_2^T\boldsymbol{\omega}_{r+2}]/n(\lambda),$$

where r = 1, ..., n,  $l_0 = (\cos \theta, -\sin \theta)^T$ ,  $l_1 = l_2 = i(\sin \theta, \cos \theta)^T$ , and  $n(\lambda) = 4(\lambda^2 + \lambda + 1)$ , with  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}, \theta = [0, 2\pi)$ . This is a simple extension of a model introduced in [1], which, under open boundary conditions, shows a dissipative topological phase transition for  $\lambda = \pm 1$ . In the thermodynamical limit  $n \to \infty$ , the eigenvalues of  $\tilde{x}(\phi)$  are  $x_1 = 4(1 + \lambda)^2/n(\lambda)^2$ , and  $x_2 = 4(1 + 2\lambda \cos \phi + \lambda^2)/n(\lambda)^2$ , showing a closure of the dissipative gap at  $\lambda = \pm 1$ . For  $|\lambda| \neq 1$  the unique NESS is found by solving the continuous Lyapunov equation (5.88). The symbol function, in a Pauli matrix representation, results  $\tilde{\gamma}(\phi) = \gamma^T \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}$ , where  $\boldsymbol{\sigma} := (\sigma_x, \sigma_y, \sigma_z)^T$ , and

$$\boldsymbol{\gamma} = g(\phi) \left[ \begin{array}{c} (\sin \phi + \lambda \sin 2\phi) \cos 2\theta \\ (\cos \phi + \lambda \cos 2\phi) \\ -(\sin \phi + \lambda \sin 2\phi) \sin 2\theta \end{array} \right],$$

where  $g(\phi) = (1 + \lambda)/(1 + \lambda + \lambda \cos \phi + \lambda^2)$ , with eigenvalues  $\pm g(\phi)\sqrt{1 + \lambda^2 + 2\lambda \cos \phi}$ . This shows that  $\tilde{\gamma}$  is critical in the sense of diverging correlation, only for  $\lambda = -1$  and not for  $\lambda = 1$ , even if the dissipative gap closes in both cases. Figure 5.1 shows the dependence of the inverse correlation
length of the bulk, the dissipative gap and the mean Uhlmann curvature  $\bar{\mathcal{U}}_{\lambda\phi}$  on the parameter  $\lambda$ . Notice a discontinuity of the Uhlmann phase corresponding to the critical point  $\lambda_0 = -1$ , while it does not show any singularity for  $\lambda = 1$  where the gap closes.

### 5.6.2 Rotated XY-model with Local Dissipation

Let's now turn to a prototypical example of a translationally invariant one-dimensional model. The features described above are exemplified in the rotated XY model with periodic boundary conditions [4, 5],  $H = R(\theta)H_{XY}R(\theta)^{\dagger}$ , with  $R(\theta) = e^{-i\frac{\theta}{2}\sum_{j}\sigma_{j}^{z}}$  and

$$H_{XY} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( \frac{1+\delta}{2} \sigma_{j}^{x} \sigma_{j+1}^{x} + \frac{1-\delta}{2} \sigma_{j}^{y} \sigma_{j+1}^{y} + h \sigma_{j}^{z} \right),$$
(5.103)

where each site j is coupled to two local reservoirs with Lindblad operators  $\Lambda_j^{\pm} = \epsilon \mu_{\pm} \sigma_j^{\pm}$ . The spinsystem is converted into a quadratic Fermionic model via Jordan-Wigner transformations. The Liouvillian spectrum can be solved exactly [11, 19, 226] and it is independent of  $\theta$ . In the weak coupling limit  $\epsilon \to 0$ , the symbol function of the NESS correlation matrix reads  $\tilde{\gamma}(\phi) = \gamma^T \cdot \sigma$ 

$$\gamma = g(\phi) \begin{pmatrix} t(\phi)\cos\theta\\-1\\t(\phi)\sin\theta \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (5.104)$$

with  $g(\phi) = \frac{\mu_{-}^2 - \mu_{+}^2}{\mu_{-}^2 + \mu_{+}^2} \frac{1}{1 + t(\phi)^2}$  and  $t(\phi) := \delta \sin \phi / (\cos \phi - h)$ . The system shows criticality in the same critical regions of the XY hamiltonian model [19]. By using expression (5.98) one can calculate the exact values of the mean Uhlmann curvature. One finds that  $\overline{U}_{\delta h}$  vanishes identically, while  $\overline{U}_{\delta \theta}$  and  $\overline{U}_{h\theta}$  are plotted in Fig. 5.2. As predicted, the Uhlmann curvature shows a singular behaviour only across criticality. In particular,  $U_{h\theta}$  is discontinuous in the XY critical points |h| = 1, while  $U_{\delta \theta}$  is discontinuous in the XX type criticalities  $\delta = 0$ , h < 1. This shows that the mean Uhlmann capture faithfully the critical behaviour of the underlying physical model. In the following we will see a model with a richer phase diagram, in which the geometric features of criticality will be even more apparent.

### 5.6.3 Boundary driven XY-model

Let's apply the above analysis to a specific model, the boundary-driven spin-1/2 XY chain [11]. In this model, an open chain of spin-1/2 particles interacts via the XY-Hamiltonian,

$$H_{XY} = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \left( \frac{1+\delta}{2} \sigma_j^x \sigma_{j+1}^x + \frac{1-\delta}{2} \sigma_j^y \sigma_{j+1}^y \right) + \sum_{j=1}^n h \sigma_j^z,$$
(5.105)

where the  $\sigma_j^{x,y,z}$  are Pauli operators acting on the spin on the *j*-th site. At each boundary, the chain is in contact with two different reservoirs, described by Lindblad operators

$$\Lambda_L^{\pm} = \sqrt{\kappa_L^{\pm}} (\sigma_j^x \pm i\sigma_j^y)/2 \quad \text{and} \quad \Lambda_R^{\pm} = \sqrt{\kappa_R^{\pm}} (\sigma_j^x \pm i\sigma_j^y)/2.$$
(5.106)

A Jordan-Wigner transform converts the system into a quadratic Fermionic dissipative model with Gaussian NESS [11, 202]. The system experiences different phases as the anisotropy  $\delta$  and magnetic field h



**Figure 5.2:** The mean Uhlmann curvature per number of sites  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}$  for the rotated XY model with local reservoirs. The dependence of  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_{h\theta}$  (left) and of  $\overline{\mathcal{U}}_{\delta\theta}$  (right) on the parameters  $\delta \in h$ . The mean Uhlmann curvature shows a singular behaviour in the critical regions of the model.  $\mathcal{U}_{h\theta}$  is discontinuous in the XY critical points |h| = 1, and  $\mathcal{U}_{\delta\theta}$  is discontinuous in the XX type criticalities  $\delta = 0, h < 1$ .

are varied. For  $h < h_c := |1 - \delta^2|$  the chain exhibits long-range magnetic correlations (LRMC) and high sensitivity to external parameter variations (see Fig 5.3). For  $h > h_c$  and along the lines h = 0 and  $\delta = 0$  the model shows short-range magnetic correlations (SRMC), with correlation function  $C_{jk} :=$  $\langle \sigma_j^z \sigma_k^z \rangle - \langle \sigma_j^z \rangle \langle \sigma_k^z \rangle$  exponentially decaying:  $C_{jk} \propto \exp -|j - k|/\xi$ , with  $\xi^{-1} \simeq 4\sqrt{2(h - h_c)/h_c}$ . In both long and short range phases, the dissipative gap closes as  $\Delta = \mathcal{O}(n^{-3})$  in the thermodynamical limit  $n \to \infty$ . The critical line  $h = h_c$ , is characterised by power-law decaying correlations  $C_{jk} \propto |j - k|^{-4}$ , and  $\Delta = \mathcal{O}(n^{-5})$ . Therefore, the scaling law of  $\Delta$  cannot distinguish long and short range phases, and can only detect the actual critical line  $h = h_c$ . Likewise,  $\Delta$  does not identify the transition from the LRMC phase to the  $\delta = 0$  and h = 0 lines.

In table 5.1, the scaling laws of  $|\mathcal{U}|$ ,  $||g||_{\infty}$ , Det(g) and  $\Delta$  are compared in each region of the phase diagram. Fig. 5.4 and Fig. 5.5 clearly show that both  $||g||_{\infty}$ , and  $|\mathcal{U}_{\delta h}|$  map faithfully the phase diagram of Fig. 5.3. The results of table 5.1 show that the Liouvillean gap, the metric and the MUC encode different information. Indeed, unlike the Hamiltonian gap ruling ground state QPT, the Liouvillean gap  $\Delta$  closes for  $n \to \infty$  both at the critical point and for  $h \neq h_c$ , both in the LRMC and SRMC phase. As the reservoirs acts only at the boundaries of the spin chain the eigenvalues  $x_k$  of the matrix X for  $n \gg 1$ are a small perturbation of the  $n \to \infty$  case where  $x_k = \pm 4i\varepsilon_k$ , being

$$\varepsilon_k = \sqrt{(\cos k - h)^2 + \gamma^2 \sin^2 k} \tag{5.107}$$

the quasi-particle energy dispersion relation of the Hamiltonian (5.105). In particular  $x_k$  gains a small real part and one finds a gap  $\Delta = O(n^{-3})$  for  $h \neq h_c$  and  $\Delta = O(n^{-5})$  for  $h = h_c$ . Therefore the scaling of the Liouvillean gap allows one to identify the transition form the SRMC phase to the LRMC phase only along the critical line  $h = h_c$ , while the transition occurring at the h = 0 (or  $\gamma = 0$ ) line can only be appreciated by evaluating the long-rangeness of the magnetic correlations. The question that naturally arises is how the different phases and transitions can be precisely characterised in a way similar to what happens for ground state quantum phase transitions. This question becomes more compelling if one compares the above results with the scaling of the Bures metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , mean Uhlmann curvature  $\mathcal{U}$ ,



**Figure 5.3:** Phase diagram of the boundary driven XY model.  $h < h_c := |1 - \delta^2|$  the chain exhibits long-range magnetic correlations (LRMC). For  $h > h_c$  and along the lines h = 0 and  $\delta = 0$  the model shows short-range magnetic correlations (SRMC). The qualitative features of the phase diagram do not depend on the values of the environmental parameters  $\kappa_L^{\pm}$  and  $\kappa_R^{\pm}$ .



**Figure 5.4:** The largest eigenvalue of the Bures metric  $||g||_{\infty}$  for the boudary driven XY model, for n = 300. The qualitative behaviour of the metric maps the phase diagram quite faithfully. It is evident a larger value of  $||g||_{\infty}$  close to the phase transition  $h = h_c := |1 - \delta^2|$  between LRMC and short range phases.  $\kappa_L^+ = 0.3$ ,  $\kappa_L^- = 0.5$ ,  $\kappa_R^+ = 0.1$ ,  $\kappa_R^- = 0.5$ . The qualitative features remains unchanged for different values of  $\kappa_{L,R}^{\pm}$ .



**Figure 5.5:** The MUC  $|\mathcal{U}_{\delta h}|$  for the boudary driven XY model, for n = 300. Here the parameters are the same as in figure 5.4. As in the case of the metric, also the qualitative behaviour of MUC maps quite well the phase diagram. The striking difference with fidure 5.4 is the nature of the discontinuity accross the critical line  $h = h_c := |1 - \delta^2|$ , which still signals the transition between LRMC and short range phases. Here the lack of a greater divergence of the MUC at the critical line is a manifestation of the classical nature in the fluctuations driving the NESS-QPT



**Figure 5.6:** Boundary driven XY model. Scaling laws of the determinants (main) and maximal eigenvalues (inset) of the Fisher information matrix J and mean Uhlmann curvature  $\mathcal{U}$  for different values of h, with  $\delta = 1.25$  and  $h_c = |1 - \delta^2|$ . The laws do not depend on the particular values of the  $\kappa_{R,L}^{\pm}$ . The scalings are the results of fits on numerical data, with size ranging in  $n \in [20, 2000]$ .

Phase	Parameters	$\Delta$	$  g  _{\infty}$	Det g	$ \mathcal{U}_{\delta h} $	Q
Critical	h = 0	$n^{-3}$	$n^6$	$n^7$	$n^3$	$n^{-1}$
Long range	$0 <  h  < h_c$	$n^{-3}$	$n^3$	$n^4$	$n^2$	$n^0$
Critical	$h \simeq h_c$	$n^{-5}$	$n^6$	$n^7$	$n^0$	$n^{-7}$
Short range	$h > h_c$	$n^{-3}$	n	$n^2$	$n^0$	$n^{-2}$
Critical	$\delta = 0,  h  < h_c$	$n^{-3}$	$n^2$	$n^8$	$n^3$	$n^{-2}$

**Table 5.1:** Here we show a comparison between the scaling laws for: the dissipative gap  $\Delta$  [11], the largest eigenvalue  $||g||_{\infty}$  of the metric [28], the determinant of g and the largest eigenvalue  $||\mathcal{U}||_{\infty} = |\mathcal{U}_{\delta h}| = \sqrt{\text{Det}\mathcal{U}}$  of the MUC, and the of ratio  $Q := |\text{Det}2\mathcal{U}|/\text{Det}J \propto \text{Det}2\mathcal{U}|/\text{Det}g$  for each phase of the boundary driven XY model [11]. The ratio  $Q \leq 1$  when  $Q \sim n^0$  marks the condition of maximal asymptotic incompatibility introduced in section 3.4

(more precisely their largest eigenvalue  $||g||_{\infty}$  and  $||\mathcal{U}||_{\infty} = |U_{\delta h}|^2$ ), see Table 5.1, Fig. 5.4 and Fig. 5.5 for specific values of the parameters.

A first important result is that the geometric properties g and  $\mathcal{U}$  are able to identify the transitions between SRMC and LRMC phases. On the "transition lines" h = 0 and  $h = h_c$  one has that  $||g||_{\infty} \sim \mathcal{O}(n^6)$ , while in the rest of the phase diagram  $||g||_{infty} < \mathcal{O}(n^6)$ . Furthermore, a closer inspection of the elements of g shows that while  $g_{hh}(h = 0, \gamma) = \mathcal{O}(n^6)$ , one has that  $g_{\gamma\gamma}(h = 0, \gamma) = \mathcal{O}(n)$ : the scaling is superextensive only if one moves away from the line h = 0 ( $g_{hh}$ ) and enters in the LRMC phase, while if one moves along the h = 0 line ( $g_{\gamma\gamma}$ ) i.e., if one remains in the SRMC phase, the scaling is simply extensive and it matches the scaling displayed in the other SRMC phase  $h > h_c$ . On the other hand, the transition occurring at  $\gamma = 0$  has a different scaling:  $g_{\gamma\gamma} = \mathcal{O}(n^2)$  while  $g_{hh} \approx 0$ .

Another important result shown in Table 5.1 is that both the metric tensor and the MUC are able to signal the presence of long-range correlations: within the LRMC phase  $g_{\mu\nu}$  scales superextensivity with  $||g||_{\infty} \sim \mathcal{O}(n^3)$ , and  $|\mathcal{U}_{h\delta}| \sim \mathcal{O}(n^2)$  and this super-extensive behaviour is different from that displayed at the transition lines. Thus, differently from  $\Delta$ , the MUC discriminates these phases, with no need of crossing the critical line  $h = h_c$ .

However, a more compelling result regards the quality of the phase transitions in each regions. As discussed in section 3.4.2, the MUC marks the role played by the quantum nature of the model in the parameter estimation problem. In other words, it signal the "quantumness" of the underlying physical model. Table 5.1 displays the scaling law of the ratio  $Q := |\text{Det}2\mathcal{U}|/\text{Det}J$  in different regions of the phase diagram. In particular, its asymptotic behaviour provides insight into the character of fluctuations which drive the NESS-QPT. Indeed, in the limit of  $Q \sim const$  this ratio signal a condition of maximal asymptotic incompatibility, in which the role of the quantum fluctuations in the criticality cannot be neglected in the thermodynamical limit.

Fig. 5.6 shows that in the LRMC phase, the scaling law of the MUC saturates the upper bound (3.62), in contrast to the short range phase. This shows the striking different nature of the two phases. In the LRMC region, the system behaves as an inherently two-parameter quantum estimation model, where the

 $<sup>^{2}\</sup>mathcal{U}$  is an antisymmetric 2 × 2 matrix for this two-parameter model. Therefore, it only has two opposite eigenvalues  $\pm |U_{\delta h}|$ .

parameter incompatibility cannot be neglected even in the thermodynamical limit. On the short-range phase, instead, the system is asymptotically quasi-classical. The critical line  $\delta = 0$  (with  $|h| \leq h_c$ ) and the critical line h = 0, which mark regions of short range correlations embedded in a LRMC phase, show a MUC which grows super-extensively, with scaling  $\mathcal{O}(n^3)$ , and a nearly saturated inequality (3.62). In the critical line  $h \simeq h_c$ , despite the spectacular divergence of  $||g||_{\infty} \simeq \mathcal{O}(n^6)$ , the scaling law of  $|\mathcal{U}_{\delta h}|$  drops to a constant, revealing an asymptotic quasi-classical behaviour of the model at the phase transition.

### 6

# SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK

Condensed matter physics is a rich framework where a variety of interesting phenomena arise in association with geometrical properties of the interactions. Topological behaviour of quantum interactions are particularly evident for those systems near QPT [10, 236]. It is a well known fact that quantum criticalities are accompanied by a qualitative change in the nature of correlations in the ground state of a quantum system, and describing these changes is clearly one of the major interests in condensed matter physics. Typical examples are metal-insulator transitions, or paramagnetic-ferromagnetic transitions for spin chains, were the two phases are associated with a distinct local vs. global properties of the quantum state.

It is, therefore, expected that such drastic changes in the properties of the ground states are reflected in the geometry of the Hilbert space explored by the system across the criticality. Geometric phase is known to be a signature of the curvature, and in general of the geometry of the state manifold, and therefore it is a useful means to investigate the properties of systems near QPT. The heuristic explanation for the non-trivial behaviour of Berry curvature in the proximity of criticality relies on idea of level crossings, occurring at the thermodynamical limit, which involve ground state and low lying part of the energy spectrum. Level crossings can be identified as the origin of the curvature in the phase space manifold, pretty much the same way energy singularity bends the geometry of the space-time, or more like a Dirac monopole twists the topology of the field configuration around it [62]. Driving the system close to or around these singularities results in dramatic effects on the state geometry, picked up by its kinematics in the form of geometric phase instabilities [4, 7]. Weather this intuition may be adapted to an entirely different type of quantum many-body phenomena is an absolutely non-trivial question.

Novel type of non-equilibrium phase transitions have recently emerged in quantum mechanical systems, as phenomena that may underpin new forms of criticality, departing significantly from transitions that are observed in the equilibrium settings. A particularly intriguing type of non-equilibrium critical phenomena arise in the context of open quantum systems, where the non-equilibrium character is induced by coupling between system and several external reservoirs. Theoretical investigation of open quantum systems is ultimately motivated by the inherently open nature of several modern experimental platforms, which are typically subject to external drive, dissipation and dephasing.

The occurrence of quantum phase transitions in non-equilibrium steady states, which are the results

of complex many-body dissipative evolutions is far from being understood. Harnessing the investigation of such an uncharted scenario with a powerful new set of tools is certainly desirable. Geometric properties has proven successful in unravelling general quantitative and qualitative informations in equilibrium criticalities. It is therefore expected that they may glean new insights is these novel scenario, providing a comprehensive framework for their understanding.

The crucial focus of this thesis was indeed to present the general framework of geometric methods and to demonstrate the applicability of these ideas to the entirely novel category of non-equilibrium phase transitions. What it may seem at fist glance a pedantic application of known concepts to yet another instance of critical phenomena, is instead quite a mayor shift of paradigm. It is no coincidence that nearly 10 years after their introduction, models such as the one proposed in Ref. [11] are still subject of active investigations through well established tools of quantum information and information geometry. Yet, a full understanding of their main characteristics is still lacking. Most of all, what is missing is an intuitive comprehensive framework within which comparing the non-equilibrium-QPT with what is know from equilibrium phase transitions.

Equilibrium phase transitions fall invariably into two markedly non-overlapping categories: classical phase transitions and quantum phase transitions. NESS-QPTs offer a unique arena where such a distinction indeed fades off. The coexistence between quantum and classical fluctuations in these models may vaguely be reminiscent of what happens at quantum to classical crossovers in equilibrium phenomena, with a major striking difference: the remarkably sharp character of truly critical phenomena.

What I have done in this thesis is to bring in an original approach to quantitatively assess the quantumness of a critical phenomena. To this end, I resorted to ideas borrowed from quantum estimation theory, which endow the geometric phase approach with an operationally well defined character. One of the major objective of the investigation was to bring insight into the interplay between quantum and classical fluctuation in critical phenomena. Quadratic fermionic Liuvillian models are perhaps the simplest significant example where this interaction plays a non-trivial role, where one find quite unusual interplay between markedly classical and quantum features associated to the same phase transitions.

A source of confusion within the class of dissipative NESS-QPT is that the concept of criticality has indeed a variety of inequivalent definitions. Already, in the physically relevant subclass of quadratic quasi-free fermionic models, there are two non-equivalent widely used definitions in literature. They rely on the idea of diverging correlation length and critical slow down, respectively. While in the usual setting of equilibrium QPT these two definitions generally coincide, in NESS-QPTs this is not quite the case. The first definition introduced by Eisert and Prosen in [183] is the one mostly adopted in this thesis. The second inequivalent one is used for example in a series of works related to dissipatively induced topological order (e.g. [1]).

In this thesis, I was able to prove analytically that a singular geometric phase curvature is a unequivocal signature of a critical behaviour associated to a diverging correlation length. In retrospect, it might not come as a surprise that such a connection exists, as that is indeed what the intuition build up from the experience on equilibrium phenomena would suggest.

However, a similarly heuristic argument should point towards an analogous conclusion in the case of criticality defined by a closing dissipative gap. After all, this is the NESS-QPT analogue of a vanishing Hamiltonian gap. One should legitimately expect that a closing dissipative gap, i.e. a critical slowing

down, should result in a singular behaviour of the mean Uhlmann curvature. That this is a reasonable guess is further suggested by several studies on dissipative topological phase transitions [1], where topologically inequivalent regions of the phase diagram are separated by critical points with vanishing dissipative gap, which are not necessarily accompanied by a diverging correlation length in the bulk.

This thesis, however, analytically demonstrates that this second heuristic argument does not hold, showing that the Uhlmann curvature is sensitive to the criticality, but only in the sense of a truly diverging correlation length. In this sense, the Uhlmann curvature confirms its role as a witness of the purely kinematic aspects of the criticality, and it is only indirectly affected by the dynamical features of the NESS-QPT.

Although the main focus of the thesis is on the physically relevant class of fermionic quadratic models, this is by no means the only context in which this idea is applicable. This approach, for its generality, immediately extends to any equilibrium and non-equilibrium QPT, with and without order parameters, with or without symmetry breaking, including non-equilibrium dynamical phase-transitions, topological dissipative phase transitions, cluster states phase transitions. Moreover, this idea is a promising tool which may glean insight on the interplay between competing orders both in equilibrium and nonequilibrium QPT. It is hard in my opinion to grasp the full extent of the implications that such a general approach may provide.

Going beyond the geometrical aspect mentioned in this thesis, the mean Uhlmann curvature and the Uhlmann geometric phase in general offer the possibility of studying topological structures on the manifold of density matrices. One can indeed formulate, under suitable assumption, a topologically nontrivial gauge structure based on the notion of mean Uhlmann curvature. In this framework, topological invariants that are protected by suitable symmetries may be identified for mixed states. One may define class of topologically inequivalent mappings from a parameter space into the density matrices which can be continuously deformed into each other only if the underlying symmetry assumptions are violated.

In a lattice translation-invariant system, one may think of identifying the parameter space with the Brillouin zone, thereby providing a possible way of generalising topological band structure invariants to the domain of mixed states. The possible applications of this conceptual framework is to obtain a topologically nontrivial Chern insulator or topological superconductors as a steady state of a non-equilibrium open quantum system.

Topological invariants that may be constructed through the mean Uhlmann curvature, are in principle experimentally accessible via state tomography. However, a possible route of investigation would be to be able to construct a relation to natural observables such as response functions. A prototypical quantity to look at is the quantised Hall conductance. However, the formulation of a mixed state quantity which under statistical mixture does not cause deviations from an integer quantisation of the Hall conductance is quite an open challenge.

## A

# FERMIONIC GAUSSIAN STATES

We review here the main properties of Fermionic Gaussian States. Let's consider a systems of n fermionic particles described by creation and annihilation operators  $c_j^{\dagger}$  and  $c_j$ . These operators obey the canonical anticommutation relations,

$$\{c_j, c_k\} = 0 \qquad \{c_j, c_k^{\dagger}\} = \delta_{jk} \,. \tag{A.1}$$

Let's define the Hermitian Majorana operators as

$$\omega_{2j-1} := c_j + c_j^{\dagger}, \qquad \omega_{2j} := i(c_j - c_j^{\dagger}),$$
(A.2)

which are generators of a Clifford algebra, and satisfy the following anti-commutation relations

$$\{\omega_j, \omega_k\} = 2\delta_{jk} \,. \tag{A.3}$$

Fermionic Gaussian states are defined as states that can be expressed as

$$\rho = \frac{e^{-\frac{i}{4}\omega^T \Omega \omega}}{Z}, \qquad Z := \operatorname{Tr}[e^{-\frac{i}{4}\omega^T \Omega \omega}]$$
(A.4)

where  $\Omega$  is a  $2n \times 2n$  real antisymmetric matrix. As any antisymmetric real matrix,  $\Omega$  can be cast in the following canonical form by an orthogonal matrix Q, i.e.

$$\Omega = Q^T \bigoplus_{k=1}^n \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Omega_k \\ -\Omega_k & 0 \end{pmatrix} Q \qquad \qquad Q^T = Q^{-1} , \qquad (A.5)$$

where  $\pm i\Omega_k$  are  $\Omega$ 's eigenvalues. Let

$$\boldsymbol{z} = (z_1, \dots, z_{2n})^T := Q\boldsymbol{\omega}$$
(A.6)

be the vector of Majorana fermions in the eigenmode representation. Hence,

$$\rho = \frac{1}{Z} \prod_{k} \left[ \cosh\left(\frac{\Omega_k}{2}\right) - i \sinh\left(\frac{\Omega_k}{2}\right) z_{2k-1} z_{2k} \right] , \qquad (A.7)$$

$$Z = \prod_{k} 2 \cosh\left(\frac{\Omega_k}{2}\right) \,. \tag{A.8}$$

Gaussian states are completely specified by the two-point correlation matrix

$$\Gamma_{jk} := 1/2 \operatorname{Tr}(\rho[\omega_j, \omega_k]), \qquad \Gamma = \Gamma^{\dagger} = -\Gamma^T, \qquad (A.9)$$

which is an imaginary antisymmetric matrix. As

$$\Gamma_{jk} = \frac{2i}{Z} \frac{\partial Z}{\partial \Omega_{jk}} \tag{A.10}$$

one can show that

$$\Gamma = \tanh\left(i\frac{\Omega}{2}\right) \ . \tag{A.11}$$

The correlation matrix is diagonal in the same basis of  $\Omega$  and its eigenvalues read  $\gamma_k = \tanh(\Omega_k/2)$ . Hence

$$\rho = \prod_{k} \frac{1 - i\gamma_k \, z_{2k-1} z_{2k}}{2} \,, \tag{A.12}$$

where  $|\gamma_k| \leq 1$ . Hence the Gaussian fermionic state can be factorised into a tensor product  $\rho = \bigotimes_k \rho_k$ of density matrices of the eigenmodes  $\rho_k := \frac{1-i\gamma_k z_{2k-1}z_{2k}}{2}$ . Note that for  $\gamma_k = \pm 1$ , one has  $\Omega_k = \pm \infty$ , making the definition (A.4) of Gaussian state not well defined, unlike Eq. (A.12), showing that the latter offer an appropriate parameterisation even in those extremal points. Notice that  $|\gamma_k| = 1$  corresponds to a fermionic mode  $\tilde{c}_k = 1/2(z_{2k-1} + z_{2k})$  being in a pure state, as it is clear from the following explicit expression for the purity of the states  $\rho_k$ :

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho_k^2] = \frac{\det\left[2\cosh\left(i\,\Omega\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\det\left[2\cosh\left(i\frac{\Omega}{2}\right)\right]} = \sqrt{\det\left(\frac{1+C^2}{2}\right)}.$$
(A.13)

$$\operatorname{Tr}[\rho^2] = \frac{\det\left[2\cosh\left(i\,\Omega\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}}{\det\left[2\cosh\left(i\frac{\Omega}{2}\right)\right]} = \sqrt{\det\left(\frac{1+C^2}{2}\right)} \,. \tag{A.14}$$

### A.1 Symmetric Logarithmic derivative for Fermionic Gaussian States

I will review here useful expressions adapted from refernce [235] which are instrumental for the derivation of the symmetric logarithmic derivative of density matrices in the exponential form

$$\rho = e^{D(\lambda)}.\tag{A.15}$$

Clearly, a Gaussian Fermionic state can be expressed in the exponential form (A.15) by identifying

$$D = -\frac{i}{4}\boldsymbol{w}^{\dagger} \cdot \boldsymbol{\Omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{w} - \mathbf{1} \ln Z.$$
(A.16)

Notice, that the above parameterisation is well defined in the case of full-rank density matrices. As usual, the case of extremal conditions  $|\gamma_k| = 1$ , where is an eigenvalue of the correlation function should be carried out as a limiting procedure.

The starting point is the expression derived in Eq. (2.1) of Ref. [237] for derivative of density operators

$$\partial_{\mu}\rho = \int_0^1 e^{sD} \,\partial_{\mu}D \,e^{(1-s)D} \,ds \;. \tag{A.17}$$

One can use the nested-commutator relation

$$e^{D}Ae^{-D} = A + [D, A] + \frac{1}{2!} [D, [D, A]] + \cdots$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} C^{n}(A) = e^{C}(A) , \qquad (A.18)$$

where  $C^n(A)$ , a linear operation on A, denotes the *n*th-order nested commutator  $[D, \ldots, [D, A]]$ , with  $C^0(A) = A$ . Applying this relation to the expression (A.17) leads to

$$\partial_{\mu}\rho\rho^{-1} = \partial_{\mu}D + \frac{1}{2!} \left[D, \partial_{\mu}D\right] + \frac{1}{3!} \left[D, \left[D, \partial_{\mu}D\right]\right] + \cdots$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(n+1)!} \mathcal{C}^{n}(\partial_{\mu}D) = h(\mathcal{C})(\partial_{\mu}D) , \qquad (A.19)$$

where h is the generating function of the expansion coefficients in Eq. (A.19),

$$h(t) = 1 + \frac{t}{2!} + \frac{t^2}{3!} + \dots = \frac{e^t - 1}{t}$$
 (A.20)

Using the definition of symmetric logarithmic derivative, i.e.

$$\partial_{\mu}\rho = \frac{1}{2} \left( L_{\mu}\rho + \rho L_{\mu} \right) , \qquad (A.21)$$

and that of density matrix in exponential form (A.15), one gets

$$\partial_{\mu}\rho \,\rho^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \left( L + e^{D} L e^{-D} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left( L + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \,\mathcal{C}^{n}(L) \right) = r(\mathcal{C})(L) \;, \tag{A.22}$$

where the generating function is  $r(t) = (e^t + 1)/2$ . Suppose that the SLD adopts the form,

$$L_{\mu} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f_n \mathcal{C}^n(\partial_{\mu} D) = f(\mathcal{C})(\partial_{\mu} D) , \qquad (A.23)$$

with the generating function

$$f(t) = f_0 + f_1 t + f_2 t^2 + \cdots$$
 (A.24)

to be determined. Plugging Eq. (A.23) into Eq. (A.22) yields

$$\partial_{\mu}\rho\,\rho^{-1} = r(\mathcal{C})\big[f(\mathcal{C})(\partial_{\mu}D)\big] = r\circ f(\mathcal{C})(\partial_{\mu}D) = r\cdot f(\mathcal{C})(\partial_{\mu}D)\,,\tag{A.25}$$

where the identity  $r \circ f = r \cdot f$  between the combination and the simple product of the two functions arises from  $C^n(C^m(A)) = C^{n+m}(A)$ . Comparing Eq. (A.25) with Eq. (A.19) leads to the following relation between generating functions,

$$f(t) = \frac{h(t)}{r(t)} = \frac{\tanh(t/2)}{t/2} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{4(4^{n+1}-1)B_{2n+2}}{(2n+2)!} t^{2n} , \qquad (A.26)$$

where  $B_{2n+2}$  is the (2n+2)th Bernoulli number. Comparing Eqs. (A.24) with (A.26), we have

$$f_n = \begin{cases} \frac{4 \left(4^{n/2+1} - 1\right) B_{n+2}}{(n+2)!}, & \text{for even } n, \\ 0, & \text{for odd } n. \end{cases}$$
(A.27)

The vanishing of the odd-order of  $f_n$ s is a consequence of the Hermiticity of L, which makes f(t) an even function.

For a Gaussian Fermionic state the operator D in terms of the Majorana Fermions of the eigen-modes is written

$$D = -\frac{i}{4} \sum_{k} \Omega_{k}[z_{2k-1}, z_{2k}] - \mathbf{1} \ln Z = \sum_{k} \Omega_{k} \left( \tilde{c}_{k}^{\dagger} \tilde{c}_{k} - \frac{1}{2} \right) - \mathbf{1} \ln Z.$$
(A.28)

where  $\tilde{c}_k := \frac{1}{2}(z_{2k-1} + iz_{2k})$ ,  $\tilde{c}_k^{\dagger} := \frac{1}{2}(z_{2k-1} - iz_{2k})$  are the ordinary annihilation and creation operators of the eigen-modes. It is straightforward to derive the commutation relations between D and Fermionic operators,

$$\left[D,\,\tilde{c}_k\right] = -\Omega_k \tilde{c}_k\,,\quad \left[D,\,\tilde{c}_k^\dagger\right] = \Omega_k \tilde{c}_k^\dagger\,,\tag{A.29}$$

and for quadratic operators, also

$$\left[D, \, \tilde{c}_j^{\dagger} \tilde{c}_k\right] = (\Omega_j - \Omega_k) \tilde{c}_j^{\dagger} \, \tilde{c}_k, \quad \left[D, \, \tilde{c}_j \tilde{c}_k\right] = (\Omega_j - \Omega_k) \tilde{c}_j \, \tilde{c}_k. \tag{A.30}$$

Consequently, one finds

$$f(\mathcal{C})(\tilde{c}_k^{\dagger}\tilde{c}_k) = f(\Omega_k - \Omega_k)\tilde{c}_k^{\dagger}\tilde{c}_k , \qquad (A.31)$$

$$f(\mathcal{C})(\tilde{c}_k \tilde{c}_k) = f(\Omega_k + \Omega_k) \tilde{c}_k \tilde{c}_k .$$
(A.32)

Most generally, the derivative of D takes the form

$$\partial_{\mu}D = -\frac{1}{2}\boldsymbol{c}\,\partial_{\mu}\Omega'\boldsymbol{c} - \frac{\partial_{\mu}Z}{Z}\,,\tag{A.33}$$

which plugged into formula (A.23) shows that  $L_{\mu}$  is at most quadratic in Fermionic operators.

# SPECTRAL PROPERTIES OF QUADRATIC LIUVILLIANS

We will review the main results on the spectral properties of the a quadratic Fermionic Liuvillian (5.4). Note that the real matrix X defined in (5.24) has no general structure apart from the fact that  $X + X^T = 8$ **Re** $M \ge 0$ , where M is the bath matrix defined in (5.26), whose positive semi-definiteness implies **Re** $M \ge 0$ . We will drop here the assumption made in section 5.3, about the diagonalisability of X, and will show that the qualitative aspects of the results derived in section 5.4 still hold.

The matrix X can always be put in the Jordan canonical form, i.e.  $X = U D_X^J U^{-1}$  with  $D_X^J = \bigoplus_m J_{\ell_m}(x_m)$ ,

$$J_{\ell_m}(x_m) = \begin{pmatrix} x_m & 1 & & \\ & x_m & 1 & \\ & & x_m & 1 & \\ & & & \ddots & \ddots \end{pmatrix}$$
 (B.1)

 $x_m$  are (possibly equal) eigenvalues of X and  $\ell_m$  is the dimension of the Jordan block: each block is composed of  $\ell_m$  degenerate eigenvalues of X. The form of the transformation (5.36) remains the same (although with a new matrix U) while (5.40) becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = -\sum_{j=1}^{2n} x_j \, \hat{b}_j^{\times} \hat{b}_j - \sum_m \sum_{k=1}^{\ell_m - 1} \hat{b}_{m_k + 1}^{\times} \hat{b}_{m_k} \,, \tag{B.2}$$

where  $m_k$  refers to the index of the kth element in the mth Jordan block. It is clear that the state (5.43) is still a stationary state.

**Lemma 2.** Let X be a real square matrix, such that  $X + X^T \ge 0$ . Then:

- (i) Any eigenvalue  $x_j$  of X satisfies  $\operatorname{Re} x_j \geq 0$ .
- (ii) For any eigenvalue  $x_j$  of X on the imaginary line,  $\mathbf{Re}x_j = 0$ , its algebraic and geometric multiplicities coincide.

*Proof.* (i) Let  $x_j$  be an eigenvalue and let  $u_j$  be its corresponding eigenvector. One can write  $Xu_j = x_ju_j$ , and the complex conjugate of this equation  $Xu^* = x_j^*u^*$ . Then take a scalar product of the first equation with  $u^{\dagger}$  and the scalar product of the second equation with u and sum up:

$$\boldsymbol{u}^{\dagger} \cdot (\boldsymbol{X} + \boldsymbol{X}^{T})\boldsymbol{u} = (2\mathbf{R}\mathbf{e}x_{j})\boldsymbol{u}^{\dagger} \cdot \boldsymbol{u}.$$
(B.3)

Strict positivity of the eigenvector norm,  $u^{\dagger} \cdot u > 0$ , and non-negativity,  $(X + X^T) \ge 0$ , imply  $\operatorname{Re} x_j \ge 0$ .

(ii) Consider a linear system of differential equations,

$$(d/dt)\boldsymbol{u}(t) = -X\boldsymbol{u}(t). \tag{B.4}$$

Positive semi-definiteness of  $X + X^T$  is equivalent to Lyapunov stability in control theory, namely

$$(d/dt)||\boldsymbol{u}||_2^2 = -\bar{\boldsymbol{u}} \cdot (X + X^T)\boldsymbol{u} \le 0 \quad \text{iff} \quad X + X^T \ge 0.$$
(B.5)

Then, one can show that in order for the system (B.4) to be Lyapunov stable a purely imaginary (or vanishing) eigenvalue  $x_m = ib$  cannot correspond to a Jordan block of dimension  $\ell_m > 1$  in the Jordan canonical form of X. This is indeed obvious, since if we take the initial vector  $\boldsymbol{u}(0)$  for (B.4) from  $\ker (X - x_m \mathbb{1})^{\ell_m} \ominus \ker (X - x_m \mathbb{1})^{\ell_m - 1}$  then  $\boldsymbol{u}(t) \propto t^{\ell_m - 1} e^{-ibt}$ . Then, if it is not Lyapunov stable,  $X + X^T \geq 0$ .

In [226] it has been shown that the spectrum of the Liouvillian is

$$Sp(\mathcal{L}) = -\{x_{\mathbf{n}} := \sum_{m} x_{m} n_{m} / n_{m} = 0, \cdots, \ell_{m}\}.$$
 (B.6)

Accordingly,  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}} = \Delta \equiv 2 \min_{m} \mathbf{Re}[x_{m}]$ . If  $\Delta > 0$  the steady state (5.43) is unique [226].

In the non-diagonalizable case the last equation in Eq. (5.54) is not satisfied. On the other hand one can obtain the following [28]

### **Proposition 4.**

$$\|\hat{X}^{-1}\|_{\infty} < \frac{1+p(\Delta^{-1})}{\Delta},$$
 (B.7)

for a certain polynomial p().

*Proof.* We start by writing

$$\hat{X} = \bigoplus_{m} J_{\ell_m}(x_m) \otimes \mathbf{1} + \bigoplus_{m} \mathbf{1} \otimes J_{\ell_m}(x_m)$$

$$= \bigoplus_{m,n} [J_{\ell_m}(x_m) \otimes \mathbf{1}_{\ell_n} + \mathbf{1}_{\ell_m} \otimes J_{\ell_n}(x_n)]$$

$$= \hat{x} + \bigoplus_{m,n} [J_{\ell_m}(0) \otimes \mathbf{1}_{\ell_n} + \mathbf{1}_{\ell_m} \otimes J_{\ell_n}(0)] , \qquad (B.8)$$

where  $D_{\hat{X}}$  is the diagonal matrix with entries  $x_i + x_j$  and where we used the decomposition  $1 = \bigoplus_m 1_{\ell_m}$ . Moreover, thanks to Lemma 3.1 of Ref. [226],

$$\hat{X} = D_{\hat{X}} + \bigoplus_{m,n} \bigoplus_{r=1}^{\min\{\ell_m,\ell_n\}} J_{\ell_m + \ell_n - 2r + 1}(0)$$
  
=  $D_{\hat{X}} \left[ 1 + \bigoplus_{m,n} \bigoplus_{r=1}^{\min\{\ell_m,\ell_n\}} \frac{J_{\ell_m + \ell_n - 2r + 1}(0)}{x_m + x_n} \right].$  (B.9)

As J is nilpotent,

$$\hat{X}^{-1} = D_{\hat{X}}^{-1} \left[ 1 + \bigoplus_{m,n}^{\min\{\ell_m,\ell_n\}} \bigoplus_{r=1}^{\ell_m+\ell_n-2r} \sum_{m=1}^{\ell_m+\ell_n-2r} \left( -\frac{J_{\ell_m+\ell_n-2r+1}(0)}{x_m+x_n} \right)^m \right] ,$$

and

$$\|\hat{X}^{-1}\|_{\infty} \leq \|D_{\hat{X}}^{-1}\|_{\infty} \left[1 + \max_{m,n} \max_{r} \sum_{m=1}^{\ell_{m}+\ell_{n}-2r} \frac{1}{|x_{m}+x_{n}|^{m}}\right]$$
$$= \|D_{\hat{X}}^{-1}\|_{\infty} \left[1 + \max_{m,n} \sum_{m=1}^{\ell_{m}+\ell_{n}-2} \frac{1}{|x_{m}+x_{n}|^{m}}\right]$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{\Delta} \left[1 + \max_{m,n} \sum_{m=1}^{\ell_{m}+\ell_{n}-2} \frac{1}{\Delta^{m}}\right].$$
(B.10)

### References

- C.-E. Bardyn, M. A. Baranov, C. V. Kraus, E. Rico, A. İmamoğlu, P. Zoller, and S. Diehl. Topology by dissipation. *New J. Phys.* 15, 085001 (2013).
- [2] M. V. Berry. Quantal Phase Factors Accompanying Adiabatic Changes. Proc. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 392, 45 (1984).
- [3] A. Shapere and F. Wilczek, eds. *Geometric phases in physics*. World Scientific, Singapore (1989).
- [4] A. C. M. Carollo and J. K. Pachos. Geometric phases and criticality in spin-chain systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 95, 157203 (2005).
- [5] J. K. Pachos and A. C. Carollo. Geometric phases and criticality in spin systems. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* **364**, 3463 (2006).
- [6] S.-L. Zhu. Scaling of Geometric Phases Close to the Quantum Phase Transition in the XY Spin Chain. Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 077206 (2006).
- [7] A. Hamma. Berry Phases and Quantum Phase Transitions. *http://arxiv.org/abs/quant-ph/0602091* (2006).
- [8] L. Campos Venuti and P. Zanardi. Quantum Critical Scaling of the Geometric Tensors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 99, 095701 (2007).
- [9] X. Peng, S. Wu, J. Li, D. Suter, and J. Du. Observation of the Ground-State Geometric Phase in a Heisenberg XY Model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **105**, 240405 (2010).
- [10] S. Sachdev. *Quantum Phase Transitions*. Cambridge University press (2011).
- [11] T. Prosen and I. Pižorn. Quantum Phase Transition in a Far-from-Equilibrium Steady State of an XY Spin Chain. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **101**, 105701 (2008).
- [12] S. Diehl, A. Micheli, A. Kantian, B. Kraus, H. P. Büchler, and P. Zoller. Quantum states and phases in driven open quantum systems with cold atoms. *Nat. Phys.* **4**, 878 (2008).
- [13] E. G. Dalla Torre, E. Demler, T. Giamarchi, and E. Altman. Quantum critical states and phase transitions in the presence of non-equilibrium noise. *Nat. Phys.* **6**, 806 (2010).
- [14] S. Diehl, A. Tomadin, A. Micheli, R. Fazio, and P. Zoller. Dynamical Phase Transitions and Instabilities in Open Atomic Many-Body Systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 105, 015702 (2010).
- [15] M. J. Kastoryano, F. Reiter, and A. S. Sørensen. Dissipative preparation of entanglement in optical cavities. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **106**, 2 (2011).
- [16] F. Verstraete, M. M. Wolf, and J. Ignacio Cirac. Quantum computation and quantum-state engineering driven by dissipation. *Nat. Phys.* 5, 633 (2009).
- [17] J. T. Barreiro, M. Müller, P. Schindler, D. Nigg, T. Monz, M. Chwalla, M. Hennrich, C. F. Roos, P. Zoller, and R. Blatt. An open-system quantum simulator with trapped ions. *Nature* 470, 486 (2011).
- [18] H. Pichler, A. J. Daley, and P. Zoller. Nonequilibrium dynamics of bosonic atoms in optical lattices: Decoherence of many-body states due to spontaneous emission. *Phys. Rev. A At. Mol. Opt. Phys.* 82, 1 (2010).
- [19] B. Horstmann, J. I. Cirac, and G. Giedke. Noise-driven dynamics and phase transitions in fermionic systems. *Phys. Rev. A* 87, 012108 (2013).
- [20] A. Carollo, G. Massimo Palma, A. Łozinski, M. F. Santos, and V. Vedral. Geometric phase induced by a cyclically evolving squeezed vacuum reservoir. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 96, 0 (2006).
- [21] O. Oreshkov and J. Calsamiglia. Adiabatic markovian dynamics. Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 1 (2010).

- [22] P. Zanardi and L. Campos Venuti. Coherent quantum dynamics in steady-state manifolds of strongly dissipative systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **113**, 1 (2014).
- [23] A. Uhlmann. Parallel transport and quantum holonomy along density operators. *Reports Math. Phys.* **24**, 229 (1986).
- [24] K. Matsumoto. A Geometrical Approach to Quantum Estimation Theory. Phd thesis, University of Tokyo (1997).
- [25] M. Hayashi. Quantum Information Geometry and Quantum Estimation. In *Quantum Inf. theory Math. Found.*, 253–322. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2017).
- [26] P. Zanardi, P. Giorda, and M. Cozzini. Information-Theoretic Differential Geometry of Quantum Phase Transitions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **99**, 100603 (2007).
- [27] M. Kolodrubetz, V. Gritsev, and A. Polkovnikov. Classifying and measuring geometry of a quantum ground state manifold. *Phys. Rev. B* **88**, 064304 (2013).
- [28] L. Banchi, P. Giorda, and P. Zanardi. Quantum information-geometry of dissipative quantum phase transitions. *Phys. Rev. E* **89**, 022102 (2014).
- [29] U. Marzolino and T. Prosen. Fisher information approach to nonequilibrium phase transitions in a quantum XXZ spin chain with boundary noise. *Phys. Rev. B* **96**, 104402 (2017).
- [30] N. Paunković and V. R. Vieira. Macroscopic distinguishability between quantum states defining different phases of matter: Fidelity and the Uhlmann geometric phase. *Phys. Rev. E* 77, 011129 (2008).
- [31] Z. Huang and D. P. Arovas. Topological Indices for Open and Thermal Systems Via Uhlmann's Phase. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **113**, 076407 (2014).
- [32] O. Viyuela, A. Rivas, and M. A. Martin-Delgado. Uhlmann Phase as a Topological Measure for One-Dimensional Fermion Systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112**, 130401 (2014).
- [33] O. Andersson, I. Bengtsson, M. Ericsson, and E. Sjöqvist. Geometric phases for mixed states of the Kitaev chain. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* **374**, 20150231 (2016).
- [34] O. Viyuela, A. Rivas, and M. a. Martin-Delgado. Symmetry-protected topological phases at finite temperature. 2D Mater. 2, 034006 (2015).
- [35] J. C. Budich and S. Diehl. Topology of density matrices. Phys. Rev. B 91, 165140 (2015).
- [36] S. N. Kempkes, A. Quelle, and C. M. Smith. Universalities of thermodynamic signatures in topological phases. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 38530 (2016).
- [37] B. Mera, C. Vlachou, N. Paunković, and V. R. Vieira. Uhlmann Connection in Fermionic Systems Undergoing Phase Transitions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **119**, 015702 (2017).
- [38] J. Tidström and E. Sjöqvist. Uhlmann's geometric phase in presence of isotropic decoherence. *Phys. Rev. A* 67, 032110 (2003).
- [39] J. Åberg, D. Kult, E. Sjöqvist, and D. K. L. Oi. Operational approach to the Uhlmann holonomy. *Phys. Rev. A* **75**, 032106 (2007).
- [40] O. Viyuela, A. Rivas, S. Gasparinetti, A. Wallraff, S. Filipp, and M. A. Martin-Delgado. Observation of topological Uhlmann phases with superconducting qubits (2016).
- [41] J. Zhu, M. Shi, V. Vedral, X. Peng, D. Suter, and J. Du. Experimental demonstration of a unified framework for mixed-state geometric phases. *EPL (Europhysics Lett.* **94**, 20007 (2011).
- [42] S. Ragy, M. Jarzyna, and R. Demkowicz-Dobrzański. Compatibility in multiparameter quantum metrology. *Phys. Rev. A* 94, 052108 (2016).
- [43] A. Carollo, B. Spagnolo, and D. Valenti. Uhlmann curvature in dissipative phase transitions. http://arxiv.org/abs/1710.07560 (2017).

- [44] X.-G. Wen. *Quantum field theory of many-body systems : from the origin of sound to an origin of light and electrons.* Oxford University Press (2004).
- [45] J. K. Pachos. Introduction to topological quantum computation (2012).
- [46] B. A. Bernevig and T. L. Hughes. *Topological insulators and topological superconductors*.
- [47] A. O. Caldeira and A. J. Leggett. Quantum tunnelling in a dissipative system. Ann. Phys. (N. Y). 149, 374 (1983).
- [48] U. Weiss. Quantum Dissipative Systems. World Scientific (2012).
- [49] L. Magazzù, D. Valenti, A. Carollo, and B. Spagnolo. Multi-state quantum dissipative dynamics in sub-ohmic environment: The strong coupling regime. *Entropy* 17, 2341 (2015).
- [50] L. Magazzù, A. Carollo, B. Spagnolo, and D. Valenti. Quantum dissipative dynamics of a bistable system in the sub-Ohmic to super-Ohmic regime. J. Stat. Mech. Theory Exp. 2016, 54016 (2016).
- [51] R. P. Feynman and F. L. Vernon Jr. The theory of a general quantum system interacting with a linear dissipative system. *Ann. Phys.* 24, 118 (1963).
- [52] M. Grifoni, M. Sassetti, and U. Weiss. Exact master equations for driven dissipative tight-binding models. *Phys. Rev. E* 53, R2033 (1996).
- [53] M. Thorwart, M. Grifoni, and P. Hanggi. Strong coupling theory for driven tunneling and vibrational relaxation. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 85, 860 (2000).
- [54] C. Guarcello, D. Valenti, A. Carollo, and B. Spagnolo. Effects of Lévy noise on the dynamics of sine-Gordon solitons in long Josephson junctions. J. Stat. Mech. Theory Exp. 2016, 054012 (2016).
- [55] C. Guarcello, D. Valenti, A. Carollo, and B. Spagnolo. Stabilization effects of dichotomous noise on the lifetime of the superconducting state in a long Josephson junction. *Entropy* 17, 2862 (2015).
- [56] B. Spagnolo, D. Valenti, C. Guarcello, A. Carollo, D. Persano Adorno, S. Spezia, N. Pizzolato, and B. Di Paola. Noise-induced effects in nonlinear relaxation of condensed matter systems. *Chaos, Solitons and Fractals* 81, 412 (2015).
- [57] V. Bargmann. Note On Wigners Theorem On Symmetry Operations. J. Math. Phys. 5, 862 (1964).
- [58] S. Pancharatnam. Generalized theory of interference, and its applications. *Proc. Ind. Acad. Sci. A* 44, 247 (1956).
- [59] M. Born and E. Wolf. Principle of Optics. Cambridge University Press, 6th edition (1998).
- [60] N. Mukunda and R. Simon. Quantum kinematic approach to the geometric phase. Ann. Phys. (NY) 228, 205 (1993).
- [61] E. M. A. Rabei, N. Mukunda, and R. Simon. Bargmann invariants and geometric phases: A generalized connection. *Phys. Rev A* 60, 3397 (1999).
- [62] M. Nakahara. *Geometry, Topology and Physics*. Graduate Student Series in Physics. Adam Hilger, Bristol and New York (1990).
- [63] Y. Aharonov and J. Anandan. Phase change during a cyclic quantum evolution. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 58, 1593 (1987).
- [64] G. Fubini. Sulle metriche definite da una forma hermitiana. Atti Istit. Veneto LXIII, 501 (1904).
- [65] Eduard Study. Kürzeste Wege im komplexen Gebiet. Math. Ann. 60, 321 (1905).
- [66] W. K. Wootters. Statistical distance and Hilbert space. *Phys. Rev. D* 23, 357 (1981).
- [67] R. Jozsa. Fidelity for Mixed Quantum States. J. Mod. Opt. 41, 2315 (1994).
- [68] S. L. Braunstein and C. M. Caves. Statistical distance and the geometry of quantum states. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 72, 3439 (1994).

- [69] J. P. Provost and G. Vallee. Riemannian structure on manifolds of quantum states. *Commun. Math. Phys.* **76**, 289 (1980).
- [70] M. V. Berry. The Quantum Phase, Five Years After. In A. Shapere and F. Wilczek, eds., *Geom. PHASES Phys.*, 7–28 (1989).
- [71] J. Samuel and R. Bhandari. General Setting for Berry's Phase. Phys. Rev. Lett. 60, 2339 (1988).
- [72] J. Dittmann and A. Uhlmann. Connections and metrics respecting purification of quantum states. *J. Math. Phys.* **40**, 3246 (1999).
- [73] A. Uhlmann. The "transition probability" in the state space of a \*-algebra. *Reports Math. Phys.* 9, 273 (1976).
- [74] A. Uhlmann. On Berry Phases Along Mixtures of States. Ann. Phys. 501, 63 (1989).
- [75] A. Uhlmann. A gauge field governing parallel transport along mixed states. *Lett. Math. Phys.* 21, 229 (1991).
- [76] D. Bures. An extension of Kakutani's theorem on infinite product measures to the tensor product of semifinite *w*\*-algebras. *Trans. Am. Math. Soc.* **135**, 199 (1969).
- [77] H. Araki and G. A. Raggio. A remark on transition probability. Lett. Math. Phys. 6, 237 (1982).
- [78] P. M. Alberti and A. Uhlmann. Stochastic linear maps and transition probability. *Lett. Math. Phys.* 7, 107 (1983).
- [79] A. Uhlmann. The Metric of Bures and the Geometric Phase. In *Groups Relat. Top.*, 1991, 267–274. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht (1992).
- [80] C. A. Fuchs and C. M. Caves. Mathematical techniques for quantum communication theory. *Open Syst. Inf. Dyn.* **3**, 345 (1995).
- [81] M. A. Nielsen and I. L. Chuang. *Quantum Computation and Quantum Information*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2000).
- [82] L. Dabrowski and A. Jadczyk. Quantum statistical holonomy. J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 22, 3167 (1989).
- [83] L. Dabrowski and H. Grosse. On quantum holonomy for mixed states. *Lett. Math. Phys.* 19, 205 (1990).
- [84] H.-J. rgen Sommers and K. Zyczkowski. Bures volume of the set of mixed quantum states. J. *Phys. A. Math. Gen.* **36**, 10083 (2003).
- [85] D. Šafránek. Discontinuities of the quantum Fisher information and the Bures metric. *Phys. Rev.* A **95**, 052320 (2017).
- [86] K. M. Audenaert, J. Calsamiglia, R. Muñoz-Tapia, E. Bagan, L. Masanes, A. Acin, and F. Verstraete. Discriminating states: The quantum Chernoff bound. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 98, 1 (2007).
- [87] H. Chernoff. A Measure of Asymptotic Efficiency for Tests of a Hypothesis based on the Sum of Observations. *Ann. Math. Stat.* **23**, 493 (1952).
- [88] T. M. Cover and J. A. Thomas. *Elements of information theory*. Wiley-Interscience (2006).
- [89] A. Bohm, A. Mostafazadeh, H. Koizumi, Q. Niu, and J. Zwanziger. *The Geometric Phase in Quantum Systems*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg (2003).
- [90] C. W. Helstrom. *Quantum detection and estimation theory*. Academic Press (1976).
- [91] A. Holevo. *Probabilistic and Statistical Aspects of Quantum Theory*. Edizioni della Normale, Pisa (2011).
- [92] M. G. A. Paris. Quantum Estimation For Quantum Technology. Int. J. Quantum Inf. 07, 125 (2009).

- [93] M. Hayashi and K. Matsumoto. Asymptotic performance of optimal state estimation in qubit system. *J. Math. Phys.* **49**, 102101 (2008).
- [94] J. Kahn and M. Gut. Local Asymptotic Normality for Finite Dimensional Quantum Systems. *Commun. Math. Phys.* 289, 597 (2009).
- [95] R. D. Gill and M. I. Gu. On asymptotic quantum statistical inference. In *From Probab. to Stat. Back High-Dimensional Model. Process. A Festschrift Honor Jon A. Wellner*, volume 9, 105–127 (2013).
- [96] K. Yamagata, A. Fujiwara, and R. D. Gill. Quantum local asymptotic normality based on a new quantum likelihood ratio. *Ann. Stat.* **41**, 2197 (2013).
- [97] H. Cramer. *Mathematical methods of statistics*. Princeton University Press (1946).
- [98] S. M. Kay. Fundamentals of statistical signal processing. Prentice-Hall PTR (1993).
- [99] D. R. Cox and N. Reid. Parameter Orthogonality and Approximate Conditional Inference (1987).
- [100] H. P. Robertson. The Uncertainty Principle. Phys. Rev. 34, 163 (1929).
- [101] R. A. Horn and C. R. Johnson. Matrix analysis. Cambridge University Press (2013).
- [102] M. Greiner, O. Mandel, T. Esslinger, T. W. Hänsch, and I. Bloch. Quantum phase transition from a superfluid to a Mott insulator in a gas of ultracold atoms. *Nature* **415**, 39 (2002).
- [103] H. Nishimori and G. Ortiz. *Elements of Phase Transitions and Critical Phenomena*. Oxford University Press (2010).
- [104] G. Mussardo. *Statistical field theory : an introduction to exactly solved models in statistical physics*. Oxford University Press (2010).
- [105] P. M. Chaikin and T. C. Lubensky. *Principles of condensed matter physics*. Cambridge University Press (1995).
- [106] N. Goldenfeld. Lectures on phase transitions and the renormalization group (1992).
- [107] H. E. H. E. Stanley. *Introduction to phase transitions and critical phenomena*. Oxford University Press (1987).
- [108] K. G. Wilson and J. Kogut. The renormalization group and the  $\epsilon$  expansion. *Phys. Rep.* 12, 75 (1974).
- [109] G. Parisi. Statistical field theory. Addison-Wesley Pub. Co (1988).
- [110] J. Zinn-Justin. Quantum Field Theory and Critical Phenomena. Oxford University Press (2002).
- [111] J. L. Cardy. Scaling and renormalization in statistical physics. Cambridge University Press (1996).
- [112] S. L. Sondhi, S. M. Girvin, J. P. Carini, and D. Shahar. Continuous quantum phase transitions. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **69**, 315 (1997).
- [113] M. Vojta. Quantum phase transitions. Reports Prog. Phys. 66, 2069 (2003).
- [114] D. Belitz and T. Vojta. How generic scale invariance influences quantum and classical phase transitions. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **77**, 579 (2005).
- [115] L. Carr. Understanding quantum phase transitions. CRC Press (2011).
- [116] S. Suzuki, J.-i. Inoue, and B. K. Chakrabarti. Quantum Ising Phases and Transitions in Transverse Ising Models, volume 862 of Lecture Notes in Physics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg (2013).
- [117] E. H. Lieb, T. Schultz, and D. Mattis. Two soluble models of an antiferromagnetic chain. Ann. Phys. (N. Y). 16, 407 (1961).

- [118] S. Katsura. Statistical Mechanics of the Anisotropic Linear Heisenberg Model. *Phys. Rev.* 127, 1508 (1962).
- [119] P. de Gennes. Collective motions of hydrogen bonds. Solid State Commun. 1, 132 (1963).
- [120] D. J. Amit. *Field theory, the renormalization group, and critical phenomena*. World Scientific (1984).
- [121] G. Herzberg and H. C. Longuet-Higgins. Intersection of potential energy surfaces in polyatomic molecules. *Discuss. Faraday Soc.* 35, 77 (1963).
- [122] A. J. Stone. Spin-Orbit Coupling and the Intersection of Potential Energy Surfaces in Polyatomic Molecules. *Proc. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* **351**, 141 (1976).
- [123] N. Johansson and E. Sjöqvist. Optimal topological test for degeneracies of real Hamiltonians. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **92**, 060406 (2004).
- [124] N. Johansson and E. Sjöqvist. Searching for degeneracies of real Hamiltonians using homotopy classification of loops in SO(n). *Phys. Rev. A At. Mol. Opt. Phys.* **71** (2005).
- [125] D. J. Thouless, M. Kohmoto, M. P. Nightingale, and M. den Nijs. Quantized Hall Conductance in a Two-Dimensional Periodic Potential. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **49**, 405 (1982).
- [126] C.-K. Chiu, J. C. Y. Teo, A. P. Schnyder, and S. Ryu. Classification of topological quantum matter with symmetries. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 88, 035005 (2016).
- [127] F. Plastina, G. Liberti, and A. Carollo. Scaling of Berry's phase close to the Dicke quantum phase transition. *Europhys. Lett.* **76**, 182 (2006).
- [128] M. E. Reuter, M. J. Hartmann, and M. B. Plenio. Geometric phases and critical phenomena in a chain of interacting spins. *Proc. R. Soc. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci.* 463, 1271 (2007).
- [129] A. Patra, V. Mukherjee, and A. Dutta. Path-dependent scaling of geometric phase near a quantum multi-critical point. *J. Stat. Mech. Theory Exp.* **2011** (2011).
- [130] R. H. Dicke. Coherence in Spontaneous Radiation Processes. Phys. Rev. 93, 99 (1954).
- [131] K. Hepp and E. H. Lieb. On the superradiant phase transition for molecules in a quantized radiation field: the dicke maser model. *Ann. Phys. (N. Y).* **76**, 360 (1973).
- [132] K. Hepp and E. H. Lieb. Equilibrium Statistical Mechanics of Matter Interacting with the Quantized Radiation Field. *Phys. Rev. A* 8, 2517 (1973).
- [133] Y. K. Wang and F. T. Hioe. Phase Transition in the Dicke Model of Superradiance. *Phys. Rev. A* 7, 831 (1973).
- [134] G. C. Duncan. Effect of antiresonant atom-field interactions on phase transitions in the Dicke model. *Phys. Rev. A* **9**, 418 (1974).
- [135] R. Gilmore and C. M. Bowden. Coupled order-parameter treatment of the Dicke Hamiltonian. *Phys. Rev. A* 13, 1898 (1976).
- [136] M. Orszag. Phase transition of a system of two-level atoms. J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 10, 1995 (1977).
- [137] S. Sivasubramanian, A. Widom, and Y. Srivastava. Gauge invariant formulations of DickePreparata super-radiant models. *Phys. A Stat. Mech. its Appl.* **301**, 241 (2001).
- [138] G. Liberti and R. L. Zaffino. Critical properties of two-level atom systems interacting with a radiation field. *Phys. Rev. A* **70**, 033808 (2004).
- [139] G. Liberti and R. L. Zaffino. Thermodynamic properties of the Dicke model in the strong-coupling regime. *Eur. Phys. J. B* 44, 535 (2005).
- [140] S. Schneider and G. J. Milburn. Entanglement in the steady state of a collective-angularmomentum (Dicke) model. *Phys. Rev. A* 65, 042107 (2002).

- [141] C. Emary and T. Brandes. Quantum Chaos Triggered by Precursors of a Quantum Phase Transition: The Dicke Model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **90**, 044101 (2003).
- [142] C. Emary and T. Brandes. Chaos and the quantum phase transition in the Dicke model. *Phys. Rev. E* **67**, 066203 (2003).
- [143] M. Frasca. 1/N-Expansion for the Dicke model and the decoherence program. *Ann. Phys. (N. Y).* **313**, 26 (2004).
- [144] X.-W. Hou and B. Hu. Decoherence, entanglement, and chaos in the Dicke model. *Phys. Rev. A* **69**, 042110 (2004).
- [145] V. Bužek, M. Orszag, and M. Roško. Instability and Entanglement of the Ground State of the Dicke Model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **94**, 163601 (2005).
- [146] T. Brandes. Coherent and collective quantum optical effects in mesoscopic systems. *Phys. Rep.* **408**, 315 (2005).
- [147] N. Lambert, C. Emary, and T. Brandes. Entanglement and the Phase Transition in Single-Mode Superradiance. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **92**, 073602 (2004).
- [148] J. Reslen, L. Quiroga, and N. F. Johnson. Direct equivalence between quantum phase transition phenomena in radiation-matter and magnetic systems: Scaling of entanglement. *Europhys. Lett.* 69, 8 (2005).
- [149] J. Vidal and S. Dusuel. Finite-size scaling exponents in the Dicke model. *Europhys. Lett.* 74, 817 (2006).
- [150] G. Liberti, R. L. Zaffino, F. Piperno, and F. Plastina. Entanglement of a qubit coupled to a resonator in the adiabatic regime. *Phys. Rev. A* **73**, 032346 (2006).
- [151] G. Liberti, F. Plastina, and F. Piperno. Scaling behavior of the adiabatic Dicke model. *Phys. Rev.* A At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 74, 1 (2006).
- [152] B. Simon and A. Dicke. Coupling constant analyticity for the anharmonic oscillator. *Ann. Phys.* (*N. Y*). **58**, 76 (1970).
- [153] P. Zanardi and N. Paunković. Ground state overlap and quantum phase transitions. *Phys. Rev. E* 74, 031123 (2006).
- [154] W.-l. You, Y.-w. Li, and S.-j. Gu. Fidelity, dynamic structure factor, and susceptibility in critical phenomena. *Phys. Rev. E* **76**, 022101 (2007).
- [155] H.-q. Zhou and J. P. Barjaktarevič. Fidelity and quantum phase transitions. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 41, 412001 (2008).
- [156] H. Janyszek. Riemannian geometry and stability of thermodynamical equilibrium systems. J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 23, 477 (1990).
- [157] G. Ruppeiner. Riemannian geometry in thermodynamic fluctuation theory. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 67, 605 (1995).
- [158] H. T. Quan and F. M. Cucchietti. Quantum fidelity and thermal phase transitions. *Phys. Rev. E* **79**, 1 (2009).
- [159] P. Zanardi, H. T. Quan, X. Wang, and C. P. Sun. Mixed-state fidelity and quantum criticality at finite temperature. *Phys. Rev. A At. Mol. Opt. Phys.* **75**, 1 (2007).
- [160] S.-J. GU. Fidelity Approach to Quantum Phase Transitions. Int. J. Mod. Phys. B 24, 4371 (2010).
- [161] A. Dey, S. Mahapatra, P. Roy, and T. Sarkar. Information geometry and quantum phase transitions in the Dicke model. *Phys. Rev. E* 86, 031137 (2012).
- [162] P. Zanardi, L. Campos Venuti, and P. Giorda. Bures metric over thermal state manifolds and quantum criticality. *Phys. Rev. A* **76**, 062318 (2007).

- [163] S. Yang, S.-j. Gu, C.-p. Sun, and H.-q. Lin. Fidelity susceptibility and long-range correlation in the Kitaev honeycomb model. *Phys. Rev. A* **78**, 012304 (2008).
- [164] M. B. Hastings. Locality in Quantum and Markov Dynamics on Lattices and Networks. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **93**, 140402 (2004).
- [165] P. W. Anderson. Infrared catastrophe in fermi gases with local scattering potentials. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **18**, 1049 (1967).
- [166] D. Brody and N. Rivier. Geometrical aspects of statistical mechanics. *Phys. Rev. E* 51, 1006 (1995).
- [167] M. Heyl, A. Polkovnikov, and S. Kehrein. Dynamical Quantum Phase Transitions in the Transverse-Field Ising Model. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **110**, 135704 (2013).
- [168] S. Ajisaka, F. Barra, and B. Žunkovič. Nonequilibrium quantum phase transitions in the XY model: comparison of unitary time evolution and reduced density operator approaches. *New J. Phys.* 16, 033028 (2014).
- [169] S. Vajna and B. Dóra. Topological classification of dynamical phase transitions. *Phys. Rev. B* **91**, 155127 (2015).
- [170] G. Dagvadorj, J. M. Fellows, S. Matyjaśkiewicz, F. M. Marchetti, I. Carusotto, and M. H. Szymańska. Nonequilibrium Phase Transition in a Two-Dimensional Driven Open Quantum System. *Phys. Rev. X* 5, 041028 (2015).
- [171] N. Bartolo, F. Minganti, W. Casteels, and C. Ciuti. Exact steady state of a Kerr resonator with one- and two-photon driving and dissipation: Controllable Wigner-function multimodality and dissipative phase transitions. *Phys. Rev. A* **94**, 033841 (2016).
- [172] J. Jin, A. Biella, O. Viyuela, L. Mazza, J. Keeling, R. Fazio, and D. Rossini. Cluster Mean-Field Approach to the Steady-State Phase Diagram of Dissipative Spin Systems. *Phys. Rev. X* 6, 031011 (2016).
- [173] S. Roy, R. Moessner, and A. Das. Locating topological phase transitions using nonequilibrium signatures in local bulk observables. *Phys. Rev. B* **95**, 041105 (2017).
- [174] J. M. Fink, A. Dombi, A. Vukics, A. Wallraff, and P. Domokos. Observation of the photonblockade breakdown phase transition. *Phys. Rev. X* **7**, 011012 (2017).
- [175] M. Fitzpatrick, N. M. Sundaresan, A. C. Li, J. Koch, and A. A. Houck. Observation of a Dissipative Phase Transition in a One-Dimensional Circuit QED Lattice. *Phys. Rev. X* 7, 011016 (2017).
- [176] E. Sjoqvist and E. Sjöqvist. Geometric phase for entangled spin pairs. *Phys. Rev. A* 6202, art. no. (2000).
- [177] D. M. Tong, E. Sjöqvist, L. C. Kwek, and C. H. Oh. Kinematic approach to the mixed state geometric phase in nonunitary evolution. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **93**, 080405 (2004).
- [178] S. Chaturvedi, E. Ercolessi, G. Marmo, G. Morandi, N. Mukunda, and R. Simon. Geometric phase for mixed states: a differential geometric approach. *Eur. Phys. J. C* **35**, 413 (2004).
- [179] K.-P. Marzlin, S. Ghose, and B. C. Sanders. Geometric phase distributions for open quantum systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **93**, 260402 (2004).
- [180] A. Carollo. The quantum trajectory approach to geometric phase for open systems. *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* **20**, 1635 (2005).
- [181] N. Burić and M. Radonjić. Uniquely defined geometric phase of an open system. *Phys. Rev. A* **80**, 014101 (2009).
- [182] N. a. Sinitsyn. The stochastic pump effect and geometric phases in dissipative and stochastic systems. J. Phys. A Math. Theor. 42, 193001 (2009).
- [183] J. Eisert and T. Prosen. Noise-driven quantum criticality. http://arxiv.org/abs/1012.5013 (2010).

- [184] U. Marzolino and T. Prosen. Quantum metrology with nonequilibrium steady states of quantum spin chains. *Phys. Rev. A* **90**, 062130 (2014).
- [185] L. V. Woodcock. Origins of Thixotropy. Phys. Rev. Lett. 54, 1513 (1985).
- [186] D. C. Chrzan and M. J. Mills. Criticality in the Plastic Deformation of Ni3AI. Phys. Rev. Lett. 69, 2795 (1992).
- [187] V. A. Schweigert, I. V. Schweigert, A. Melzer, A. Homann, and A. Piel. Plasma Crystal Melting: A Nonequilibrium Phase Transition. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **80**, 5345 (1998).
- [188] R. A. Blythe and M. R. Evans. Lee-Yang Zeros and Phase Transitions in Nonequilibrium Steady States. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **89**, 080601 (2002).
- [189] S. Whitelam, L. O. Hedges, and J. D. Schmit. Self-Assembly at a Nonequilibrium Critical Point. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **112**, 155504 (2014).
- [190] X. Zhang, M. van Hulzen, D. P. Singh, A. Brownrigg, J. P. Wright, N. H. van Dijk, and M. Wagemaker. Direct view on the phase evolution in individual LiFePO4 nanoparticles during Li-ion battery cycling. *Nat. Commun.* 6, 8333 (2015).
- [191] S. U. Egelhaaf and P. Schurtenberger. Micelle-to-Vesicle Transition: A Time-Resolved Structural Study. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 82, 2804 (1999).
- [192] D. Marenduzzo, S. M. Bhattacharjee, A. Maritan, E. Orlandini, and F. Seno. Dynamical scaling of the DNA unzipping transition. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **88**, 020601 (2001).
- [193] C. Barrett-Freeman, M. R. Evans, D. Marenduzzo, and W. C. K. Poon. Nonequilibrium Phase Transition in the Sedimentation of Reproducing Particles. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **101**, 100602 (2008).
- [194] H.-J. Woo and A. Wallqvist. Nonequilibrium Phase Transitions Associated with DNA Replication. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **106**, 060601 (2011).
- [195] M. Mak, M. H. Zaman, R. D. Kamm, and T. Kim. Interplay of active processes modulates tension and drives phase transition in self-renewing, motor-driven cytoskeletal networks. *Nat. Commun.* 7, 10323 (2016).
- [196] C. Battle, C. P. Broedersz, N. Fakhri, V. F. Geyer, J. Howard, C. F. Schmidt, and F. C. MacKintosh. Broken detailed balance at mesoscopic scales in active biological systems. *Science* 352, 604 (2016).
- [197] M. Llas, P. M. Gleiser, J. M. López, and A. Díaz-Guilera. Nonequilibrium phase transition in a model for the propagation of innovations among economic agents. *Phys. Rev. E* 68, 066101 (2003).
- [198] A. Baronchelli, L. Dall'Asta, A. Barrat, and V. Loreto. Nonequilibrium phase transition in negotiation dynamics. *Phys. Rev. E - Stat. Nonlinear, Soft Matter Phys.* **76**, 3 (2007).
- [199] M. Scheffer, S. R. Carpenter, T. M. Lenton, J. Bascompte, W. Brock, V. Dakos, J. van de Koppel, I. A. van de Leemput, S. A. Levin, E. H. van Nes, M. Pascual, and J. Vandermeer. Anticipating Critical Transitions. *Science* 338, 344 (2012).
- [200] G. Odor. Universality classes in nonequilibrium lattice systems. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **76**, 663 (2004).
- [201] S. Lubeck. Universal scaling behavior of non-equilibrium phase transitions. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. B* 18, 3977 (2005).
- [202] T. Prosen and B. Žunkovič. Exact solution of Markovian master equations for quadratic Fermi systems: thermal baths, open XY spin chains and non-equilibrium phase transition. *New J. Phys.* 12, 025016 (2010).
- [203] M. Žnidarič. Relaxation times of dissipative many-body quantum systems. *Phys. Rev. E* 92, 042143 (2015).
- [204] I. Bloch, J. Dalibard, and W. Zwerger. Many-body physics with ultracold gases. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **80**, 885 (2008).

- [205] P. Schindler, M. Müller, D. Nigg, J. T. Barreiro, E. A. Martinez, M. Hennrich, T. Monz, S. Diehl, P. Zoller, and R. Blatt. Quantum simulation of open-system dynamical maps with trapped ions. *Nat. Phys.* 9, 361 (2012).
- [206] M. J. Hartmann, F. G. S. L. Brando, and M. B. Plenio. Strongly interacting polaritons in coupled arrays of cavities. *Nat. Phys.* 2, 849 (2006).
- [207] A. D. Greentree, C. Tahan, J. H. Cole, and L. C. L. Hollenberg. Quantum phase transitions of light 2 (2006).
- [208] D. G. Angelakis, M. F. Santos, and S. Bose. Photon-blockade-induced Mott transitions and XY spin models in coupled cavity arrays. *Phys. Rev. A* **76**, 031805 (2007).
- [209] D. L. Underwood, W. E. Shanks, J. Koch, and A. A. Houck. Low-disorder microwave cavity lattices for quantum simulation with photons. *Phys. Rev. A* **86**, 023837 (2012).
- [210] A. A. Houck, H. E. Türeci, and J. Koch. On-chip quantum simulation with superconducting circuits. *Nat. Phys.* 8, 292 (2012).
- [211] J. Raftery, D. Sadri, S. Schmidt, H. E. Tureci, and A. A. Houck. Observation of a dissipationinduced classical to quantum transition. *Phys. Rev. X* **4**, 1 (2014).
- [212] H. Weimer, M. Müller, I. Lesanovsky, P. Zoller, and H. P. Büchler. A Rydberg Quantum Simulator. *Nat. Phys.* 6, 382 (2009).
- [213] Y. O. Dudin, L. Li, F. Bariani, and A. Kuzmich. Observation of coherent many-body Rabi oscillations. Nat. Phys. 8, 790 (2012).
- [214] J. Eisert, M. Friesdorf, and C. Gogolin. Quantum many-body systems out of equilibrium. *Nat. Phys.* **11**, 124 (2015).
- [215] R. Alicki and K. Lendi. *Quantum dynamical semigroups and applications*. Springer-Verlag (2007).
- [216] H.-P. Breuer and F. Petruccione. *The theory of open quantum systems*. Oxford University Press (2002).
- [217] G. Lindblad. On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 48, 119 (1976).
- [218] M. Höning, M. Moos, and M. Fleischhauer. Critical exponents of steady-state phase transitions in fermionic lattice models. *Phys. Rev. A* 86, 013606 (2012).
- [219] R. P. Feynman. Simulating physics with computers. Int. J. Theor. Phys. 21, 467 (1982).
- [220] S. Lloyd. Universal Quantum Simulators. Science 273, 1073 (1996).
- [221] I. Bloch, J. Dalibard, and S. Nascimbène. Quantum simulations with ultracold quantum gases. *Nat. Phys.* 8, 267 (2012).
- [222] R. Blatt and C. F. Roos. Quantum simulations with trapped ions. Nat. Phys. 8, 277 (2012).
- [223] A. Aspuru-Guzik and P. Walther. Photonic quantum simulators. *Nat. Phys.* 8, 285 (2012).
- [224] V. Bach, E. H. Lieb, and J. P. Solovej. Generalized Hartree-Fock theory and the Hubbard model. *J. Stat. Phys.* **76**, 3 (1994).
- [225] T. Prosen. Third quantization: A general method to solve master equations for quadratic open Fermi systems. *New J. Phys.* **10** (2008).
- [226] T. Prosen. Spectral theorem for the Lindblad equation for quadratic open fermionic systems. J. Stat. Mech. Theory Exp. **2010**, P07020 (2010).
- [227] B. Žunkovič and T. Prosen. Explicit solution of the Lindblad equation for nearly isotropic boundary driven XY spin 1/2 chain. J. Stat. Mech. Theory Exp. 2010, P08016 (2010).

- [228] J.-P. Blaizot and G. Ripka. Quantum theory of finite systems. MIT Press (1986).
- [229] M. Žnidarič. Solvable quantum nonequilibrium model exhibiting a phase transition and a matrix product representation. *Phys. Rev. E* **83**, 011108 (2011).
- [230] Z. Cai and T. Barthel. Algebraic versus Exponential Decoherence in Dissipative Many-Particle Systems. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **111**, 150403 (2013).
- [231] M. Cozzini, P. Giorda, and P. Zanardi. Quantum phase transitions and quantum fidelity in free fermion graphs. *Phys. Rev. B Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.* **75**, 1 (2007).
- [232] P. Zanardi, M. Cozzini, and P. Giorda. Ground state fidelity and quantum phase transitions in free Fermi systems. J. Stat. Mech. Theory Exp. (2007).
- [233] E. Ercolessi and M. Schiavina. Symmetric logarithmic derivative for general n-level systems and the quantum Fisher information tensor for three-level systems. *Phys. Lett. A* **377**, 1996 (2013).
- [234] A. Monras. Phase space formalism for quantum estimation of Gaussian states. http://arxiv.org/abs/1303.3682.
- [235] Z. Jiang. Quantum Fisher information for states in exponential form. Phys. Rev. A 89, 1 (2014).
- [236] D. J. Thouless. *Topological Quantum Numbers in Nonrelativistic Physics*. World Scientific, Singapore, London (1998).
- [237] R. M. Wilcox. Exponential Operators and Parameter Differentiation in Quantum Physics. J. Math. Phys. 8, 962 (1967).

## LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

(In refereed journals)

- B. Spagnolo, C. Guarcello, L. Magazzù, A. Carollo, D. Persano Adorno, and D. Valenti. Nonlinear relaxation phenomena in metastable condensed matter systems. *Entropy* 19 (2017). doi: 010.1016/j.chaos.2015.07.023.
- A. Consiglio, A. Carollo, and S. A. Zenios.
   A parsimonious model for generating arbitrage-free scenario trees.
   *Quantitative Finance* 16, 201 (2016).
   doi: 010.1080/14697688.2015.1114359.
- C. Guarcello, D. Valenti, A. Carollo, and B. Spagnolo.
   Effects of Lèvy noise on the dynamics of sine-Gordon solitons in long josephson junctions. *Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment* 2016, 054012 (2016).
   doi: 010.1088/1742-5468/2016/05/054012.
- L. Magazzù, A. Carollo, B. Spagnolo, and D. Valenti.
   Quantum dissipative dynamics of a bistable system in the sub-ohmic to super-ohmic regime.
   *Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment* 2016, 054016 (2016).
   doi: 010.1088/1742-5468/2016/05/054016.
- C. Guarcello, D. Valenti, A. Carollo, and B. Spagnolo.
   Stabilization Effects of Dichotomous Noise on the Lifetime of theSuperconducting State in a Long Josephson Junction.
   *Entropy* 17, 2862 (2015).
   doi: 010.3390/e17052862.
- L. Magazzù, D. Valenti, A. Carollo, and B. Spagnolo. Multi-State Quantum Dissipative Dynamics in Sub-Ohmic Environment: The Strong Coupling Regime. *Entropy* 17, 2341 (2015). doi: 010.3390/e17042341.
- B. Spagnolo, D. Valenti, C. Guarcello, A. Carollo, D. Persano Adorno, S. Spezia, N. Pizzolato, and B. Di Paola.
   Noise-induced effects in nonlinear relaxation of condensed matter systems. *Chaos, Solitons & Fractals* 81, 1 (2015).
   doi: 010.1016/j.chaos.2015.07.023.
- A. Carollo, G. Vaglica, F. Lillo, and R. Mantegna. Trading activity and price impact in parallel markets: Sets vs. off-book market at the london stock exchange. *Quantitative Finance* 12, 517 (2012). doi: 010.1080/14697688.2012.664910.

- V. Lahtinen, G. Kells, A. Carollo, T. Stitt, J. Vala, and J. Pachos.
   Spectrum of the non-abelian phase in Kitaev's honeycomb lattice model.
   *Annals of Physics* 323, 2286 (2008).
   doi: 010.1016/j.aop.2007.12.009.
- A. Carollo, G. Massimo Palma, A. Lozinski, M. Santos, and V. Vedral. Geometric phase induced by a cyclically evolving squeezed vacuum reservoir. *Physical Review Letters* 96 (2006). doi: 010.1103/PhysRevLett.96.150403.
- A. Carollo and G. Palma.
   Observable geometric phase induced by a cyclically evolving dissipative process.
   *Laser Physics* 16, 1595 (2006).
   doi: 010.1134/s1054660x06110132.
- A. Carollo, M. Santos, and V. Vedral.
   Coherent quantum evolution via reservoir driven holonomies.
   *Physical Review Letters* 96 (2006).
   doi: 010.1103/PhysRevLett.96.020403.
- A. Carollo and V. Vedral. Lectures on Quantum Information, chapter Holonomic quantum computation. WILEY-VCH Verlag Berlin (2006). ISBN 3527405275.
- J. Pachos and A. Carollo.
   Geometric phases and criticality in spin systems.
   *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 364, 3463 (2006).
   doi: 010.1098/rsta.2006.1894.
- F. Plastina, G. Liberti, and A. Carollo.
   Scaling of berry's phase close to the dicke quantum phase transition. *Europhysics Letters* 76, 182 (2006).
   doi: 010.1209/epl/i2006-10270-x.
- A. Carollo. The quantum trajectory approach to geometric phase for open systems. *Modern Physics Letters A* 20, 1635 (2005). doi: 010.1142/S0217732305017718.
- A. Carollo and J. Pachos.
   Geometric phases and criticality in spin-chain systems.
   *Physical Review Letters* 95 (2005).
   doi: 010.1103/PhysRevLett.95.157203.
- A. Carollo, I. Fuentes-Guridi, M. França Santos, and V. Vedral. Spin-1/2 geometric phase driven by decohering quantum fields. *Physical Review Letters* 92, 204021 (2004). doi: 010.1103/PhysRevLett.92.020402.
- R. Serra, A. Carollo, M. Santos, and V. Vedral.
   Anyons and transmutation of statistics via a vacuum-induced berry phase.
   *Physical Review A Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics* 70, 044102 (2004).
   doi: 010.1103/PhysRevA.70.044102.
- S. Bose, A. Carollo, I. Fuentes-Guridi, M. Santos, and V. Vedral. Vacuum induced berry phase: Theory and experimental proposal. *Journal of Modern Optics* 50, 1175 (2003). doi: 010.1080/09500340308234561.

- A. Carollo, M. França Santos, and V. Vedral. Berry's phase in cavity qed: Proposal for observing an effect of field quantization. *Physical Review A - Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics* 67, 638041 (2003). doi: 010.1103/PhysRevA.67.063804.
- A. Carollo, I. Fuentes-Guridi, M. Santos, and V. Vedral. Geometric phase in open systems. *Physical Review Letters* **90**, 160402/1 (2003). doi: 010.1103/PhysRevLett.90.160402.
- A. Carollo and G. Palma. The role of auxiliary photons in state discrimination with linear optical devices. *Journal of Modern Optics* 49, 1147 (2002). doi: 010.1080/09500340110098370.
- I. Fuentes-Guridi, A. Carollo, S. Bose, and V. Vedral. Vacuum induced spin-1/2 berry's phase. *Physical Review Letters* 89, 2204041 (2002). doi: 010.1103/PhysRevLett.89.220404.
- A. Carollo, G. Palma, C. Simon, and A. Zeilinger. Linear optical implementation of nonlocal product states and their indistinguishability. *Physical Review A. Atomic, Molecular, and Optical Physics* **64**, 022318/1 (2001). doi: 010.1103/PhysRevA.64.022318.

### (submitted)

- A. Carollo, B. Spagnolo, and D. Valenti. Uhlmann curvature in dissipative quantum phase transitions. *Submitted to Phys.Rev.Lett.* (2017).
- D. Valenti, A. Carollo, B. Spagnolo. Stabilizing effect of driving and dissipation on quantum metastable states. *Submitted to Physical Review A* (2017).
- B. Spagnolo, A. Carollo, D. Valenti. Enhancing metastability by dissipation and driving in an asymmetric bistable quantum system. *Submitted to Entropy* (2017).
- B. Spagnolo, A. Carollo, D. Valenti, Stabilization by Dissipation and Stochastic Resonant Activation in Quantum Metastable Systems *Submitted to Eur. Phys. J. Special Topics* (2017).

### (in preparation)

- A. Carollo, L. Leonforte, B. Spagnolo, D. Valenti Uhlmann curvature of 2D topological phase transitions

(In conference proceedings)

- S. Bose, A. Carollo, I. Fuentes-Guridi, M. França Santos, and V. Vedral. Non-adiabatic vacuum induced Berry phase.
   In J. H. Shapiro and O. Hirota, editors, 6th International Conference on Quantum Communication Measurement and Computing, 2003.
- S. Bose, A. Carollo, I. Fuentes-Guridi, M. França Santos, and V. Vedral. Vacuum induced Berry phase: theory and experimental proposal. *J. Mod. Opt.*, 50:1175–1181, 2003.
- A. Carollo, G. M. Palma, C. Simon and A. Zeilinger. Tensor-product states and local indistinguishability: an optical linearimplementation. *AIP, Nuclear And Condensed Matter Physics: VI Regional Conference*, 513:79-82, 2000.